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2 DISCOVERIES. MAJOR MITCHELL.

no excuse. Wentworth, ardent as he was, would not identify
himself with them. He declined to speak when called for.
An emancipist was the seconder of the address. Bourke
was too wary to praise or to blame. He was pleased to be
assured that the colonists were firmly loyal,—institutions
similar to those of the mother country would be introduced
as might seem expedient—and the local government would
strive to restore concord amongst them, to which end they
themselves should also labour.

The story of discovery and occupation during the decade
commencing in 18381, embraces a wide field. The Surveyor-
General, Major (afterwards Sir) T. L. Mitchell, led in 1831
an expedition fitted out (before the arrival of Governor
Bourke) to test the truth of a tale told by a runaway con-
vict, who declared that at the back (or north) of Liverpool
Plains he had followed a river which, running through
many lakes, reached the north coast. No confirmation of
the convict’s story could be found, for it was untrue, but
Mitchell gained additional knowledge of the courses of the
Nammoy, the Gwydir, and the Darling rivers. A minor
expedition in 1888 explored the country between the Bogan
and the Macquarie, and in 1885 Mitchell started again in
the same direction. On the Bogan (the New Year’s Creek
of Sturt and Hume) Mr. Cunningham, the botanist of the
expedition, lost his way and his life. Thirst and fatigue
destroyed his horse; and when found by some natives he
was himself delirious from the same causes. Mitchell came
to the conclusion that they had treated him kindly until,
terrified at his delirium, they destroyed him. He was a
brother of Allan Cunningham, the botanist and explorer of
former days. Mitchell followed the Bogan to its junction
with the Darling, and traced the latter river nearly to
its junction with the Murray. On this occasion he named
Fort Bourke after the Governor. Shots fired at the natives
provoked them, and Mitchell, alarmed at the probable con-
sequences of an affray in which several natives were shot,
returned. An inquiry was held; but Mitchell was de-
spatched again (1836) to survey the Darling more effect-
ually. It was known that Batman had in 1835 occupied
Port Phillip, and Mitchell was anxious to examine the
oountry westward of Batman’s settlement. In 1834 Mr.






¢ . DISCOVERIES. EYRE. GREY.

" Through the whole of the country traversed by Mitchell,
he was able to take carts to convey his stores, and settlers
found little difficulty in occupying it with stock. Port
Phillip and South Australia were scarcely colonized when
‘“ overlanders,” as they were called (i.e. settlers driving
stock for sale or to be retained on runs taken up by their
owners), flitted from various parts of New South Wales to
the ‘“ new country.”

The occupation of previously-discovered tracts (Port
Phillip and South Australia) need not be inserted amongst
explorations, though occurring in 1835 and 1836. The
colonists in the latter, early but vainly sought to find some
other outlet for the Murray than the one reported by Sturt.
A settler, Mr. Bonney (afterwards Commissioner of Crown
Lands in Adelaide), first passed overland from Portland
Bay in the Port Phillip district, to Adelaide in 1839. The
first settler who crossed the Murray river from New South
Wales on his way to Port Phillip with flocks of sheep was
Mr. C. H. Ebden, in after years the Treasurer of Victoria.

Mr. E. J. Eyre (afterwards Governor of Jamaica) also
passed with stock from Mount Alexander to Adelaide.
Baffled in an attempt to reach the Murray from Lake Hind-
marsh, he resorted to the track already followed through
the more practicable country near the coast.

In 1837 an expedition was despatched under Lt. (after-
wards Sir George) Grey, of the 83rd Regiment. Conveyed
to the Cape of Good Hope in a man-of-war, the Beagle
(under Captain Wickham)—the party (twelve in all) hired
a small vessel to take them to Hanover Bay, in lat. S. 15,
whence they were to journey to Swan River in lat. S. 82.
The intermediate country was sterile and stony. In De-
cember the stores were landed, and the schooner Lynher
was despatched to Timor for ponies. Short excursions
produced little result except hostility with the natives, and
when (in a month) the Timor ponies arrived they were
unmanageable, and some sickened and died. Intelligent
as he was, Grey discovered little. The steep sandstone
range refused a passage. Grey was wounded by a native,
and though he recovered sufficiently to find a river which
he called the Glenelg, whose size deceived his expectation
that. it would open for him a way to the interior, he was
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their lives. When only forced marches could save them

several pleaded that only slow journeys would enable them

to keep their strength; and after some time Grey pro-

ceeded (10th April) with five (including Kaiber), leaving

six others to follow by the gentle stages they loved. On

;he 18th April Grey divided with Kaiber his last morsel of
our.

‘It was almost a satisfaction to me when it was gone, for, tormented by
the {)a,ngs of hunger, as I had now been for many days, I found that
near K the whole of my time was passed in struggling with myself as ta
whether I should eat at once all the provisions Iﬁd left, or refrain till a
future hour. Having completed this last morsel, I occupied myself for a
little with my journal, then read a few chapters in the New Testament,
and having fulfilled these duties I felt myself as contented and cheerful as
I had ever been in the most fortunate moments of my life.”

Kaiber found a prize—nuts of the Zamia tree stored by
the natives in four holes. Grey says he doubted whether
to sanction the robbery of the unoffending owners, and yet
starvation was on him and his men. He asked Kaiber’s
advice.

“If we take all, thi i 3 i y
C What thiot has atolon ore -irack his foutateps.spest bim throagh the
heart ; wherefore has he stolen our hidden food ¥ But if we take what is
buried in one hole, they will say, ‘ Hungry people have been here ; they
were very empty, and now their bellies are full ; they may be sorcerers,
now they will not eat us as we sleep.’”’

The advice was taken ; one hole was plundered, and its
contents were divided with the rest of the party ignorant
of the source they came from. Thirst was oppressive, but
Kaiber found a muddy puddle, and they staggered onwards
till they fell in with some natives as they approached Perth,
Unrecognised scarecrows, they were shrunk from by those
whom they knew. Immediately an expedition was sent to
meet the laggards, whose plan was to march by slow stages
to the Moore river, about sixty miles northward of Perth.
One was found, near theriver, and brought to Perth on the 6th
May. Another relief party discovered three more worn almost
to dying. One, Mr. Walker, pushed on and reached Perth
by himself on the 9th May. One was found dead after long
search. Mr. Roe, the Surveyor-General at Western Aus-
tralia, who led the rescuing party, thought that even a few.
hours’ delay would have prevented the finding of any of
them alive. By the labours of this hazardous expedition
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Bay. ‘The officers of the two nations seemed to vie in
courtesy,” Stokes informs us; but ‘“the questlon whether
foreign powers were entitled to take possession of points on
the coast of Australia was much debated at the time, and it
was popularly believed that they had entertained some
intentions* of forestalling our settlement.” Captain Owen
Sta.nley, in the Britomart, was called upon to deal with the
question a few months afterwards at New Zealand ; but his
exploit there belongs to the history of that country
Various additions were made to the knowledge of the east
coast. Sawyers in search of cedar resorted to the Clarence
River in 1888, and vessels carried valuable cargoes of timber
thence past the dangers and shallows of the unlighted bar-
harbour. In subsequent years the Bellenger, the Tweed,
and the Richmond rivers were similarly occupied.
Meantime, in South Australia, a committee was formed
to promote the discovery of an overland route to Western
Australia. Mr. E. J. Eyre suggested exploration to the
north of Adelaide, and was put in command of an expedi-
tion. He had previously made excursions to Lake Torrens,
and from Streaky Bay to Mount Arden. Mount Eyre had
been named after him. In June 1840, he started amid
jubilations, taking with him a silk Union Jack to plant in
the centre of the continent. To Lake Torrens, to Mount
Serle, amidst sandy wastes and marshes which were salt,
he forced his way. On Mount Hopeless he looked out upon
the same forbidding appearances. He fitly named the
mount, and turned back, reaching Mount Arden in Sept.
One detachment of his party he sent to Streaky Bay, and
with another he went to Port Lincoln. Obtaining supplies
from Adelaide by water he rejoined his companions at
Streaky Bay, and his last stores carried by sea were landed
at Fowler’s Bay. He sent back several of his party,
retaining only his overseer John Baxter, and three native
boys, one of them, Wylie, taken from Western Australia to
Adelaide by Eyre himself. Vain efforts to advance detained
him until the cutter returned from Adelaide with despatches
imploring him to return. The community was satisfied;
assistance would still be given to him in exploring, but to
go westward as he was situated would be madness. Eyre
* Vide Vol, L, pp. 513, 584, 585.
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blood, shot through the heart. No word did Baxter speak
again. KEyre surmised that the natives were in the act of
robbing, that his faithful friend had essayed to stop them,
and so had died. The thieves had carried off bread, tea
and sugar, mutton (from the last sheep), a keg of water,
two double-barrelled guns, and other articles. Eyre seemed
alone as to counsel and help from man. Wylie, who was
with him, had but a few days before absconded with one of
the robbers, who had now dipped their hands in blood.
He had a rifle and pistols, but the rifle had a charge in it
which the overseer had failed to extract, and the powder
was thought to have been washed away. Determining to
make the weapon useful, Eyre put the barrel into the fire,
hoping to melt the bullet. Relics of the powder ignited,
and the bullet whizzed past him as he held the barrel. At
such a time the hair-breadth escape seemed trifling. Eyre
shrouded his faithful overseer in a blanket, and moved
slowly and silently from the scene. Halting in the heat of
noon he questioned Wylie, who denied all complicity in the
murder or the robbery. At four o’clock the runaways
appeared. Resolving to take the life of the elder of the
murderers, Eyre vainly sought to approach them. He
parleyed. They said, ‘‘Oh, master, we don’t want you—
we want Wylie.” Wylie was proof against their invitations.
Eyre pursued his journey, the murderers plaintively crying
to Wylie, and travelling by the side of Eyre’s route. Night
did not make him pause. To shake off the natives he
pushed on eighteen miles. On the 8rd of May, one hundred
and fifty miles from the last water seen, he found a place
where the natives had dug for water. His thoughts recurred
to the blank in his party, and the manly pleasure Baxter
would have felt at having mastered the long stage now

- completed. Birds, hitherto unseen, appeared. The tyranny
of the sand was overpast. But sickness produced listless-
ness in Wylie and his master.

‘¢ After sitting for a few moments to rest, and we often had to do thls, xt
was always th%x the greatest unwxllmgness we ever moved on again.
felt on such occasions that I could have sat quietly and contentedly, and
let the glass of life glide away to its last sand. . . Wylie was even
worse than myself. I had often much difficulty in gebtmg him to move at
all, and not unfrequently was compelled almost forcibly to get him up.
Fortunate]y he was very good-tempered.”
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spoken of promising spots in the country between the
Ninety Mile Beach and the Australian Alps. MecMillan
was at Omeo in June 1839. Guided by the Omeo natives,
he occupied Numblamunjee, on the Tambo River, for
Macalister (Sept. 1889). The natives also piloted a person
named Buckley, who formed a cattle station on the same
river. Both stations were among the mountains, near the
dividing range, between the waters of the Murray and those
which flowed towards the Ninety Mile Beach. From favour-
able prominences on that range the plain country of Gipps
Land could be seen; and in obedience to his master, who
was anxious to secure some of it, McMillan, accompanied
by a nephew of his employer (Matthew Macalister), by one
Cameron, and a stockman named Bath, started (Dec. 1839)
for the low country. A horse fell over a precipice, and the
party returned unsuccessful. In Jan. they set forth again,
accompanied by two Omeo natives, Cobborn Johnny and
Boy Friday, who piloted them, after four days of travel, to
the land of promise. No white man had been there pre-
viously. Some natives, when they saw McMillan dismount
from his horse, yelled and fled. Strange as a horseman
appears when first seen, the wonder is increased when
he dismounts and two moving animals are resolved out of
that which seemed one. When he reached Lake King
McMillan thought he was at Corner Inlet. Proceeding
westward he named the Nicholson river after Dr. (subse-
quently Sir Charles) Nicholson, an intimate friend of
Macalister; the river Mitchell after Sir Thomas Mitchell,
Surveyor-General; the highest mountain he could see
Wellington (after the Iron Duke); and the river Avon.
Near the Macalister river, having failed to establish friendly
relations with the startled natives, he pursued some of
them and captured an old man. He gave the prisoner
a knife and a pair of trousers, and let him go. Having
shaken hands with the travellers at their instigation, the
old man shook the bridle of each horse with care before he
retreated to his tribe. At this point McMillan regretted
that his companions desired to return to Numblamunjee.
They had been sixteen days on the path. Piloted by
Cobborn Johnny and Boy Friday they returned in seven.
McMillan, in an account he sent to Mr. Latrobe in 1858,
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was absent at the time, having gone to report to Macalister
the result of his journey. Matthew Macalister, who had
accompanied McMillan to the low lands in Jan. 1840, was
at Numblamunjee when Macarthur, Riley, and Strzelecki
arrived there in March 1840. He accompanied them for a
day’s journey and described the route. Charley Tarra
confidently said that he could follow the tracks easily
though they were two months old. He kept his word.

When the party had passed the bounds of McMillan’s
tracks, Strzelecki freely gave names to rivers, already
christened by McMillan. The river Latrobe, which
McMillan had not seen, retains the name given by Strzelecki.
Others which he gave have been discarded. He named
Lake King in honour of his friend Captain P. P. King,
R.N. As McMillan had thought it was Corner Inlet, it
escaped his nomenclature. When Strzelecki passed from
comparatively open country to the dense wood and under-
wood tangled upon the watershed of the Upper Latrobe
river, the provisions had been exhausted, and the horses
and baggage were abandoned. The. last ounce of flour was
baked there, and the toil-worn explorers resolved to walk to
Western Port. The Count’s idea of progress was directi-
tude. He could not see that it was oftener easier to walk
round & hill than to toil up one side and stumble down the
other. Confiding in his capacity to make observations and
to plot a course, his companions yielded to him. If
physical obstacles suggested any deviation from a direct
course Strzelecki still held on his way. They had not 50
miles to go, but it occupied twenty-two days to struggle
and to cut a way through the dense entanglement of trees, -
logs, saplings, shrubs, vines, and grass which impeded
them. Sometimes a mile was the hard task of a day.
They had to cut poles, and throwing forward one end to
scramble along the level line occupied by the parallel poles
lodged on the undergrowth. Their food was the native
bear of the colonists (the Phascolarctos). Charley Tarra
was its provider, though Riley’s gun was occasionally
useful.8 :

8 The author asked one of the party—*‘ Do you think any of you would

have come out alive if Charley had not been with you?” The answer was
decided— ‘¢ Certainly not.” Strzelecki presented his companions with a
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men, in the usual manner, quarrelled with the natives at the
Avon, and in November were driven away, and, abandoning
the cattle, fled to Numblamunjee on the Tambo. McMillan,
with six others, returned (Dec. 1840) to the Avon, and with
firearms quelled the natives, numbers of whom were shot.
Whether from shame at running away, or disinclination to
make known their subsequent revenge in killing the natives,
McMillan and his people kept the matter secret until Mr.
Latrobe asked for information in 1853. In 1856, writing
an account of his proceedings, he said he ‘‘ had a desperate
skirmish with the natives.”” As Sir George Gipps was not
inclined to overlook barbarities, it is not difficult to account
for McMillan’s reticence in 1840.

While these events occurred, persons in Melbourne
chartered a vessel (the Singapore) to convey them to the
land of promise. Mr. W. A. Brodribb, Messrs. Kersopp,
Kinghorne, Norman McLeod, McFarlane, A. Ranken, Dr.
Stewart, and J. Orr sailed in her, taking with them Charley
Tarra, who had accompanied Macarthur, Riley, and Strze-
lecki. They discovered and named Port Albert, after
Prince Albert. In like manner they named the Albert
river. The Tarra river they named after their companion,
who had saved the lives of Strzelecki’s party. They sent
back the Singapore to Melbourne. Brodribb, McLeod,
Kersopp, and Kinghorne, with Charley Tarra and five
others, remained to explore and create claims of occupa-
tion. Having settled near the Albert river in March 1841,
they set forth to the interior, and were astonished to find
the marked trees which indicated McMillan’s recent route
to Corner Inlet. They followed them to the Latrobe river,
and saw the smiling country described by Strzelecki as
intersected by the rivers which, from the Latrobe to the
Tambo, find their way to the lakes of Gipps Land. They
found and named Lake Wellington, and turned their faces
towards Melbourne. Like Strzelecki’s party, they had to
cut their way. Like him, they were dependent for food
upon the flesh of the native bear, procured for them by
Charley. They, like him, reached Jamieson’s station on the
inner shores of the waters of Western Port.

Subsequently Mr. Albert Brodribb (brother of W. A.
Brodribb), with two or three others, laboriously discovered
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As Strzelecki promptly reported to the government all
that he had seen, and Macalister’s proceedings had not
been made known, the name given by Strzelecki to the
newly-found district was adopted. The Count’s map was
printed in the House of Commons Papers of 1841. His
report displayed no desire to deprive others of credit, for it

_spoke of ¢ Mr. Buckley’s and Mr. Macalister’s stations (on
the Tambo), the first two pioneers into Gipps Land.” Much
having been written controversially on the question, it
has been necessary to give accurately the dates and
details.

The narration of discoveries has, however, run into an
era far beyond the beginning of Sir R. Bourke’s reign, and
it is requisite to recur to the extension of occupancy during
that period. Batman had been foiled in 1827 by Governor
Darling’s refusal to allow him to settle at Western Port.
Sturt’s journey on the Murrumbidgee rekindled his zeal.
In 1881 a project for colonizing South Australia was
broached. It culminated in an Act of Parliament in 1834.
In that year also Mr. Thomas Henty, by the agency of
sons, occupied Portland Bay. Mr. Henty had been
attracted by the offer of grants of land at Western Aus-
tralia. One of his sons, James, went thither to examine
the land, but distrusted its appearance and went to Van
Diemen’s Land, whither the family followed. On arrival
they found that the system of free grants of land had been
abolished. Disconcerted by the change, and having an
order for 80,000 acres at Western Australia, Mr. Henty, in
1882, sent his son Edward to examine again the land
previously disapproved of. Edward Henty agreed with the
disapproval, and examined land in South Australia and on
the coast of Port Phillip, where sealing and whaling
stations had long existed, at Portland Bay, and elsewhere.
Mr. Henty determined to form a permanent establishment
at Portland Bay, and despatched thither the schooner
Thistle with his son Edward, and live stock, agricultural
implements, and building material. A whaling station was
formed. Ploughing was commenced on the 6th December.
The soil of Victoria was thus first permanently occupied.
Other sons, Francis, Stephen, and Thomas, followed. Mr.
Henty applied for official recognition, and Colonel Arthur
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to understand the dialect or customs of the place, and
explained that no violence need be dreaded. Batman
made signs of friendliness, and presented necklaces, looking-
glasses, blankets, tomahawks, knives, and scissors, and
left them in peace. A few days afterwards he was guided
by a man, woman, and three children, and met a friendly
reception from a band of fifty-five, of whom twenty were
men.

Batman was profuse in promises, and the ¢ chiefs ap-
peared most fully to comprehend my proposals, and
delighted with the prospect of having me to live among
them.” On the banks of the Merri Creek, near the
modern Northcote, Batman made a parchment contract
(6th June 1885) with three brothers, whom he called
Jaga-Jaga, and with chiefs of the Dutigalla tribe. For
various articles, blankets, knives, &c., he obtained their
signatures purporting to ¢ grant, enfeoff, and confirm” to
him and his assigns the territory from Merri Creek, includ-
ing the site of Melbourne, to Indented Head. More than
half-a-million of acres were to be his, charged with an
annual tribute of blankets and other articles, to the three
Jaga-Jagas, and to Cooloolock, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip,
and Monmarmalar. The deed, prepared beforehand in
Van Diemen’s Land by some of Batman’s intended partners,
was signed, sealed, and delivered in triplicate on the ‘“ Banks
of Batman’s (the Merri) Creek.”

Batman informed Colonel Arthur, 25th June 1835, that
the ‘‘ chiefs proceeded with me to the boundaries, and they
marked with their own native marks the trees which were
at the corners of the boundaries, and they also gave me
their own private mark, which is kept sacred by them, so
much that the women are not allowed to see it.”’

““ They each delivered to me a piece of soil for the purpose
of putting me into possession thereof, and understanding
that it was a form by which they delivered to me the tract
of land.” He transmitted to Colonel Arthur copies of his
deeds ; said that he had  traversed the country in opposite
directions about fifty miles, and having had much experi-

® Perhaps one of those marks used at the ceremonial grounds where
youths were inducted into their tribe. They were various. Neither
women nor children were allowed to see them. See Vol. L., p. 100.
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from England, Governor Bourke intervened. He issued a
proclamation, declaring (25th Aug. 1835):

““Whereas it has been represented to me that divers of His Majesty’s
subjects have taken possession of lands of the Crown within the limits of
New South Wales, under the pretence of a treaty, bargain, or contract for
the purchase thereof with the aboriginal natives, now, therefore, I, the
Governor, do hereby notify, &c. &c., that every such treaty, &e. &c., is
void as against the rights of the Crown, and that all persons found in
possession, &c., without license . . . will be considered as tres-

passers.”

But Sir R. Bourke was himself in a dilemma. In 1834,
on his favouring a project to form a settlement at Twofold
Bay, the Secretary of State (Lord Aberdeen) told him that
‘“His Majesty’s Government are not prepared to authorize
a measure, the consequences of which would be to spread
over a still further extent of territory a population which it
was the object of the recent land regulations to con-
centrate.”” Referring to this dictum, Bourke wrote (10th
Oct. 1885):

“It is only on account of the question being forced upon me by
(Batman’s proceedings) that I am induced to revert to the subject. .
Admitting, as every reasonable person must, that a certain degree of
concentration is necessary for the advancement of wealth and civilization,
and that it enables government to become at once efficient and economical,
I cannot avoid perceiving the peculiarities which in this colony render it
impolitic, and even impossible, to restrain dispersion within limits that
would be expedient elsewhere. . . . The proprietors of thousands of-
acres already find it necessary, equally with the poorer settlers, to send
large flocks beyond the present boundaries of location to preserve them in
health throughout the year. The colonists must otherwise restrain the
increase, or endeavour to raise artificial food for their stock. Whilst
nature presents all around an unlimited supply of the most wholesome
nutriment, either course. would seem a perverse rejection of the bounty of
Providence ; and the latter would require more labour than can at present
be obtained in the colony or immigration profitably supply. Independently
of these powerful reasons for allowing dispersion, it is not to be disguised
that the government is unable to preventit. No adequate measures could
be resorted to for the general and permanent removal of intruders from
waste lands without incurring probably a greater expense than would be
sufficient to extend a large share of the control and protection of govern-
ment over the country they desire to occupy. One principal objection to
dispersion thus becomes as powerful against its restraint.”

The formal occupation of Port Phillip might seem pre-
mature were it not necessitated by Batman and his asso-
ciates, whose alleged contract with the natives he described.
There was little doubt that they would convey cattle to
Port Phillip and invest capital there. The problem to be






24 DISAGREEMENTS OF BATMAN AND FAWKNER.

‘““given birth to undertakings which deliberate reflection
would have recommended rather than discouraged.” In
fine, Lord Glenelg ate the leek with good grace, and left
Bourke free to exercise his own judgment ““on a subject so
novel and peculiar.”

Events meantime had been thickening on the scene of
action. On the day (10th Oct.) in which Bourke's des-
patch had been written, Mr. J. P. Fawkner! found his way
to Batman’s settlement, in which he played an active part
for many years. His friends and himself were so ill-
advised as to assert his priority in selecting the site of
Melbourne, and Batman’s premature death favoured the
reception of erroneous views. Early documents, including
Batman’s chart, irrefragably prove Batman’s priority.
Disagreements occurred between Batman and Fawkner.
It is only necessary to say that after some bickering,
during which Batman’s associates feared that he might
resort to force, Fawkner was for a time got rid of by the
gift of £20. He went to the south bank of the river, but
returned to Melbourne on finding that Batman’s association
could not assert exclusive rights. '

The Port Phillip district required only to be seen in
order to attract thousands. From New South Wales flocks
and herds poured in by land. From Van Diemen’s Land
they went in small coasting vessels. Sheep-runs within a
few miles of a port were secured by the first comers.
Excitement pervaded the older districts; eagerness and
haste were the characteristics of the new one. Such soil

! Fawkner sailed with others in the schooner Enterprise (27th July
1835), but encountered rough weather, was ill, and was put on shore.
The schooner proceeded, not to Port Phillip, but to Western Port. The

engers dis not like the place, and (15th Aug.) resolved to follow
msman’s example and examine Port Phillip. They found no suitable spot
on the east shore of the Bay, and (20th Aug.) the Enterprise anchored in
Hobson’s Bay. After some labour the master (Hunter) moved the vessel
up the Yarra-Yarra to the site of Melbourne. Batman had not at that
time completed his arrangements for transporting live stock and forming
his permanent settlement, and Hunter may have been ignorant of Bat-
man’s choice. Mr. Wedge, however, one of Batman’s associates, arrived
soon after Hunter, and (2nd Sept.) warned Hunter of Batman’s claims.
The facts and the comments they caused may be found in the ‘‘John
Batman” (Melbourne, 1867) and the *‘Port Phillip” (Melbourne, 1858), of
Mr. J. Bonwick ; and in ‘“Discovery, Survey, and Settlement of Port
Phillip” (Melbourne, 1871, and London, 1872), by the author of this work.
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““T beg leave to observe that although I find by the Act of Parliament
that the Southern Australian Company have received authority to occupy
a large portion of the territory placed by His Majesty under the govern-
ment of E’ew South Wales, I have no intimation whatever of the circum-
stance, nor of the formation or proceedings of the Company, from His
Majesty’s Government. I have been led to make this observation from
remarking that the part of Port Phillip called Geelong, which will

robably?)e used as the harbour, is not above 100 miles distant from 142°

Zast longitude, which forms the Eastern houndary of the Company’s grant.
The flocks of the colonists will probably ere long be spread over the inter-
mediate space, and with them convict servants will be brought within the
neighbourhood of the Company’s possessions. If this should prove an
inconvenience it must be remedied in the best way it can. It would have
been quite impossible to have restricted the settlers of New South Wales
or Van Diemen’s Land from the use of convict servants in the district of
Port Phillip.”

In a notice in the Government Gazette (Sept. 1836)
Bourke announced that Port Phillip was formally open for
settlement. The land regulations would be the same as
those in New South Wales. Prior occupation would confer
no advantage. Conveyance by a legal instrument from the
government was essential, ‘‘ as without such title the land
(unless required for public purposes) will be subject to be
put up for competition at a public sale, and sold to the best
bidder.”

Full instructions were given to Lonsdale ; and to enable
him to form a bench of magistrates, a subaltern officer of
a detachment was put into the commission of the peace.
Lonsdale was to protect the natives from all ¢ manner of
wrong,” and was to give a salary to the white man!®
Buckley, whom Batman had found with the natives, and
had attached to himself by kindness. Lonsdale was not to
prevent free persons, with or without stock, from passing
into the district, nor ““to disturb the occupation of those
already there so long as they conduct themselves honestly
and peaceably,” but occupiers would have no advantage at
the time of sale, and should be cautioned against making
improvements in the mean time. If he desired to remove

'* Buckley, a convict who escaped from the temporary settlement made
by Colonel Collins in 1803, joined Batman’s people in 1835. He was of
some use in communicating with the natives, who throughout his long
sojourn amongst them had been kind to him. It was remarked that he
was no more intelligent than they. He was pensioned, and employed in
an easy capacity at Hobart Town for many years. He was more than six:
feet high ; and his gaunt figurc was pointed out to visitors in Tasmania
for many years.
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He directed that 100 allotments should be offered for sale
in order to place the families of the settlers ¢ with as little
delay as possible on properties of their own.” Already the
population of the district exceeded 500 souls, and the sheep
were more than 100,000. The pasture land was ‘‘superior
in quality to the average of the districts of New South
Wales.” He recommended the appointment of a Lt.-
Governor or Commandant. Communication with Sydney
was so difficult that reference thither would be inconvenient.
By land, in the existing state of the country, ten days
would be consumed. By sea there were no steamers of
sufficient power to be depended upon, and it would be
costly for the government to maintain one. He would not,
however, establish a separate legislative body. ¢ There
would be no great inconvenience in requiring the attend-
ance at Sydney for the session of those who might be
appointed or elected members of the colonial legislature.”
He desired to appoint a fourth Judge of the Supreme Court
in order that a Judge ‘‘might be available for holding
assizes twice a year at Port Phillip.” Captain Lonsdale
was able and zealous, and had been kind to the natives.
Bourke indulged ¢“a hope, notwithstanding some unfortunate
occurrences, that the intercourse between these natives and
the white population of Port Phillip will be carried on with
greater benefit to the former than has hitherto been experi-
enced in other parts of the colony.”

Meanwhile Batman’s Association laid siege to the
Colonial Office. They prayed that the Crown would
“relinquish any legal point of constructive right to the
land in question.” One of them, Mr. Mercer, wrote from
Edinburgh (Jan. 1836) to point out the humane character
of Batman. He asked for recognition of Batman’s treaty,

(and with a gander cared for in the ship which bore the Governor’s party)
had been slain for the Governor’s dinner, and how Governor and gander
were disconsolate ; how the scattered settlement consisted of, perhaps,
¢¢ thirty or forty huts—some of sods—others framed and weatherboarded,
others wattled and plastered. The framed houses have all been sent from
Sydney and Launceston.” The summer had been dry and the ground was
parched near Melbourne, around which some settlers collected their stock
to the annihilation of all herbage. On the top of Mount Macedon Captain
King took numerous bearings, and found how thoroughly trustworthy had
been the observations of Sir Thomas Mitchell in 1836.
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which they may boast to have been the first discoverers.”’'®
‘¢ At present they expect no preference when their land
shall be put up to sale.” It was decided to allow the
Association, by remission at land sales, the moneys
expended under the erroneous impression that the land they
prepared to occupy was not within the limits of New South
Wales, and “ that their bargain with the blacks was valid.”
Bourke urged the Secretary of State to confirm this
arrangement, and Lord Glenelg, in signifying his approval
(10th July 1837) elaborately defended himself against
the imputation of having encouraged Mr. Mercer to expect
more favourable terms. He admitted that he had said it
was reasonable that the sites of buildings, gardens, or other
enclosures, might be excepted from general rules, but he
had been cautious in stipulating that only such exceptions
could be made ‘‘as might appear to the Governor to be
reasonable.” He could not admit ‘‘any inconsistency
between the assurances conveyed to Mr. Mercer, and the
ultimate decision which in deference to the opinion of the
local government I now sanction and adopt.” He had
raised false hopes amongst the Association, and had sorely
alarmed the Governor, but he applauded himself. These
incoherent intimations, however, did not reach New South
Wales until Bourke was on the point of departure; and he
had retired from the scene before the name of the county
of Bourke was, in compliance with the desire of the
residents, affixed by Her Majesty’s sanction to the metro-
politan county of the settlement which had heen established
under Bourke’s government.®

The occupation of South Australia connects itself with
that of the adjacent province of Port Phillip. The accurate
survey of Flinders was sufficient to establish the prior claims
of the English to the territory. Sealers went and returned.
Kangaroo Island especially was their resort, and was to
some & permanent home. But Sturt’s overland journey to
Lake Alexandrina drew speculative eyes to the land. The
official report of his success reached England in 1830. In
that year Gibbon Wakefield had formed a Colonization
Society, the object of which was ‘‘to substitute systematic

" Bourke to Lord Glenelg, 12th Nov. 1836.
® Lord Glenelg to Sir G. Gipps, 3rd April 1838.
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Buller, Grote the historian, Sir W. Molesworth, Poulett
Scrope, Benjamin Hawes, Colonel Torrens, and others
were on the committee. Grote was treasurer; and Robert
Gouger, whose name Gibbon Wakefield had made use of in
1829 as the editor of his ‘“letter from Sydney,” was
honorary secretary. Behind the scenes, unannounced,
was the powerful writer, whose ideas Gouger had edited.
Pamphlets appeared profusely. Up to a certain point
Wakefield controlled all with whom he came into contact.
The sequel was to prove that many had not the courage of
his opinions, and vainly temporized between the existing
and the possible.

To procure the passing of an Act the platform was called
in to help the press. At a meeting at Exeter Hall, Mr.
Grote, Mr. Hutt, Mr. Poulett Scrope, and Sir W. Moles-
worth spoke. The latter moved a vote of thanks to Mr.
Spring Rice for promoting ‘‘ the beneficial public objects of
the South Australian Association.” But to win patronage
the political element of Wakefield’s scheme was abandoned,
and other portions were diluted. The English Parliament
accepted the idea that ¢‘something must be done.”
Swarming Englishmen were winging their way to new
lands. If the government would not follow them with
their institutions, it seemed that they would mismanage
themselves without them. A terrible mistake had been
made at Swan River; and Gibbon Wakefield’s ‘¢ letter,”’
and his new book (‘“England and America’”) seemed to
explain the reason. No one could refute him, whether he
was right or wrong. He had at least what others wanted
—a theory. A portion of it the government would accept.
A price should be imposed on all lands alienated, but the
‘ sufficient price’’ demanded by Wakefield involved too
nice an equation to deal with. They would apply the
proceeds to immigration, but the harmony sought for
by Wakefield, which should ensure well-paid employment
of all labourers, and a sufficient supply of labour for all
employers, was cast aside as visionary. A bill passed
through Parliament in Aug. 1834. There was opposi-

“ While the South Australian bill was before Parliament Wakefield

issued a booklet (‘‘South Australia,” C. Knight, London, 1834) with
copious extracts from his ¢* England and America.”
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The Act (4 and 5 Will. IV., cap. 95). empowered the
Crown to establish provinces in the South Australian terri-
tory; to appoint legislators; Commissioners who should
have power to survey and sell lands at an uniform price,
“at no time for a lower price than twelve shillings per
acre’”’ (the Land Fund constituting an Emigration Fund);
and a Resident Commissioner in the province. Various
ancillary provisions were made. The Commissioners were
authorized to borrow money to provide an Emigration
Fund in anticipation of land sales. A special clause for-
bade the transportation of convicts to the territory. For
any of the provinces which might contain fifty thousand
souls, His Majesty might establish constitutions of local
government. Twenty thousand pounds were to be invested
in Exchequer Bills as a security that no part of the
expense of founding the colony should “fall on the mother-
country,” and if after twenty years’ trial the population
should be less than 20,000, the Crown could step in and
sell the land in the province. In order to pass even such a
Bill, Wakefield and his disciples made s0 many concessions
that it was in his view defective, and contained vicious
provisions. The Colonial Office would not appoint the
proposed Commissioners. Whitmore and Grote were
excluded. In May 1835 the Crown appointed eight Com-
missioners. Colonel Torrens was chairman. Mr. G. F.
Angas was a member. Mr. Rowland Hill was Secretary
to the Commissioners. They issued a prospectus embody-
ing some elements of the new system. The ‘‘sufficient
supply of free labour” was to be secured by ‘‘requiring
every applicant for land to pay a certain sum per acre to a
general fund to be employed in carrying out labourers.”
Arguments were added to justify this requirement.

Sir Charles James Napier was recommended for the post
of Governor, but declined to accept it without ¢ some
troops and power to draw on the Home Government in case
of necessity.”” Lord Glenelg declined to accede to such
terms. Captain Hindmarsh, R.N., was next selected and
was appointed. He had been thanked by Lord Nelson for
the New Zealand colonizers to give the name ** \Vellini;tun” to the spot

‘“most likely to become the metropolis of the Britain of the South.” K.
G. Wakefield, *‘ Art of Colonization.” 1849. J. W. Parker: London.
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had the point been determined. The new arrivals were
possessed of land orders, and used some of them in selecting
allotments at Kingscote in Kangaroo Island, a contem-
plated capital.

Colonel Light, in the Rapid, arrived in August, and saw
no charms at Kingscote. After exploring in the neigh-
bourhood he crossed to the mainland, and conceived that
on the east of the Gulf of St. Vincent the capital should be
formed. -He had been instructed to examine Port Lincoln
on the west of Spencer's Gulf, however, and he went
thither only to see reason to condemn it. He returned to
Holdfast Bay, and fixed upon the site where Adelaide now
stands, on the banks of the Torrens. His choice was
vehemently opposed by many of the immigrants, some of
whom were anxious to place the capital at Encounter Bay.
Nine ships arrived in 1836, with more than 500 souls.
Governor Hindmarsh, in H.M.S. Buffalo, appeared on the
28th Dec., and in the tent of the Colonial Secretary, on the
Glenelg Plains, the Orders-in-Council erecting the province
of South Australia were read, and the necessary oaths were
taken by the Governor and others. In the open air a
feast of cold things was made, loyal toasts were loyally
received, and the National Anthem (according to the news-
paper chronicle) ‘ had more of grandeur in its simplicity
than those who have only heard it in a theatre can con-
ceive.” The Governor proclaimed his intention to punish
any wrong done to the natives, and invited all colonists
to assist him and prove themselves ‘worthy to be the
founders of a great and free colony.”

But there was discord about the site. The Colonization
Commisgioners had given Colonel Light instructions, and
nad enjoined him to consult with the Governor, but they
had left his judgment untrammelled in the last resort.
The Governor did not approve of Colonel Light’s selection.
He was requested but declined to take the chair at a public
meeting (Feb. 1887). A meeting was held nevertheless,
and Mr. T. B. Strangways moved that the site was not
such as the colonists had been led to expect. Dr. Wright,
seconded by Dep.-Survr. Kingston, moved that the Sur-
veyor-General’s choice was admirable on many grounds,
and votes were taken by representation of Land Orders.






38 OFFICIAL DISPUTES. GOV. HINDMARSH RECALLED.

. that it had been his hope to see grand juries established,
although they did not exist in other Australian colonies,
and that the Governor and his Council had agreed with
him. . He deplored that amongst the cases on the calendar
were those of theft, by colonists, of a jacket and some
‘weapons from the.natives. He quoted Lord Glenelg’s

. instructions that the natives should be humanely and justly
treated He declared that ‘‘the system hitherto adopted

in the immediate neighbourhood of this province towards
the native population is one at which humanity shudders.”

Captain Hindmarsh had serious differences with Mr.
Fisher, the Commissioner whose responsibility to the
Colonization Commissioners was supposed to exempt him
from the Governor’s control. Divided authority led to
confusion. Fisher claimed to direet the proceedings of an
emigration agent, but the Governor removed the agent,
and appointed another. Mr. Gouger quarrelled with Mr.
0. Gilles, the treasurer. The Governor, in opposition to
Mr. Fisher and Mr. Mann (Advocate-General and Crown
Solicitor), who were in his Council, suspended Gouger and
removed Gilles from the commission of the peace, retaining
him as treasurer. Mr. Mann himself was suspended by
the Governor.

Captain Hindmarsh survived the unpopularity of some of
his proceedings in the colony. On the anniversary of his
assumption of office, a public dinner was given to com-
memorate it. The judge, Mr. Gilles, and other leading
men were there, but the irritated Fisher held aloof. Re-
monstrances against Hindmarsh had flown to England.
The Colonization Commissioners complained to Lord
Glenelg, who, at their request (Feb. 1888), recalled the
Governor with expressions of regret that ‘‘circumstances
had rendered unavoidable the dissolution of official re-
lations with a gentleman whose claim to respect both on
public and private grounds he should ever be ready to
admit.” But Mr. Fisher had not given satisfaction. Ex-
penditure of funds in importing ponies from the Malay
Archipelago, and sundry other matters were objected to,
and Mr. Fisher was removed without any expressions of
regret. Lord Glenelg selected as the new Governor Colonel
Gawler (62nd Regt.), who had been a volunteer in a storm-
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vortex. The company’s capital was half a million sterling.
A part of it Mr. Angas invested in land orders. The
vacillation of the Commissioners afforded facilities. In
June 1835 they had fixed their ¢‘ uniform price” of £1
an acre for one year after Captain Hindmarsh’s appoint-
ment. In accordance with the balancing principle of
Wakefield’s sufficient price, it had been contemplated that
then the price might be raised to £2. But in Oect.
1885 they shrank from their principles. To tempt pur-
chasers they reduced the price to twelve shillings.?” It wag
to be raised again to £1 after the Governor’s arrival in the
colony. They increased the area of rural lots from 80 to
184 acres. The South Australian Company resolved to
speculate at once. They purchased land orders entitling
them to about 14,000 acres, some of which were amongst
the 437 preliminary selections. When subsequent sales by
auction were held, the company’s agents bought 66 lots,
and thus became owners of 162 acres in Adelaide, and
6 at Port Adelaide. Gibbon Wakefield did not conceal his
contempt for the ‘ignorant or careless’” departure from
his principles. The evils of inordinate acquisition of terri-
tory which he had denounced in Western Australia were
being repeated in a colony nominally founded upon his
own theory. The operations of the company were so
far successful that on issuing a new series of shares
they were able to demand a premium which defrayed all
their preliminary expenses.® Their prospects were for a
time to be clouded, but in their earliest days all was
activity and hope. Their land purchases were but a part
of their scheme. They had a fleet of whaling vessels.
They contemplated building warehouses and letting them;

# Evidence of Colonel Torrens before Select Committee (House of Com-
mons) on disposal of lands in the British colonies. 1836.

*® Mr. G. F. Angas, the founder of the company, after many years
emigrated to the colony. A son had preceded him in 1843. Mr. Angus
went thither in 1851.  He shared in somne of the reverses, but profited by
the success of the colony. Enterprising and generous, he attained the age
of 90 years, and died rich and respected in 1879. A memoir of his life
attributed some of the speculations in which he was involved to the
unauthorized conduct of an agent. It was by means of Mr. Angas (before
he emigrated) that many Germans emigrated to South Australia. The
first shipment, 200 in number, was despatched at his own expense in 1838.
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tempted the graziers of New South Wales, where less than
a fourth of that sum was procurable. Sheep and cattle
were despatched to the settlement. When Mr. Hawdon
arrived in Adelaide from New South Wales with a drove of
cattle in April 1838, he was publicly entertained as a bene-
factor. One of his own oxen was roasted whole, and the
chairman of the feast, Mr. J. H. Fisher, presented him in
the name of the people of South Australia with a snuff-box.
The importation of breeding stock would enable the colony
to supply itself with animal food after lapse of time, but
meanwhile settlers could expect no profit upon investments.
They sought it by gambling in those allotments which it
was the object of Wakefield’s theory to guard from such a
fate on the occupation of a new territory. Industry
languished, labourers migrated from the land, and settlers,
conceiving themselves deceived, inveighed in the neigh-
bouring colonies against the delusive promises by which
they had been lured to South Australia. They sought to
buy land elsewhere, and denounced the ‘‘sufficient price”
which they thought had been applied to South Australia,
but to which neither Colonization Commissioners in Eng-
land nor functionaries in the colony had adhered. The
gambling rife in Adelaide proved that the proper price had
not been maintained. There was no master mind to
decide promptly, and if need be, by an almost prohibitory
standard to compel the immigrants to seek the creation of
homes by industry, rather than strive by speculation to
make fortunes with which to flee back to the mother-
country. The energies of the settlers were devoted to a
traffic forbidden by the charter of their existence. Half-
hearted adhesion to Wakefield’s theory had palsied its
virtue. The consequences predicted by its author fell
upon the settlement. Neglect of industry created dearth
of production. Daily wants were not daily supplied. The
local government shared in the general confusion. That
something was amiss was felt, and Parliament passed an
amending Act in July® 1838.%1 It authorized anticipation

1 and 2 Vict., cap. 60.

# New Commissioners were appointed from time to time, and in 1839
the Colonial Office transformed the management. The former Board was
dissolved, and the three Commissioners, Messrs. Villiers, T. F. Elliot, and
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authorized the Commissioners to raise a loan of £120,000,
and instituted a Parliamentary inquiry, pending which
Colonel Gawler’s outstanding bills-were not accepted, and
Colonel Gawler, who had previously applied for leave to
resign unless his salary could be raised, was recalled (Dec.
1840) for ‘“‘having drawn bills in excess of the authority
received from the Commissioners.” His successor walked
into Government House in May 1841, and then only did
Colonel Gawler know of his supersession.

The departing Gawler was complimented for all his con-
duct except errors of judgment on * subjects of finance.”
‘When he left he bravely averred that he had authority for
all the expenditure incurred, and that ‘‘ unfortunate difficul-
ties” had arisen from imperfect knowledge in England of
the state of the colony. He pleaded necessity in undertaking
works for which others could not see the justification of
incurring debt. His ecritics could not or would not see that
they were themselves to blame in perverting the plan upon
which the settlement was formed. The Commissioners
acknowledged his high character and qualities, and the
colonists warmly expressed their good will; but he left the
colony plunged into debt exceeding (according to the
Commissioners) more than nine hundredfold the limits of
their instructions; and the pressing needs of the hour were
only temporarily met by borrowing from the local bank,
‘“‘because there were no purchasers for the continued large
number of government bills circulated.”

Amidst the confusion of the time there was something of
that which statisticians call progress. All immigrants
could not flee away. Many arrived after healthy employ-
ment had been checked. Nearly 3000 persons arrived in
1840. The evil tidings of that year retarded others, and
less than 800 arrived in 1841. There were 14,600 persons
in” the colony, however, in 1840. They were not happy,
but their number increased; and in the eyes of some
political economists to multiply population and augment
items in statistical tables is the acme of perfection. Con-
tentment and piety, which make human creatures happy
on earth, and prepare them for happiness hereafter, are
imponderable in tables of figures.

In one respect the tables were alarming. The expendi-
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unknown in the older colonies; and on the 13th May 1887
4 grand jury was assembled. The recovery of small debts
exercised the ingenuity of the Governor’s Council in Nov.
1887, and in Feb. 1838 an Act to preserve harbours and
regulate shipping was passed.

A Customs Act, and an Act to correct a clerical error
in the same,  concluded Captain Hindmarsh’s legislative
achievements, and when it is remembered that he lived in
a tent before he was promoted to the mud hut deseribed by
Mr. Gouger; that he received deputations under gum-trees;
that the Commissioner, under the Colonization Commis-
sioners, disputed his powers; and that the Surveyor-General
was independent of him, it must be admitted that his
difficulties deserved sympathy.

In Sept. 1839 Colonel Gawler passed an Act enabling
South Australia to deal with ‘‘convicts escaping from the
neighbouring penal settlements.” It empowered the local
justices to endorse warrants issued by judges in New South
Wales or Van Diemen’s Land, but did not deal with convicts
whose sentences might have expired, and who might immi-
grate to South Australia.

In March 1840 South Australia had to legislate for her
own convicts. The gaol was crowded, and it was enacted
that prisoners might be employed upon the roads and on
public works.

In August 1840 a Municipal Corporation was created in
the young capital, and it was enacted that voters should
possess property rated at not less than £20. None were
to be enrolled who within two years prior to such enrol-
ment had been ¢ convicted of felony or of a misdemeanour
followed by three months’ imprisonment.” The spectre of
felonry had flitted to the new land with its first settlers,
and the newly-fledged legislators had to confront a danger
from which they had thought their territory would be
free.®2 Colonel Gawler’s efforts were impeded in some

# Ope incident may be recorded as an instance of the abhorrence of
some of the free class with respect to the convicted. A lady in Sydney
was surprised at the refusal of an Australian-born nurse-girl to accompan
her family to England. She thought the girl would have been delighted.
“Oh ! no, ma’am, I could not think of going there. That’s where all the
bad people, the prisoners, come from.”
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Many years elapsed before a more enduring tenure (by
lease of pasture lands from the Crown) warranted the
tenants to incur the expense of putting up boundary and
other fences to separate their sheep, and economize the
pasture which—no longer traversed by thousands of sheep
going to and from their nightly fold—sustained a greater
quantity of stock than had been possible under the original
system. Constant and extensive use of strychnine in
poisoning the native dogs was so successfully resorted to
that the simple sheep were safe in their new unguarded
condition.

It is not creditable to the sagacity of early colonists that
a good law to regulate dividing fences was not provided.
The want was sorely felt in after years. The only excuse
which can be alleged is that in rural districts settlers
established themselves in places remote from each other,
and often with an intermediate space of forest land at a
watershed dividing their respective lands. Thus, like their
great fore-runners, Abraham and Lot, ‘“‘they separated
themselves the one from the other.” But when the land
was more thickly inhabited, strife again arose between
herdsmen, and the want of a law was felt. Dwellers in
lands where for ages properties have been divided can
hardly picture to themselves the condition. of a new territory
where the idle will do nothing to protect themselves from
encroachment or to derogate from the calculated advantage
of trespassing on neighbours. Estimating the losses
arising from the spread of infection and contagion, one
may say that the absence of a good fencing law was
pregnant with infinite trouble to settlers. The remedy for
trespass was in impounding laws which were continually
amended. Another evil pressed itself upon Governors and
Councils. Remote from observation, a class of dishonest
men with small homesteads preyed upon their neighbours’
herds. Laws to regulate slaughtering of cattle recur in all
early Australian legislation, whether by Governors or by
Councils. No man could slaughter a beast for sale without
holding a license from the Government, and heavy penalties
enforced obedience. That South Australia, sharing in com-
mon wants, should seek similar remedies to those resorted
to in New South Wales, was natural; and the laws of
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Treasury (15th Jan. 1841) suggested that all  parties
should be informed that the case would be brought before
Parliament without delay.” South Australia was bankrupt.
The second Australian colony founded without conviet
labour had failed. If Gibbon Wakefield’s theory of a
¢« gufficient price’”” had been tested, or even aimed at, it
might have been said that it also had failed. But it had
not been tried. The half-hearted attempt at fixing the
price at one pound an acre had neither.concentrated labour
nor prevented hazardous speculations with capital.

The Governor sent by Lord J. Russell to educe order
from the social and financial chaos at Adelaide was Captain
George Grey, whose explorations in Western Australia have
been recorded.

He was engaged in preparing an account of his travels,
when the post of Governor of South Australia was offered
to him. He left the revision of his work in the hands of
friends, and sailed without delay to Adelaide, bearing the
first tidings of his appointment.

The narrative of discovery and settlement with which it
has seemed convenient to open the page of history during
the successive careers of the Governors of New South
Wales has unavoidably led, in the cases of Port Phillip and
South Australia, to following the thread of events in the
latter beyond the mere settlement in 1836. The period
during which Captain Hindmarsh and Colonel Gawler
struggled with their difficulties fitly forms one episode.

At the period of Captain Grey’s appointment the English
flag waved in undisputed supremacy over the whole of
Australia and New Zealand. East, West, North, and South
Australia were held by England while Lord Glenelg was
Secretary of State, and in 1839 Lord Normanby despatched
Captain Hobson to make a treaty with the Maoris, so that
their land also might be brought under the sovereignty of
the Queen. He succeeded (6th Feb. 1840); and from the
10th to the 47th degree of south latitude, from the 112th
to the 185th degree of east longitude, all the lands and
islands of Australia and New Zealand were formally declared
to be under the sway of the young Queen enthroned in the
Island of the West.
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by the Constitution Act of 1828. Wentworth and his
friends demanded more. In 1883, Sir R. Bourke intro-
duced a Bill which effected great change. It was read a
second time on the 24th July, and the Council asked for
explanatory papers. Without a division (6th Aug.), they
asked the Governor to apply for the opinion of the judges
‘““as to whether a person who has been convicted of a felony
or transportable offence, and whose sentence has expired,
or been remitted by an absolute or conditional pardon, is
legally qualified to sit upon a jury in England.”

The bench had been recently strengthened by the
accession of William Westbrooke Burton,® an upright judge,
and an earnest Christian, brave under all circumstances,
because always supported by a good conscience. No man’s
character stood higher than his. No breath of aspersion
against him could do otherwise than damage the reputation.
of the asperser. The opinion was promptly given. In the
large majority of cases, included in the question, emanci-
pists would be holden qualified in England under existing
statutes. The exceptions were persons convicted of perjury
(under a statute of Elizabeth), who could only be restored
by statutory provision; persons convicted of transportable
offences in law accounted infamous, and not having received
a free pardon; persons convicted of other infamous offences,
such ag conspiracy to accuse another of a capital offence, or
of any other species of the crimen falsi. The Governor
found it difficult to pass his measure, although aided by
Chief Justice Forbes. He was constrained to leave it
optional for the persons arraigned to select trial by a jury
of twelve civilians, or by the military jury created by the
Constitution Act. The disqualifications of persons attainted
or convicted were limited to those who had not received a

3 Sir W. W. Burton entered the Navy in 1808, in H.M.S. Conqueror.
He did good service in boats off Toulon in 1811, and served at New Orleans.
After the peace he studied law, and held his first brief in Westminster the
day after he was called. He joined the Midland Circuit. Being offered an
appointment as Judge of the Supreme Court at the Cape of Good Hope he
went to Holland to study Dutch and Roman Dutch law before entering
upon his duties, in which he notably distinguished himself. Early in
1833 he was on the bench in New South Wales. Afterwards he went
to Madras as Judge, and returned to New South Wales in 1857 after
retirement from judicial duties.
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of the Act implied distrust of civil juries, by leaving a
military jury to the option of the accused. That distrust
was shared in the community, and arose, he thought,
“from the circumstance that very low and disreputable
persons are qualified and liable to serve on juries, according
to colonial law, and that the juries actually empanelled are
frequently chiefly formed of such persons.” In one case
out of a panel of twenty-six, no less than ten jurors had
been convicts, and three of them were publicans, many of
which latter class became jurors. Out of a total list of 958
in the county of Cumberland, 208 were publicans. The
Judge did not advocate abolition of civil juries, but greater
care in the mode of forming them. There were abundant
materials in the colony without including disreputable
elements. Messrs. Kinchela and Plunkett (the Attorney
and Solicitor) suggested more circumspection in empanel-
ling juries, but commended the working of the Act. Judge
Burton had in 1835 read a charge at the close of a session
which thrilled through the public mind. There being
no grand jury, he addressed a petty one. In 1838, 1834,
1835 there had been respectively 185, 148, and 116 capital
convictions, although recent legislation had removed the
penalty of death from forgery, cattle stealing, and stealing
from a dwelling-house above the value of £5.

To one who could look down upon the community if
would appear as if the ‘‘main business of us all were
the commission of crime and the punishment of it.”” The
polar star of religious principle was wanting. He blamed
no individual, but there was a deficiency of means for
religious instruction. When he had visited Norfolk Island
one man placed before him for sentence said, ‘“‘in a manner
which drew tears from his eyes, and wrung his heart when
he was placed before him for sentence—°‘Let a man be
what he will when he comes here, he is soon as bad as the
rest ; a man’s heart is taken from him, and there is given
him the heart of a beast.’ ”

Masters of assigned servants were not sufficiently atten-
tive to the morals of their men. Some permitted the
Sunday to be spent in drunkenness and debauchery. The
brave judge was blamed by some for his exposure of crying
evils. The words in which he described the conviet road-
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not revived. It was not for them that Wentworth had
harangued, nor for them that Governor Bourke had striven.
The demand had been for civil petty juries, and it was
appeased without regard for the principle involved in those
primordial juries which in England have so often barred
the path of tyranny. In a departmental sense it was con-
venient for the government to determine upon prosecutions
by means of its officers; and if it appreciated the value of
grand juries as safeguards for liberty it was only with a reso-
lution to stifle them. In breaking the last link which bound
the fabric of society to the iron days of old, the framers of
Australian law were not careful to compact the new order
of things after the model of England, where juries, great
and small, not only prevent wrong, but spread throughout
the land a knowledge of justice and right, which is immea-
surably useful in enlightening and strengthening that public
opinion which for good or evil must mould the destinies of
the people.

In the year 1834 Governor Bourke dealt with the question
of usury, which Colonel Arthur had legislated upon in 1830
in Hobart Town. In May 1834 Bourke laid before his
Council a bill to remove doubts. Judge Burton promptly
wrote to him. Under the Constitution Act (9 Geo. IV., cap.
83), though the judges no longer had the power formerly
exercised by Forbes of vetoing a bill by refusing to certify
it, they or any of them could (sec. 22) represent its repug-
nancy to law, charter, or letters patent, or Order-in-Council,
and such representationthe Governor wasbound to lay before
his Council, the bill in question being meanwhile suspended.
Judge Burton argued that the Usury Bill was repugnant to
a statute of Anne as well as to the Constitution Act. Out
of courtesy he wrote before the bill had been dealt with, and
his letter was laid before the Council, where a committee on
the Interest Bill was forthwith appointed. The tyrannous
manner in which money-lenders grasped the small free-
holds of debtors excited indignation in the breast of the
judge. At that date the majority of transactions were
effected at a rate of ten per cent., but fifteen and twenty
per cent. were not uncommon, and even thirty per cent. had
been registered at the Supreme Court. Five per cent. was
the maximum allowed by the statute of Anne. The Chief
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wrath of Wentworth for giving an opinion on a point of
order. ‘“We are assembled here, a meeting of free British
subjects, to speak our free thoughts, and I will neither be
curbed myself nor suffer any friend of mine to be curbed by
you. You are the mere shadow of the meeting.” Went-
worth enjoyed his rude triumph, and harangued about
taxation by representatives. The unpaid nominee members
in the Legislative Council were miserable, subservient
creatures. He pitied them from his heart. Contempt-
uously he touched upon the budget. ‘Isthere,” he asked,
‘“one among you so base as quietly to succumb to so
intolerable a form of government? I say to you, demand
the rights the common law gives you, but which an
iniquitous Parliament, an unreformed Parliament, has for
forty-five years withheld from you.” No thought of the
absurdity of giving representative institutions to Phillip’s
subjects in 1788 restrained the thunders of applause which
sustained the people’s champion. Petitions to King and
Commons were carried by acclamation. At a meeting
called to petition the Governor and Council in the same
year, Wentworth carried a proposition that the unwilling
sheriff should vacate the chair, and that one of his own
associates, Sir J. Jamieson, should take.it. Establishments
and pensions were vehemently denounced, and the Governor
and Council were entreated to revise their estimates. As
Bourke by various means courted the good opinion of
Wentworth’s supporters, the petition was not intended to
harass the Governor, nor did he allow it to do so. In June
1834 his financial minute said that the Council could render
no more gratifying service to the government than by con-
sidering the subject of reductions, which he had himself not
seen a way to make. One object of denunciation was a
pension to Mr. Macleay, the Colonial Secretary, for former
services. It was of no avail that some more moderate men
remonstrated against the violence of the attacks on Mac-
leay. Lord Bathurst, when persuading Macleay to go to
the colony to assist in raising its tone, fixed the manner of
his remuneration. His appointment as Colonial Secretary
precluded his continuing to receive a pension of £750 for
past services. His new salary was to be £2000 a year, and
it was desired to keep up the payment to himn of an amount
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be paid me for my services as Secretary of the Colony, and
I refused to leave England on any other terms.”

A Patriotic Association, which included Wentworth,
asked reform from the English Parliament. Dr. Bland,
and others of less notoriety, propounded new theories of
government. Money was subscribed to meet expenses in-
curred in promoting them, and Mr. Henry Lytton Bulwer,
then an ardent innovator, was chosen as champion. 8ir
J. Mackintosh was dead, but Sir W. Molesworth, C. Buller,
and others became patrons of the colonial reformers. As
the time drew on towards the expiry of the Act 9 Geo. IV.,
cap. 83, under which the colony was governed, the two
parties in the colony marshalled their forces. With Went-
worth were all the patriots who were not, on grounds
sufficient to themselves, arrayed on the other side; but
with him were also the dregs of the freed population, and
their alliance caused hostility to Wentworth’s views among
settlers, who sent petitions to the King and to Parliament.
They are set forth in a work published by James Macarthur
(together with the charge delivered by Judge Burton at the
Supreme Court in Sydney in 1885), displaying in hideous
hues the condition of the eriminal class and the need of
education and religion to humanize the increasing popula-
tion, in which crime was gathering strength. The pro-
visions of the jury law were dwelt upon in the petitions. It
was urged that persons who had undergone sentence of
transportation ought not to be placed upon a footing with
magistrates and colonists of respectability. The Act 9
Geo. IV., cap. 83, had dealt with the jury question, and new
legislation could not but affect it ; actively by dealing with
it, or passively by leaving it to the local Legislature. It
was urged that the Land Fund ought to be wholly devoted
to immigration ; that the power of the Governor to remove
magistrates was too arbitrary; that Judges ought not to be
removable at pleasure; that the Chief Justice ought not to
be a legislator; and that property ought not to be the sole
standard of fitness for the elective franchise in a land where
wealth was rapidly acquired by freedmen. The validity of
titles to land ; the marriage law; the continuance or other-
wise of transportation; and the mode in which, if it were
discontinued suddenly, the colony might be affected, formed
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which hereafter may be comprised within and be depen-
dencies of the said colony of New South Wales.”” Went-
worth’s friends fumed at the delay. In 1838 Sir W.
Molesworth moved an address to declare, with all deference
to the *“constitutional prerogatives of the Crown, that Her
Majesty’s present Secretary of State for the Colonies
(Glenelg) does not enjoy the confidence of this House or of
the country.”

" He did not wish to cut the colonies adrift; but he
sympathized with ‘“a people struggling for their just
rights.” He was not blind to the ‘“possible results of
carrying” his motion, but it would be ‘merely incidental.”
It was not his object. As a member of a Select Committee
on transportation appointed in 18387, and revived in 1888,
he had become acquainted with horrors which were
‘“national infamy.” Economical affairs were mismanaged
by the supine or incapable Minister who lazily postponed
from year to year the urgent question of constitutional
reform in New South Wales. But in March 18388 Canada
engrossed attention. Lord Gosford and Sir Francis Head
had laid rebellion low, and Lord Durham had .gone thither
to negotiate with discomfited rebels, and restore order.
Sir W. Molesworth withdrew his motion, and an amend-
ment, imputing the Canadian embroilment to the miscon-
duct of the ministry, was defeated by 816 votes against
287. The names of Peel, Stanley, and Gladstone figured
in the debate. :

Meanwhile the Patriotic Association corresponded with
Mr. Charles Buller, who had become their parliamentary
advocate when Henry Bulwer (on appointment as ambas-
sador at Constantinople) ceased to perform his functions
as agent for the colonial Association, which had been
originally formed upon a hint from him to Sir J. Jamieson.
Ability the Association doubtless contained. But the
respectability of the colony was outside its borders. Dr.
Bland was its committee of correspondence, and plied his
pen with vigour, subject to correction by Wentworth.

The position of the transportation question was closely
connected with immigration, and expenditure on police and
gaols, but needs separate mention. The disposal of
convicts by Governors in the thirty years which succeeded
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became the scene of a conspiracy in 1834. To that island
prison no vessel was permitted to approach except after
exchange of private signals previously concerted. Yet even
amongst the conviets ramours occasionally ran. The mild
rule of Bourke was supposed to stir aspirations of convicts
and to make them resentful of control. No ruler can be
popular with a gang of hardened criminals, and Colonel
Morrissett the Commandant had no exceptional qualities
to command respect. A mutiny was planned. The island
was to be seized, and a vessel was to carry the convicts to
other shores. A man who had been commander in H.M.
navy, transported to Sydney, and re-transported to Norfolk
Island for forgery, was to command the ship. He had
often betrayed his fellow-convicts, but his manners pleased
them and they required his knowledge of navigation. The
authorities were warned of the plot. The prime plotter
was suspected to be the informer.

The danger was imminent. The total guard of soldiers
was 120. The prisoners guarded were 750. Several posts
were seized; 1irons were removed, and prisoners were
released by the mutineers. The hospital was taken. The
guard appointed to escort the most desperate convicts to
their work was attacked. Soldiers were thrown down and
muskets were wrested from them. But though surprised
they were not confounded.  Extricating themselves
promptly, the guard fired upon their fettered foes, killed
some, and wounded others. The Commandant and other
officers rushed to the scene and the mutiny was quelled.
Bourke induced Major Joseph Anderson (50th Regt.) to go
to the island as Commandant. He was an old Peninsular
warrior, to whom nothing was so displeasing as failure in
duty. He found one hundred and thirty prisoners confined
as mutineers. Judge Burton was deputed to try them at the
island. He arrived there in H.M.S. Alligator,in July 1834.
Fifty-five were selected as ringleaders. Eighty-seven wit-
nesses were examined. The awful revelations of crime
appalled the Judge. Festering in depths which combined
the horrors of many circles of Dante’s ‘‘ Inferno,”” crimes
abounded which no pen would dare to tell. The Judge
shuddered when he found that in those male bolge no

religious warning or consolation could reach his unhappy
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of each sex was a social monstrosity which demanded
redress.® The Committee touched the burning ashes of
the emancipist disputes. The emancipist party had origin-
ated under Macquarie in 1809. ‘ The party is a numerous
one, as the number of emancipists in 1884 amounted to
between 15,000 and 16,000, while the remainder of the free
population did not much exceed 21,000.”” Many of them
were wealthy, and they form ‘

¢ g powerful political party whose chief object is to maintain the position
that all the free inhabitants of the colony, both those who have been con-
victs and those who have not, ought to possess equal rights. This party,
however, is not merely composed of persons that have been convicts, but
it includes in its ranks a considerable portion of the free settlers, some of
whom are persons inclined by their habits to associate with the criminal
population, and to participate in the feelings of that class. Others, how-
ever, are amongst the most respectable inhabitants of the colony, and on
the ground of political principle join the emancipists’ party. The members
of the anti-emancipist party in New South Wales attribute the increase of
crime in that colony partly (1) to alleged relaxation of convict discipline
under Sir Richard Bourke ; partly to (2) the action of the jury laws, which
permit persons who have been convicts to become jurors ; and lastly (3) to
the increasing number of emancipists.”

The Committee admitted that Arthur’s system had
diminished the number of grave offences, but they
applauded Bourke. They condemned the second objection
also, holding, that to prevent the acquisition of civil rights
after expiration of a sentence was unjust, degrading, and
calculated to ¢“drive back to crime.” The validity of the
third reason they admitted.

The effect of transportation on the moral character of
the colony was declared to be pernicious. The free could
not but be corrupted by intercourse with large numbers of
the convicted and infamous. They found that evil material
consequences were dreaded from the discontinuance of
transportation. The stoppage of forced labour must make
industries pine. The English Government had expended
£7,000,000 in maintaining their military and conviet
establishments, and the settlers had employed conviet
labour and sold the produce of that labour to the govern-
ment. But there must now be a dearth of labour under

“ Up to 1837 the transportation of convicts to New South Wales had
been—males, 43,506; females, 6791. To Van Diemen’s Land—males,
24,785 ; females, 2974. It was not until 1817 that convicts were sent
direct from the United Kingdom to Van Diemen’s Land.
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A strange sight was then seen. Apparently unconscious
that their conduct tended to prove their moral judgment
unsound, the friends of the emancipist class protested
against the discontinuance of transportation. A public
meeting was held in Sydney in 1889. A petition, unani-
mously adopted, ascribed to the assignment system a
catalogue of virtues, and denounced the evidence given in
England against it as ‘‘ erroneous and delusive.” Morally,
financially, politically, the colony had recently prospered.
No contaminating effects were to be apprehended from
convicts; and there was a ‘““‘rapid endowment of churches
and chapels.” It seemed as if moral obliquity entailed
mental incapacity. The same men who resented ostracism
because they had been convicts, demanded that conviets
might be poured amongst them. The Patriotic Association
appealed to Charles Buller in laboured letters, to which
Sir J. Jamieson’s, Wentworth’s, and Dr. Bland’s names
were appended. They averred that the evidence given
to the House of Commons by Major Mudie, Mr. James
Macarthur (of Camden), Dr. Ullathorne, and Dr. Lang,®
‘“aspersed the moral character of the colony.” They
pleaded for postponement of the doom of transportation.

The petition of 1839 was publicly adopted, and was
gigned by more than 4000 persons. After a few years the
mere holding of such a meeting would have been impossible.
But in 1839 many of a street crowd had been convicts
themselves; and, howsoever Dr. Whately might denounce
them, it was not unnatural that the feces Romuli should
decline to swell the chorus of their own condemnation.
Eventually they took other views. When the free in-
habitants outnumbered the bond, and the latter by dissipa-

# Dr. Lang rightly stated that free immigrants were sometimes jeered
at, and that in the conversation of the convict class, unsavoury epithets
were constantly joined to the word “‘immigrant.” But the convict class
contained various elements. Men transported for crimes of passion or
violence often felt repugnance to dishonesty; and as a rule those who
desired to return to a reputable life did not taunt the immigrants. There
were innocent persons among the convicts. One estimable woman trans-
Kzrted to Van Diemen’s Land lived for many years a trusted nurse

loved by all, and bearing her lot with apparent meckness. How the
iron had entered her soul was shown when her innocence was established in
England and a pardon was sent to her. The death of her afHliction killed

her with its shock of joy.
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the dictates of humanity, it is not, I believe, the received
one of legislators, who rather require as the first object that
it should be a terror to evil-doers.”

Lord J. Russell found that Inspectors of Prisons in
England recoiled from Maconochie’s ideas, but he ‘“still
wished the experiment to be tried, with the clear under-
standing that Gipps would remove him if mischief should
ensue.”

In June 1840 Gipps reported his surprise at finding
that, within a week of arrival at his island-government,
Maconochie had abolished the existing distinction between
convicts freshly arriving from England, and the doubly
convicted who had been retransported from Sydney

‘¢ disregarding the effects which so great a change at Norfolk Island was
calculated to produce on the large convict population of New South Wales,
and the feelings of dissatisfaction and alarm with which the colonists
would contemplate the speedy return to the colony of more than a
thousand persons of the most reckless character, who had been sent from
it for the commission of crimes for the most part of the deepest dye.”

When Gipps expressed disapproval, Maconochie excused
himself at great length, but Gipps peremptorily told him
that whether the system formerly pursued with the doubly
convicted at the island was bad or good, it had caused
transportation thither to be ‘‘held in great and salutary
dread by the conviet population of New South Wales, and
to destroy that dread before even any substitute for trans-
portation to Norfolk Island had been devised, would be to
expose this colony to risks for which he would not make
himself responsible.”

Maconochie ‘“‘regaled the whole convict population with
punch on Her Majesty’s birthday, and entertained them
with a play;”’ which elicited ‘“marked disapprobation”
from Gipps. On the motion of Mr. James Macarthur, the
Legislative Council resolved unanimously—

““That the effect of transporting convicts to Norfolk Island or other penal
settlements, and introducing them at the expiration of their sentences
into New South Wales, must inevitably be to inflict upon this colony &
continuance of the worst of the moral evils arising out of transportation,
together with the necessity for the enormous police expenditure inseparable
from such a system, without any countervailing advantage, and would be
both unjust and in the highest degree impolitic. That His Excellency the
Giovernor be respectfully requested to communicate the foregoing resolu-
tion to Her Majesty’s Secretary of State for the Colonies, and to represent
the very earnest desire of this Council, that the strictest prohibitory
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The names on the Committee carried weight. In later
years penal servitude was substituted for transportation.
The English crime-factory was to consume its own smoke,
and not send foul odours abroad. There was a hope that
the problem of dealing with criminals might be better
solved by patient attention at home than by the mean
expedient of shipping them off to colonies. The manly
resolution appears to have been rewarded. It may be that
augmented comforts and higher wages assisted, but it is
nevertheless a fact that from 1842 to 1855 the rapid increase
of crime was stayed, and that there was in the third quarter
of the century a notable diminution of serious offences, while
improvement in the police warranted the belief that fewer
criminals escaped the arm of the law than had evaded it
before. The mode in which transportation to Australia was
abolished must be postponed, but it was accepted generally
that the greatest ‘‘ chance of reformation’ was in assign-
ment of a conviet to a master, and that the most perfect
training ‘‘ in wickedness’ was in the Government gangs.
Nevertheless Lord J. Russell propounded an elaborate
scheme for multiplying the gangs, and assignment was
abolished. His unwisdom was clear even to those who
believed that no percentage of reformation of assigned
servants could compensate for the moral degradation trans-
fused through the community by accepting them.

To avoid detached references it has been needful to trace
the convict question generally beyond the time of Governor
Bourke. He had local troubles with regard to it, and one
of them led to his resignation. His own kindness of heart
might have misled him as it misled the poor creature
Maconochie. But he was surrounded by persons who pro-
voked him into errors, from which the example of Macquarie
should have saved him. He was probably unaware of the
intriguing nature of some around him. His time was fully
occupied.

4 Shortly before he left, he wrote (holograph) thus to the author’s
father :—

‘“ Government House, Parramatta,

¢ November 16th, 1837.
“1DEAR SIR,

I can assure you it would have given me great pleasure to have
heard frequently from you in pursuance of the arrangement to which you
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had arrived in the colony in the four years which had
elapsed since its passing.

The Council (26th Aug. 1834) unanimously exercised
its power of adhesion to the Act, and when a few weeks
afterwards Dr. Wardell was shot on his own grounds close
to Sydney the community saw no reason to distrust the
policy of the Council. In a measure dealing with the
transportation and the punishment of conviets, which the
Governor passed as early as Aug. 1832, he was able to
infuse a milder spirit and give guarantees for humane
administration. In Petty Sessions magistrates were re-
strained from awarding more than fifty lashes. Labour in
irons, for not less than six nor more than twelve months,
they could still inflict. Most of the cases brought before
the Petty Sessions were charges of drunkenness, dis-
obedience, or other misconduct of convicts against their
masters.

The atmosphere of repulsion, which had in the earliest
days been thrown around penal establishments, was main-
tained by Bourke in the Act of 1832. Neither at Moreton
Bay nor at Norfolk Island was any vessel permitted to
touch without written license from the Governor. One of
the kindly provisions made by him for the welfare of his
criminal subjects was a Savings Banks Act (1832), which
authorized deposits by ‘¢ prisoners of the Crown.” The
handwriting of the Governor was required for the with-
drawal of principal or interest.

Although the Patriotic Association averred that trans-
portation led to wholesome financial results, their ablest
man denounced the charges for police and gaols which
were cast upon the Colonial Treasury. Even in the
nominated Legislature there were lengthy protests in 1885.
Bourke’s proposal to expend £65,500 was only carried by
seven votes against six. Colonel Snodgrass, the senior
military officer, while he voted for it, recorded his opinion
that the colonial revenue ought not to bear such a charge.
Mr. Lithgow, the Auditor-General, voted for the charge
rather than see the provision ¢ altogether withheld,” as
“ proposed by some members;” but he submitted that
while the colony did so much for the mother country by
maintaining her convicts, it was ‘‘ reasonable that the
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facilities in time of pressure he might, in a mercantile
sense, have been justified. But he paved the way for
intensifying the crisis which was at hand.

The Select Committee on police made an elaborate
report in June 1885. The expenditure had grown from
less than £6000 in 1811 to more than £86,000 in 1834.
In 1825 Sir Thomas Brisbane formed the noble corps of
mounted police from the regiments serving in the colony,
and increased the number of magistrates to sixty-nine.
Darling raised the latter to ninety-three in 1826, and in
the following year to one hundred and three. The mounted
police corps was then augmented, and at that time the pay
of ordinary constables was in Sydney 2s. 10d. a day, in
the country 2s. 8d.

The mounted police, the terror of evil-doers, consisted
in 1834 of a captain, three subalterns, a sergeant-major,
seven sergeants, sixteen corporals, and eighty-four pri-
vates. The total cost of the corps was £6865, of which
forage cost more than £4400. On a growing tendency to
make Courts of Petty Sessions mere departments of
government, by multiplying stipendiary magistrates,
Bourke wisely remarked (1838)-that ‘‘the benefit which
the mother-country derives from the services of an unpaid
magistracy cannot be lost sight of even at this early period
of the colony’s existence, without endangering by disuse,
and the formation of other habits, the enjoyment of this
privilege in future times.”**®

A charge for police, gaols, and hulk, was, in 1828, in
round numbers, £21,000; and in agreement with a des-
patch (80th July 1827), was paid out of the military chest.
In 1834, however, the Secretary of State (Spring Rice)
instructed Bourke—

“To take measures for providing out of the revenues of New South
Wales, after the 1st July 1835, the charges which were defrayed from the

% A lamentable tendency to multiply paid magistrates has for many
years been manifested under responsible Ministers, with disgraceful
exercise of patronage in appointing unfit persons as magistrates. The
viciousness of the practice has not been confined to colonies. It was
exhibited in the Gladstone and Rosebery Ministries (1892-1895); and it
was openly contended that it was right to create magistrates with a view
to their representing classes on the bench, and not to their administrative
capacity.
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He said, however, in 1838, that he had it ‘‘in command
from the Secretary of State to represent their wants,” and
to promise the co-operation of that functionary in giving
assistance to Roman Catholic schools and appointing
Roman Catholic chaplains. Thus early did the Whigs
bid for support in Ireland by offers of colonial patronage.
One or two unofficial members of the Council recorded
vain protests against grants which carried into effect the
new policy. Secretaries of State gave practical proof of
their zeal by paying (1832 to 1885) * outfit and passage”
for nine Roman Catholic priests and catechists. In the
same period they paid outfit and passage for one clergyman
of the Church of England. Judge Burton, in his book on
religion and education in the colony, called attention to the
fact that during 1833 and 1884 the government  refused
to sanction any allowance towards passage, residence, or
means of support for any additional clergyman” of the
Church of England. Archdeacon Broughton was in England
in 1835, and on his urgent appeal the Society for the
Promotion of Christian Knowledge granted £83000, and the
Society for Propagating the Gospel granted £1000 to aid the
Colonial Church which the necessities of the Whig govern-
ment seemed to induce them to discourage.

The question of education excited commotion. In 1826
a Church and School Corporation had been founded by the
King's letters patent. The Governor, the Chief Justice,
members of the Legislative Council, other officials, and the
‘“nine senior chaplains appointed to officiate and perform
Divine Service according to the rites of the Church of
England in the colony” were to form the Corporation. They
could hold and acquire lands; and, under certain conditions,
borrow money. Funds were to be devoted to improvements
and buildings, and to maintain and support the ““clergy of
the Established Church of England in the colony, and to
the maintenance and support of schools and schoolmasters.”
Two-sevenths were devoted to the last-named objects, and
five-sevenths to the stipends of the bishops and clergy. The
schools were to be under Church management. Though
created in 1826, it was not until 1829 that the Corporation
obtained possession of any lands, excepting the Orphan
School Estates (granted by Governor King) and parish
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education had been founded in Ireland which confined the
teaching by the State to that which could be honestly
received in common by all. He also desired to introduce a
piebald patronage of religion. Not because any form of
religion was true would he support it by the State funds,
but because by endowing all forms he desired to ingratiate
himself with all sects. He thought that all had their
price, and he was anxious to pay it. Amongst his para-
sites was Roger Therry, a devout believer in the philosophy
of Escobar, which, as it has survived the shafts of Pascal,
can never lack devotees. But wiser heads than Therry’s
pulled the wires which moved him and his master.

Dr. Tllathorne had been Vicar-General for the See of
Rome for several years, and in 1885 Dr. Polding had
arrived as Bishop. Governor Bourke corresponded with
the Secretary of State, without whose sanction no vital
change could be made. Petitions were presented to him
by Dr. Lang and by the Roman Catholics for special aid
in various places, for ministers’ salaries and for schools.®
One-third of the incoming convicts were Irish and Roman
Catholic, and relatives joined them, who raised the Roman
Catholic population to one-fifth of the whole. After the
dissolution of clergy and school reserves Sir R. Bourke
urged that ‘“‘equal encouragement should be held out” to
Christian denominations; that aid should be given to
building places of worship and ministers’ dwellings; and
that salaries should be allotted to chaplains (appointed by
the Crown), bearing a proportion (with a fixed maximum
of two hundred pounds) to the number of the congregation.
Inconsistently with his general proposition, he proposed to
limit the aid to three denominations—the Church of
England, the Presbyterian, and the Roman Catholic
bodies—which he called ‘“‘the three grand divisions of
Christians.” He recommended that Archdeacon Broughton
should be made Suffragan to the Archbishop of Canterbury

¥ A Roman Catholic bishop was expected in 1835. His co-religionists
ointed out that £150 & year was inadequate to meet ordinary wants, and
‘Our prelate will have to provide himself a genteel residence, suitable
episcopal paraphernalia, travelling expenses, a library, stationery, &
secretary or clerk—all of which with other et ceteras are indispensable to
his efficiency as the head of his department.”
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No sooner had the vote been carried than a resolution was
passed unanimously that in the new schools ‘‘a chapter
from the authorized version of the New Testament shall be
read at the opening of such schools on the first morning of
the week to those Protestant children in attendance.”

On the 38rd Aug. the Bishop spoke vigorously at a
‘General Committee of Protestants.” He arraigned the
‘““haste’” with which the Governor’s scheme was urged;
denied that Lord Glenelg had desired that any system
should be promoted in opposition to the ¢‘general wish;”
and pleaded that his zeal was justified by the necessity to
resist a ‘‘real and very formidable danger.”” Protestantism
rested upon the principle that Holy Scripture contained
““gll things necessary to salvation, and that the use of it
should be free to every man who has a soul to be saved.

. The Reformation will continue in security only so
long and only in proportion as that principle is held
inviolable.” He quoted the Bull (Unigenitus) of Pope
Clement XI. condemning the proposition that the Holy
Scriptures were for all men. He disclaimed personal
animosity. He would live peaceably with all men. ‘Let
us be careful not to extend the contest to the Roman
Catholics as individuals, and nof even to express ourselves
uncharitably with respect to their religion.” The speech
was reprinted in pamphlet form ¢ by order of the General
Committee of Protestants.”

Bourke, scared by the general opposition, did not proceed
with his scheme. With his Church measures he was more
successful. TLord Glenelg approved of his proposals to
endow indiscriminately ‘‘places and ministers of worship,
or, as it may be more briefly described, public religion.”
The amount of private contribution was to be ‘“the condi-
tion and measure of public aid.”” No other principle seemed
to trouble the noble Lord. He had ‘frequent communica-
tions with Mr. Archdeacon Broughton,” whose zeal and
energy were conspicuous, and who would be made Bishop
of Australia. In 1836 the Governor carried a general
measure ‘‘to promote the building of churches and chapels,
and to provide for the maintenance of ministers of religion
in New South Wales.” It enabled the government to make
grants for buildings as well as for stlpends If 100 persons
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the formation of a library” for the Legislative Council.
In the Council there were addresses asking for increase of
salaries of functionaries and for various special grants.

One of these will appear in an incident in the career
of Dr. Lang. He was in England in 1831, and success-
fully applied to Lord Goderich for a loan for an academical
institution. At the same time he made an Erastian a.;;Pli-
cation to the noble Lord for an extension of his leave® of
absence from his spiritual functions. The loan, sanctioned
by Lord Goderich, was formally resolved upon in the
colony (Nov. 18381) during the interval between the de-
parture of Darling and the arrival of Bourke. It was to
be made in different payments, ¢ on condition that previous
to each advance an equal sum shall have been actually
expended from the private contributions of the promoters
of the undertaking, and that security be given on the
proposed buildings which are to be erected on the Scotch
Church Estate, for the repayment in five years of the
money advanced from the Colonial Treasury.”” Lord
Goderich having also ‘‘ consented to an advance of £1500,
being part of the £3500 above alluded to, being made to
Dr. Lang immediately on his arrival with a certain number
of immigrants;” and Dr. Lang having arrived with the
immigrants, the Acting-Governor (Lindesay) recommended
immediate payment of the £1500, ‘it being understood
that no further advance be made to Dr. Lang on this
account until a sum equal to that amount shall be actually
expended on the proposed buildings.” The arrangement
recommended was adopted unanimously—‘ security to be
taken on the proposed buildings for repayment in such-
manner as may be judged expedient by the Attorney-
General.” Warned by Dr. Lang’s proneness to tamper
with the amounts of subscription (as formally reported to
Sir T. Brisbane), the Council demanded security in order
to protect the Government. The sequel proved that they
under-rated the ability of Lang or over-rated that of the
Attorney-General.

Some trouble had occurred in 1832, when the Legislative
Council requested the Governor to inform the Secretary of

* Despatch, Lord Howick to Sir R. Bourke, 29th March 1831. Lord
Gioderich granted the leave.




































































































































140 TESTIMONIAL TO LEICHHARDT, 1846.

and could scarcely speak, the words growing big with tears
and emotion; and even now, when considering with what
small means the Almighty had enabled me to perform such
a long journey, my heart thrills in grateful acknowledgment
of His infinite kindness.”” A schooner, the Heroine, trans-
ported the travellers to Sydney, where an ovation awaited
them. A petition” to the Legislative Council pointed out
that ¢ within the two years over which official proceedings
had extended,” Leichhardthad ¢ with five companions, and
without any assistance, pecuniary or otherwise, from
government, successfully prosecuted the expedition.”
Fifteen hundred pounds were raised by subscription; the
Legislature voted a thousand pounds as a gratuity; and
the glowing words of the bestowers added a value to the
gifts distributed to each member of the expedition. For
the two natives fifty pounds were lodged by the govern-
ment in the Savings Bank. To Leichhardt fell the lion’s
share.

When the Leichhardt Testimonial Committee publicly
presented their address to him (21st Sept. 1846) he was
already bound for a fresh expedition. The Speaker,
Nicholson, presented the testimonial, commenting on the
smallness of Leichhardt’s party, the hardships endured,
and the scientific, social, and economical results which
must accrue from the discovery of so boundless an extent
of fertile country. He alluded also to the fact that Sir T.
Miichell was then absent on an expedition in the interior.
Leichhardt’s terse reply may be given in full :—

“Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,—I thank you for the munificent gift
with which you have honoured me—I thank you for the congratulations
of the past—for your kind wishes for my approaching expedition. I feel
the more the weight of your generous liberality, as I am conscious how
much your kindness has overvalued my deserts; but I shall try to render
miself worthy of it, and I hope that the Almighty, who has so mercifully
taken care of me on my former expedition, will grant me skill and
strength to continue my explorations, and will render them equally
successful and beneficial to this colony. May His blessings attend the
generous people who have shown, by the honours they have done me, how
great an interest they take in the advancement of discovery.”

Crowds came round him as friends. He told an old
companion® that his acquaintance was claimed by so many

7 Votes and Proceedings, New South Wales Legislative Council, 1846.
8 The author.


































































162 MR. LATROBE’S INQUIRIES.

leader. His employers were not there. He endeavoured
to hide the traces of his deed. It was so sweeping that
hardly a survivor of the blacks attacked was left. Had
there been many, no court would have received their
evidence. Inquiry by one of the protectors of the
aborigines was apprehended, and the criminal dreaded
discovery of the remains of his vietims. There was danger
lest an accomplice should tell truth. He espied some
travellers arriving at his hut, feared that they were officers
of justice, and fled, taking ship to the East Indies. After
some years he returned unchallenged.

Some authentic information, although entirely ex parte,
has been preserved with regard to the early occupation of
Port Phillip. When Mr. Latrobe was about to leave Vie-
toria he wrote to many of the early settlers, and they nar-
rated to him their experience.* Some were able to declare
that they had never taken the life of a native. Much de-
pended upon the character of the white intruder. Mr.
Thomas Learmonth, who visited Buninyong in 1837 and
occupied it in 1838—a man of Christian charity, and well
known in after years for his munificence—said that he was
never in personal collision with the blacks. ‘I am free to
confess that, considering the wrong that has been done in
depriving them of their country, they have shown less
ferocity, and have exhibited the desire to retaliate less than
might have been expected.”

Mr. Hutton wrote that—

‘“The blacks were rather fine men, but very mischievous, and did much
damage not only to myself but to the settlers, as far as Mr. Ebden’s run at
Mount Macedon. No doubt there was blame on both sides, and had the
whites not been over-familiar with them for the sole purpose of getting
their women, many of the outrages they perpetrated might have been
avoided. . . . As your Excellency is about to leave the colony, and I
may not have another opportunmity, it is a satisfaction to myself to
solemnly assure you that I never shot or otherwise destroyed one of them.
I never even fired at one.”

Mr. Rose, of the Grampians, wrote : —

¢“In 1841 a hut-keeper and stock-keeper took two lubras (black women)
from their camp to their own huts, and then went and shot the husbands,
whom they buried in the sand. I was told this by a black, well known in
the Grampians, who pointed out the spot where they were buried; and
digging, I found it too true.”

" The MSS. sent to him are preserved in the Melbourne Public Library
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For a time the slaughter of the men terrified the servants
in the vicinity. Dr. Mackay had three convict servants,
but when his hired servants ran away, the convicts said
they would stay no longer, but would assist in driving
the stock back to the Hume (or Murray) River. Mackay
was compelled to retire thither. But the bold squatter was
soon back at his post, and with another horseman formed
a constant armed patrol. Others took heart of grace.
Dr. Mackay, Mr. Bowman, Mr. Chisholm, Dr. Reid, and
the Rev. Joseph Docker were soon established. The latter
and Dr. Mackay set an example which others were not wise
or kind enough to follow. By prudence and charity they
prevented conflict, and lived on friendly terms with the
natives, who were ruthlessly shot at by their neighbours.
The kindness of Mrs. Docker to a native severely wounded
by another settler was supposed to have won their hearts in
the first instance.

Une settler wrote that he was the first to employ the
blacks in a friendly manner, that his neighbours warned
him of the impropriety of encouraging the natives, but that
his policy answered, and his example was followed.

The foregoing information related to the western and
northern districts of Port Phillip. Mr. Fyans, a Commis-
sioner of Crown lands at the westward, wrote that he had
often inquired ‘“as to the reported depredations of the
natives. 1 felt convinced of their depredations, and
generally found the origin of theft and murder was from
an over-intimacy on both sides—the women ruling, de-
praved and bad.”

Mr. Robert Jamieson occupied the country between Point
Nepeun and Cape Schanck, and at Yallock on the head of
Western Port. He went there in 1839, and during ‘ seven
years saw a great deal of the natives, and invariably found
them quiet, inoffensive, and willing in their way to be
useful. They never did me any harm intentionally, and on
many occasions really helped me.”

Eastward of Western Port, however, there was no such
peace. The strife commenced by McMillan in 1840 was
continuous, and the lakes of Gipps Land enabled the hunted
inhabitants to escape for a time the wholesale slaughter
which overtook their countrymen on territory where horse-












168 REV. J. DOCKER AND DR. MACKAY AT OVENS RIVER.

that outrages on the blacks at other stations might be
revenged at Wandsworth ; but they escaped it. Gipps
(July 1842) expressed to them his sense of the services
they were ‘‘ thus rendering to the colony and to the cause
of humanity.” ® In like manner at Port Phillip the Rev.
J. Docker, of Bontherambo, and Dr. Mackay induced the
natives to trust in them and to work for them. But a
neighbour, not content with shooting blacks on his own
station, invaded Docker’s, and shot at them there. Docker
wrote to Gipps, who at once cancelled the ticket-of-leave of
a man who had been one of the invaders at Bontherambo,
and ordered him to be sent to Sydney; thus punishing his
employer as well as himself. Lord Stanley warmly approved
Gipps’ proceedings. Contrasting the results of Messrs.
Docker’s and Mackay’s conduct in the same vicinity, he
could ““not (Oct. 1841) divest himself of the apprehension
that the fault in this case lies with the colonists rather
than with the natives.” At the same period, Mr. Latrobe
was reporting assaults and murders throughout Port Phillip,
especially in the western portion of it. When ¢‘ the Whyte
brothers were annoyed by the aborigines,” the annoyed
brothers, having lost sheep, pursued the presumed reavers
with an armed party, nine in number. They overtook
them with the sheep in possession. Mr. Latrobe reported to
Gipps, ¢ it appears that about thirty at least were killed.”
The Crown Prosecutor at Port Phillip was of opinion that
‘“ the natives were the aggressors,” and that ‘‘ the deposi-
tions of the Whytes could not be used against them ;” “‘ at
all events the conduct of the natives would make the con-
viction of the parties very uncertain.” In July 1848, three
men, Hill, Betts, and Beswicke, were tried at Melbourne
for killing several black women and a child at Muston’s
Creek (Osprey’s station). One of the black protectors, Mr.
Sievewright, arrived a few days after the murder and saw
the bodies. Three white men swore that they saw the
prisoners take guns from a hut and heard shots fired. One
saw a black fall whom he ‘‘judged to be a woman by the
shriek.” As soon as the ¢ Judge commenced his charge to
the jury, the foreman rose and said the jury had already

'* Parliamentary Papers, vol. xxxiv. House of Commons. 1844.












172 MISSIONARY THRELKELD. JUDGE WILLIS.

black woman amongst them, were pulled to pieces by him, and shown to
the black woman, which, according to their superstitious notions, subjects
all parties to the punishment of death, and further, that he was deputed,
mtgaothers, by his tribe to enforce the penalty which he too faithfully
performed.”

Such was the official report of Threlkeld as to the Aus-
tralian black, who fell, like the Spartans, obedient to his
country’s laws. The missionary travelled with him to the
place of execution. ‘ We walked to the fatal drop through
an escort of military; he kneeled and prayed ; we ascended
the gallows; he stood firmly, saying, ‘I am now cast away
for death;’ he repeated the prayer, ¢ Lord Jesus, receive
my spirit; * the drop fell, and eternity must develop the
triumphs of the cross.”

In 1832 Threlkeld’s annual report urged that it was
anomalous that a black man should be tried in an English
Court for killing another black, inasmuch as if ¢ acquitted
he must again stand trial amongst his own people,” and in
the English Court black witnesses were rejected, ‘‘although
now proclaimed subject to and under protection of our
Courts. I respectfully call the attention of the Judges of
our Courts, of the Legislative Council, and of the British
Parliament to the peculiarity and injustice of their case.”
The point was brought before the Supreme Court in Sydney
in 1886, and it was decided that the aborigines were amen-
able to the colonial law for offences committed amongst
themselves. Judge Willis, in 1841, held a different view at
Port Phillip, and Gipps consulted the Judges in Sydney,
who adhered to the decision of 1836; but replied to none
of the arguments of Willis. Lord Stanley declined (1842)
to refer the case for the opinion of the law officers in
England, when, at Willis’ request, Gipps forwarded the
papers with a view to such a reference. The Legislature in
the colony languidly temporized with the case by support-
ing the missions with £500, and voting £1000 for the
annual dole of blankets and provisions. In the same year,
in surveys, £65,000 were expended in carving out the
homes of the blacks for sale, and £52,000 in police and
gaols for controlling the new tenants of the appropriated
country. The British Parliament was too remote to legis-
late upon details. Secretaries of State were more or less
Impressed with the solemnity of their position, and Lord






174 PERISHING OF TASMANIANS.

which few persons are willing to give them credit.” Lt.
Darling in effecting this change was compelled to banish
altogether the debauched sealers, who had frequented
the island. Under this rule the travelling quakers, Back-
house and Walker, found the natives ‘ very docile.” But
still they drooped and died. In 1834 only 120 remained.
Darling had then left, but a superintendent, and the good
catechist, Robert Clark, were there. In 1835 the pacificator
Robinson took charge of the remnant, and industry, educa-
tion, and religion flourished in the island. He established
a newspaper amongst them, entirely ‘‘ written by the
aborigines on half a sheet of foolscap, and sold for twopence
for the benefit of the editors.” In 1887 the ‘“ only draw-
back was the great mortality.”” The caged eagle may
thrive, and the exiled man may build himself a home ; but
for the imprisoned spirit of the captured savage, bound to
his miniature Caucasus in Bass’s Straits, wistfully looking
towards the beloved Ringarooma to which he could never
return, there was but one escape—death. It came rapidly.
Robert Clark,? the catechist, smoothed the horror of it,
and became their well-beloved. They called him Father
Clark. In the infinite mercy rendered to those who love
God and keep His commandments the deeds of this
man were needed as a sweet savour in an atmosphere
which stank with the cruelties of others. In 1835
Arthur wrote of the natives: ‘ Their number has been
reduced to 100.” In 1838 Robinson was invited to
Port Phillip. The twenty-nine men then living at
Flinders Island begged to accompany him. Governor
Franklin engaged to meet liberally the question of expense.
Father Clark, with Robinson’s approval, wished to retain
the privilege of instructing the aborigines when removed to
New Holland. But it was not to be. A Select Committee
was appointed in New South Wales (14th Aug. 1888) to
consider questions relating to the aborigines, and Franklin’s
communication was referred to the Committee, consisting of
Bishop Broughton, the Collector of Customs, the Auditor-
General, Mr. Blaxland and Mr. Macarthur. The Committee
took evidence from Robinson, who vainly advocated the

= ¢¢‘The Last of the Tasmanians.” James Bonwick. London: 1870.






176 FATHER CLARK AT OYSTER COVE.

fortunes of the Tasmanians, visited Oyster Cove in 1859,
one of the native women, Mary Anne, showed him a hut.

““Here” (said my weeping companion), ‘‘here poor father died. I
attended him along with his daughter, night and day. But all the people
wanted to do something for him, for all so loved him. And then he
would talk to us and pray with us. He would tell me what to read to him
from the Bible when too weak to hold the Book himself. How he would
talk to us! When he thought he was going to die, he got the room full,
and bade us good-bye. He held up his hands, and prayed for us. He did
love us. And then he said while he was crying, ¢ Mind you be sure and
all meet me in heaven.” The poor creature could not tell me any more,
bat fairly sobbed aloud.”

Why protract the tale? When Clark died, the hopes of

his children were annihilated. The woman, Mary Ann,
told Bonwick :—
‘“ We had souls in Flinders, but we have none here. There we were
looked after, and the bad whites were kept from annoying us. Here
we are thrown upon the scum of society. They have brought us among
the offscouring of the earth. @ We are tempted to drink and all bad
practices, but there is neither reading nor prayer. While they give us
food for the body they might give us fi for the soul. They might
think of the remnant of us poor creatures and make us happy. Nobody
cares for us.”

This was in 1859. Yet the death-rate was not rapid
enough to satisfy some prophets of the gospel of money.
The cost per head was thought too high, and the allowance
for the establishment was diminished. #Who can wonder
at the speediness of the end ? Bonwick says :—

‘‘ They were chilled and disheartened. They would all die soon. Then
why should they till the ground? For whom would the potatoes be
grown? What would be the use of a dairy ? Books were left unopened,
or looked at with glazed eyes. They read their fate. In such a mood
they cared for nothing. They lost interest in all about them. Every-
thing seemed to remind them of their end. Was it strange, then, that
when temptation came near, they fell? When the drink was brought
secretly, was it strange that they took it as the Aryans their divine
Soma, the drink of the gods, the reliever of sorrow. the life-giver, the
joy-friend ”

Dr. Milligan, their nominal guardian, was in Hobart
Town, and for years the occasional glance of a constable
represented the tutelary care of the government. When
Bonwick’s ‘“Last of the Tasmanians’ was published in
1870, only Truganina, the heroine of the pacification, was
alive, and she passed in 1876 into the realm of spirits.
The affection for Father Clark is a proof, if proof were
needed, that Robinson’s career produced something better






























186 FINANCIAL DISTRESS IN NEW SOUTH WALES.

* Although it has passed into a proverb that figures are
deceptive, it is necessary to give some. The coin in the
colonial Treasury, which had averaged £188,000 from 1836
to 1839, fell to £88,000 in 1840, and to nothing in 1842,
It accumulated in the distrustful banks from £200,000 in
1836 to £448,000 in 1842." The imports which had after
the drought of 1827 risen for two years, declined to £420,000
in 1830, after which they were augmented gradually to
about a million and a quarter in 1837. The exports in
like manner had fallen in 1827 and 1828 (to less than
£100,000), but recovered, and in 1887 were £760,000. In
1840 the dire needs of the colony swelled the imports to
more than three millions sterling. In 1837 the registered
value of imported grain, flour, rice, &c., was £61,000. For
the years 1839, 1840, and 1841 it largely exceeded £200,000.
Of rice, 176,000 1bs. had been imported in 1887. Nearly
7,000,000 lbs. were imported in 1840. The flour imported
in 1837 was about 1,500,000 lbs.; in 1841 it was about
15,000,000 lbs. The exports to meet the inward trade
showed less abrupt changes. They rose gradually, until
in 1839 they were £950,000. In 1840 they sprung to
£1,400,000, subsiding in 1841 to about £1,000,000.

The yield from agriculture diminished during a drought
in 1838 and 1839. In 1840, stimulated by prices and by
distress, it increased in every form. Of the heat-enduring
millet, of which 283 bushels had been grown in 1839, 3300
were garnered in 1840. Potatoes were produced in 1840
in fourfold quantity. The struggle for existence animated
every household. The land sold in 1842 realized less than
£15,000—a sum insufficient to meet the expense of the
survey department. In 1840 the Treasury had received
£316,000. In 1848, although the bulk of the -cattle
and sheep in the colony® were depastured beyond the

* New South Wales Legislative Council Proceedings. 1843.

In the “‘Sydney or Middle District” t} cacte oo,
n the ‘“‘Sydney or Middle District” there were
within the counties .. 304,886 1,596,417
Those within the three counties in the Southern |
or Port Phillip district were. ( 19,419 185,332
In the Sydney district be) ond the boundanes of 491,541 1,804,006

location ..
In Port Plullxp there were. .. o e 81,373 1,404,338






188 WENTWORTH’S LIEN BILL. INSOLVENCY ACT, 1841.

meat market in Sydney, the European tallow market could
not be glutted. Establishments for boiling down sheep
and cattle were erected at Sydney and in the country.
The meat was wasted, but ragged remnants which emerged
from the vats were used as manure. Occasionally where,
as at Goulburn (in Argyle), there was a nucleus of con-
sumers, a butcher consented to give 1d. a piece for 1000
legs of mutton, which he retailed by the pound to his
customers. When sheep and cattle were found to be
.exchangeable in some manner for money, hope reasserted
itself in the minds of settlers, and soon after Mr. O'Brien’s
experiment was made known, Wentworth, by a Lien on
Wool and Stock Bill, converted hope into confidence. The
live stock of the colony would represent at all times a
certain value. The export of tallow in 1848 was increased
elevenfold in 1845, and that of hides fourfold. Many
.colonists dated their escape from ruin to the operation of
Wentworth’s bill and the advice of Mr. O’Brien. Yet
neither Wentworth nor O’Brien claimed the title of dis-
coverer. They applied to the colony, in time of need,
principles and practices extant elsewhere under different
conditions, and they modestly contented themselves with
what they had done. But a long gloom preceded the
dawn, and it was the distressful aspect of affairs® which
the Governor had to confront. It is not surprising that
one of the Acts required at an early date was an Insolvency
Act. The law as enacted by Governor Darling dealt only
with imprisoned debtors, who could, on petition, obtain
relief at the discretion of the Court. A law passed by
Sir R. Bourke in 1832, and twice renewed, was confined
in the same manner to relief of prisoners.

In 1888, a Select Committee of which Chief Justice
Dowling was chairman, examined a bill brought forward by

® Amongst the fluctuations of value at the time one or two may be
mentioned. A new-comer bought a flock of ordinary ewes at two guineas
a head, paying nearly one guinea a head in cash, and giving bills for the
residue. e was unable to meet them all. The sheriff sold the young
colonist's effects, and the original owner of the sheep bought them back
at six shillings a head. At a later date an impecunious grazier saw his
flock sold at fivepence a head to satisfy the claim of the government for
arrears of quit-rent on his land. A man engaged in business stated before.

& Committee (in 1843) that he had proved claims of £33,000 against insol-
vent estates, and had received about sixpence in the pound.
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sion had reduced the land fund almost to zero. But the
greater the depression the greater was the need of labour to
save the pastoral interest from the extinetion which Sir J.
Jamieson and Mr. Blaxland deemed imminent. So clogged
were the wheels of progress that in 1842 there was a
temporary arrest of employment of immigrants on arrival.
The unemployed were chiefly of the artisan classes, who
shrank from accepting employment as shepherds, and
clung to the metropolis. ~The decline in the value of wool
made high wages ruinous to the flock-owner, and those
accustomed to high wages scorned the offer of low.

The knotty point of education engrossed the Governor’s
attention. With regard to Sir R. Bourke’s plan he wrote
(9th Dec. 1839) that all that his predecessor had done was
to send to England for books, and to contract for a school-
house at Wollongong, sixty miles from Sydney; that in fact
Bourke’s ¢ plans were considered to be virtually abandoned.”
Then rose a practice of giving State assistance equal to that
accruing to any school from private sources, which Gipps
properly denounced as having an ‘‘obvious tendency to
create more schools than were required or could be main-
tained,” and seeing ‘‘the great actual mischief of the
system,” he proposed that all the Protestants should
receive aid in combined schools, and that corresponding
advantages should be given to Roman Catholic schools.
The manifest injustice of giving to one denomination
separate, and therefore special, aid because it refused to
join with others, and of saying to all the others, ‘‘ You shall
have no aid at all unless you join with others whom I shall
point out to you,” did not press itself upon Gipps, but was

seen by others. In 1839 he brought forward resolutions
" for establishing public schools to ‘‘comprehend all classes
of Protestants,” and securing ‘‘corresponding advantages
for the schools of the Roman Catholics.” Fifteen members
were present when Bishop Broughton opposed the scheme
in a speech which was subsequently printed. Cogent as
his arguments were deemed, his language was courteous,
and he disavowed a desire to thwart government measures.
With the aid of his official phalanx Gipps might perhaps
have carried his resolutions, but he thought it more
prudent not to press them,” and they were withdrawn. At
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acres, or (“a section’), one square mile. Land Boards
were appointed to assist in determining whether the appli-
cant had means, and was a fit person to receive a grant.
From this condition of affairs there was not much transi-
tion to a state in which the purchase of the land should be
the test of means. Gibbon Wakefield’s theory of selling at
a sufficient price broke upon the world in 1829, and made
disciples. Lord Goderich (generally known as Lord Ripon)
in 1881 framed Regulations for the sale of land by auction,
starting from a minimum price of 5s. per acre. A deposit
of 10 per cent, was to be paid at the sale, and the balance
in one month. Surveys were to be made; the land was, if
possible, to be sold in lots of 640 acres; the government
exercised complete discretion as to the lots to be sold, coals
and precious metals were to be reserved, and the tenure
was to be free and common socage with nominal pepper-
corn rent. Alienation of the sea-shore was to be guarded
against. Except for navigation or commerce, no land
within a hundred feet of high-water mark in any harbour,
bay, or inlet, was to be open for purchase. Lands adver-
tised for sale, and unsold, were to be put up to auction for
lease for one year, but were always liable to sale. Under
special regulations a portion of purchase-money was re-
mitted to retired officers and discharged soldiers. Large
grants of land for church and school purposes were at the
same time discontinued and the dissolution of the Church
and School Corporation followed.

The proceeds of land sales were for some time small. The
average price in 1834 was only 8s. per acre. An upset price
of 53. was not calculated to serve Wakefield’s objects. It
neither restrained the speculator from taking up a larger
area than he could use with due regard to the general weal,
nor did it discourage the labourer from diverting his energies
into channels unprofitable for himself and ill-adapted to
benefit the community.

The members of neither class comprehended Wakefield's
reasoning. The Swan River experiment revealed the fact
that, as regarded enormous grants of land in few hands,
Wakefield's vision had been prophetic; but none the less
was he distrusted as to the premature spreading of a labour-
ing population or yeomanry over the land. In vain he
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uniformity throughout Australia.® Lord Glenelg, while
disclaiming responsibility for the efforts of Wakefield’s
disciples, and contemplating with lively concern ‘‘any event
which justly appears to threaten South Australia with
disappointment or loss”’—reminded the Commissioners that
when they embarked in their scheme it was a matter of
general notoriety that in the adjacent colonies the upset
price was 58. Governor Bourke when called upon for a
report (1887) was unable to recommend an alteration of
that price. Nevertheless, Gipps was instructed (Aug. 1838)
to ¢ substitute 12s. for 5s8. as the upset price of land of
ordinary quality ;”” and he issued a notice altering the price
“ without distinction as to whether the lands had been
previously advertised at a lower rate or not.” Governor
Franklin thought himself justified in such a distinction in
Van Diemen's Land, and Gipps, finding what had been done
there, consulted his Council, assimilated his proceedings to
Franklin’s, and was supported (Oct. 1839) by the new
Secretary of State, Lord J. Russell.

Gibbon Wakefield never admitted that his theory was
tested by what was done in South Australia. A Committee
on South Australian affairs, inspired by him and his friends,
recommended that the minimum price should ‘‘be raised
considerably above the present amount of £1 per acre.”
But the Land and Emigration Commissioners, Messrs.
Elliot, Torrens, and Villiers (who had, as concerned with
all colonies, superseded (1840) the special South Australian
Commissioners) shrank from the proposition. They were
unwilling to be the practitioners upon whom blame would

¥ Faithless to their professed principle, the Colonization Commissioners,
after ﬁxing the price at £1, issued (Oct. 1835) ‘‘modified regulations” b
which land was sold at 12s. an acre. When the newly-formed Sout!
Australian Company had taken up numerous allotments at the reduced
rate, it was an object with the promoters to enhance the value of their
commodity. To enable themselves to buy cheaply, they tempted the
Colonization Commissioners to reduce the price. ﬁaving bought at a low
rate they desired that by the raising of the ‘‘uniform rate” they might be
able to sell at a high one. In March 1839 the wavering Commissioners
resumed the standard of £1. These facts, though not to be forgotten, do
not require insertion in the text at this point. As an instructive com-
mentary upon them it may be added that in 1839 the Commissioners
officially stated that allotments in Adelaide (sold by them at 12s.) were
worth in good situations from £1000 to £2000 an acre.
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to pay money in England and receive land orders entitling
them to any surveyed land they might find unappropriated
in the colony; would allow such purchasers to nominate
a certain proportion of labourers to be conveyed to the
colony ; would allow the local authorities to reserve, from
alienation at a fixed price, only the sites of principal towns
or seats of commerce, except in cases where reserves had
already been made; and would appropriate the whole of
the land ‘‘ fund to convey labour to the colony or adminis-
trative distriet in which the land may have been sold.”
They advised that in the contemplated New South Wales
Bill power should be given to the Commissioners to raise
money on the security of future sales to promote immigration,
and ¢“ that the deeds of grant shall convey to the purchaser
everything above and everything below the surface.”

They had hardly made these recommendations when
Lord John referred to them another despatch in which
Gipps contended vigorously against applying the uniform
price to New South Wales.

‘1 cannot imagine anything that would throw this government and the
whole colony into more complete confusion than the arrival of an order
from your Lordship to put a fixed price on land and allow the first claimant
to take as much or as little as he liked, in an rt within the limits of
our twenty-two counties. If extended beyond those limits the confusion
would, of course, if possible, be greater.”

The Commissioners saw nothing even in this despatch
‘“to alter or modify their opinjon.”” They framed regulations
(Aug. 1840) for ‘separating Port Phillip from the rest of
New South Wales for all purposes connected with the disposal
of land.” All the territory to the south of the counties.
Murray and St. Vincent, and of the Murrumbidgee and
Murray Rivers, was to be the southern or Pori Phillip
district,reaching to the eastern boundary of South Australia.
Within it land was to be sold at the fixed uniform price
of £1 per acre in sections of half of a square mile, or 820
acres. A Northern District was to be carved out of New
South Wales, but the operation was to be for a time
deferred. In the older parts of New South Wales (the
Sydney district) ‘land continues to be sold by auction
at the upset price of 12s. per acre in lots of 640 acres, or
one square mile.” Nomiations by purchasers entitled
them to free passages for labourers at the rate of one adult:
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after protracted discussion, they unanimously adopted
a resolution soliciting Her Majesty’s re-consideration of the
matter. They viewed ““the dismemberment of the territory”
with dismay, and prayed that other limits might be
appointed so as to ¢ secure to New South Wales the course
of the principal rivers discovered and explored by the enter-
prise and at the expense of the settlers.”” A committee was
appointed to prepare an address which, four days after-
wards, was adopted.

Earnestly but loyally they maintained their objections,
not to the formation of other colonies, but to the cramping
of New South Wales; and they prayed that the southern
boundary of New South Wales might be ‘“a line drawn
from near Cape Howe to the source of the River Hume or
Murray; and from thence the course of that river itself
until it reaches the 141st deg. of E. longitude, and that the
northern boundary may be the 28th parallel of S. latitude
from the sea-coast to the same 141st deg. of E. longitude.”
Thus in one week united counsels averted the dreaded blow,
and prescribed the course ultimately taken. The debate in
the Council was printed in a pamphlet in Sydney. The
impress of the mind of Bishop Broughton was manifest.
“My suggestion is,”” he said, ‘that in order to secure
to this colony its fair and due share of advantage, its
sea frontier should commence from Cape Howe or from the
Ram Head, which is very little to the westward, and should
extend as far north as the 28th deg. of south latitude;
that its boundary to the southward should be the River
Murray from its crossing the 141st deg. of east latitude to
its source, and from thence a line drawn to Cape Howe or
to the Ram Head.” Gipps himself took part in the debate
and supported the Bishop, whose suggestion yet lives
in the boundary between Victoria and New South Wales.

A public meeting was held to support the view of the
Council; and Gipps took upon himself, at any rate for
a time, ‘“not to obey his instructions in reference to Port
Phillip.”" That settlement, at the age of five years, de-
manded separation. Public meetings® in Melbourne

% In Dec. 1840, at an enthusiastic meeting, Alexander Mollison, Red-
mond Barry, Cunningham, and Arden are names which appear promin-
ently as guides of opinion. .
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to be altered. They had with Sydney ¢ few common
interests, and no mutual sympathies.” They  rejected
the parental claim thrust forward by the middle district.”
It was true that flocks and herds had been brought from
New South Wales by ‘‘ many originally settled in New
South Wales,” ““but these are not the men who strive to
retard the advance of Port Phillip.”

“Immediate separation” was the watchword of all who
had stepped into the inheritance over which the English
flag had waved from the time when Governor King sent
Robbins to repel French pretensions in 1808. They were
in 1841 shaken by alarms lest their own district should
suffer contraction. It was suggested in England that the
South Australian boundary might be extended eastward so
as to include the valleys of the Wannon and the Glenelg
rivers. The inhabitants at Melbourne protested against
such a proposition, and in spite of the friends of South
Australia the project was abandoned.

Gipps, though engaged in instructing Capt. Hobson as to:
the occupation of New Zealand, lost no time making his.
own views known (19th Dec. 1840) to Lord J. Russell. He
transmitted copies of the regulations he had issued. Acting
on his Council’s advice he reserved from sale all ‘lands
which had been previously advertised at a higher price
than £1 per acre,” and all unsold lands within five miles.
of Melbourne, Geelong, or Portland. He pointed out that
if he had obeyed Lord J. Russell by selling such lands at
£1 per acre the probable loss would have been £998,490.
He forwarded the petition of the Legislative Council, with
explanatory comments, and separately transmitted his own
opinions.

The South Australian system had contained two features-
—the special survey at a fixed price and

‘“ the disposal of building allotments in the towns by means of a lottery or-
raffle, the tickets of which were given gratuitously, or next to gratuitously,
to the purchasers of a certain number of country acres, The first of these-:
inventions secured very great advantages to early settlers; the second
added to the attractions of the scheme some of that excitement which is-
produced in the human mind by gambling.”

Both had acted powerfully at South Australia and at Port
Nicholson in New Zealand.
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-principle, which has been so long existing, and that ‘the
country would be open successively to location, one distriet
after another,” and that then they would have an equal
chance with any other buyer at auction.

Descanting upon the South Australian principle of a fixed
price he argued that had Port Phillip been subject to it,
“g loss would already have been sustained of £179,000
out of £881,000 which has already been realized.” One
great advantage of an extensive system of squatting was
the rapid increase of stock. The older settlements had,
.under it, become

¢« the hive from which swarms of sheep and cattle had been driven to
give a value to the lands of Port Phillip and South Australia, which,
without them, would to this day have been an unprofitable wilderness.
It is this system which has in reality enabled South Australia to avoid
the fate of Swan River; for if South Australia has prospered it is
principally, if not solely, because it is nearer to New Sout ales. The
enterprising colonists who first drove sheep from New South Wales to
South Australia, rescued that colony from ruin. It is under this system,
moreover, that New South Wales, after having without the expense of one
shilling to the mother country, and without the aid of borrowed money,
silently founded a settlement of unexampled prosperity at Port Phillip, is
now rendering the same services to Great Britain in securing to her the
islands of New Zealand.”

Not content with sending the memorandum from which
the foregoing are extracts, Gipps in a separate despatch
compared the South Australian and New South Wales
systems. It was not fair to compare the former with the
old free grant system; nor with that which prevailed from
1831 to 1889, of sales at five shillings an acre; the proper
comparison was with “ that which has been adopted at Port
Phillip since 1837.”

““Each of these systems is an integral one, and each is new; one was the
invention of persons of great ingenuity, whose labours as far as South
Australia is concerned it is by no means my desire to disparage; the other
was the result of experience gained in this colony—experience, too, of the
most instructive nature—the experience of our own errors. . . . The
sacrifices which it wus expedient to make in the foundation of South Aus-
tralia, including the sacrifice of all land in the neighbourhood of Adelaide
at the utterly inadequate price of £1 per acre, are quite unnecessary in the
;Pen.i.ng of a district whicﬂ is already part of a rich and thriving colony.

o make such sacrifices would be needfeuly to forego—I crave permission
even to say, wilfully to cast away—the advantages which naturally belong
to & position such as that either of Port Phillip or Moreton Bay. . . .
Under the new system at Port Phillip, the survey is made to move
forward continuously, and land is only brought into the market a'the
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of South Australia.” Thus the Monaro district and the
whole territory between the Murray and Murrumbidgee
Rivers were provisionally incorporated with the Sydney or
middle district.

At the period under review the Act (9 Geo. IV. cap. 83)
for the government of New South Wales and Van Diemen's
Land had been several times renewed with hardly any
modifications until Dec. 1840, and the question of
boundary between the proposed districts of New South
Wales remained to be adjusted. It was not until 1842
that the new Act for the Government of New South
Wales and Van Diemen’s Land (5 and 6 Viet. cap. 76)
was passed. The land system of South Australia stood
by itself, and was regulated by a special Act until the year
1842.

From Western Australia Governor Hutt wrote lengthy
despatches, which were largely commented on by the Land
and Emigration Commissioners. Mr. Hutt was a disciple
of Gibbon Wakefield, and while deploring the *incalculable
evil” of large grants of land, sought practical remedies for
existing troubles.

1. He would call upon absentee grantees to furnish a schedule of
improvements effected. He would grant titles in proportion to the
improvement on any portion of land, but totally unimproved land he
would at once resume.

2. To resident grantees who had effected no improvements he would
give a title to one-fourth of the grants, and would resume the remainder.

3. To resident grantees of one large block, who had effected partial
improvements, he would give a title for the improved portions, and a
further title to one-fourth of the unimproved land, as a reward for their
‘“effort to complete their compact with the government, and failing only
from repeated and disheartening losses.”

4. Resident grantees of separated blocks, he would, for various reasons,
place in a similar position to that of the previous class.

The members of an Agricultural Society and other land-
holders forwarded through him a memorial praying for
consideration, and deprecating the ‘“attacks made upon the
colony, and the system on which it was originally founded,
by persons who, with little or no knowledge of its nature
and resources, have adopted a theory of colonization opposed

.7 In 1839, by 2and 3 Vict., c. 70, the local legislature was empowered to
rovide for administration of justice, constitution of Courts, juries, &c.
herwise the Act was a mere Continuation Act.
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on which the colony had been founded, would yet keep
faith with the colonists. Not so Lord J. Russell. The
immigration fund, which was incidental to the Wakefield
gystem, and obtained before a grantee took possession of
his land, was to be extorted from men notoriously bowed
down by misery. It was as if a highwayman finding no
money in a man’s purse should take his blood. Thus at
the end of 1840 was Western Australia harassed on the
land question. In New South Wales Gipps was vigorously
remonstrating against the clumsy application of new prin-
ciples to old conditions. In Port Phillip the children of New
South Wales demanded the lopping off of the limbs of their
mother. From Van Diemen’s Land, where members of the
Legislative Council had, in 1883, protested against expend-
ing the land fund “‘out of the colony "’ (viz. on immigration),
there was a desire to migrate to the pastures of Port Phillip,
and a consequent paralysis of home industry. South
Australia has already been seen bankrupt.. The Colonial
Office, only half embracing the Wakefield theory, shrank
from applying its cardinal principle of ascertaining the
sufficient price. With the land question immigration was
bound up.

So pressing was the subject of immigration that a Select
Committee became almost an annual necessity in New
South Wales.

In 1888 Bishop - Broughton brought up an elaborate
report. At least three thousand adult male immigrants
were declared to be requisite in the year. To avoid incon-
venience from fluctuations in the amount of land sales and
inordinate repletion or depletion of the immigration fund,
it was suggested that a loan of two millions sterling might
be raised. It was urged that the land fund should
be rigidly devoted to immigration “after paying certain
defined charges. Thiswas declared to be *‘the object upon
which the first degree of solicitude is felt and expressed by
the public.” Like their precursors, the committee pointed
out that the bounty system was more economical than the
hiring of vessels by the government; and, as was due to
his character and office, the chairman concluded the report
with an earnest appeal for the provision of religious instrue-
tion and communion for the immigrants.. ¢ Without this:
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convict labour was one of the principal though indireet
means of bringing free persons to the colony, the continu-
ance-of immigration in any extended form must necessarily
depend upon the continuance of assignment of convicts.

Gipps duly forwarded the resolutions, and Lord Glenelg
concurred with Gipps’ opinion as to discontinuing assign-
ment of male convicts in towns, adding (26th Jan. 1839)
that it was “a step towards the entire discontinuance of
assignment throughout the colony at as early a period as
practicable.” The inquiry of the House of Commons into
transportation was concluded in 1838, and Gipps was told
that constitutional legislation for the colonies had been
postponed in order that the report on transportation might
be considered. The English government being intent on
discontinuing assignment, the immigration question was:
vital to the colony. Again (1839) there was a colonial
committee on immigration, and again the Bishop was
chairman. The report showed that the extra costliness of
chartered ships had absorbed more than £55,000 in excess
of the cost of doing the same work under the bounty
system ; and the rate of mortality amongst the immigrants
had been higher than in the bounty vessels. It recom-
mended the discontinuance of the government scheme
unless the expense could be reduced to a level with the
bounty system. The doom of the transportation system
was contemplated as approaching, and the committes
recorded ‘the unanimous persuasion of all persons in the
colony that to permit immigration to be suspended or
checked would be to seal the death-warrant of colonial pro-
sperity.”” But the Treasury was straitened, and they
were forced to suggest a diminution in the expenditure, an’
increase of Customs duties, and a loan of £125,000.
Revenue could not be derived from Crown lands unless-
there were a possibility of obtaining labour to make them
productive.

Sir G. Gipps’ financial minute in 1840 showed that the.
charges for survey and sale in 1839 (£28,000) and for the:
aborigines (£5800) with the sum expended on immigration:
(£158,000) had exceeded by £25,000 the amount derived
from the sale of Crown lands. Drought had paralyzed:-e-
great.-portion of the colony. Every interest was depressed;-
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proof that the working classes were prosperous it was urged-
that the Savings Banks deposits had risen in less than five:
years from £24,500 to £127,000. Sale of Crown lands by
auction was supported * as the best mode of obtaining the
real value at the same time that it exercises a beneficial
influence upon the welfare of this community, by enabling
the bond fide settler, occupying lands for pastoral purposes,
to ascertain when they are for sale, and gradually to pur-
chase such portions of them as may be essential to his per-
manent establishment in the colony.” Gipps forwarded the
resolutions to Lord J. Russell, with ‘‘an earnest request
that they might be made public,” in order as far ‘““as
possible to counteract the effect of the misrepresentations
respecting New South Wales, which, ever since the publi-
cation of the report of the Transportation Committee of the
House of Commons, have been so industriously circulated
in the United Kingdom.” He enclosed a report of a speech
made by Bishop Broughton in support especially of the
ninth resolution, which dealt with the moral condition of
the colony. The Bishop rejoiced at the abolition of trans-
portation to New South Wales, but repelled efforts to attach
odium to it as a penal colony. If a man would ransack
chronicles and collect instances of crime, he might produce
a record which the character of England could not endure.
Was this a fair way to try moral character ? :
The Bishop’s speech was printed with the House of Com-
mons’ Papers in 1841 and was warmly approved of in the
colony. Dr. Lang’s newspaper reported it, and Lang
loudly proclaimed the necessity for introducing Protestants
in order to counteract the wiles of ‘“Popery.” The
‘“Papists’” were numerous among the convicts; and they
were, he said, straining every nerve to introduce them-
selves as government immigrants. His remedy was not
the demand for equality of proportions of immigrants from
the various parts of the United Kingdom, but a vigorous.
effort to introduce Scotch Presbyterians. The following
words were in the Bishop’s speech : ' o

‘“His learned friend had spoken of an anti-Irish feeling here. He was
not aware that there was any such feeling. He had never indulged it.
« . . Buthe felt it his duty to say that there was a very deeply-seated
and widespread jealousy concerning the disproportionate-introduction of
Irish immigrants, which was now in progress. He would fairly admit:
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executed (exclusive of aborigines) 825 criminals, 63 of wham
‘were enumerated as of the “free,” and 262 of the ‘‘bond”
class. Of the total population of the colony (2nd Sep. 1836),
54,621 were Protestants, and 21,898 Roman Catholics.

Thus the Roman Catholics formed about 40 per cent. of
the whole population. Yet of the 63 “free”” criminals they
had furnished 87, and of the 262 ‘“bond,” they had
supplied 188, or more than 50 per cent. of the former, and
nearly 60 per cent. of the latter class.

The character of Gipps had given his opinions weight in
Downing-street, which influenced successive Secretaries, and
compelled the retractation of Orders in Council issued in the
name of the Queen. He had not been appointed by friends
of Lord Stanley, but the latter loyally recognized his ability.
In 1842 Lord Stanley introduced a Crown Lands Sale Bill
in the House of Commons. With scarcely a dissentient
voice in either House it became law. There were to be no
gratuitous grants. Land was to be sold by auction, the
minimum upset price being £1 per acre. There were to be
town lots, suburban lots, and country lots. The upset
price of the three classes was to be fixed by the govern-
ment. The third clause gave power to make reserves for
the benefit of the aborigines, for enumerated purposes in
which the public would have a direct interest, and ¢ for any
other purpose of public safety, convenience, health, or
enjoyment.” Land was to be surveyed and delineated
on charts before sale. Land offered at auction and unsold
might be sold by contract at not less than the upset price.
Special blocks of 20,000 acres formed an exception. They
might be sold, before survey, in parallelograms, of which
no one side was to be “ more than twice the length of any
other side.” Persons paying sums into the Treasury in
England were to be entitled to certificates, which were
to be available for land purchases in any colony.

The 17th clause empowered the Governor to grant annual
licenses for occupation. Subject to a primary charge for
costs of survey, unless they should be otherwise provided
for in a colony, half of the gross proceeds were to defray
immigration to the colony in which the revenue accrued.
The term Australian colonies included Van Diemen’s Land

‘and New Zealand. The Governor of any colony-might
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Australia. An Act for the Government .of New South Wales
and Van Diemen’s Land (5 and 6 Vict. cap. 76) was trans-
mitted with a despatch, dated 5th Sep. 1842. It had passed
both Houses of Parliament without a dissentient voice. The
existing Legislature in New South Wales was empowered to
arrange the electoral districts, and fix the number of
members for each district. The total number was defined
as thirty-six, of whom twenty-four were to be elected by the
inhabitants, and twelve to be appointed by the Crown.
Power was given to the new body to alter the numbers, but
the proportions of elected and nominated members were
still to be maintained. An elector was.to be seized, in his
own right, of freehold in land or tenements in the district
in which he voled, of the clear unencumbered value of £200,
or was to be a householder occuping a dwelling-house of
the clear annual value of £20; and all taxes due were
required to be paid to entitle the elector to vote. The Port
Phillip district was to return five members, and Melbourne
was to have one; and for the purposes of the Act (carrying
out the hint in Lord Stanley’s despatch of the preceding
year), the boundary of the distriet in the north and north-
east was to be ‘‘a straight line drawn from Cape Howe to
the nearest source of the River Murray, and thence the
course of that river to the eastern boundary of the province
of South Australia.” '
The once burning question as to emancipists was set at
rest by the sixth clause, which disqualified an attainted or
convicted person, unless he had received ‘“ a free pardon, or
one conditional on not leaving the colony,” or had under-
gone the sentence adjudged. A property qualification of
£2000, or £100 a year, was required in an elected member.
Existing provision for administration of justice was con-
tinued till locally changed, and the salaries of the Governor,
the Judges, and a few other officers were placed on a civil
list, a schedule of which was annexed to the statute. Thirty
thousand pounds were similarly provided for public worship.
No part of the revenue was to be paid except on warrants
under the hand of the Governor. The attempts of Sir G.
Gipps to establish local taxation for police purposes, and
their defeat in the old nominee Council, augured ill for the
project under a partly elected Legislature. When Went-
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The 49th clause enacted that, if the warrant were not
complied with, in two months after its receipt in a district,—
‘“the treasurer of the colony or other proper officer ap-
pointed by the Governor,” could issue a warrant to levy
by distress and sale of the goods of the district treasurer,.
““or of members of the district council; and if no suffi-
cient distress can thereby be made, then by distress and
sale of the goods of any of the inhabitants of the district.”
The 50th clause placed all police expenditure under “the
direction of the Governor.” It was no proof of wisdom
that such a measure passed ‘ without a dissentient voice.” -

Municipal institutions must have gradual growth. To
create them at such a time and manner, and withal to put
the Governor in place of the representative principle,
clothed with powers of distress and of expenditure, would
have ensured public distrust, even if the charge for police
had not already excited illwill. There was no household
in the colony in which politics were discussed at all, where
these provisions were not sharply condemned.

And now the vigour and ability of Wentworth asserted
superiority and created hope. The emancipist disputes
were relegated to oblivion, and it was felt that on all
constitutional questions his commanding talents would
make him the natural leader of his countrymen. This
very question of police was one on which he had enforced
attention out of doors. It was accepted as a foregone con-
clusion that his candidature for the metropolis would be
triumphant, and on him were concentred the eyes of those,
to whom in former times he had been opposed.

Lord Stanley, in transmitting the new statute to Gipps,
directed him to ‘‘adhere rigidly to the practice of Parlia-
ment, which does not permit any question to be put for
the insertion of any new head of expenditure, or for the
increase of any single item submitted in the estimates.”
“The object in the first instance of delegating to the
Governor the power of establishing the District Municipal
Courts is to secure beyond doubt that the system shall be:
set on foot. You will observe that when once established,
ample powers are given by the 46th clause for securing its
continuance.”






228 SOUTH AUST. CONSTITUTION ACT (5 & 6 VICT. C. 61).

of south latitude” should be detached. Though Van
Diemen’s Land was included in the title of the Act, the
representative element it sanctioned was restricted to New
South Wales. It would have been strange to confer elec-
toral rights indiscriminately on a population in which
Parliamentary returns showed that the conviect and freed
male population exceeded the free.t

The objections which repelled the little island from
admission to the form of government for which Englishmen
are mainly indebted to their greatest king, did not apply
to South Australia, but its bankrupt condition required
tender treatment, and Lord Stanley stipulated that before
granting representative institutions it should be made clear
that the colony could pay its own expenses.

Former Acts were swept away. The South Australian
Commissioners were gone, but the debts they had con-
tracted remained. A new Act to provide for the better
government of South Australia (5 and 6 Vict. cap. 61) was
passed on 30th July 1842. Its provisions were few, and
the most important of them, which were of an enabling
character, were never used. It will be sufficient to say
here that, of three alternative conditions, the one selected
was a Legislative Council nominated by the Crown. The
liabilities of the colony were largely swept away by the
bill, and when its provisions were before the House of
Commons, Joseph Hume denounced the ¢ shameful waste”
of £400,000 of British money. Richard Cobden supported
him ; but Lord Stanley had a majority of 68 to 15. One
hundred and fifty-five thousand pounds were directly
granted in aid of the colonial revenues, and debentures
chargeable against those revenues were to be issued in
liquidation of further debts. To a short bill for continuing

5 Returns showed in 1847 :— Males. Females.
Free born in colony .. .. 9,138 9,217
Free immigrants .. .. 7,391 6,427
16,529 15,644=32,173
Freed convicts . .. 8,832 2,687
Convicts . .. .. 20,687 3,501 =35,7

In the male J)oJmlation the preponderance was enormous. The convict
element yielded 29,519 persons; the immigrant and native borm, omly
16,529.
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been rioting. - Life was lost. But no cabal or resistance
could exclude Wentworth or the friend whom he recom-
mended. Wentworth and Bland polled nearly thirteen
hundred votes each; Captain O’Connell only seven hundred
and fifty. Two others were more ignominiously beaten.
Richard ‘Windeyer, a barrister of eminence, of untiring
energy, sat for his own county, and was known to be
friendly to Wentworth’s views. Mr. Charles Cowper, a son
of the Rev. W. Cowper (who joined Marsden in 1809 as
chaplain), made his appearance for the first time in political
life. He had been a clerk in the commissariat office, and
General Darling made him Secretary to the Church and
School Lands Corporation. He was industrious, credited
with sagacity, and had had no opportunity of showing that
in politics he was a chameleon. Terence Aubrey Murray
represented the district in which he resided, and his friends
entertained hopes that he would take a distinguished part.
VWilliam Foster, a successful barrister, but not previously
known in the political world, was elected for a large county.
Many country gentlemen had been returned, and of them
it could not be known that they would be active partisans.
Mr. Macleay, the former Colonial Secretary, had been
elected, although far gone in years. Major D’Arcy Went-
worth, brother of the patriot, represented some county
boroughs in a district where his family had property. Dr.
Lang, anxious to be in the House, could find no con-
stituency to elect him. Mentioned in one or two districts,
his name was scouted, and he turned to Port Phillip. It
was thought that the distance from Sydney might make it
difficult for local members to travel thither. The elections
had yielded a grave body of counsellors, and though fiery
ability was arrayed against the government it could not
be predicted that the bulk of the Council would be:
hostile. .
. Three members for the Port Phillip district were Sydney
citizens—Dr. (afterwards Sir Charles) Nicholson, Mr.
Thomas Walker, and Dr. Lang. At the: head of the poll.
was Charles Hotson Ebden, who, first a merchant in'
Sydney, had subsequently engaged in squatting, and in
1886 occupied a station and formed a crossing-place at the
Murray River.. Moving onwards he occupied and named-
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objects were thought to be rather personal than public.*
The principal newspaper summed up his character by
saying, ‘‘His ruling passion is personal vindictiveness.”
His motives were stated as follows in a document vouched
by himself :—

‘“The Government of New South Wales is at present carrying on two
actions against the trustees of the Scots Church (Sydney) for the
recovery of the grant of public money made to the Australian College by
order of Lord Goderich in the year 1831, and Dr. Lang, it seems, is the
responsible head of this institution. Other proceedings are in contempla-
tion in certain other quarters against himself and conﬁregat.ion, which it
seems the local government have on public grounds pledged themselves to
abet, one effect of which will be to involve ﬁr. Lang and his congregation
in ruinous law expenses. In such circumstances it would appear pre-
posterous to Dr. Lang to affect (priest as he is) anything like squeamishness
about entering the Legislative Council if a door was opened to him in any
quarter ; for that Council is the only place where he can defend the
important public interests with which he is identified, with effect,
ango without involving himself and congregation in ruinous costs.”

.

¥ Lang’s opponents were able to produce a speech of his in which, while
defending himself for the publication of a libel in his newspaper (Colonist)
in 1835, he spoke of the post of an elected member as ‘‘a situation to
which I trust I shall ever be held ineligible myself as a minister of
religion.” He retorted: ‘‘I was afterwards induced to change my
opinion on the subject; not from any change of views as to the general
principle involved, but simply from the pressure of the necessity in the
particular case” (Lang’s ¢ Historv,” 3rd Edition, vol. i., p. 484).

 Dr. Lang made various statements as to his objects. In 1847 he said
in his ¢ Phillipsland” (London : 1847): ‘‘For my own position as the
head of an academical institution against which the local government had
just instituted a most vexatious proceeding . . . it was highly
expedient and necessary for me as a means and measure of defence to avail
myself of the offer that was thus made to me at so seasonable a conjunc-
ture, of a seat in the Council. . . . But I confess my principal object
was to prevent the recurrence of a similar calamity to that which had
already befallen the colony through the misappropriation of the land
revenue and the prodigious influx of Irish popery. . . .” In 1852, in
his ‘Freedom and Independence for the Golden Lands of Australia’
(London : 1852), another change had come over him. Accordingly (p. 24)
the colony was sole judge of the time to seize ¢‘ entire freedom and inde-
pendence”—(p. 50) *‘let us hear no more of this pitiful, this contemptible
charge about our violating or renouncing our allegiance. . . . we
owe such allegiance? . . . I unhesitatingly answer, No.” (p. 63.) As
to the charge, ‘‘ that those who desire their freedom and independence are
somewhat tinctured with republicanism, I fear it must be admitted.” (p.
84.) ‘“Those hereditary bondsmen of the British colonies who would &
free and independent must still achieve that freedom and independence in
the old regular and accustomed way . . . with their sword and with
their bow.” A few years afterwards Mr. Charles G. Duffy migrated to
Victoria, and a fellow-feeling brought the two conspirators together.
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in which he resided he was solicited to support Roger
Therry (then Attorney-General), patron of the convict
Watt, and rejected by the unpaid magistrates of the
territory in the time of Bourke. He took the precaution
of ascertaining whether certain persons—one of whom was
Mzr. Charles Cowper—would become candidates, and finding
that they would not, consented to support Therry. By so
doing he gave offence. There was a feeling that he ought
not to have patronized Therry. Charles Cowper was
brought forward in opposition, but through the good faith
of Macarthur and his friends, who thus undermined their
own influence, Therry was successful. The indignation of
Cowper and his friends was as great as their surprise. It
spread like wildfire in the neighbouring county of Cumber-
land, where Cowper was brought forward at the last
moment, though already William Lawson, James Mac-
arthur, G. R. Nichols (a popular man), and another were
candidates. Pledges were thrown to the winds. Macarthur’s
own friends deserted him. Had he not caused the defeat
of Cowper! Was not Therry linked with the party which,
from the days of Macquarie, had striven to break down the
barriers which kept vice from ascendancy? An army
of voluntary canvassers winged their way throughout the
county.

Cowper was placed at the head of the poll by 502 voices
in a constituency where every vote had been pledged to
others before he became a candidate. Mr. Lawson was
second, with 880 votes. Macarthur third, with 870.
Nichols fourth, with 840; and the fifth was far behind.
For his good faith in keeping a promise which he ought not
to have made, Macarthur was punished by those who broke
their own in supporting Cowper, whose change of front had
led to the catastrophe.

The first question which divided the House gave no
indication of the future. Mr. Macleay, almost an octo-
genarian, was chosen as Speaker. The Governor opened
the House with an emphatic speech, promising, and hoping
for, co-operation in a time of acknowledged difticulty.

““The Council is composed of three elements, or of three different classes
of persons--the representatives of the people—the official servants of Her
Majesty--and of gentlemen of independence, the unofficial nominees of
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the House of Commons. The Governor proposed legislation
on several subjects, such as Postage, Lighthouses, Merchant
Seamen, and Slaughtering of Cattle. The Council table
soon revealed the fact that burning questions were not for-
gotten.  Gipps had appointed District Councils under the
provisions of the Constitution Act. The elective Councils
were to succeed his nominees. Failing election, the
Governor could again nominate. Petitions were poured in,
praying for postponement of the operation of the District
Councils clauses, or for the repeal of ‘‘that part of the Act
of Parliament which relates to the establishment of Dis-
trict Councils.” Mr. Murray brought forward a motion to
the effect that in the distressed state of the colony it was
inexpedient to levy on the country districts a moiety of the
cost of the police. The first division, which arrayed the
bulk of the elected members against the nominees, was one
which Wentworth provoked by a motion for a Select Com-
mittee to inquire into the riots which had taken place at the
Sydney election. He lost it by two votes only, in a house of
twenty-eight members. But, as a rule, the country party
was with him. Though he carried his Lien on Wool Bill,
his Interest Bill was thrown out by 21 votes to 12, several
elected members and nearly all the nominees being banded
against him, although his bill was largely supported
out of doors. The terrier of the Opposition, Windeyer,
stirred it to condemn as too high the Governor’s salary,
and to lower that of future Governors; and obtained leave
to bring in a bill. The Opposition were sharpening their
weapons. Windeyer (10th Oct.) carried an unanimous
address, that ‘“in the present state of the colony it is
highly inexpedient, if not impossible, to cast any portion of
the police expenditure on the country districts: That this
expenditure be defrayed, as hitherto, out of the general
revenue.”’ The lion of the party, Wentworth, then carried
(as the address to the Governor stated, nemine contradicente)
a resolution that ‘‘the expense attending the confinement
of convicts in the various gaols and houses of correction
throughout the colony ought not to be borne on the
colonial revenue.” To the first address Gipps sent a con-
ciliatory reply. He gave the Council credit for no other -
intention than a desire to relieve the country districts of &
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whatever to make any payment from the mlhta,ry chest, on
account of the pohce or gaols of the colony.”’

The Governor’s reasonings were made public by himself
in 1844, He laid his own despatch (of Oct. 1848) and
Lord Stanley’s reply (March 1844) before the Council.
Gipps contended that the parenthesis in the 47th section
should be construed to relate only to such. establishments
as those at ‘“Norfolk Island, Cockatoo Island, Hyde Park
Barracks, the Female Factory at Parramatta, and the
Ironed Gangs,” but he nevertheless regretted the insertion
of the words, which were ‘‘at any rate sufficiently vague to
afford ground for re-opening the old contest.”” He would
not admit a colonial gaol to be a convict establishment.
Windeyer had given notice of a bill to declare Hyde Park
Barracks and Cockatoo Island common gaols, and to direct
magistrates to commit convicts to those places. Such an
indirect way to compel the government to do what it had
directly and repeatedly refused to do, the Governor would
meet by withholding assent ‘‘from such a bill, even though
it should pass the Council.”

Lord Stanley concurred in and adopted Gipps’ construc-
tion of the clause; gave ‘“most explicit instructions”
against drafts on the military chest for police or gaol
expendlture except such as Gipps approved; -and added,
that if the local legislature should refuse funds, there were
but two remedies. One to expedite pardons, absolute or
conditional ; the other to withdraw convicts from their
employers a,nd make them labour in conviet establish-
ments, relieving those establishments by transferring any
redundancy to Van Diemen’s Land. He hoped the Legis-
lature would not make such measures necessary. *‘The
project of avoiding the dilemma by throwing this charge
on the British Treasury is one to which you will malke the
most uncompromising resistance.”

These brave words did not terminate the struggle. The
Governor was confronted in the Council by the united
forces of the colony on a question upon which his own
nominees, headed by James Macarthur, had out-voted him
in a nominee House. His message was discussed at some
length, but no resolution was based upon it, and the
Attorney-General admitted that he had no expectation
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rate for which they might be ‘“ willing themselves to devote
their time and talents to the service of the public.”
“ Upon every principle of right regson and sound policy
it seems to me that the salaries of the principal officers
should be guaranteed to them by the Head of the
Empire.” :

Wentworth grimly gave notice that the message be con-
sidered. A classic Roman head, a massive form, would
have made him noticeable by anyone who scanned him.
A slouching gait, and a cast in the eye, still further
attracted attention, though not admiration. But he played
the game fairly, and might be forgiven if gleams of satis-
faction coruscated from his eyes in divers directions when
his foe so palpably committed himself. Accordingly, on a
subsequent day, he moved resolutions expressing regret
that ‘‘the Governor should have been led into allusions to
matters not officially communicated to his Excellency, and
which in the opinion of this Council are at once irregular
and inconsistent with that perfect freedom of debate which
is the inherent privilege of every branch of a free Legis-
lature.” The unconstitutional tendency of such a course
he was persuaded had escaped his Excellency’s attention.
As to his Excellency’s arguments about the Opposition,
he moved, that the Council cannot agree with any of these
propositions, or in the inferences sought to be deduced
from them, as consonant to right reason and sound policy,
or that such propositions are to be taken, any more than
despatches of which this Council knows nothing, as argu-
ments which ought, in any wise, to alter the construction
which this Counecil, in the resolution referred to in the said
message, has deliberately, and also in strict accordance
both with the letter and spirit of his Excellency’s prior
message ! to this Council, put upon the Act of the Imperial

5" The prior message pointing out that an excess had to be provided for
in Schedules A and C, added that ‘“‘the Council having to make good an
indispensable supplement,” had ‘‘for all practical purposes as much con-
trol over the expenditure on account of the whole of the services
enumerated in those schedules, as it would have had though those
schedules had not formed part of the Act.” Gipps explained that when he
wrote thus it was not within his ‘““contemplation that any desire would
exist to reduce the salaries of officers holding their appointmeunts from Her
Majesty.”
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into the hypothetical reasonings of the ¢ prior message’
pounced uopn by the Council.

¢ Your subsequent message of the 19th Oct. 1843 claims for the Crown
the right with which beyond all controversy it was the design of Parlia-
ment that Her Majesty should be invested. That right you will firmly
but respectfully maintain and carry into execution. . . . It will be
your duty, as 1 doubt not it will be your wish, to adhere strictly to the
terms and the spirit of the Act of Parliament, under the authority
of which the Legislative Council are convened, neither surrendering
anything which the provisions of that statute have reserved to Her
Majesty, nor insisting on Her Majesty’s constitutional authority in such a
manner as to afford any just cause of dissatisfaction of the local Legisla-
ture.” . ,

Mr. T. A. Murray’s committee reported that the working o
the recent Land Sales Act must be injurious to the colony,
and the Council adopted resolutions condemning the Act,
denouncing so high a minimum price as twenty shillings an
acre—or any uniform minimum price for lands of divers
qualities—and advocating the promotion of immigration by
remissions at land sales in proportion to the costs of settlers
arriving or labourers introduced.

Windeyer’s Committee on Monetary Confusion sat for
many weeks; examined witnesses, bankers, merchants, and
others, and reported in favour of ‘‘the intervention of the
credit of the colony” to avert ruin by the adoption of a
modification of the Prussian Pfandbriefe system. A Bill
founded on the report was introduced under the name of a
‘“ Monetary Confidence” Bill, and was hotly debated.
Windeyer carried it in spite of the strenuous opposition of
Lowe, and, as was expected, Gipps announced that he with-
held the Royal Assent.

A Tariff Bill, which the government introduced, met
‘an almost similar fate. The Council amended it. The
Governor (under sec. 80 of the Constitution Act) sent down
an amended schedule of duties; the Council declined to
amend the bill, and the Governor reserved the bill for the
signification of Her Majesty’s pleasure, promising to submit
with it the ‘‘reasons why he humbly recommended that it
should not ® pass into law.”

This minute was reported by the Speaker to the thwarted
House immediately before the Governor in person pro-

# The word ¢‘ not” appears in italics in the proceedings of the Council.
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responsibility.  Neither did the Judges. They could
exercise “a species of visitatorial power,” but nothing
more. The deceased had, like many other officials,
engaged in pastoral pursuits; the pressure of the times had
been hard upon him, as upon others. His death had
occurred in 1841. The [property he had left was in-
adequate to pay his private creditors. The whole trans-
action might not deserve to be recorded but for the gleam
of light thrown upon it by the conduct of his son, who in
1846 petitioned the Legislative Council. He had been
toiling to pay, and had paid portions of, his father’s debts.
He hoped to pay them all. There were many who had
made no claims on the estate, but they also were included
in his intentions. His petition was that the claims of the
“‘guitors or their attorneys™ (which neither government nor
court would acknowledge), might be paid, security for re-
payment being taken from the petitioner.

¢ Your petitioner would most gladly, if he possessed the means, pay in the
first instance the suitors, because, Qhough. t.h_eir claims, in common gvith the
late sheriff’s other debts, had their origin in the exaggerated estimate of
the value of sheep and land, which then prevailed throughout the colony,
and to which petitioner’s father and many others became victims, yet
your petitioner is sensible that they are alike discreditable to his memory,
and to the government under which he held office.”

Other creditors declared their willingness to ‘“postpone
their claims in order that Thomas H. Macquoid may be in
a position to grant security to the government for an
advance to enable him to pay off the claims of the suitors
in the Supreme Court upon the late sheriff.” A Select
Committee reported ‘‘that the Crown should not be less
willing than private claimants to aid in the accomplish-
ment of a design suggested by feelings so honourable.”
Sir C. Fitz Roy “with much pleasure intimated his willing-
ness to co-operate,” and placed the required sum upon the
estimates. With modest bearing, but unswerving resolu-
tion, Hyacinth Macquoid accomplished his cherished pur-
pose, and many an eye was wet when, in 1857, he was
wrecked at the South Head, when returning from England
to Sydney in the ship Dunbar.

" Papers relating to the insolvency and removal from office
of a late Registrar of the Supreme Court, were laid before
the Council. The same disastrous year, 1841, had brought
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lative Council, although immigration was defrayed from
the fund. Bourke did not conceal his sympathy with
Wentworth, in a despatch (1834) to Lord Stanley. Lord
(lenelg had replied by referring to a despatch from Mr.
Spring Rice, showing that

‘His Majesty’s Government have acceded to the principle of the local
treasuries of the respective Australian colonies receiving any sulglus of
the land revenue, and of the other casual revenues of the Crown, beyond
the sums appropriated to the purposes of emigration, &c.; and in the spirit
of that arrangement you will consider yourself authorized to place in the
Colonial Treasury whatever revenue of the Crown may remain unappro-
priated at the expiration of every year, after paying the expenses incurred
on account of emigration, and after defraying any other charges which His
Majesty’s Government should think proper to direct should be borne on
that revenue. At the same time it cannot be too distinctly understood
that the directions just given are not to be taken as divesting the govern-
ment of the full and uncontrolled power of applying the Crown revenues,
in part or in whole, without the consent or intervention of the Legisla-
ture.”

Sir George Arthur in Van Diemen’s Land took care to-
make it ‘“distinctly understood’ by his Legislative Council.
Bourke was less cautious, and heaped troubles on the head
of his successor. Wentworth declared that Bourke had
made a ““compact’ with the late Legislative Council, and
that all territorial and casual revenues not appropriated by
the Land Sales Act should be placed at the disposal of the
Legislative Council. In 1844 he moved that the estimates.
for 1845 be not considered till the compact was carried
out. The majority shrank from the catastrophe which
must have ensued, but supported Wentworth in maintain-
ing the existence of the compact. Gipps in a financial
minute in 1844 cited the original despatches; but the.
public sympathy would not look at the matter in a ““dry
light,” and the aspect given to the case by the carelessness
of Bourke was preferred. Wentworth was able to quote a.
message of Bourke's (in 1835) containing the words, * the
revenue of the Crown lands being now left to the appro-:
priation of the Council”’—and—*‘ the income of the Crown"
lands now placed by His Majesty under the control of the:
Council.” '

But however distinctly understood it ought to have been:
that the revenue was disposable by the Crown, the rais-
ing of that revenue affected deeply the condition of the.
colonists, and this should have made Gipps wary in:
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acted as magistrates in extensive areas. Neither by train-
ing nor by native talent could they as a body be looked to
for advice in “unfolding the properties of government.’”
Yet to them did Gipps apply. They were to consider and
report, as to assimilating licenses to leases, the quantity of
land which would suffice for 500 head of cattle or 5000
sheep ; the limitation of runs, for each of which a separate
license was to be taken; the encouragement of improve-
ment and cultivation by giving an occupier ‘‘a kind of
right to purchase a portion of his run, or otherwise to
obtain secure possession for a term of years after occupa-
tion as tenant at will for a fixed term—say five or seven
years”’—and the prevention of irregular transfers or sales
(occurring at the time) ¢ without the sanction or even the
knowledge of the government.”

Fit as these problems were for the Legislative Council to
deal with, they were entrusted to others with whose jejune
reports these pages need not be encumbered. Had they
been worthy State papers they must have fallen harmless
to the ground. The community had begun to repose its
trust elsewhere than in government officials, and scouted
the idea that the opinions of a few gentlemen, some of
whom were of mediocre capacity, should influence the
future of the colony. In singular congruity with his
initial rashness, Gipps did not wait for all the replies
before issuing new regulations on the 2nd April 1844. The
most thoughtful reply was dated at Darling Downs on the
80th March, and Gipps saw too late, if he saw at all,’ Mr.
Rolleston’s warning that imprudent interference ‘would
raise a universal outery in the colony, and create a feeling,
however unwarranted, of distrust in the government.”

Superficial observers have said that it is unaccountable
that regulations so unimportant should have evoked such
public hostility as they encountered. The sting was more

8 Mr. Rolleston, writing to the author in 1881, said :—*I am glad to
hear that wur leisure time is employed in the prosecution of so important
a work. hile I was in England Mr. Lowe (now Lord Sherbrooke) told
" me that a reliable history of the Australian colonies was much needed, and
he suggested that I should undertake the labour, but it is far beyond my
abilities, and I know no one more competent than yourself to do it.”
If Christopher Rolleston had undertaken the task, the author would
not have ventured upon it.
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Governor had no reason to apprehend indecision. That
nobleman gave him staunch support. Earl Grey, who
assumed office in 1846, recognized the commanding charac-
ter of Gipps, and deferred to his judgment. Contempora-
neously with preparing his Crown Lands Occupation
Regulations, Sir G. Gipps was harshly collecting quit-rents,
of which (81st Dec. 1848) £55,000 were in arrear.

After many public meetings had been held, Gipps, on the
11th May, put into the hands of an unofficial nominee in
the Legislative Council, a paper showing how he proposed
to enable squatters to buy their homesteads. A large
advance was shown in this paper from the terms recom-
mended in his despatch to Lord Stanley. Persons buying
homesteads were thereby to secure undisturbed possession
of their runs for eight years. A second purchase of 320
acres was to be attended with similar advantage, ‘‘so that
each successive purchase of 320 acres will act virtually as a
renewal of an eight years’ lease. The right of the Crown
was to remain absolute, it being well understood that the
Crown will not act capriciously or unequally, and will not
depart from established practice except for the attainment
of some public benefit.”

Mr. Icely availed himself of permission to make the
paper public, and Gipps was able to write (17th May) that
it had allayed ““in some degree the excitement which pre-
viously existed.” Some bitter enemies would not believe
that it was an abstract of the proposals sent to the Secre-
tary of State. The Pastoral Association published a pro-
test, drawn up by Lowe, against the projected regulations,
“gaid to have been forwarded” to the Secretary of State.
The protest denounced the upset price as unreasonable;
the absence of a pre-emptive right as unjust and ruinous to
the squatter, who was compelled to compete at auction;
the absence of fixity of tenure; the taxation without repre-
sentation reserved for the Crown; and sundry other faults,
amongst which were that no compensation was offered for
risks incurred in seeking runs, many of which were
abandoned when found unsuitable for pasturage; and that,
as diseased sheep could only be removed in February, *if
the auction be not in that month the loss of the run
implies loss of the stock.”
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conclusion than that Gipps’ propositions were also reason-
able. He had no hesitation in submitting Gipps’ measures
for the Queen’s approbation, and had ‘‘ the honeur to be
the medium of signifying that approbation.”

On one point only he commended to Gipps’ consideration
an alteration suggested by the Land and Emigration Com-
missioners. Gipps had proposed that the purchaser of the
homestead should “ have the remainder of the run’ under
annual license.  If such should be the practice the Com-
missioners thought (Sept. 1844) it would be ‘better to
quiet the minds of the parties and give them the desirable
feeling of security by a positive assurance to that effect,”
and by giving them a license for eight years’ occupation of
the run. But even in this, so confident was Lord Stanley
in Gipps' judgment, that he would in no wise fetter his free-
dom of action. How fatal a heritage of hatred they were
conferring the Commissioners (Elliot and Wood) did not
see. In Aug. 1845 they repeated that the suggestion was
their own.5® :

Lord Stanley's despatch convinced no one. Practical
squatters might not be able to discuss abstract questions of
civil rights with him ; but they felt that he was ignorant of
the state of affairs. To induce the bulk of the property-
holders to occupy at a fixed rate Crown lands until they
were wanted for sale, and then, when the occupants were
adscripti glebe, with millions of sheep and hundreds of
thousands of cattle, to pounce upon them for an increased
rate acknowledged to be arbitrary, was repugnant to men'’s
common sense. The wise and moderate were content to
occupy till the land was required for sale. The greedy and
rash saw in the repulsiveness of the pretensions of Gipps an
opportunity of perverting the present troubles to their own
gain. They would aim at fixity of tenure, convertible into
freehold by a right of pre-emption. Even in the first out-
burst of general alarm and wrath were to be heard, in
griyate and in public, mutterings of this unwholesome

esign.

But though Gipps would not bandy personalities with
Lowe, he was not idle under the pelting of the storm. He

% (Correspondence. Licensed Occupation of Crown Lands in New South
Wales.) Parliamentary Papers, vol. xxix. 1846,
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Lowe ; Mr. Windeyer, and Mr. Robinson (a partner of Mr.
Benjamin Boyd), were members of the committee; and
though Mr. Lowe in the House did not take up a hostile
attitude, in committee he was sedulous in extracting answers
unfavourable to his late patron’s policy, and out of doors
his impetuosity as an opponent knew no bounds. Of the
Pastoral Association he was an intimate adviser, and many
condemned the anomalous position in which he placed him-
self by retaining his seat and undermining the patron from
whom he held it. The ¢ unanimous” recommendations of
the committee were, that the raising the upset price of land
to £1 per acre had been injurious ; that the regulations of
the 2nd April 1844 should be recalled; that the license
fee should be abolished or reduced to a nominal sum ; that
various measures for internal improvement should be
adopted in the squatting districts ; that quit-rents due for
more than six years should be waived, and others should be
reduced ; that the Land Act (5 and 6 Viet. cap. 86) should
be repealed; and that the Governor and Legislative
Council should have control of the Crown lands and the
revenues arising therefrom, after which a duty would at
once arise of framing a system of leases to give security to
occupants. They recommended also that Crown grants
should vest mines in the grantees, and to this Gipps said
he had no objection. It is in fact already done, except
only in respect to mines of silver and gold.” Side by side
with the report Gipps transmitted comments. He would
adhere to the Act of 1842, and supply its deficiencies in
respect to squatting. ‘‘To allow the large squatters to
seize on all the lands of the Crown would be to ruin the
colony.”” Where the Committee had *unanimously”
blundered, confusing two clauses of the Act, and mis-
quoting, Gipps curtly exposed the fact. They had con-
demned his Depasturing Regulations, and he traversed
their arguments. To his main text, that the Crown must
remain absolute over its own property, he adhered unflinch-
ingly. “It is not pretended or expected that the regula-
tions will give satisfaction to persons whose avowed objeet
is to get fixity of tenure without paying for it.”” The
Committee advocated the remission of quit-rents, which
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granting of leases of runs for twenty-one years. Both the
‘Glasgow Association and the London deputation attacked
the Squatting Regulations of April 1844. The Colonial
Office, thus besieged, received a wholesome warning from
another quarter against converting the license to crop
grasses into a long lease convertible into freehold.

Though New South Wales was the principal arena of
battle, other colonies were affected. The small population
in South Australia (25,000, including men, women, and
children), did not cast longing eyes upon the wide expanse
of their territory. Their pioneers had from the first
contemplated the creation of an agricultural yeomanry.
Governor Grey (Jan. 1845) pressed their views upon the
Secretary of State. The granting of leases of runs was
recommended ; the rent being determined by the quantity
of stock depastured. Pre-emption was not advised, but
sale by auction of a block containing homestead improve-
ments. Power to sell after three months’ notice any
portion of a rented run was recommended, and allowance
of grazing rights on land contiguous to portions sold. The
disinclination to give to the licensed occupant of Crown
lands an exclusive tenure or pre-emption in South Australia
afforded matter of reflection to the Secretary of State.

Anzxious to act, he was unwilling to do so until he could
peruse and discuss with others the report of a Select Com-
mittee of the Legislative Council of New South Wales on
the subject.. It was felt that in the most populous colony
the interests affected were the most important, and the
ability of Wentworth, the acknowledged leader of the repre-
sentative members, commanded consideration. On the 7th
Aug. 1845 Lord Stanley replied to Gipps’ despatch of 80th
Sept. 1844. He informed him that an abortive Bill 8 to
regulate the sale and management of waste land had been
introduced and sacrificed. He transmitted a draft of it. It
purported to legalize leases for terms not exceeding seven
years, and (to licensees for five years previously) a lease
could be given without auction on terms to be fixed by the
‘Governor and Executive Council. It expressly enabled
Governors to reserve minerals wholly or in part. It main-
tained the power to grant annual licenses. It established

¢: Brought in by Mr. Hope.






266 EARL GREY’S MALIGN INFLUENCE.

homesteads, without competition. But if this be conceded, a discretionary
power must be %iven to the Governor, the exercise of which will impose
on him a fearful responsibility . . . which I am disposed to think
should not be impogeg on any man, and I therefore advise that the Bill be
passed as it at present stands, with a power of letting homesteads by
private bargain, but runs only by public competition.”

But he would not foreibly convert the occupier by annual
license into a lessee for a term. He thought that ‘ for the
present at least no run should be disposed of by lease at
auction except on the application of the occupier.” He had
thought much on * pre-emption without being able to hit
upon any scheme by which it could be granted without
danger, and the concession of leases will, I hope,  cause
the demand for it to be laid aside at any rate for the
present.”

If Lord Stanley had continued longer in office, or if
Earl Grey, who assumed it on the fall of the Peel Ministry,
had adhered either to the Wakefield theory of which his
friend, Charles Buller, was the follower ; or even if Earl
Grey would have been guided by Gipps, a just settlement
of the question might have been made.

Earl Grey succeeded in putting the government into a
position from which it could not extricate itself without
damage to its own honour or to interests which depended
upon its good faith—in conferring boons which he had
been warned were unjust—in encouraging an unjust with-
drawal of them, and in creating class hatreds which were
to poison men’s minds for long years to come.

The land question, which it has been necessary thus to
trace to the close of the government of Gipps, was not the
only stumbling-block in 1844. In June, Wentworth
obtained a Committee to inquire into ‘‘all grievances not
connected with the lands of the territory.” Not content
to wait until the Committee could report, he moved (18th
Aug.) :—

¢ That this Council do not proceed to the consideration of the estimates
for 1845, until so much of the territorial and casual revenues of the Crown
a8 is not u{»propri‘at,ed by the 5th and 6th Victoria, cap. 36, be placed at
the disposal of this Council, in pursnance of the compact made between
His Excellency Sir R. Bourke in 1835, and the late Legislative Council,
under directions from the Lords of the Treasury.”

As in 1848, so in 1844, the majority shrank from so
violent a course. By adopting it they would produce
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security of salary as the Judges in England enjoyed, in
order to prevent the purity of the administration of justice
from being hereafter subjected to any suspicions or doubts
in the minds of Her Majesty's subjects in these colonies.
On all these demands, except the last, there were divisions.
The nominee phalanx was overwhelmed in all,” excepting
that on the concession of responsible government. On the
police and gaol expenditure several unofficial nominees
deserted their friends, but Roger Therry, though an elected
member, bore the yoke which was too heavy for them.
Immediately Wentworth moved addresses to the Queen and
to the Houses of Parliament setting forth the claims of the
colony as to the police and gaol, and the judicial expendi-
ture. The charge on the colony was enormous, and arose
from the presence of British criminals. Besides the
demoralizing and contagious influences of the prisoner
population, the pecuniary cost was intolerable, and pre-
vented the colonists from providing funds for education,
and for indispensable public works. Either the sum of
£798,034 10s. 8d., due to the colony for arrears, should
be granted, or 59,788 free emigrants of moral and indus-
trial habits should be sent out at the cost of the Home
Government, and an annual charge of £74,195 6s. 8d.
should be borne by the Imperial Treasury, a loan being
raised on the lands of the colony to promote internal
improvements. This address was also carried by a narrow
majority. To the request that he would transmit this and
other addresses Gipps replied (when proroguing the Council)
that they would no doubt receive attentive consideration,
but months must

¢¢ elapse before Her Majesty’s replies can be received, and I consequently
consider it my duty openly to declare my opinion that many of the
demands of the Council are such as never will granted—such, indeed,
as never can be granted unless it be the pleasure of Her Majesty and
Parliament fundamentally and entirely to alter the relations in which the
country now stands to the British Empire.”

Such a shaft should not have been shot from such a bow.
He had conveyed the addresses formally and without com-
ment, and he would have consulted his peace of mind and
dignity if he had been equally formal in acquainting the
Council with the fact. To the address praying that Her
Majesty would not withhold her assent from any Act vest-
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second reading an Order for a future day an amendment
was carried :—

““That in the opinion of this Council the District Councils are totally
unsuited to the circumstances of this colony, the country districts being
unable to meet the additional taxation which would necessarily be
required in carrying out the various objects contemplated by their insti-
tution, and the cost of the machinery requisite for bringing them into
operation being of itself an obstacle fatal to their success, und that there-
fore the second reading be postponed to this day six months.”

On the same day a Police Assessment Bill was not
allowed to be read a first time. On the 9th Aug., on the
motion of Mr. Cowper, the reason of the loss of the Distriet
Councils Bill was communicated to the Governor in an
address praying that he would recommend the repeal of the
District Councils clauses ; and pending instructions from
England, would ¢ make provision from the general revenue
for such objects as it was intended should be provided for
by the District Councils.” Gipps replied on the 20th, that
the Bills being rejected he would ‘‘ acecept such sums as the
Council might place at his disposal for the maintenance of
the police force in 1845, disclaiming any share in the
responsibility which this infraction of the constitution may
involve.”

In Committee on the supplementary judicial estimates
(29th Aug.) the Council resolved that as they ought to fix
all details, and the Governor had rendered impossible the
performance of their duty by submitting the supplement
in connection with Schedule A, the right to deal with
which was denied by the Secretary of State in the session
of 1848, they ¢ in assertion of this their undoubted right
and duty, declined to enter into any consideration of the
required supplement.” The Governor replied, that as the
Council declined to grant additional sums he would take
measures for limiting the expenditure for administration of
justice to the amount provided in the Schedule A, and
would ‘“ advise with the Judges upon the manner in which
this may be done with the least possible amount of
inconvenience to the public.” Wentworth then carried a
resolution to the effect that the former resolve was no
absolute refusal, but qualified so long as the sum asked
from the Council was in gross and not in detail ; that the
casual revenue arising chiefly from fines and penalties in






272 LOWE RESIGNS. POSITION OF ELECTED OFFICERS.

Sydney. He had referred in -the Council to an alderman
of the city in terms which induced that functionary to send
him a challenge. It was declined in language which alluded
to the humble antecedents of the challenger. Mr. Lowe
brought the matter before the Council as a breach of
privilege. A Select Committee was appointed. The Council
adopted its report, and the Speaker was instructed to
request the Attorney-General to file a criminal information
against the challenger and his abettors. The Attorney-
General (Plunkett) complied, and the proceedings eventually
broke down on technicalities. A public meeting, held in
the meantime, denounced the prosecution (on behalf of Mr.
Lowe) at the public cost, as unconstitutional, oppressive,
and unjust; declared that the ordinary tribunals were
sufficient to protect members in their privileges; and
prayed the Governor to sanction no disbursement from the
public funds for the purposes of the prosecution. The
Governor placed Mr. Lamb, a merchant, in the seat vacated
by Lowe. Sir T. Mitchell, the Surveyor-General, defeated
at Port Phillip in 1848, had been elected to fill a vacancy for
that province in 1844. The distance from Sydney made
attendance in Parliament so difficult that three out of the
six members (allotted to the district and to Melbourne) had
resigned, and two who took their seats in 1844 were
Government officers—the Surveyor-General and the Sheriff.
The former was soon warned by Gipps that though as Sir
T. L. Mitchell, an elected member, he was welcome to his
opinions; as the Surveyor-General of the colony he could
not be allowed to oppose the government. He resigned his
seat at once. The matter was new to the colonists, and
was much discussed. Gipps’ enemies accused him of
tyranny. Without a strong bond of general agreement
with the Governor’s policy a public officer ought not to be
a candidate for election. With it, the post could be useful
and honourable. In the following session Gipps laid before
the Council the decision of Lord Stanley:

‘“If Her Majesty’s officers think fit to assume relations and responsi-
bilities disqualifying them for the support of Her Majesty’s representative,
they are, of course, perfectly free to do so, but having done so cannot
be permitted to retain their em}i»)loyment ; otherwise there would not only
be an end to all concert and subordination in Her Majesty’s service, but
the sincerity and good faith of those by whom it is administered would be
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vall, and others opposed him. The Governor cautiously
replied to the Address of the Council. He declared his
entire adherence to a comprehensive system, but doubted
whether the time had arrived at which it could be introduced
successfully. Twice had Government proposals been with-
drawn, and the opposition which Gipps himself had encoun-
tered was, he regretted to say, in no way diminished. With-
out the co-operation of ministers of religion it was scarcely
possible for any system to be extensively useful. There
was also a new practical difficulty in the way, inasmuch as
by the 42nd clause of the Constitutional Act the public
schools were required to be dealt with by District Councils,
which bodies he remarked, with scarcely veiled sarcasm,
“are not, I fear, as yet in a condition advantageously to
exercise’’ the necessary functions.

On the 17th Dec., Robinson moved an address which, as
amended by Wentworth, was adopted by twenty-two votes
against five, requesting the Governor to place £2000 on the
estimates to establisk and support such schools as by Went-
worth’s resolution had been approved. Gipps pointed to
the state of the revenue. His original estimates had
omitted to provide for schools, because the District Councils
were called upon by law to do so, and even then the income
scarcely balanced the expenditure. At the request of the
Council he had subsequently made provision * for such
objects as it was intended that the District Councils should
provide for, though in so doing he, for the second time,
exposed himself to the imputation of disregarding an Act
of Parliament.” There was now a deficiency, and he had
already expressed his doubts whether any alterations with
respect to schools could be advantageously introduced. On
the day on which the Council received this reply, Went-
worth carried his General Grievance resolutions. During
the session Mr. Elwin, who had acted as honorary Chair-
man of Committees, resigned his seat, and Dr. Nicholson
was elected to the post for which Gipps, at the request of
-the Council, made provision in the estimates.

Early in the session Nicholson procured a Committee
upon ““insecurity of life and property.” Whether increase
of crime was caused by the return of ‘“ expiree convicts from
Norfolk Island,” and whether the Queen should be petitioned
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on country roads, under guards; that no convicts should be
allowed to remain in Sydney; that no tickets-of-leave be
granted in Sydney or any other large town; and that any
reduction of the military stationed in the colony would be
dangerous to life and property.

Gipps promised to send the address to England, but
regretted that he could not remove the convicts from Hyde
Park Barracks to the country. In the Barracks they were
maintained and clothed at the expense of the Imperial
Government; if removed to the country they would form a
charge on the colonial revenues which they were in no con-
dition to bear. Moreover, facilities for committing out-
rages would be increased if convicts were placed in the rural
districts.

There was a sudden alarm in Melbourne in 1842. Four
men, of whom only one had been a convict, and one was a
sailor, were seized with a desire to become brigands. They
comported themselves with such noisy violence that they
seemed to invite detection, and a band of settlers, amongst
whom Mr. Peter Snodgrass and Messrs. Chamberlain and
Mr. Henry Fowler were active, started in pursuit. One of
the robbers was shot, and the rest were captured. Mr.
Fowler was wounded seriously, and others of the captors
were injured in the struggle. The prisoners were found
guilty, and were executed.

Dr. Lang, mounted on the ladder of popularity, lost no
time in ascending. He was chairman of a committee which
reported that it ‘“would not withhold the franchise from
the illiterate.” But universal suffrage, the weapon with
which demagogues hope to attain their own ends, was not
then suggested. A resolution was carried in favour of
extending the franchise to leaseholders of land of the same
annual value (£20) as that which, under the Constitution
Act, entitled householders to vote. A resolution to extend
it to licensees on Crown lands was shelved by the ‘‘previous
question.”

The large indebtedness of the Bank of Australia (nearly
a quarter of a million sterling) has been mentioned. It was
believed that innocent shareholders of all ranks would be
plunged into destitution if no remedy could be applied..
Wentworth brought in a bill to enable the bank to dispose
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on Wool Act was brought in by Wentworth and passed ; but
as an amendment, proposed by Gipps in a message, was
not adopted the Royal assent was withheld. An Interest
Bill was passed. Some of the opponents in 1848 became
supporters in 1844. Gipps reserved it for Her Majesty’s
pleasure.

An attempt was made by the Imperial Government to
legalize the reception of evidence of the aborigines, under
qualifications. An enabling Act was sent by Lord Stanley
to Gipps, who promptly introduced a bill. It was thrown
out on the second reading; Mr. Lowe’s eloquence being
vigorously exerted against it, although he was as
ignorant of the circumstances of the natives as he was
of the scenery in Saturn. His speech might have been
made in a debating society in an English village. Others,
with less excuse for ignorance, concurred. Dr. Lang,
Windeyer, and Dr. Bland supported Deas Thomson and
Plunkett in promoting the bill. Other matters were com-
manding attention at the time. Abstract rights of God’s
creatures gave way to grievances against Gipps and the
Colonial Office, and to the pleasure of thwarting the former.

The fortunes of Port Phillip were bound up with those of
New South Wales; and the care of them was no small
addition to the Governor’s troubles. The first Judge of
the Supreme Court, Willis, though able, was intemperate
in mind. Altercations in court, and high-handed com-
mittals, on his personal authority, exercised even in the
streets, lowered him in the eyes of respecters of decency.
A memorial praying for his removal was signed and sent to
Gipps; and in 1843 he was ‘‘amoved.” He appealed
to the Privy Council, and in 1846, after long argument,
it was decided that Gipps had sufficient ground for amoving
him, but ought to have given him an opportunity of being
heard before making an order. The order was reversed.
Willis, whose counsel had stated that his object was not to
be replaced, but to make himself eligible for the bounty of
the Crown, tendered his resignation. It was not accepted.
A warrant was issued which revoked his appointment, and
directed that salary should be paid to him for the interval
between the date of the order of amotion and that of the
warrant of revocation.
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he had sown. For a time the ears were barren, except of
popularity, and long and loud complaints were raised. It
is almost needless to say that by demands for separation
while their population was small the inhabitants made it a
consequence, if not a necessity, that their boundary should
be more closely contracted than if they had been less hasty.
But they were always eager. In March 1846 Mr. Latrobe
laid the foundation of a bridge (Prince's Bridge)® across
the Yarra-Yarra, and Dr. J. F. Palmer, the Mayor, laid
the foundation-stone of the Melbourne Hospital. The
shops were shut. The people were in ecstasies, and the
newspapers said that it was a fairy scene, enchanting like
those in the ¢ Arabian Nights.”

A large gathering took place in Melbourne in 1845 to
remonstrate against the inclusion of the lands of Port
Phillip as security for a loan proposed to be raised on the
territorial revenue in aid of immigration. A delegate, Mr.
Archibald Cunninghame, was appointed to proceed to
England. As usual, separation from Sydney was the
cardinal point at which he was to aim.

In 1846 some Orangemen were bent upon commemorating
the battle of the Boyne. Flags flying at their hotel
aroused the ire of some Roman Catholics, who attacked the
place. The arrival of a priest, bent upon peace-making,
did not allay the riot. Shots were fired on both sides.
The police and a small band of soldiers were called out ;
shops were ordered to be closed; and to maintain quietness
the soldiers camped for the night in one of the leading
thoroughfares of the city.®” In consequence of the riot a
Bill was passed in Sydney to prohibit certain party proces-
sions. The irritated Orangemen built a place for themselves,
and called it the Protestant Hall. Their antagonists built
St. Patrick’s Hall, but were adroit enough to obtain some
subscriptions on the plea that the building was to be devoted
to unsectarian purposes.®

% In 1879 (though the bridge was a good bridge and owing to sundry
other channels of traffic was much less crowded than it had been in 1854
before railways and another bridge gave accommodation elsewhere), money
was borrowed in order to build a more expensive bridge.

¢ In Collins-street, between Queen-street and Elizabeth-street.

% Statement of Sir W. a’Beckett, the Chief Justice, who subscribed, and
said that he had been deceived.
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was upright, honourable, sensitive, and amiable in every
capacity, public or private. But he had one fatal failing.
He was too kind-hearted to say ‘No,” if by so saying he
inflicted pain. He was impressible by able or urgent
remonstrance, and yielded to others when it was necessary
to make an example, and punish some misdoer whom inter-
cessors wished to shield. He was so forgiving that he
would smile at the eccentricity of phrases in which he was
accused of corruption. Yet a man more pure or free from
corrupt tendency did not exist. He incurred the dislike of
some because he was not deemed combative enough against
the New South Wales government, and its so-called grasping
officials. He had foresight and courage enough in 1844 to
warn the government in Sydney against the impolicy of
recognizing claims of pastoral occupants to the fee simple,
or to pre-emption of their lands.® He was “‘ not prepared
to advocate the issue of leases for a longer period.” He
submitted patiently to imputations that he had acted in a
contrary manner. Seeking to avoid contention he allowed
every petty wastrel to sling stones at him. He brought
down a storm of abuse by writing a despatch, of which
Earl Grey sanctioned the publication, and which expressed
an opinion that Port Phillip ¢ possessing within herself, for
the present, neither the experience nor the means of pru-
dently devising or properly executing many important
works . . . she has had necessarily to wait a period of
greater maturity, and more settled and manageable prin-
ciples of internal government, before the application of
these funds, though actually at command, could be under-
taken.” When the despatch became known the Town
Council was moved to condemn Mr. Latrobe for incom-
petence and breaches of faith; and by nine votes against
five the motion was carried.

In proportion as it was true that the Port Phillip com-
munity was not ripe for self-government, so did the state-

® Passim, in his despatches. In 1831 he wrote that it was ‘‘the impera-
tive duty” of the government to make large reserves for general uses in
squatting districts. ‘I have never supposed that by doing so we could
be setting aside any real or just claim of the original occupant of such
lands for depasturing purposes only, his occupancy having hitherto
been solely authorized and considered admissible for that particular

purpose.”
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In July 1845 Gipps summoned the Legislative Council.
He congratulated them on reviving prosperity; regretted
that he had not as yet received answers to some of their
addresses forwarded to England, and ¢ with entire sincerity
and earnestness of purpose renewed the declaration of his
anxious desire to concur with them in the enactment’ of
wholesome measures. It was known that the Lien on Wool
Act would be disallowed in England, and Wentworth at
once obtained a Committee to inquire into its working.
Gipps presented an extract from a despatch from Lord
Stanley animadverting upon it as
““irreconcilably opposed to the principles of legislation immemorially
recognized in this country respecting the alienation or vgledging of things
movable;” . . . ‘““The disasters of New South Wales will ere long
have passed away, but there will remain on the colonial statute book a law
egpressly authorizing transactions which the law of England regards as
affording the conclusive indications of fraud. It is a law which will

place society at the mercy of any dishonest borrower, and which will
stimulate the speculative spirit which it is so important to discourage.”

The Crown could disallow Acts assented to by Governors
within two years of the receipt of the official transeript, and
unless intelligence of its local repeal should be received in
England before July 1846, it would then be disallowed by
the Queen. The witnesses examined by Wentworth—
bankers, lawyers, merchants, and settlers—bore unanimous
testimony to the usefulness of the Act. Wentworth
traversed, in the report, Lord Stanley’s arguments. The
assumption that the alienation and pledging of things
movable were identical was a fallacy.

““The possession of things movable by the alienor after alienation is
deemed a conclusive badge of fraud only because after such an act the
possession and the right of property are incompatible. Hence it is that
such possession is deemed in law fraudulent and void. The possession,
however, of movable property by a mortgagor may be, and most
frequently is, perfectly consistent with the provisions of the deed ; and, if
80, raises no such presumption, and entails no such consequence.”

Lord Stanley's law was inaccurate. Similar mortgages
of movables had been upheld by a long series of decisions
in Westminster, and in the colony, long before the
introduction of the Act. The only innovations were the
giving priority to the securities, according to date of regis-
tration, and exempting the mortgaged live stock from the
operation of the Colonial Insolvent Law. Registration
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newspaper—the Atlas—was established, and was made by
him the vehicle for bitter attacks upon Gipps.

On the Queen’s birthday in May, when, as was customary,
a leée was held by the Governor, a savage anticipatory
satire, of which the authorship was undoubted, sneered
at the cringing baseness of any who would flock thither.
An equally bitter lamentation was poured out™ when
the first proved ineffectual, and the levée was numerously
attended. The judicious might grieve to see great talents
misapplied ; but the majority were not judicious, and the
sarcasms of the Atlas were for a time a power. The recent
acquisition of the franchise, the vital questions which
were mooted in the Council, the troublous state of the
colony, combined to excite the attention of the people in a
manner unintelligible to residents in older communities.
Lang, as editor, at various times had, to the extent of his
ability, been as bitter and unscrupulous as Lowe, but his
papers wanted polish, and his unsupported statements

7% ¢ » - . »* - .

Thank him for what his harpies have not reft ;
Thank him for what prerogative has left :

Thank him for revenue he dares not take ;

Thank him—for laws he yet has spared to break :
Thank him—for lands which, innocent of rent,
Yield not his vampires twenty-five per cent.
Thank for the Gordian knot his hand untied,

The *solemn compact’ solemnly denied,

Aud say, as prostrate at his throne ye fall,
Accept our thanks ;—thou hast not taken all.

. - - . * -

dtlas, 24th May 1845.

** Bind yo with fetters? Cobwebs were too strong
To chain a craven made to bend to wrong.

. . . - - -

Bribe yo with treasure? Tyrant, spare thy store:
A bow can bribe : —and what can treasure more ?
Where are they now, the voluble, the loud
Against thy rule? They saw thy face and bowed—
Forgot their wrongs, their ruin, their despair—
Saw but thy shrine and flocked to worship there.

. . - - - L

Yo might have checked --ye bowed before his car—
Aund it will crush ye -liko the worms ye are.”

Atlas, 31t May 1845.
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the burden of his despateh. Though Gipps had made no
objection to the novel appointment of a Parliamentary
Agent, and Lord Stanley approved of his reticence, the
latter saw difficulties. Mr. Scott had interviews with him,
and in replying to Macleay, declared that, being ‘‘ uncer-
tain of the amount of responsibility which acceptance of
the office would impose upon him,” he would meantime
do his best voluntarily; and he did in various ways aid
his clients. In September 1845 Lord Stanley informed
Gipps that, without any abstract objection to the ap-
pointment itself, he must demur to its ‘being made by
a mere resolution of the Council. Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment can be no party to the recognition or to the payment
of an agent for the colony unless he be appointed, as in all
other colonies, by a local ordinance, assented to by the
Governor, and transmitted for the Queen’s confirmation
or disallowance.” Moreover, the undertaking by a mem-
ber of the House of Commons to represent the colon

““in that House” would be inconsistent with his duties.
In one sense a member represented his constituents;
in another and larger sense lhe represented the Commons
of the United Kingdom and of all its colonial depend-
encies. The Queen could not be advised to sanction
a resolution, *‘ the terms of which would appear to suppose
and to require a departure by any member of the House of
Commons from the duties which in that capacity he is
bound to discharge.” Lord Stanley went further. The
Legislative Council had appointed a committee of fourteen
members to correspond with Mr. Scott, and only one of the
committee was a non-elective member. Such a committee
ought fairly to represent the whole House. Moreover, he
could not concur with the appointment of any committee
with authority to sit and act during a prorogation or pend-
ing a dissolution of the House; ‘‘permanent committees
meeting throughout every recess, and debating either
publicly or privately at their discretion, must ripen in New
South Wales into an institution subversive of almost every
other authority.” Gipps might sanction no ordinance in-
fringing the advice thus given; to one conforming to it
and limited to three years he might assent. Mr. Scott, by
speeches in Parliament, by addresses in the provinces, and
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up for the defalcations of the late Registrar-General. Mr.
Cowper had brought in a bill to transfer the duties of
Registrar-General to the Registrar of the Supreme Court,
and it was hotly debated. The Governor, when it was
passed, recommended numerous amendments in it, under
his constitutional powers, on the 6th Nov. On the
same day Mr. Lowe moved an address about the recent
defalcations, but during the debate the House was counted
out. On the 11th Nov., on the consideration of the
Governor’s amendments, Lowe moved that the Counecil
disagree, and was defeated by one vote in a thin House.
Not strong enough to defeat the government by votes, the
minority, by leaving the House, left it quorumless, and the
bill was thus stopped. Two days afterwards Gipps pro-
rogued the Council in a conciliatory speech, dwelling only
on points which enabled him to speak smooth words. He
asserted

‘“ with confidence, and with some degree he trusted of honest exultation,
that in no part of the wide dominions of the British Crown, at no period
in English history was a colony planted and brought to maturity without
-expense of any sort to the parent State, surpassing in energy, wealth, and
character, that which has silently grown up in the course of the last ten
years, within your southern boundary—the settlement of Port Phillip.”

Nicholson moved for a Select Committee, which reported
strongly in favour of assisting immigration. Reviving
enterprise encountered a scarcity of labour. Wages had
risen. The committee recommended the raising of a loan
of half a million sterling in order to obviate the necessity
for an immediate exportation of capital. They concurred
with their predecessors of various years in advocating a
““remission of purchase-money of land granted to immi-
grants defraying the cost of their own passages or that of
their servants.”

Mrs. Chisholm gave evidence. She devoted her attention
almost exclusively at that time, and long afterwards, in
promoting immigration and the comfort of immigrants.
She travelled with groups of families to the interior,
assisting them in hiring their services, and had to encounter
the customary deprivations and inconveniences of the
oountry. She told the committee that even in 1842, when
wages were at the lowest, an Irish family which had
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In speaking on the Address, Wentworth, Windeyer, Lang,
and others animadverted on the Governor’s conduct, and
denied him any credit for the improved condition of affairs.
Wentworth signalized himself as one who could forget
antipathies, by giving a notice of motion to raise the
salaries of the Speaker and other functionaries of the
Council. Macleay, before calling on him to move it,
thanked the House for its uniform conduct towards him,
but announced that his age, eighty years, had determined
him to retire in spite of solicitations to thecontrary. For a
brief period of the session, if it suited the convenience of
the House, he would occupy the chair, but only on the
distinet understanding that no increase should be made in
his salary. If Wentworth’s motion to raise the salary
from £750 to £1500 should be carried in the proposed form,
making it applicable to Macleay, he would be induced
instantly to resign. Wentworth amended his motion,
making it to apply to the Speakership only in a succeeding
session, and spoke in feeling terms of Macleay’s unim-
peachable impartiality and integrity, declaring that regret
at his resignation would better come from him than from
others, as he had been conspicuous in opposing the original
election. Lowe and others opposed the increase of the
Speaker’s salary, and the motion was withdrawn. In the
following week the old man, thus honoured by the House,
retired from the chair, proffering his thanks for the indul-
gence ‘‘extended during his Speakership, and for Went-
worth’s open, manly, courteous, and generous’ tribute to
him. Nicholson, proposed by Mr. Cowper and seconded by
Mr. Murray, was thereupon unanimously elected Speaker.

But amenity was not to be the order of the day. Lowe’s
influence in the House and in the country was small, but
his speeches were read, and he inveighed against Lord
Stanley's despatch about the appointment of Mr. Scott as
Parliamentary agent. “If that Council should choose to
set aside the Constitutional Act, what was that to Lord
Stanley? It wasthe most arbitrary and oppressive invasion
of the rights of a legislative body that he had ever heard
of.” These wild words, applied to a motion by Mr. Cowper
to reappoint the Committee of Correspondence with Mr.
Scott, aroused no sympathy. The long-expected answers
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true, render the interference of this Council unnecessary. 3rdly. Because
we do not feel justified in imposing any peculiar tax upon the squatters, so
long as your Excellency claims in the name of Her Majesty, a right to tax
them to any extent you may think proper. 4thly. Because the powers
conferred by the Acts (2 Vict. No. 27, and 5 Vict. No. 1) on the Commis-
sioners of Crown Lands are most arbitrary and unconstitutional.
5thly. ... 6thly. . ..”

Windeyer acknowledged the ‘‘ great skill and address”
with which Deas Thomson had striven to disarm the
temporary measure of its repulsive character, but declared
war to the knife on principle. Lang, Lowe, and others
followed, and the debate was adjourned. Cowper,
Macarthur, and Wentworth resumed the battle on the
following day. Wentworth, in a speech of more than two
hours’ duration, assailed the government on details and on
principles.

‘“ Could they trust it? It had taken treble the money it ought to have
done under the Act before them; it had appropriated it contrary to the
provisions of that Act. In theface of that Council, in the face of recorded
documents, in the face of public recollection, fresh and almost universal,
the Government had denied—did still deny—the promises that had been
made. If in the face of these things they could be guilty of the insuffer-
able baseness of passing that measure, well would they deserve that the
leprosy of that beautiful code of tender mercies contained in the Squatting

Regulations of 1844, and the recommendations by which they were
accompanied, should cling to them and their posterity for ever.”

Deas Thomson courteously but vainly replied, and
Windeyer's amendment was carried by nineteen votes
against ten. No elective member voted with the govern-
ment.

Meantime, Gipps’ health had waned; his medical
advisers recommended total cessation from work. High
personal character under such circumstances ensured him
sympathy even amongst those who supported Wentworth.
Gipps, knowing that his successor, Sir C. Fitz Roy, would
soon arrive, at length yielded to advice, and prepared to
depart. Ill-health could not bow down his spirit, and the
same imperious characteristics which issued his Regulations
in 1844, ruled him now. The address rejecting the Border
Police Bill was presented to him on the 9th June, by
Nicholson the Speaker, Windeyer, and another member.
The Speaker informed the Council that his Excellency had
been pleased to say that ‘“he had no reply to give to the
address.” Called on to repeat exactly the words of Gipps,






‘296 : NOTICE TO ADJOURN THE COUNCIL.

whole community should be put to inconvenience, that the whole
machinery of government should be deranged —that matters should
be reduced for a time to a state of anarchy—rather than submit to the
indignity which was now attempted to be ¥orced upon them. .. . The
members of the House were not children, to be dealt with as the Governor
would deal with them, nor were they to be deceived by miserable subter-

fuges.”

Deas Thomson, justifying the appropriation of certain toll-
.1money in repairs of roads, under a local law, coolly replied
that he ‘‘preferred the opinions of the law officers, the
sworn advisers of the Crown, to those expressed by any
individual member or members of the Council in course of
.debate—opinions given for no party or political purpose,
. but according to their oaths as the advisers of the Crown.”
The first resolution was passed without a division. But
.members knew that Gipps was dangerously ill, and some of
.them shrank from adopting the language of the former
guest of his hearth. Wentworth moved as an amendment
-on the remaining resolutions, that leave be given to intro-
duce a “bill to repeal so much of all local ordinances now
in existence as assumes to vest the appropriation of the
.ordinaryrevenue elsewhere than in the Legislative Counecil.”
-If the bill were not assented to, Wentworth would adopt
.the resolutions. The bill was read a first time on the spot.
On the same day Wentworth gave notice that he would, on
the morrow, move an adjournment of the House to the.21st
July—a course which would deprive Gipps and Deas
‘Thomson of communication with the public through the
House during Gipps’ stay, and would, nevertheless, leave
members of the House busy at their labours in cominittee,
at the discretion of the House itself. Only four measures
had been passed—a bill to replace a jury-law about to
expire at the end of June, and three others introduced by
the government. _

Wentworth, in moving the adjournment, declared that he
for one would not consent to pass the estimates ‘‘after the
insulting answer given the other day to the Speaker.” A
short session such as his Excellency contemplated was
out of the question, and he really brought forward his
motion ‘“to avoid collision, as well as from a consideration of
the declining state of the Governor’s health.” Deas
Thomson deprecated the motion as injurious. The session
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assessments were to be collected and expended under their
authority.

‘“Believing such to be the intention of the Constitutional Act, and
believing it not to be the intention of that Act that monies raised by
turnpike tolls should be appropriated by Acts or Ordinances of the Gover-
nor and Legislative Council, I cannot assent to the doctrine so comprehen-
sively attempted to be laid down in the resolution, and I must consider
it _to be the duty of the Governor of this colony, so long as the clauses
relating to District Councils remain unrepealed, to withhold his assent
from any Act Euassed by the Legislative Council declaring or implying
thiz.lt the Council has a right to appropriate moneys arising from turnpike
tolls.”

As to the fees taken in the Courts of Requests and the
Insolvent Courts, he saw no reason why local legislation
should not control and apply them. He had no desire for
the sole power of appropriating them; but had he not used
them in the beginning of 1844, he must have closed
the Insolvent and the Requests Courts, and he preferred
exercising the power which he was assured he lawfully
possessed, to shutting up the Courts, which he knew would
be prejudicial to the colony. He dealt separately with the
alleged insulting answer he had made to the Speaker. He
thought it right before leaving the colony to place on
record the words he had used. They were—

¢ Mr. Speaker, I am happy in thinking that this address does not
require any answer (meaning, of course, any written or formal answer);
and it is not my intention to make any. lythought it right to give the
Council an opportunity of renewing the Act, though I did not much
expect they would renew it. I have given them the opportunity and

they have refused to renew it. Whatever may be the consequences to
the colony of their rejection of it, those consequences will rest with them *

It was not merely to promulgate a version varying so
slightly from that of the Speaker that Gipps now printed,
and caused to be circulated, his own. He made known
why he

¢ did pot deem it necessary or proper, to give a written or formal reply to
the address of the Council. Passing by the studied discourtesy of the
address, there were expressions in it which, had I returned any formal
answer, I must have expressly declared to be untrue. I will refer only to
the following : ¢ Because we are not disposed to continue summary powers
which have been used to support a claim to tax, by prerogative alone, the
validity of which we, as the representatives of the people, can never recog:
nize.” No constitutional lawyer whose opinion is entitled to any respect has,
I believe, ever asserted that to take a payment for the use of Crown landsis
to impose a tax. "I'he contrary has been maintained down to the most recent
times by lawyers of the highest eminence in England, by the British
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‘power. Bishop Broughton availed himself of Gipps’ retire-
ment to close his own political career. He solicited per-
-mission to resign his seat in the Executive Council. Gipps,
in forwarding his application, expressed his sense of the
great loss to the country on questions of general policy
which the Bishop’s absence would involve, and his own
gratitude for the firm and unflinching manner in which the
Bishop had advised him on many important occasions.
Thenceforward political struggles were to be those of parties
rather than of men. The phalanx of discipline was to
supersede the prowess of the chief. Achilles and Hector
had had their day, and were to become mythical. Not
Numa now, but a senate was to prompt legislation. A
candid historian must admit the high personal worth and
the nobility of the aims of Gipps, but must ascribe to his
imperious presumption (in issuing without due inquiry and
without securing reasonable approval, his Squatting Regu-
lations of 1844) the united opposition of the time, and in
some degree the pernicious result which, by excluding
‘Crown lands from sale when required for settlement, barred
the public from them and engendered class hatred. By the
vigour of the rebound in their favour the squatters and
their friends acquired legal claims under Earl Grey’s Orders
in Council of 1847, which were incompatible with general
progress. Weak governments strove to remedy legislative
blunders by lawless executive acts. Had Gipps lived a
little longer he might have foreseen the woes to come, and
the Colonial Office might have been saved from the blunders
of Earl Grey. His voyage was protracted, and he suffered
in health. For a brief period he was consulted by the
government about Australian affairs, and was appointed to
a post in the Royal Engineer Department in London. He
was about to leave Canterbury to enter on his duties, had
spent a cheerful day with a sister, retired to his room,
reclined on a sofa, and died suddenly,” of disease of the
heart, in Feb. 1847.

7 He was buried in the south aisle of Canterbury Cathedral. He and
‘his friend Bishop Broughton had been schoolmates at Canterbury ; had
married there ; had met in later life, the one as Bishop, the other as Gov-
ernor, in New South Wales. The Bishop was in Fngland in 1853, and died

also at Canterbury : a monument. to his memory was placed in Canter-
bury Cathedral near that of Gipps. s
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Dr. Lang, true to his instinets,” adulated Duffy on the
arrival of the latter in Australia. Their aims were common.
Other men sought federation as conducive to Imperial and
national greatness. They saw in it a means of shaking off
the domination of the Saxon or the King. Far different
were the aims of Wentworth. His early efforts were
claims for equal rights of citizens of the Empire; in
Australia as in England. Trial by jury, independence of
judges, liberty of the press, taxation by representation,
self-government under limits recognized in the English
Constitution, and with a common loyalty to the Crown—
these were his aims when young. They were consistent
with the work of his later years. He had no sympathy
with those who sought in unlimited suffrage the means of
overbearing by the feces civitatis the common sense and
prudence of the industrious orders who maintained if.
Superficial critics assailed him as a renegade from his
early principles when they found him advocating an
hereditary order which should elect from its own ranks the
second legislative chamber. But he argued that his pur-
pose was ever the same;—to build up in his native land a
polity like that of England,—to bind the colonies to their
father-land by common ties and by institutions as like as
circumstances would permit,—to graft the slip of the
ancient stock so closely by assimilation, that in Australia
as in England a man might say: ‘A British citizen and
loyal subject of the Crown, I stand without any disability
arising from remoteness from the Throne.”

Though Dr. Lang had not in 1846 thought it safe to
propose rebellion or to advocate independence, as he did at
a later date, the sagacious Gipps forecast coming events.
In a despatch written in April 1846 he warned Lord
Stanley that, assuming the separation of Port Phillip to be
necessary, ‘ some security should be taken for establishing
in it a system of local self-government before any legis-
lative body be called together founded either wholly or in
part on the principle of representation.” After dissuading
the Colonial Office from establishing bicameral legislatures,
and pointing out that a Colonial government must from

™ See above, note p. 232.
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CHAPTER XII.
VAN DIEMEN'S LAND.

As the term of office of Sir G. Gipps was prolonged beyond
the customary period, it is convenient to glance at the affairs
of other colonies at the time. The agitation against,and the
abolition of, transportation to Van Diemen’s Land will re-
quire a separate chapter, and carry inquiry to the era of
discovery of gold and the eve of government by two
Chambers, with ministries removable by adverse votes, and
supposed to be responsible, although no machinery was
provided for their impeachment,

In Van Diemen’s Land there is nothing to relate about
the aborigines. They were not all dead, but they were
dying, and their fate has been recorded already in order
that history might not lag behind the rapidity of their
destruction. Sir John Franklin (5th Jan. 1887) relieved
Colonel Snodgrass, who administered the government for
about three months after Arthur’s departure. Colonel
Snodgrass during his brief rule prepared trouble for the
new Governor. He convened a Synod of Presbyterian
ministers and elders to settle their church upon firm
foundations.

There were disputes. Some denied that the Governor
could lawfully exercise such a function as devolved upon the
Crown in Scotland. Others declared that the Governor, as
representative of the Crown, was bound to recognize the
Church of Scotland,.as well as that of England, after the
manner of the Sovereign, or to recognize no church.
Archdeacon Hutchins denied that the local recognition in
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a friend, the celebrated Dr. Arnold, of Rugby, on the
subject.! Arnold selected a former pupil, John Philip Gell,
for the ‘‘ great missionary labour.”” Mr. Gell was then at
Cambridge, and Lord Normanby accepted Arnold’s recom-
mendation. Franklin aimed high. He desired (Arnold
said) to obtain ‘‘a Christian, a gentleman, and a scholar,
a member of one of our universities—a man of ability and
vigour of character, to become the father of the education
of a whole quarter of the globe.” Mr. Gell selected New
Norfolk, and (6th Nov. 1840) the foundation stone of
Christ’s College was laid with due ceremony, Captains
Crozier and Ross, R.N. (then conducting an Antaretic
expedition), being present.

The older college of thievery formed by England was not
an idle spectator. The deposited coins and inscriptions
were stolen in the night. The disastrous omen was not
falsified. The establishment came to an end in a few
years. But the inhabitants ever evinced a laudable desire
to secure the means of higher education, and though
unable for many years to establish a local university, they
placed those of Great Britain within the reach of some of
their youth. From the general schools, exhibitions led to
the Hutchins School, the High School, Horton College, and
the Church Grammar School, and from those superior schools
two Tasmanian scholarships of £200 a year, each tenable
for four years, led to a British university; while the
degree of Associate in Arts was conferred by the Council of
Education in the Island.

The material progress of the island under the long rule
of Arthur gave importance to its commerce, which was
reflected in numerous Acts passed by his successor; but
the commercial disasters which swept over the mainland
were not unfelt in Van Diemen’s Land, and the uneasy
relations between Franklin and his principal officers in-

' Arnold’s opinions were in violent opposition to those of some of
Franklin’s friends. A convict colony was to him ¢ shocking and mon-
strous.” “‘If they will colonize with convicts I am satisfied that the stain
should last not only for one whole life, but for more than one genent.ion:
that no convict or convict’s child should ever be a free citizen . . . but
Arnold greatly respected Franklin, and added, ¢ You will be, I know, not
in name nor in form, but in deed and in spirit, the best and chief mis-
sionary” (July 1836).
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had appointed Capt. Forster, the chief police magistrate,
director of the probation system. He transmitted regula-
tions for the new department, devised by that gentleman,
and sanctioned by the Governor and Council. The work-
ing of the system, and the aggrievement of the colonists at
its moral and pecuniary burdens, may be condensed in a
summary with which the convict question may be dismissed.
Though, when practical ability was required; Sir J. Franklin
was fain to appeal to men trained by Arthur, he could not,
like Arthur, control them, and was eventually worsted in &
contest with Montagu, the Colonial Secretary. He was
galled at the idea that he was unable to govern, and his
kindliness of disposition working with his injured self-
esteem, induced him to restore to office an officer dismissed
for negligence. The imperious Montagu announced that
thenceforward he would limit his labours to official routine;
and irksome details were thrown upon the Governor,
who had not Montagu’s ability to dispose of them. Nor
was this all. In 1842 Montagu ventured to write to the
Governor, that while he and all members of the govern-
ment admitted Montagu’s memory to be remarkably
accurate, ‘ your Excellency will pardon me for submitting
to you that your officers have not been without opportunity
of learning that your Excellency could not always place
implicit reliance on your own.”

Montagu was dismissed, and was ready to make some
kind of apology. Franklin agreed to testify the value of
his past services with a view to his employment elsewhere.
Montagu, with this testimony, went to England, was con-
sulted by Lord Stanley, and obtained an order from him
for payment of salary from the date of his dismissal. Lord
Stanley went further. He wrote to Franklin, that though
the relative positions of Governor and Colonial Secretary
had been rather inverted, Montagu’s superior ability had
been the cause, and he gave Montagu a copy of his
despatch, which the latter promptly sent to his friends in
the island, whither he did not return. He became Secretary
at the Cape of Good Hope, and Mr. Bicheno was sent to
Van Diemen’s Land. Franklin bitterly complained of the
recorded statements of Montagu, at the Colonial Office,
that Lady Franklin had unduly influenced his government.
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reprieve of a bushranger who had fired at—but had not
killed—a settler whose house was attacked, brought him
into collision with the friends of the sentencing judge, who
had declared the career of the convict to be of unexampled
atrocity. The judge himself directed the sentence of death
to be merely recorded in a subsequent case, on the ground
that the recent reprieve was almost equal to abolition
of capital punishment. Armed marauders, capable of any
crime, and inapprehensive of death, were terrible to
inhabitants of a sparsely-peopled territory. A corps was
organized for self-protection, but was arrested by Wilmot’s
declining to sanction its incorporation, the levying of armed
men being the prerogative of the Queen. He endeavoured
to ally himself with the agricultural interest, and obtained
a report from Major (afterwards Sir Arthur) Cotton, a
hydraulic engineer of distinction, as to the advantages which
would accrue from storing lake waters and distributing
them by irrigation in due season. The labourers were
to be convicts, and Lord Stanley at the time declined to
interfere with the existing allocation of the prisoners. He
did, however (at the instigation of Wilmot), represent to.
the Treasury that it was just that Van Diemen’s Land,
crammed with English felonry, should be relieved, at
English cost, of some police and gaol charges, and in 1845,
the Treasury made provision for an expenditure not exceed-
ing £24,000, then amounting to two-thirds of the annual
outlay, and towards maintenance of convicts the amount
paid by England in the same year was about £167,000.
The control of the convicts was claimed by the Colonial
Office as a corollary to their maintenance ; but remote con-
trol could hardly be successful. The horrors to be shunned
were too far from the eye of the controller. Wilmot, like
others, incurred odium by not making successful a system
for whose failures he suffered, but whose defects he had not
power to remove. He sometimes bore the brunt of public
condemnation for acts for which he was not responsible.
Bat, in 1845, in transmitting a numerously-signed petition
of free colonists, he traversed some of their statements in &
way that gave offence when published by the House of
Commons in the following year. They had appealed to
him for testimony as to their character, and the truth
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and paving, and the toll bills, were rejected by the votes
of the non-official members; the official nominees voting
- for the bills. In August the estimates for 1846 being sub-
mitted, Mr. Dry moved for inquiry into the departmental
expenditure, but was defeated. An adjournment of the
estimates for three days was proposed and lost in like
manner. Wilmot then suddenly, without finishing his
estimates, adjourned the Council (to 21st Oct.) hoping for
despatches which might relieve him from some of his
financial difficulties. He had earnestly made known the
hard condition of the colony, but Lord Stanley left him to
bear the blame without the credit of having remonstrated.
The Council met in October. Information asked for was
refused. The estimates were proceeded with. Mr.
vainly moved a postponement of the Appropriation Bill
for six months, and at the last moment the non-official
members shook the dust from their feet and left the
Council chamber without a quorum. On the following day
Mr. Gregson apologized for the absence of his friends,
who were preparing a protest. Wilmot denounced as
unconstitutional and disloyal Gregson’s assertion that ‘“no
bill should pass until the Home government paid the
judicial, police, and gaol expenditure,” and the leaving of
the Council without a quorum. The only non-official
member who sided with Wilmot was absent, and only
Wilmot’s casting vote gave him any control. The absentee
nominee had also recorded a protest against the police
expenditure as an unjust burden on the colony, cumbered
with Imperial felons. Captain Swanston, one of the six,
waited on the Governor to deprecate his proceedings, and
warned him that the non-official members would not
shrink. They had indeed the tumultuous support of the
public; and more than four thousand signatures were
attached to a petition for a representative assembly.
Wilmot resolved to persevere. On the proposal to read
the bill a third time, Dry rose to read a protest, but was
declared out of order, and Gregson moved for delay to
enable himself and his friends to prepare other estimates.
His motion being lost, the six friends abruptly left the
chamber shorn of a quornm, sent their resignations to
the Governor, and prepared a letter to Lord Stanley in
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provision. The elected commissioners shrank from levying
rates whose validity might turn on the fact of their own
election ; and the government being unwilling to amend
the Act it practically lapsed. ~While Wilmot was thus
struggling, a despatch from Mr. Gladstone abruptly
recalled him. Lord Stanley had complained that he
received insufficient information from the colony. The
horrors of the probation and gang system were glaring
enough to be seen even from afar, and it was convenient
to sacrifice the viceroy whose hands had been tied by
instructions.

Lord Stanley had expressed dissatisfaction, and Mr.
Gladstone communicated the determination of the govern-
ment. His despateh was (suo more) so “larded with many
several sorts of reasons” as to imply a wish to veil in a
cloud of words the unpleasantness, if not the indefensibility,
of his task. Wilmot had not shown an
“‘active care of the moral interests involved in the system of convict
discipline ;” ¢ verbal suggestions, however elaborate, can never be
adequate to supply so great a deficiency ;’ ‘‘the immense interests
involved in that method of punishment for this country, for the colony,
and for the individuals, absolutely forbid Her Majesty’s Government to
allow them to be gratuitously compromised.” ¢They have no ho
remaining of being enabled, through your instrumentality, to bring the

character and results of transportation to a fair issue, of heing enabled
either to achieve success or even to ascertain failure.”

Page after page of the despatch bewildered the Governor
with similar language. At the close, allusion was made to
the six retired members of the Legislative Council. Mr.
Gladstone could not concur with Wilmot in designating
their conduct as disloyal, but he admitted the difficulties
of the position, and the collision with them had no *“part
in the motives” which induced the Governor’s recall.

On the same day (30th April 1846), Mr. Gladstone
signed a secret despatch intimating that though Wilmot’'s
failure in a penal colony might leave him eligible for
other employment, there were rumours about his private
character which might render re-employment impossible.
The despatch did not specify any of the ramours. Aghast
at this double blow, and the formless phantasm of vague
imputations, Wilmot replied on the spur of the moment.
He would ¢all on the Executive Council to investigate and






316 SIR E. WILMOT’S JUSTIFICATION AND DEATH.

that though the inquiry asked for was impracticable, it

as ‘“‘due to Sir Eardley Wilmot, to certify in the most
explicit terms, that as far as their own observation had
gone during the private and official intercourse which they
personally ‘had had since his arrival, nothing had ever
transpired which would justify the allegation that he had
been guilty of the violation of the decencies of private
life.”

The maligned Governor forwarded this exculpation, and
sent with it a copy of an address then receiving signatures
in public. It contradicted the aspersions on his moral
character, and declared that the signers were imperatively
called upon to contradict them, inasmuch as many of them
had “ differed in opinion on various measures’’ of Wilmot’'s
government. Legislative councillors, chaplains, magis-
trates and others signed the address, and (Nov. 1846)
Wilmot transmitted a roll.of names which are entombed in
the Papers of the House of Commons.

Wilmot’s friends took up his cause in Parliament—Mr.
Spooner, member for Warwickshire, being the leader—and
there, as in the colony, the charges melted into air when
subjected to examination. His family might derive consola-
tion from the tribute paid to his character by Sir Robert
Peel, and the admission on all sides that the charges had
been unfounded. The names of the informants, three in
number, who had set the Colonial Office in motion, were
not given up; but Mr. Curteis denounced them. He
would not rate them as gentlemen. They had been proved
to have circulated a base, foul, and cowardly calumny. It
is unpleasant to reflect that one of them, Hampton, was
afterwards made Comptroller-General of Convicts in Van
Diemen’s Land, and made Governor of Western Australia.
His qualifications were supposed to fit him for distinction
in & criminal sphere. The object of calumny did not live
to hear of gracious words in Parliament, to receive from
the Queen any mark of favour, or even to read the words
with which Earl Grey announced that no favour would be
shown. He had determined to abide in patience the
decisions of the government ; although Mr. Latrobe, from
Port Phillip, had arrived (Oct. 1846) to supersede him. But
patience would not abide with him. He died broken-






318 KARL GREY’S INSTRUCTIONS TO SIR W. DENISON.

The arrival of a new Governor, Sir W. T. Denison (Jan.
1847) relegated Mr. Latrobe to his post at Port Phillip;
and enabled Denison to reflect upon the ills of life, as
. he stood side by side with Mr. Latrobe at the grave of
Wilmot.

Sir William Denison had been selected by Mr. Gladstone,
but by the fall of the Peel Ministry it devolved upon
another Secretary of State, Earl Grey, to issue instruc-
tions to the new Governor. Like Sir G. Gipps, he was an
Engineer officer. He had controlled public works in the
English dockyards, and as prison labour was largely used
in them, it was thought by Earl Grey that Sir W. Denison
was ‘ peculiarly qualified” to govern Van Diemen’s Land,
where ‘‘ one of the first objects to be attended to at that
time was to render the labour of several thousands of
convicts more useful than it had hitherto been.”

Earl Grey entered upon his task with zeal. He had
interviews with the Governor, and he saw Dr. Hampton,
whose name had been used in connection with rumours
about Sir Eardley Wilmot, and who, on the death of
Forster, the Comptroller-General in Van Diemen’s Land,
was appointed as his successor. Sir W. Denison took with
him a few non-commissioned officers of the Sappers and
Miners and Royal Artillery to assist in carrying on public
works, and Earl Grey felt that he was despatching a man
able and willing to do all that was required. The Earl’s con-
fidence in himself made it probable that he would come into
collision with the colonists; and he succeeded in doing so.
In Van Diemen’s Land he paved the way for difficulties by
a phrase in a despatch (5th Feb. 1847): “I have to inform
you that it is not the intention of Her Majesty’s government
that transportation to Van Diemen’s Land should be
resumed at the expiration of the two years for which it has
already been decided that it should be discontinued.” He
afterwards argued® that the context of the despatch implied
that ¢ the ultimate removal of convicts to the colonies was
an essential part of the plan decided upon;” but he
admitted that the expression might ‘“have been an un-

¢ «The Colonial Policy of the Administration of Lord J. Russell.” By
Earl Grey, vol. ii., p. 18. London: 1833.






320 SIR W. DENISON AND JUDGE MONTAGU.

Willis at Port Phillip by Sir G. Gipps, and the decision of
the Privy Council on his case, warned Sir W. Denison that
it was necessary to give Judge Montagu an opportunity of
showing cause against his removal. The judge was in a
state of indebtedness, and his creditors had been prevented
from recovering their claims by reason of his position as
judge. As early as 1844 Lord Stanley had directed Sir
Eardley Wilmot to call upon Montagu to pay his debts or
to take leave of absence so that proceedings might be
instituted against him, and any recorded judgment might
be enforced. Montagu pacified his creditors by payment.
In Nov. 1847 Sir W. Denison received a petition from
Anthony McMeckan, averring that he was a creditor, and
had been estopped in pursuing his claim by reason of
Montagu’s position as judge. He prayed that the judge
might be suspended in order that legal proceedings might
be taken. The petition was referred to Montagu, who did
not deny the debt, but asserted that until a certain security
could be sold his position would be damnified by paying.
The debt was about £280. He avouched that his debts
had not sprung from extravagance. He had brought £4000
into the colony. ‘I was wealthy. For a portion of my
land I had been offered £10,000 . . . Suddenly the proba-
tion system came. The market is destroyed. . . . All my
twenty years’ hard struggling in my arduous office, all its
advantages, destroyed by the British mal-administration of
this territory.”” He cited his past services, and protested
that only Her Majesty could remove or suspend him. There
were many meetings of the Executive Council. There was
voluminous correspondence. There were doubts whether
it was expedient to amove the judge, under statutory
power, for ‘‘misbehaviour in office,”” or to suspend him by
virtue of prerogative. The former course was adopted.
Mr. Thomas Horne, the Attorney-General, was appointed
in room of Montagu. Mr. Valentine Fleming, the Solicitor-
General, became Attorney-General. Mr. Francis Smith
became Solicitor-General. Montagu was going to England
to protest against the proceedings. His butcher seized
him for debt. He applied to the Executive Council to pay
it, so that he might go. They declined; but a private sub-
seription, to which Sir W. Denison gave £20, enabled him
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eharge of “ neglect of duty in having failed withir the pre-
seribed time to certify against the (Dog Act) 10 Vict. No. 5,
on the ground of repugnancy.” He denied the charge,
and claimed to be heard in person or by counsel. Counsel
being denied to him, he answered, under protest, in writing.
The question of repugnancy was not obvious. The object
of the Dog Act was ostensibly to abate a nuisance, not to
impose a tax. After two days’ argument in Court, Pedder
had come to the conclusion that the Act was repugnant to
the Constitution Act. Was it legitimate to assume that
he had in 1846 neglected his duty in not certifying against
the Act? ‘“Does a Judge by accepting office undertake
for infallibility ? or is more to be expected of a Colonial
Judge than of those eminent persons who constitute the
Courts in Westminster Hall ? Has no one of those great
magistrates been ever heard to admit that after argument he
has felt himself compelled to give up opinions long before
entertained ?”” Neither the Attorney-General, who drew
the Act, nor the second Judge had seen the repugnancy.
Was the charge of neglect to comprehend them? He
earnestly prayed for speedy judgment, declaring whether
he was “ not guilty, or guilty of the high misdemeanour
charged against” him.

In a wordy minute the Governor in Executive Couneil
endeavoured to justify the attempted wrong; but com-
municated no sophistries to the Judge as part of the
decision. He was informed (21st Jan. 1848)—* It is grati-
fying to His Excellency and Council to be enabled, after a
careful perusal of the answer, to record their unanimous
opinion that his Honour is not guilty of the neglect of duty
so charged against him.” Opportunely the Queen’s warrant
re-appointing the ‘““patriotic six” to the Legislative Counecil
reached the colony after the question of invalidity of Aets
had been raised by the decision on the Dog Act. The new
Solicitor-General reported no less than fifteen other Aects
ai lvoided by it, and nearly thirty others as made question-
able.

Sir W. Denison (26th Jan.) called his Councillors
together and read them a long harangue. The feeling of
opposition in the colony * to all statutory enactments’ was
‘@ fearful social evil.” A bill to remove doubts respecting
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and last, not least, on the Doubts Bill.”” The good lady,
however, took comfort in the conviction that her husband
had * conscientiously done his best.” When the despatch
arrived (Nov. 1848) it rebuked Sir W. Denison for having
‘““ acted rashly and unadvisedly,” and as he read it aloud,
Lady Denison, who had vainly hoped that ‘“the chief of the
blame would fall on Sir John Pedder,”” expected that the
final sentence would be her husband’s recall. But Earl
Grey knew not where to find so able a ruler for the island,
and concluded by a general expression of confidence in the
zeal and ability of the Governor, who promptly com-
municated the result in a friendly note to Sir J. Pedder.

A number of merchants in Hobart Town addressed, in
March 1848, a remonstrance against Sir W. Denison’s
financial measures, his insults to merchants, and his
demeanour towards ‘‘ Sir John Pedder, whose high character
has for many years commanded the respect of the whole
community.” They prayed that a ‘15 per cent. Ordi-
nance” might not be sanctioned. It was an Act passed by
Sir Eardley Wilmot to abolish certain differential duties
of customs. Earl Grey (Feb. 1849) communicated Her
Majesty’s approval of the Act. Nearly sixteen hundred
colonists had in 1848 vehemently assailed Sir W. Denison
for “ open invasion of the independence of the bench”—
‘““odious and revolting . . . which, if allowed to pass’
unpunished, must terminate in the utter subversion of all
confidence in the administration of justice.” Earl Grey
desired the Governor to inform them that Her Majesty was
“not pleased to issue any directions with respect to their
prayer.”

The limited area of the island, and the fact that before
the occupation of Crown lands became a burning question
in other colonies, freehold homesteads were sprinkled from
north to south, averted the evils which were to afflict New
South Wales and Victoria. 1In 1847 it was reported that,
out of fourteen and a-half millions of acres then stated as
the area of the island, less than a million and a-quarter
were held under depasturing licenses, while nearly three
millions of acres had become private property.

The condition of South Australia, between the arrival of
Captain Grey (in 1841), and the year 1847, stands in
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government at Sydney. But he would not prosecute works:
in Adelaide merely to give employment. He strove to-
press the labourers into the country. He employed them:
on roads and bridges, and the road across the Mount.
Lofty Range bore witness to their work.

In a brief space the community, which had been import-
ing food, was in a position to export it. As soon as Grey
learned that the bills drawn by Gawler were being paid im:
England, he assumed that the outstanding debts left by
Gawler might be similarly met, and he drew accordingly
for £85,000, the claims being cognate to those already
recognized. The English government refused to honour
the bills, on the ground that before the liabilities were
contracted, Gawler had received peremptory orders té
avoid contracting them.

Lord Stanley was bitterly assailed for his refusal. But
he proved that Colonel Gawler had contravened instructions
in incurring the debts, and that Grey himself was warned not.
to draw bills ¢ without having previously received authority
to do so;” and he pointed out that the new Constitution
Act 1842 (5 and 6 Vict., cap. 61), which granted £155,000
*“in aid of the revenue of South Australia,”” had abandoned
all claim ¢ for the repayment thereof and for interest
thereon,” and made it lawful for the local government
to issue debentures for outstanding debts.!

To the influence of Wakefield’s disciples and their friends
in Parliament may perhaps be ascribed those special
features in the statute which proffered a more compre-
hensive system of self-government than any then extant
in the southern hemisphere. One section enacted that
Her Majesty might constitute a nominee Legislature

1 In July 1843 Lord Stanley said on the subject of ‘‘outstanding bills”:
‘I should wish further to observe that, in the event of any proceedi
being instituted in any of the colonial tribunals having for their object to-
attach to you a personal liability for the payment of any of the bills drawn
on the Lords of the Treasury, it will be your duty to direct that the
defence be conducted in such a manner as may most effectually raise on
the record of the proceedings how far, as Governor of the colony, are
or can be amenable to them. You will further instruct your legtly:;nb
to adopt the necessary steps for bringing that question by way of a
before the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council, if the judgment of the
Court should in any manner affirm or support the opinion that any suth
personal liability really attaches to you.” :
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confidence in his discretion. Meetings in the ecolony
demanded his recall. All misery was laid at his door. In
1842 insolvency followed insolvency, and more than a third
of the houses in Adelaide were deserted. Their former
occupants had been forced into the country, and were
subduing the earth. In 1848 the end had been reached.
There was even a scarcity of labourers, and Grey encouraged
the soldiers to assist in gathering in the harvest. All able-
bodied men were employed, and Grey advised the revival
of immigration, from which Lord Stanley shrank. An
unexpected relief flowed in from New South Wales, where
newly-arriving immigrants found a temporary glut in the
labour market arising from inability of the settlers to pay
wages during depression and panic. No less than nine
hundred persons found their way to Adelaide. But ardent
colonists were not satisfied with thus reaping where they
had not sown. A grievance was found in Lord Stanley’s
refusal to make good the amount taken from the emigration
fund (£87,000) to meet some of Colonel Gawler’s bills.
The fact that over and above that sum the British Parlia-
ment had made grants to relieve the colony was made
light of. Newspapers and books were unanimous in
declaiming that the colonists were bond fide creditors, and
were being defrauded. They scorned the idea that Gawler’s
overdrafts ought to be met by any portion of the land
fund; that colonial excess should be redressed by colonial
paring. Meanwhile they prospered. ~The earnings of the
colonists no longer flowed out in order to obtain food.
Butter and cheese were expmted in 1842. Wheat, other
grain, and flour followed in 1848. The distribution of the
population was the explanation. In 1841 Grey found
more than 8000 persons in Adelaide, and 6000 in rural
districts. In 1848 there were only 6000 in Adelaide, while
in the rural districts there were more than 11,000. There
were 2500 acres under cultivation in 1840. In 1848 there
were more than 8000. The exports were steadily increasing.
The revenue was recovering from depression. The expendi-
ture in 1843 was but a sixth part of that of 1840.

The boon of the new constitution proffered from England
was concurrent with a discovery which was to raise South
Australia from insignificance. A son of Captain C. H.






330 NEW OONSTITUTION ACT IN OPERATION, 1843.

official members. Messrs. T. S. O'Halloran, T. Williams,
J. Morphett, and G. F. Dashwood were the first unofficial
councillors.’®  After a brief period the names of Williams
and Dashwood gave way to those of Hagen and Captain
Bagot, the proprietor at Kapunda. The public were
admitted to hear the debates in the Council. In 1842 the
Corporation of Adelaide and others, and in 1844 six hundred
petitioners, sought the privilege of electing their own repre-
sentatives; but Lord Stanley again postponed the subject
until there might be substantial guarantees of stability in
the colony.

In May 1845 there was a further discovery of mineral
wealth. A shepherd named Pickitt found the outerop of
the far-famed Burra ores about ninety miles from Adelaide.
Limestone abounded at the Burra, and practical miners
who worked there declared that the copper was not found
as elsewhere in a regular lode, but as a mass. Speculators
determined to enter upon the land on a large scale, but at
a cheap rate. If the land should be put up in ordinary
blocks of eighty or a hundred acres competition would step
in. If it could be claimed under the 15th section of the
Land Act (5 and 6 Vict., cap. 86), 20,000 acres could be
secured for £20,000 as a *‘ special survey’’ block. The loss
to the revenue was nothing in the eyes of speculators who
thought of their own pockets. But there was a preliminary
difficulty. The Treasury would demand cash, and there
was not so much cash in the land at the control of
speculators. It was necessary to make the conspiracy so
large that the whole colony became an accomplice in robbing
itself. There were two associations, but neither of them
could scrape together the required sum. One of them eom-
prised the lucky proprietor of the Kapunda mine, with a
few others. They were called ¢ the nobs,”’! and became a
Princess Royal Mining Company. Tradespeople and others
formed a South Australian Mining Association, and they
were called * the snobs.”

'* Parliamentary Papers, vol. xxix. 1846.

" Nobili: smobili: mobili. The last of these exotics has long forced its
way from arqgot into ordinary conversation and books. Thackeray made
the second of them classic. The first was, in South Australia, in such

pride of place that no colonist doubted that it would live in the front rank
of language for ever. "
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were found, and lead and bismuth were also procured.!®
The repulsive wastes beyond Spencer’s Gulf might furnish
wealth. To the north, north-east, and east of Port Augusta,
and far along the Flinders Ridge, copper was so abundant
that it seemed to tempt adventurers to test the cost of pro-
curing and smelting the ore. Before mineral wealth had
swollen the purses and expanded the hearts of the colonists,
they had begun to value the result of the Governor’s
labours. The population forced into the country exraéted
the fruits of the earth. Cultivation increased more than
fourfold between 1841 and 1845 ; sheep more than two-fold,
cattle nearly a hundred per cent. Many former opponents
admitted that the Governor had blessed them by teaching
self-reliance ; and when, to invite commerce, he proposed
a bill to abolish all rates, dues, and charges on shipping, his
Council unanimously approved of it. '

A public meeting was called to thank him for his * able
and diligent administration of the public affairs.” A
laudatory address was carried by acclamation.’® In the
midst of his success he was selected by Lord Stanley to
govern New Zealand. To his honour it may be said that
he was not forgetful of his duty to the natives. He
appointed E. J. Eyre (the explorer), resident magistrate
of the Murray district, ¢‘ where frightful scenes of blood-
shed, rapine, and hostility had been of frequent occurrence.’
Eyre was conversant with the native character, firm, and
kind. During the three years in which he was resident at
Moorunde, not a single case of aggression by the natives
occurred, and ‘‘a district once considered the wildest and
most dangerous, was when Eyre left it (Nov. 1844) looked
upon as one of the most peaceable and orderly in the
province.”!?

'8 It was not uuntil 1860-1 that about 80 miles to the west of the Kapunda
and Burra Mines, at the neck of Yorke’s Peninsula facing Spencer’s Gulf,
the Wallaroo and Moonta mines were found. Eventually they eclipsed
the fame of the Burra-Burra.

' The ddelaide Observer (30th Jan. 1847) pointed out as the result of
Grey’s management that there was at the end of 1848 a surplus of £21,391,
the increase of revenue having been in that year at the rate of nearly 40
per cent. on that of 1845. In 1845 it was £36,000; in 1846, £48,000.

" Vol. ii., p. 149. ¢ Discoveries in Central Australia.” E. J. Eyre.
London: 1845. : T
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minerals and to impose royalties. The Sheriff declined to
call a meeting, and an unofficial member of the Legislative
Council—Bagot —called one. A petition was adopted, in
which reservation of minerals and imposition of royalties
were denounced as a violation of the compact under which
the colonists had immigrated.

. Nevertheless (September 1846), Governor Robe pushed
forward his bill. The official nominees supported, the
non-official opposed him. An amendment to postpone the
bill for six months was lost by the vote and the casting
vote of the Governor. On the motion to go into com-
mittee, the four non-official members left the Council,
which was thus deprived of a quorum. The * patriotie
four,” as they were called, were as popular as their types
had been in Van Diemen’s Land. Morphett, Bagot,
O’Halloran, and Davenport were household words for the
time. It was believed that Robe was no aspirant for
martyrdom, and would give way to the opposition. But
those who trod the soil of South Australia contemplated
with horror the removal of minerals from free access.

All eyes were turned to the prospects of the Crown Land
Sales Bill in the English Parliament. The able Gipps had
sailed for England, and knowing his tenacity of what he
deemed right, men knew not how far his strong will
would prevail if his advice should be asked upon questions
affecting Crown lands.

Before he arrived in England the ministry of Peel had
given place to that of Lord J. Russell, and Earl Grey had
become Secretary of State for the Colonies. As a theorist
on colonization, and an advocate of transportation, his
admirers expected much from him. Charles Buller was
relied upon to aid him, for there was a lurking feeling that
whether from perversity, or want of discretion, Earl Grey
would fail to be a great statesman. With lamentable
deflection from the theory of Gibbon Wakefield to which he
once professed attachment, the new Secretary in a short
Act (9 and 10 Vict. cap. 104), which he called an ‘‘improve-
ment in detail,” abandoned the position so essential to
Wakefield’s system, that while no land should be alienated
without a sufficient price, the annual pastures might be
cropped freely so long as no title to the soil was conferred
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tween the two. Wakefield averred that the Earl's conduct
was ‘ perfectly brutal.”” The letter to Gladstone was not
to be forgiven. Buller strove in vain to pacify the Earl.
Such, according to Wakefield, was the state of affairs when
Earl Grey, in August 1846, proposed to the Lords the
second reading of the Australian Waste Lands Bill.

If he had comprehended, he was in no humour to profit
by Wakefield’s ideas as to the use of natural pastures. He
talked of the difficulty (under the former system of free
grants) of preventing ‘‘ large tracts from falling into the
hands of persons who made no proper use of them.” He
descanted upon immigration, upon exports and imports.
In the interior of New South Wales ¢ the population now
consisted of persons of both sexes and all ages.” They
were without schools, clergymen, or places of worship. A
change was necessary ‘‘to prevent their continuing in a
state of rudest barbarism. . . .”

‘It was thought by his predecessors in office and by himself, that it
would be expedient to allow the squatters and stock-feeders some more
Fermanent interest in the land than they at present enjoyed . .
eases, in fact, for such a period as would induce them to build houses,
form tanks, and dig wells. Noble lords might not be aware of it ; but the
fact was that the land in Australia was greatly affected in its capability
of supporting stock by the quantity of water which it was possible within
a reasonable distance to procure.”

Leases for less periods than fourteen years would be
given. ‘““The late Governor (Gipps) had recommended!®
eight years, and that would probably be the average length

' It was disingenuous o quote Gipps as having ‘‘recommended” any
leases. He opposed them while he could do so. §Vhen he yielded on the
question of pre-emption of limited areas he declined the *¢ onsibility
of recommending the measure,” and retained his objection to leases ‘¢ of
any duration longer than a year.” If he deserved blame, it was because
by the mode of §eali11g with an interest on which all colonists depended
he banded the whole community in its favour, and demands were made in
the colony, and sanctioned by Earl Grey, which were opposed to the
advice of Gipps, and were unjustly described as made on his recommenda-
tion. (Vide in Parliamentary Papers, vol. xxix., 1846, Sir G. Gipps’
memorandum laid before his Executive Council.) It is true that, in 1&6,
Sir G. Gipps thought leases ‘‘ must be conceded.” In like manner Lord
Stanley (Aug. 1845) wrote : ‘‘ Assuming that leases are to be conceded, I
would be glad of any suggestions you can offer to diminish the risk
attendant upon the concession of them.” (Despatch to Gipps.) In Mr.
Hope’s bill the maximum lease permissible was to be for seven years.
Farl Grey expanded the term {o fourteen years. (9 and 10 Vict. cap. 104,
1846; and Orders in Council, 9th March, 1847.)
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the end was to squander a magnificent territory which
might have yielded untold millions for the construction of
public works and the promotion of the public good. The
theory which Earl Grey did not appreciate, or wilfully
deserted, was not likely to prevail in a community where
its tendency was to check the cupidity of those who sought
to possess themselves of the soil without paying a sufficient
price. The glances of the covetous became greedier and
.greedier, their numbers were more and more multiplied,
till in the fulness of time the pernicious cry of “free
selection before survey’” was echoed and enforced.

The evils which Wakefield foresaw, and Gipps dreaded,
were brought about. Scattered afar, remote from schools,
from churches, from mellowing influences of society,
selectors spread like harpies clutching each for himself at
that which should have benefited all. Land which would
have realized £5, or even £20, an acre was seized upon
condition of paying two shillings an acre for only a few
years. The Treasury was robbed, and there was no
guarantee for the fulfilment of the conditions. The in-
vidious position of landlord would add to the difficulties
of governments. All these evils the pragmatic Earl Grey
fostered. His new law was not destined to work so.
injuriously in South Australia as in New South Wales.
The energy of the former had already been turned to
agriculture and mining. The colonists were relieved when
they found that the Act did not, like the bill of 1845 (Mr.
Hope's), menace mineral rights. They had greater reason
to be thankful that their public officers and Governor
Young declined to use the power (conferred by the Act) to
subject runs to leases which would exempt them from sale
when required for public advantage.

But Governor Robe, though he could not wreak his will
into law, anticipated the tactics of a greater man, who, in
1871, unable to carry part of an Army Bill, betrayed a
Parliament by resorting to prerogative to determine a
question previously submitted to Parliament.

On the 4th March 1846 he announced that after that
date there would be reserved as royalty one-fifteenth part
of all minerals raised from lands alienated by the Crown.
The forms of grant were altered accordingly. His conduct
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him ““great pleasure” to forward it. In the following year
a local ordinance (August, 1849) removed the last traces
of the strife. It did justice to Colonel Robe, by reciting
that he had acted ‘“in pursuance of instructions;” it
recounted the gracious concession by Her Majesty, “ to
the expressed wishes of the great body of the community
in South Australia,” in ‘ the free and entire relinquish-
ment of the said royalty or seigniorage,” and (to quiet
titles under the abandoned form of grant) enacted that
they should be construed as if no reservations had been
made in them.

‘The general career of Sir Henry Young will be more
conveniently considered elsewhere, but it may be remarked
that three months after his arrival he passed an ordinance
‘“ to regulate the occupation of Crown lands.” He and his
advisers avoided the rock upon which others ran. In
accepting the provisions of the Waste Lands Act of 1846
they guarded against the evils which were to afflict New
South Wales and Victoria. The colony was to be divided
into two portions, i.e. land contained within proclaimed
hundreds, and land outside of them. In the latter, land
might be leased for pastoral purposes for terms not exceed-
ing fourteen years, but nothing in any such lease was to
interfere with the “right of the Governor at any time to
sell, reserve, or otherwise dispose of the whole or any part
of the land so depastured.” On becoming part of a hundred,
land contained in any lease ceased to be affected by the
lease. The public estate remained free, to be dealt with for
the public advantage. The regulations were sanctioned by
the Queen, and the Order-in-Council necessary to give them
validity was passed. Mr. Charles Bonney, the Commis-
sioner of Crown lands (called upon to report on the subject,
after Earl Grey’s Order-in-Council of March 1847 reached
the colony), defended the principle advocated in South
Australia.® Right of pre-emption was an unnecessary
privilege for runholders, and ““calculated to render the
regulations objectionable to the rest of the community.
Nothing can work better than the system hitherto pursued
in this province of allowing any land applied for to be put
up to auction.” Another Commissioner of Crown Lands,

! Parliamentary Papers, vol. xxxvii., p. 22. 1850.
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form. but the same in prineciple (as those in New South
Wales), were also established under the authority of the
Act of Parliament in South and Western Australia.”” What
he told Sir Henry Young at the time was that he “ readily
adopted the opinions™ of the Governor, and ““of the various
high authorities consulted™ by him.

At Western Australia the word of a Secretary of State
was all-powerful. Governor Fi:zgerald appointed “‘ a com-
mittee of some members of the Executive and Legislative
Councils, with certain other settlers and landed propnetors
of experience and sound judzment, to frame regulations.”
The regulations were sent to England. A curious illustra-
tion of local opinion was shown in the fact that although a
public meeting. convenead to consider the recommendations
of the committee, condemned many of them, it did not
repudiate a provision o give option of purchase to a lessee.
So convineed were the few dwellers in the West that the
town could not hope to prosper by injuring the lessees of
Crown lands, that the meeling recommended that, during
continuance of a lease. the land should “not be open to
purchase by any other persan or persons except the lessee
thereof.” and that the lessee migh: purchase in the mean-
time.

The public meeting was held in July 1849, and the
resolutions were eloquen: of distress.  The propositions of
the Governor’s ecommittee would * cause the gmdusl
depopulation of the setzlemen:.” The ““distressed circum-
stances of the settlers. the continued high rate of shepherds’
wages, the low prive of wool. made it impossible for the
stockholders to eontinze paying the present exorbitant and
ruinous charge for depasturing licenses.” The Governor
was ** strenuously entreazed” to reduce the seale till orders
might arrive from Fngland.

It was not the first time that abandonment of the land
had been seriously debated. Some had abandoned it,
sooking higher wages at South Australian mines. They
who remained watched wis tfully the departers, and the
Governor lamenzed tha: four hundred labourers had
migrated within five vears. They were not numerous
anough to fill 8 ship. but they lef: the market bare. They
wore about a sixth part of the total male population,
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more land than they could sell, and were starving. About
150 Imperial troops were paid and maintained at a cost of
more than £8000 a year, and circulated a little cash. The
Crown land revenue in 1847 was £252. It had been £95
in 1844. The wool exported in 1848 was less than £10,000
in value. It seems like scraping the bones of the dead te
trace the decaying .condition of a community founded in
defiance of economic principles.

But staunch men still laboured at their oars amid the
moiling sea. Governor Hutt never flagged. For seven
years he presided over the colony. He left in December,
1845. For a year Colonel Clarke officiated. On his
death Colonel Irwin acted as administrator—till Captain
Fitzgerald, R.N., arrived as Governor in August 1848. His
report (April 1849) on the condition of the colony indicated
his own resolution rather than the prosperity of the place.
¢ With reference to population, notwithstanding emigration
to a neighbouring colony to a limited extent, and the
abandonment of it by others for various parts of the world,
yet have we increased in numbers. It is true the increase
is small, but, looking at our past difficulties and the general
depression, I do not complain.” He said the ‘ population,
inclusive of military,” was 4622, and had increased in one
year by 92. There was a disparity of sexes, and ‘‘in the
most anxious manner” he entreated that ¢ thirty or forty
young unmarried females between the ages of eighteen and
thirty might be transmitted” to the colony. The revenue
had increased somewhat, but it would be more satisfactory
if part of it had not been derived from ad valorem duties on
imported breadstuffs, ¢ which I hope for the credit of our
farmers will not again be brought to our ports with advan-
tage.”” Magnificent timbers, sandal wood, jarrah, and
others, slept * undisturbed in their native forests for wans
of a market.” Fisheries had yielded ‘ some return.” Oil
and bone of the value of £4000 had been exported, but
there was a want of * vigorous combination,” and ‘ much
to our discredit foreigners have come into our bays killing
fish, crying shame upon our supineness.” The cash
derived from land sales ‘‘ has not this year exceeded £411,”
which “it would be fruitless for this colony to expend
in the transmission of emigrants, while the rate of labours
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Government school at Perth was conducted on Protestant
but moderate principles—‘‘ to ensure which, and to avoid
cavil, religious instruction in school is forbidden to any
clergyman, and confined to the reading the Scripture by
the master, without note or comment.” Fitzgerald, anxious
that his one school should ‘embrace within its fold all
-denominations of Christians,” and tend “toallayall sectarian
bitterness in the rising generation,” offered a seat on the
general Board of Education to Dr. Brady, the Roman
Catholic Bishop, and another ¢ to his clergyman.”

Brady repelled the offer on several grounds. He *‘ objected
in the first instance to sit with two of the members—
Colonel Irwin the chairman, and Mr. Nash the secretary.”
He objected to the schoolmaster. ‘¢ Thirdly and lastly, he
objected to any system of education except that conducted
on the Irish national system.” The Governor  finding it
fruitless to hope for union,” put a sum on the estimates
for separate Roman Catholic schools. A Christian moralist
will be shocked to find that the Education Board reported
that at that very time out of a total of 917 children
(between three and fourteen years of age) only 876 were
receiving education; 232 were taught at ‘‘ colonial schools;”
and 144 at ‘‘various schools;” 541 received no instrue-
tion.?

With regard to the aborigines the government evinced a
more humane spirit than that which prevailed in the East.
The good Roman Catholic Bishop Salvado laboured at New
Norcia. Mr. and Mrs. Camfield, in a private establish-
ment at King George’s Sound, won unqualified admiration.
The government did not shrink from making it known that
they condemned any wrong-doing against the natives.
Salvado® and his brother Benedictines laid the foundation

# In the Parliamentary Papers, vol. xxxiv., 1849, the return shows 239
male and 302 female children as ‘‘not publicly taught, but employed at
home ‘idle and not executed.””” Who so grimly foretold the consequence
of ill-training was not stated. Happily tgle:re were 300 children attending
Sunday Schools at the time. .

¢ Salvado published ‘‘ Memorie Storiche dell’ Australia particolarmente
della Missione Benedettina di Nuova Norcia.” Rome, 1851. In 1879 a
French Benedictine, Berengier, reproduced the work in Paris with a lettep
from Salvado stating that in 1878, forty natives were confirmed at one
time, and that the disciples at New Norcia never returned to savage life
even when quitting New Norcia. ¢ Telle est (says Berengier) Ia race
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advocate of transportation, was the tempter. The boon
rejected in 1845 was accepted in 1849, when the colonists
thought their burdens intolerable.

A keen observer (Mr. Anthony Trollope) visited them in
1871. They had in the meantime received and had ceased
to receive convicts. His verdict was that those who
declared “ that the colony could not have lived without the
questionable boon’’?® had reason on their side. A minority
still clung to the idea that it might have lived without con-
tamination from England. When Governor Fitzgerald
described the colony in 1849 the die had been cast. At a
public meeting presided over by the Sheriff the bitter
potion had been craved for, and the Governor trusted that -
““ with regard” to the high rate ‘“‘of wages”” . . . “the
expected supply of exiles will remedy the evil.” Thus one
obstacle to progress was, in a manner, dealt with. Another
obstacle inherent in the formation of the settlement was
the absence of a class capable of cultivating the land pro-
fitably. Labouring men who reviled Wakefield as an
enemy because he desired that they should begin to labour
under conditions wholesome for themselves and their
neighbours, were nevertheless conscious that something
was wrong in Western Australia. Even sales at half-
a-crown an acre by helpless landowners did not stimulate
agriculture. Landowners and residents, in a capital which
was rather a village than a town, though they had grasped
enormous tracts in defiance of Wakefield’s postulate that a
sufficient (and that a high) price should be paid for every
acre, were equally convinced that something was rotten in
their system.

The remedy resorted to deserves to be recorded in juxta-
position to the plan sagaciously adopted in South Australia.
When Earl Grey asked Governor Fitzgerald to suggest
regulations for applying the Act 9 and 10 Viet. cap. 104 to
the colony, the Governor appointed a committee, and the
recommendations of the committee were denounced at a
public meeting in July 1849. The difference between the
theorists is not so important as their agreement in recom-
mending tillage leases. The Governor approved.

* ¢ Australia and New Zealand,” vol. ii., 94. By Anthony Trollope.
London, 1873. . ’ ’
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It required some hardihood to declare that a shilling an
acre per year was a ‘‘very low rent” in a country where the
fee simple had been sold for less than two shillings and six-
pence an acre; but Earl Grey had been equal to the
occasion. Though there was absolutely nothing in any
other colony faintly allied to the Tillage Regulations of
Western Australia, Earl Grey asserted in his book (1853)
that the rules in that colony were ““different in form but
the same in principle” as in New South Wales.

The contrast between the earlier system of free grants
and the later method adopted for colonizing in Western
Australia is to be seen sharply defined in returns published
in 1870. Under the head of 443 free grants “in right
of location duties performed” were, omitting fractions,
1,200,000 acres. Under the head of purchased lands were
2800 grants, comprising 257,000 acres. More than ten
millions of acres were held under pastoral licenses and
leases. Under 795 tillage leases, 89,108 acres were held.

To the character of Sir Charles Fitz Roy the colonists of
New South Wales were more indebted than was apparent
at the time. Neither did they at first appreciate the
worth of Mr. E. Deas Thomson. By mutual confidence
and by loyalty to their Queen and country, the two men
were fitted for their work. They not only did it well, but,
in their manner of doing it, paved the way for the orderly
working of the ampler representative institutions about to
be established. With Wentworth controlling the bulk of
the elected members, storming against abuses, but profess-
ing to restrain himself within constitutional limits, and
desiring to form as close a copy of English institutions as
circumstances permitted ;—with Deas Thomson suave and
astute, loyal to the Queen, and patriotic as a colonist;—
with Sir C. Fitz Roy ready to assume responsibility when
necessary, but content to leave the man who bore the brunt
of battle to conduct the campaign in his own manner so
long as principles decided upon in the Executive Council
were kept in view;—the public men of New South Wales
were gradually inured to parliamentary methods, and
taught to respect those who laboured in the parliamentary
arena for the common good.
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withheld the Royal assent; reserving for Her Majesty’s
consideration another bill to render certain persons in-
eligible for election to the Council, and to make void the
election of any member accepting an office of profit from
the Crown. In sending his estimates to the Council the
Governor inserted in them the item of the Border and
Native Police, omitted by Gipps in consequence of the
expiry of the Act creating that body. After the exhaustion
of the unexpended balance of assessment in hand, Fitz
Roy said that the maintenance of the Border Police,
whether from the ordinary revenue or otherwise, would
require serious attention. His message was framed in a
conciliatory manner.

On the 7th October, Wentworth held out an olive branch
on the subject of the schedules. Gipps had represented
the Council as claiming a right to interfere with office-
holders, ¢ without reference to promises given, or expecta-
tions held out by the Imperial or local government,” and,
in aid of his statement, had quoted the words used by the
Council. Lord Stanley’s despatch could have smoothed
no difficulty while Gipps confronted the Council. The
Governor sent down his estimates, and Wentworth, after
due notice, carried an address which declared that—
¢¢ perceiving that your Excellency has placed on the estimates several
departments for which provision is made by Schedule A . . . we desire
most respectfully to intimate to your Excellency that being thus called
on to vote a supglement to the services in the said schedule enumerated,
we claim the right, as heretofore, to fix the amount to be appropriated to
every detail of such services, except such as are s;ieciﬁcally provided for
in such schedule. At the same time we respectfully beg to assure your
Excellency that we bhave no intention, in asserting this right, te Em})ose

e faith

alterations in any of the salaries in the said schedule, to which t
of Her Majesty’s Government has already been pledged.”

Such an address might perhaps have satisfied Gipps, but
not to him could it be sent. Wentworth averred that the
change in the government had been one not of men, but of
measures. For the first time the Council had been met
with the cordiality which ought to exist between the execu-
tive and the legislative functions. He was willing to refrain
from interfering with salaries which had been promised.
Cowper supported the address. Deas Thomson did the
same, and believed it would be received in perfect sincerity.
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Sir George Seymour arrived at Geelong with 174 exiles, and
within ten days 165 of them had been hired at wages
varying from £18 to £20 a year with board and lodgings.
Both Gipps and Mr. Latrobe earnestly represented the
urgent need for female immigration to Port Phillip.
Another important point, animadverted upon by Sir G.
Gipps, was to become in after years the ground of serious
-opposition in the Legislature of Port Phillip when it became
the colony of Victoria. Gipps informed Mr. Latrobe that
the introduction of pass-holders from Van Diemen’s Land
was *“ absolutely illegal,” and that they would be liable to
the punishment of persons ‘‘returning from transportation
before the expiration of their sentences,” and he warned
Lord Stanley of the evils which might be brought upon
New South Wales by the arrival of such pass-holders
‘“under authority of pardons issued by the Governor of
Van Diemen’s Land available throughout the Australian
colonies.” Governor Grey at South Australia struck the
same chord. Residents in that colony, and the secretary
to the South Australian Society in London, remonstrated
against such a direct violation of the spirit of the Acts for
the government of South Australia which forbade the
introduction of convicts. Mr. Gladstone (May 1846) would
not admit that a breach of obligation had been committed,
but, ‘‘on general grounds,” so far yielded to remonstrance,
as to direct that the pardons should be so altered as to
enable the holders to remove to any place except to the
country or colony from which they had been transported.
The notice complained of by Governor Grey had informed
holders of conditional pardons in Van Diemen’s Land,
that the Governor there would issue pardons ‘“ extended to
the limits of the Australian colonies and New Zealand.”
Mr. Gladstone by no means appeased public feeling by his
concession. Strong feeling was excited throughout Aus-
tralia by the intention of the Home Government to recur
to the system of pouring criminals into Australia. -
Laboured despatches on the advantages which would
accrue from the new colony, North Australia, proved that
the Colonial Office was bent upon restoring the state of
affairs which had so recently been abolished. The loss of
labour had appeared grievous, but the crisis was past, and
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expression of its opinion that a return to the system of transportation and
assignment would ie opposed to the wishes of this community, and would
:‘l;o:‘);iol:;sg injurious to the moral, social, and political advancement of

Cowper’s opponents vainly endeavoured to shake his
position by proving that he himself had joined in importing
expirees from Van Diemen’s Land to labour on his own
property. When a populace puts a man forward to do its
work, it is utterly careless whether he is consistent with
himself in doing it. Mr. Lowe, who had joined in the
report, abstained from voting when it was condemned.
The surly Wentworth voted in the minority. Neither the
vultus tyranni nor the civium ardor prava jubentium had
terrors for him. Only seven supported the report. It is
merely necessary to deal here with the subject as it affected
the Legislative Council. The final doom of transportation
was of a later date.

The question of immigration was taken up by Cowper in
1847, as soon as the transportation report was rejected.
Petitions to the Queen, and to Parliament, averred that
twenty thousand persons were needed within twelve months,
and urged that a loan of £1,000,000 sterling should be
raised on the territorial revenue of the colony to furnish
immediate funds.

Fitz Roy was thanked for recommending the introduction
of five thousand statute adults at the commencement of
1847, and he promised to support the spirit of the address
to the Queen. He avoided collisions with the Council, buf
was not spared by the Atlas newspaper, which ecriticized
the manner in which he exercised hospitality. Dr. Lang
afterwards devoted many newspaper articles, and pages in
his books, to assaults on the Governor’s private character;
but the public scarcely sympathized with him, for to out-
ward appearance Fitz Roy was courteous and attentive to
his duties, and there was a reluctance to enter on examina-
tion of that private life in which many who attack others
are peccable themselves. The advantage of his loyal
co-operation with Deas Thomson was shown in all debates
in the Council.

Mr. Lowe carried by two votes a motion requesting that
money might be devoted to schools founded on the principles
of Lord Stanley’s national system in Ireland. The Governor
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vehemently contended that leasing the Crown lands was
infinitely better than selling them.

The status of the legal profession was much discussed in
1846. One of the Port Phillip members, a solicitor,
introduced a bill ¢ to abolish the division of the profession
of the lawin New South Wales.? The profession, originally
undivided, had been divided by a rule of court, in the time
of Chief Justice Sir Francis Forbes, and Judges Dowling
and Burton, the latter of whom had, in 1834, by force
of character, given vitality to the rule which his colleagues
had devised before his arrival.

Wentworth, Windeyer, and Darvall opposed the bill, and
Lowe warmly supported it. Failing to throw it out by ¢the
previous question,” Wentworth succeeded in referring it to a
Select Committee, on which he did not place Mr. Brewster,
the author of the bill, though he included Lowe. The
committee reported some evidence, and expressed a hope
that a fresh committee might be appointed in the ensuing
session. It was accordingly reappointed in 1847. - It found
that the Chief Justice, Sir Alfred Stephen, and the resident
Judge at Port Phillip were adverse to the amalgamation.
After weighing the evidence on both sides, the committee
reported in the nervous language of Wentworth, that the
proposed change would be unwise, that it would remove the
legal responsibility for negligence or ignorance attaching to
attorneys, would remove the check afforded by the Bar
against speculative actions, would tend to decrease generally
the skill, efficiency, and character of the professors of the
law, and consequently, by degrading the Bench, impair the
administration of justice. One grievance which might have
led some persons to favour the innovation was, that praec-
tically the Bar had a close monopoly of advocacy. No man
could be called to the Bar in the colony, though attorneys
might be enrolled. It was in the hands of the few who
arrived from the United Kingdom.

The report recommended that the youth of the colony
should be afforded opportunities of admission to the Bar
without being compelled to study abroad. Among general
recommendations was one ‘“ to thoroughly cleanse out that

# Vide Vol. L., p. 620.






8¢ COL. BARNEY AT NORTH AUSTRALIA.

control; and the settlement was abandoned while in
process of formation. It is notable that while the press
was rife with sarcastic comments upon the inanition of the
new settlement, not even the opponents of transportation
viewed it with any misgiving lest its success should further
complicate the convict question. Lord Grey regretted the
expenditure incurred, and Sir C. Fitz Roy urged that
immediate action was enforced upon him before he left
England.

Colonel Barney failed in finding good fresh water at
Port Curtis, but he attributed its lack to a season of
drought. He sailed to Wide Bay, and still was in want of
water. He expended his fuel, and could not replenish his
stores. His failures, and the fact that on the 15th April
1847 he had not fixed upon a site for the settlement, were
of little moment, however, for on that day he received
instructions to return to Sydney, a despatch from Lord
Grey (15th November 1846) having directed Fitz Roy to
break up the establishment of ¢ the colony of North Aus-
tralia.” Fitz Roy, in reporting his compliance, repre-
sented that it would be wise to bring the vicinity of Port
Curtis within the settled districts of New South Wales.
Flocks were being already driven far to the northward of
the 26th degree of south latitude, and he desired to pre-
vent the occupation of the country by ¢ private enterprise
in opposition to the rights of the government.”

It was not, however, until May 1853% that the Governor
was able to despatch a party to conduct preliminary
surveys, ‘‘and to lay out the important town of Gladstone™
at Port Curtis. In 1854 eight counties were provisionally
proclaimed. Three of them were placed in the settled
districts, and five in the intermediate. Captain Maurice C.
- O’Connell was Crown Commissioner of the pastoral district
of Port Curtis and Government Resident at (Gladstone.
Squatters were widely spread throughout the interior on
the watersheds of the Burnett and Dawson rivers, and
town and suburban allotments at Gladstone were sold in
Sydney early in 1854; no one foreseeing that the exigencies
or convenience of the settlers would, in a few years, create

3 Parliamentary Pa.?ers, vol. xliv., 1854. Despatch. Mr. Gladstone
was then Chancellor of the Exchequer.
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sent out three free emigrants should be sent out at the expense of the
British Government. . . If convicts come indirectly from the neigh-
bouring colonies they will be an unmitigated evil, over which we could
have no control or supervision. . . Even my honourable friend, Mr.
Charles Cowper, the champion of the anti-transportation movement,
silently acquiesced in the proposition to introduce exiles. Why then, I ask,
do you raise your voices against me only ? Why am I to be singled out for
obloquy for doing that which all beside have done? Why do you not clamour
down others with this charge? Why do not you, who are most bitter against
- me, affix it on your idol, Mr. Robert Lowe, who was as deeply implicated
in the Transportation Report as I was? . . But this course would be
inconsistent with the persevering injustice of my opponents. All, all the
blame in the matter is to be visited on me as if I were the beginning and
the end of all legislation upon it. I will not say I despise the clamour
which has been raised against me, for I respect the riggt of the people
‘to express their opinions on every subject ; mt I will say I despise the
equity—the spirit of that people who can heap this clamour on my naked
head alone. . . . I contend that this clamour is not only unjust
towards me in particular, but that it is utterly unreasonable in itself.
I contend that the tenour of the Transportation Report was against the
resumption of transportation, provided it could be discontinued aﬁtogether.
. + . It has been said that I have misrepresented and slandered the
Irish. It is true that in a certain debate in the Council I did denounce
the Irish murderers—those branded ruffians who, in some of her counties,
were polluting her soil and blasting her fame with the blood of innocent
and unresisting victims. In vhe full abhorrence and detestation of my heart
I denounce these men, not only as the destroyers of human life, but as the
assassins of Ireland’s good name. Some of the best blood in my veins is
Irish, and who will venture to tell me that I am bold enough or base
enough to calumniate the land of my father ?”

He had been charged with opposing a reduction to a £5
franchise, which in 1889 he had advocated in the Australian
Patriotic Association.

¢¢Iwill descend to no deceit with you on this subject, and though at the
date of that report I was favourable to a very low franchise I could not
now conscientiously support its reduction. (Disapprobation.) I know
these sentiments are not popular, but on this subject at least I will speak
the whole honest truth, for I will not have it said when I have taken my
seat that you returned me under false colours. With a changing,
migratory population like ours—-with people frequently residing but a
short time in one place, I must look upon the £20 franchise as low enough.
But I would reduce the freehold franchise to £10, and extend the franchise
to £20 leaseholders all over the country. From the remarks that have
fallen from you this day it is easy for me to infer that the squatters are
no favourites among you. I am a squatter, and I tell you that your pre-
judices against the squatters arise from your ignorance of your own
interests. Whatever may be your present opinion of fixity of tenure
(under Earl Grey’s Orders-in-Council of 1847)—however you may cavil at
the right of pre-emption . . . if I am the fortunate possessor of these
things it is you I have to thank for them, and to none do I owe more

atitude in this respect than to your especial favourite, Mr. Robert Lowe.

ere is no person whose speeches, whose writings, whose reports have
had one-half so much weight with the Home Government in the con-
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-on the squatting question suffered change. I will not here say that the
change in those opinions was not bond-fide ; but this I will say—however
strong the convictions that led to that change; however well founded
they might be; however just the principles he was induced to adopt, it
was the duty of Mr. Lowe to return to the community of squatters who
had elected him, and telling them that he was no longer able con-
scientiously to support their interests, to have tendered his resignation of
his seat. This is the course every high-minded, honourable man would
have taken. But not so with Mr. Robert Lowe—he forsook the principles
which returned him, but by retaining his seat choused the constituency of
Auckland and St. Vincent out of their right of representation. What
claim has a man like this to your confidence; a man who has betrayed
every constituency which has yet trusted him? I remember too that I
once had the misfortune to be the subject of his eulogy. Only two years
ago this man heaped praises upon me ;—designated me, in his eloquent and
insidious flattery, ‘the great son of the soil.’

‘“Now, however, this parasite of the moment tells you that I am not
worthy to represent any constituency of this colony. This is the con-
sistency of the eloquent Mr. Lowe! But it surprised me not—it will not
long surprise any one. Long ago I felt the deep conviction that, havin,
had to bear his praises, I must soon be doomed to bear his bitterest an
most envenomed censure. The principle of the man’s life is change, and I
could not expect him to be constant to me alone. But I did not expect
that an old comrade—one who had fought side by side with me the battle
of the country, against tyranny and oppression, would have made a
treacherous détour to stab me in the back. I could not have expected
that this detraction, this misrepresentation, this calumny, even though
issuing from the lips of Robert Lowe, should have been uttered in my
absence. But this is the honour,—this is the principle,—this is the
generosity of my present opponent.

I will not detain you much longer. When five-and-twenty years a;

I devoted myself to public life I knew full well the vicissitudes of pubﬁ:
opinion to which it was exposed, and I was presm.red to encounter them. I
knew the proverbial inconstancy of the popular gale ;—that the breeze
which filled my flowing sheet to-day, might become a head wind to-morrow.
I had learned from the unerring history of the past. that whilst the
misdeeds of public men are graven on brass, the records of their virtues
and services are traced on sand. I had been instructed by the same stern
teacher that the lauded patriot of to-day —the benefactor of his country
and his kind—might be the despised exile of to-morrow. I foresaw too
that in a shifting population like this, where circumstances and intereste
were in & state of rapid transition, I should be particularly obnoxions to
events of this description. But with all this knowledge of the fate
to which public men are so often subjected, I now fearlessly submit
myself a second time to the ordeal of your opinion. ¥From that
tribunal T know there is no appeal; but I am content to rely on
the merits of my public life. If you consider that life has

devoted to your service, if you consider my labours have not been
unfruitful of good, to this our native and adopted country you will
not on this occasion leave me in the lurch. (Cheers, and cries of No, No.)
But whatever your verdict may be with regard to myself, if it be the last
public service I am to render you, I charge you never to forget your tried,
devoted, indefatigable friend, William Bland. No man has ever served a
country in a purer spirit of patriotism, no man ever more deeply deserved
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and in most cases he was antagonistic to the formation of
a national school. Selfishness is a master passion, and
the system which encouraged it had organized machinery
at command. Each local congregation worked for its
managing head at the metropolis. The national system
had warm friends, but they were without cohesion. The
new board forwarded their rules to the courts of petty
gessions sprinkled throughout the interior at rising town-
ships and villages. The rules were exhibited, but were
almost unnoticed. Only in one or two places, where an
influential resident took up the cause, was there any
response to the invitation. Friends feared that after
long contention for the grant it would lapse for want of
claimants. Enemies of united education rejoiced. In 1849
the board appointed two agents, who were to act as
inspectors. To one? was assigned the district of Port
Phillip. The early death of the other cast upon the Port
Phillip agent the necessity of returning to Sydney and
establishing and inspecting schools throughout the colony
from Moreton Bay toPortland Bay.

When explained at public meetings the system was
heartily welcomed. Applications for aid in building poured
in upon the board, and zealous friends of united education
hoped that the day of divided communities and dissipated
funds was over as regarded elementary schools supported,
or in part supported, by the State. The enemies of united
education began to tremble. Local contributions for build-
ings were freely given. One-third was required by the
rules. School fees were gladly paid. How some in humble
life showed *‘spirits finely touched to fine issues,” one
instance may suffice to tell.

A poor washerwoman, whose husband was a seafarer in
the coasting trade, sent her eldest boy to a national school;
he prospered there. There was a rule under which, if

# The author. On referring to old papers he finds a letter from Mr.
James Macarthur, of Camden Park, which it may be pardonable to
quote:—* It has occurred to me that such an appointment might not be
unacceptable to yourself. Should this be so I X: not know where the
Board could meet with any one better qualified from general information,
together with knowledge of the country districts and of the habits of the

people, and above all from your having, as I believe, devoted much atten-
tion to the subject of systematic and national education.”
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rules declared that, ‘“as the religious instruction of the
children is under the control of the clergyman or lay person
communicating it with the approbation of their parents,
the Commissioners can give no liberty to any other visitor,
whether clergyman or layman, to interfere at all upon the
_subject.”

The instruction within the ordinary schools?® was deeply
imbued with religious sentiment, and conveyed much Bible
History. Who must bear the blame of the comparative
failure of a national experiment with which the mass of the
people were ready to co-operate, and which succeeded,
wherever tested, throughout the land, from Moreton Bay to
Portland Bay? Some guides of religious denominations
denounced in season, and out of season, any attempt to
support schools except those under their separate control.
The numerical preponderance of the Church of England,
and the influence of its able representative, Bishop
Broughton, with whom few of its members would have
desired to place themselves in antagonism, gave factitious
prominence to his pronounced opposition, steady and con-
sistent from the first proposition in 1836, to the practical
experiments in 1849. Many of his clergy were as active as
himself. The Roman Catholic body were in an anomalous
condition. In Rome, in those days, the Pope would not
allow a few Protestants to assemble for religious worship
in a private house. No church could exist for Protestants
within the walls. No religious teaching could be obtained
except such as the successor of the infallible sinner Borgia
might permit. If others should mete to Roman Catholics
abroad the measure enforced by Roman Catholics for long
centuries in Rome, the outery would be great.

But abroad the claws of the Vatican were not exhibited,
and velvet paws stroked Protestant governments to slumber.

The Roman Catholic subjects of the Queen. were as
charitable and as willing as others to avail themselves of
the united schools if not banned for doing so. All would
have gone well if from the first the prominent members of

# The Irish National School Books of the day (1848) were used. They’
comprised four volumes of Scripture Lessons, Sacred Poetry, Lessons on
Truth of Christianity, and much religious teaching interspersed in the
various Books of Lessons.
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incompatible with efficiency or economy. * In the fulness of
time, notably in Victoria, the warning became a true
prediction. , 4

- It may be well at this stage to refer to a strange
repudiation by settlers at Port Phillip of their constitu-
tional rights and duties. On the 20th July 1848 the
returning officer held a meeting for the nomination of
candidates in Melbourne for the Legislative Council.. Five
members were to be returned for the electoral district of
Port Phillip. A former member declared that the repre-
sentation in Sydney was a mockery, and therefore he would
not stand. One candidate, Mr. J. V. F. Foster, was pro-
posed, but after a short time his proposer and seconder
withdrew his name and the writ was returned blank. One
member was to be returned for Melbourne. Mr. Foster was
nominated (25th July), and the repudiators of representa-
tion, unable to stay his election otherwise, proposed ‘the
Rt. Hon. Henry Grey, Earl Grey in the peerage of Great
Britain.” A poll was taken, which gave 295 votes to Earl
Grey, and 102 to Mr. Foster. Protests were made against
the reception of votes for Earl Grey on the ground that he
was incapacitated for election by being a member of the
House of Lords, by being unqualified according to the local
law, &ec., &e. The returning officer, the majyor, averred
~ that decision on the protests did not rest with him but with
the government, and the writ was returned with the name
of Earl Grey.

A public meeting was held (81st July), and an address to
Earl Grey was adopted in justification of the course adopted.
He was told that his name was “held in the greatest respect
throughout the proceedings,” which were intended to prove
that Port Phillip elections were a farce. Mr. Latrobe
regretted the ‘‘improper, impolitic, and absurd” result,
and feared that the difficulty of governing so impulsive a
community as a distinet colony would be greatly enhanced
if the control of affairs should be taken from a Governor,
Executive and nominee Council, and a representative body
should be substituted for the latter. The law officers in
Sydney were of opinion that nothing in the Constitution
Act prevented the election of a peer of the United Kingdom,
and that it could not be assumed that Earl Grey was not
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There was one redeeming feature. Mr. Lowe, who had
supported the separation of Port Phillip, declined to
associate himself with those who refused to exercise their
franchise.

With the establishment of reasonable relations between
the nominee representatives of the Governor in the Legisla-
tive Council and the elected members, much of the peculiar
interest which attached to the creation of an electoral body
in 1843 disappears. Enough has been said to show how
in each colony the body politic grew and was modified.

The questions of occupying Crown lands,and of their sale,
have been touched upon sufficiently to show their different
treatment in different provinces. In Van Diemen’s Land
there was no real difficulty. In South Australia prudence
had prevented one. In New South Wales and Viectoria.
dragon’s teeth had been sown, and the rush of gold-seekers
was about to exacerbate strife. By the side of the land
question was the exciting topic of transportation. About to-
control all methods of dealing with public affairs was the
subject which, under the head of ¢ Alterations in the Con-
stitutions of the Australian Colonies,” fills volumes of Blue-
books, and occupied men’s minds from Moreton Bay to Swan
River, and in Van Diemen’s Land.

It may be well to trace briefly the course of events. How
Wentworth led the way ; how the callow South Australia
chirped in concert soon after it was hatched ; how even
convict-burdened Van Diemen’s Land claimed to elect its
law-makers, has been seen. Even the cygnet of Swan
River sang the same song beforeit was fledged or could pro-
cure its own food. In 1835 about * one-third of the adult
male population’® claimed its ‘‘ right of returning represen-
tatives by suffrage.” The mild Lord Glenelg replied: ¢I
cannot conceive that in its present state the colony is fitted,”
&c. For a time the aspirations of colonists were lulled, if
not contented, with the new constitutions established under
Lord Stanley’s Acts in 1842. The experiment was made in
New South Wales. The power to make it was not put to
use in South Australia. Van Diemen’s Land stood apart.
Yet in 1885 and in subsequent years there were petitions, and

3* Despatch. Governor Stirling to Lord Glenelg. 15th October 1835.
(Parliamentary Papers, vol. xxix., 1846.) .
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the Sydney Legislature, in which the representatives and
the nominees sat in one chamber, did not justify its con-
tinuance. The new Constitution would aim at founding
municipal institutions, and make them bear the relation of
constituents to the House of Representatives. Some method
would ‘‘be devised for enabling the various Legislatures of
the several Australian colonies to co-operate with each
other in the enactment of such laws as may be necessary
for regulating the interests common to those possessions
collectively.”

The subject of imposing discriminating duties in any
Australian colony on goods, the growth, produce, or manu-
facture of any other Australian colony (submitted by Sir C.
Fitz Roy in-September 1846), would be provided for by the
creation of ‘“a central legislative authority for the whole of
the Australian colonies.”” Earl Grey’s despatch was pub-
lished for the information of colonists, and provoked a
storm of opposition. A great meeting was held in Sydney
(January 1848). Men of various callings denounced the
scheme for depriving existing electors of their rights by
transferring their functions to the municipal representa-
tives. Distriet Councils were odious in their eyes. To
construct other similar bodies was repugnant to their
wishes, and hostile to their interests. They besought the
Queen not to assent to any change in their Constitution to
which the general body of the colonists had not assented.
The mayor presided. Among the early speakers was Mr.
James Martin (afterwards Chief Justice), who battered
down, with the authority of Story (the great jurist) and of
Edmund Burke, the sophistries by which Earl Grey had
endeavoured to justify the strangling of the elective prin-
ciple. Mr. Stuart Donaldson moved: ‘ That the proposed
measure will have the effect of depriving the colonists of
the elective franchise, which we maintain to be our inalien-
able right as British subjects.” Richard Windeyer had
passed away, but Donaldson evoked a storm of applause by
recurring to Windeyer’s labours in ‘¢ battling for that free-
dom which we have now gathered together to protect.”
Wentworth warned his countrymen against the disastrous
effects portended by Earl Grey’s scheme. Unhappy France
was bound in chains by similar means. ‘ Tell the Minister
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ing with the Australian problem. The report was made on
the 4th April 1849.3¢ It recommended separation of Port
Phillip, under the name of Victoria; and with the boundary
proposed in 1840 by Gipps and his Executive Council. It
would commence at Cape Howe, pursue a straight line to
the nearest source of the river Murray, and follow the
course of that river as far as the boundary which now
divides New South Wales from South Australia.” To bind
Earl Grey to keep the peace, the Committee availed them-
selves of his assurance to Sir C. Fitz Roy that in effecting
changes in the Constitution of the Legislature it was ‘“not
incumbent on the Legislature at home to press them on an
unwilling or even on an indifferent people.”” This ‘‘lan-
guage, in the wisdom of which we entirely concur, will of
course be regarded by your Majesty as an engagement to
which it is necessary strictly to adhere.” As custom
appeared to have attached the colonists to one House, em-
bodying nominated and elected members, it would be
unwise to do more than to enable the local Legislature to
resolve their single chamber into two, in New South Wales,
and to afford like facilities elsewhere.

Her Majesty would thus afford free scope for public
opinion everywhere. On one point they would withhold
authority to effect changes. They objected to unrestrained
power in “a subordinate Legislature,” to enlarge or alter
““any of the constitutional franchises conferred on it by
Parliament, without either the express or the implied
assent of the Queen, Lords, and Commons, of the United
Kingdom.” Changes in one colony might
ssaffect the interests of other British settlements, adjacent or remote.
They may be injurious to the less powerful classes of the local society.
They may be Bgrejudiqial to your Majesty’s subjects in this country, or
they may invade the rights of your Majesty’s Crown. We think, therefore,

that no Act of any Australian Legislature which shall in any manner
enlarge, retrench, or alter the Constitution of that Legislature

or which shall be in any respect at variance with the Act of Parliament or
other instruments under which the Legislature is constituted, ought to be
of any validity until expressly confirmed and finally enacted by your

Majesty in Council.”
The Distriet Councils existing (in point of law), might
for practical purposes ‘‘be regarded as extinet.” Yet

. % Parliamentary Papers, vol. xxxvii. 1850.
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period. If other Churches should thereafter be endowed
by a Legislature, there should be additional provision, so
that no deduction might be suffered by any of the four.
They did not propose to set apart any sum for public
worship in South Australia and Van Diemen's Land, but
to provide that the new Constitution should not interfere
with any laws extant therein. As to the large proportion
of the revenue of New South Wales withdrawn from the
control of her Legislature by the Civil List, and denounced
so often by Wentworth, they could not conceal their
‘“ opinion that these complaints are not without some
foundation.” They would enlarge the power of the local
Legislature, would in the first instance appropriate a sum
¢ for those services, which it would be inexpedient to leave
to be provided for by annual votes,” and would accord to
Legislatures full power to alter such ‘‘appropriation by
laws to be passed in the usual form.” Instructions should
be given to Governors, restraining them from assenting to
such laws without authority of the Crown.

¢ Men who have abandoned other prospects for the purpose of accepting
colonial eng)loyment, which they had reason to expect would be per-
manent, and who have since faithfully discharged their duties, must be
regarded as having claims which rest upon the ground of public faith,
and on contracts which on their side have hitherto been strictly fulfilled,
to retain their present salaries or to receive adequate compensation for
their loss.”

They foresaw a difficulty which in after years justified
their prediction.

¢“If, when Victoria shall have been separated from New South Wales,
each province shall be authorized to impose duties according to its own
wants, it is scarcely possible, but that in process of time differences
should arise between the rates of duty . . . So t would be the
evil, and such the obstruction of the intercolonial trade, and so great the
check to the development of the resources of (New South Wales, South
Australia, and Victoria), that it seems to us necessary that there should
be one tariff common to them all, so that goods might be carried from one
into the other with the same absolute freedom as between any two
adjacent counties in England.”

Van Diemen’s Land should be included under the
““uniform tariff”’ established by Parliament, with a proviso
deferring its operation for a time. Alteration in the tariff
might be entrusted to an authority created ‘“to act for all
those colonies jointly.” With that view the Governor of
New South Wales should be made Governor-General, and
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normal and natural state—a weather-beaten island in a
anorthern sea.”

Joseph Hume proposed reforms, which by equalizing
electoral districts numerically, would have rooted out the
distinction between the English polity and that of the
clubs of Paris in 1798. Irish prisoners, confident in the
clemency they abused, demanded to be executed or released.
and a bill was passed in a day to relieve Lord J. Russell
from an Irish dilemma. Lord John thought it fit to dis-
claim the name of ¢ Finality John,” while he opposed the
charter of the mad Feargus O’Connor. The Roman
Catholic Bishop M‘Hale denounced the Established Church
a8 ‘“ base and damnable,” and poisoning the minds of the
young with “loathsome and soul-killing doctrines.”

Standing more by the strength of Lord Palmerston than
by their own, the Ministry might fairly plead ‘‘ urgent
affairs” as an excuse for not maturing their colonial
legislation. The colonies had furnished matter for reflec-
tion. The instigators of rebellion in Canada in 1837-38
had risen to power in the Parliament at Montreal. Com-
missions had been appointed to report upon rebellion
losses, and various Acts had been passed. In 1840 the
object in view was to compensate those who had sustained
loss in capturing or suppressing rebels. In 1849, Cartier,
Papineau, La Fontaine, Francis Hincks, Sauvageau,
appeared in a majority of more than two to one, insisting
on compensation for losses sustained by rebels in being
suppressed. Vainly did Sir Allan MacNab and others strive
to confine the compensation to those ‘‘ not implicated in
the rebellion."”

The bill passed the Assembly (9th March 1849) by forty-
seven votes against eighteen, and when Lord Elgin, the
Governor-General, gave the Royal assent to it, on the 25th
April, he was hooted. The Parliament was routed, and
the House of Assembly was burnt. The Montreal Gazette
called on Anglo-Saxons to drive away the puppet who had
made ‘“ rebellion the law of the land.” Ministers’ houses
were attacked. It was by advice of Earl Grey and Lord
J. Russell that a civilian superseded Lord Cathcart as
Governor-General, and Earl Grey had communicated
didactically his opinions on responsible government before
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In the same year the Cape Colony denounced and averted
Earl Grey’s attempt to land convicts at the Cape of Good
Hope. Australian questions were also raised. Mr. Francis
Scott moved for a select committee, with the object of
enlarging the functions of local Legislatures, and Mr.
Hawes replied. Mr. Gladstone concurred with much which
fell from Mr. Hawes, but protested against that gentleman'’s
doctrine that Parliament had ‘no right to act upon any
question which the Legislature of the colony was discuss-
ing. . . . I hold that freedom is the principle on
whlch our colonial policy ought to be founded, but at the
same time that freedom must necessarily confine itself to
local concerns, and Imperial questions it cannot and ought
not to touch.” Sir William Molesworth and others
spoke, and Mr. Scott’s motion was rejected by 81 votes
against 34.

On the 16th June Sir W. Molesworth presented a
petition from persons in New Zealand, and contributed an
essay, rather than a speech, in moving that the Queen be
asked to appoint a commission on colonial complaints. He
designated the communities in Australia as * the offspring
of convict emigration, more hideously vicious than any
recorded in sacred or profane history,” and spoke of ¢ con-
vict emigration one day abolished to the joy of the colonists
of Tasmania, the next day renewed to their horror and
amazement.” He did not explain how, if the community
was such as he described, it could feel horror or amazement
at the sight of English criminals. After speaking for hours
he “hoped he had succeeded in giving the House a clear
notion of the object of his motion.” Mr. Hawes stated that
Sir James Stephen had drawn up the report of the Privy
Council, and he declared that Sir W. Molesworth’s proposi-
tion was ‘“‘a dream and a delusion.” Mr. Gladstone asserted
that the House of Commons was ‘‘entirely at sea with
respect’”’ to the Australian Land Sales Act of 1842, and
supported the motion. Sir W. Molesworth’s motion was
rejected by 163 votes against 89.

Earl Grey wrote in August 1849 that he proposed to
bring forward a bill in 1850 which would, with one excep-
tion, be substa.ntla.lly the same as that of 1849. He would
omit the provision for an uniform tariff, inasmuch as,
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Mr: J. E. Denison strove to insert a clause to give the
management of waste lands to each colony, but was beaten
by nearly three to one; and the bill passed on the 18th
May, after having attracted more attention than Australia
had received since Pitt annexed it to the dominions of the
Crown. In the House of Lords, Lord Brougham pre-
sented a petition from persons who asked to be heard at
the bar, and moved that they and Mr. F. Scott be heard.
Earl Grey opposed Lord Brougham’s motion. The other
petitioning persons included Mr. Robert Lowe, who had
shaken the dust off his feet, and left the colony full of
admirers of his talents and distrusters of himself. Lord
Monteagle entreated the House to hear the petitioners, but
it refused to do so. The Bishop of Oxford (Wilberforce)
essayed to hamper the progress of the bill by a reference
to a select committee. He contended. for two elected
chambers. . He declared that the franchise in the bill had
been fixed too low. He denounced as mischievous the
framing of a Constitution with provisions enabling, and
thereby inviting, colonists to try their 'prentice hands in
disorganizing it at once. The great object ought to be
to repraduce England abroad—* to send out representa-
tives of her various ranks and orders.”

Earl Grey replied to the Bishop. *“ As to Mr. Lowe, he
happened to know that he had tried to get up a public
meeting before he left and had failed for the reason, as
stated in one of the papers, that the people did not trust
him in consequence of his political tergiversations.” He
admitted that the power to form a federative council (con-
demned by the Bishop) was ‘“‘no vital part of the measure,”
and Lord Stanley applauded the admission. The last-
named nobleman declared that he would not oppose the
progress of the bill if Earl Grey would consent to the sepa-
ration of Port Phillip, would extend to Van Diemen’s Land
and other colonies the existing institutions of New South
Wales, and would reserve for Parliament power to make
such arrangements with regard to a second chamber as
might be desirable. But he objected to the federal clauses
framed ‘ without adequate information.”” He condemned
the extravagance of demitting to ‘“a single legislative body
in a colony” the power of ‘‘determining whether there
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On the 14th June, Lord Stanley failed (on a division of
28 against 22) to strike out the ‘‘ rash and perilous innova-
tion ” by which the bill provided for a General Assembly
consisting of the Governor-General and a House of dele-
. gates from each colony. But Earl Grey lowered the house-
hold franchise from £20 to £10; and enfranchised the
licensees on Crown lands. The House eventually elimi-
nated the federal clauses, and the third reading was carried
on the 5th July.

On the 1st August, Mr. F. Scott opposed in the Commons
the Lords’ amendments. Mr. V. Smith did not object
to the elision of the ¢ federal clauses,” but pointed out that
in the Commons they had been carried * by a majority of
six to one.”” Lord J. Russell proposed that the House
should agree to the Lords’ amendments. Mr. Gladstone
objected to the ¢‘false principle of hoping to check
democracy by influences from home. He wished to check
democracy in New South Wales; but he wished to see
it checked by stable institutions springing from the soil
rather than by influences from the Crown, and enactments
from Downing-street, which only tended to give a more
wildly-democratic character to the feelings of the people
and to weaken the ties which should bind the colonial
community to the mother country.” He protested against
the measure. Mr. Roebuck protested also; but the Lords’
amendments were adopted, and on the 5th August the bill
received the Royal assent.

The fate of the District Councils so dear to Gipps was
remarkable, and forms an instructive chapter in the
history of institutions and of Englishmen. The seeds of
local government, which not even the Norman Conquest
destroyed, germinated with the recovery of a national
character, when the Conqueror’s successors found it need-
ful to rely upon the people in contending with their great
feudatories. A great writer®” has shown that the cohesion
of the Saxon nation was greatest in the lowest ranges, and
that thence sprang the vigour with which the people were
compacted under the Norman rule which was strongest at
the top. In the colonies there was no such cohesion, and
there never had been. The English township, with its

¥ Bishop Stubbs,






394 EARL GREY AND AUST. COLONIES GOVT. STATUTE, 1850.

through evil and good report in England, exempt from
no taxation, and sharing with all classes the burdens of all
public duties. The crude remark of Earl Grey that an oak
tree 800 years old could not be transplanted, deterred
neither him nor others from sowing some seeds which were
to produce fitting fruits in after years in the colonies. He
would not plant the acorn in the hope of adorning the
Southern Hemisphere with the oak, but he aided those who
cared not how many tares he mingled with the harvest
which was to be reaped. Knowingly or unknowingly, he
lent himself to the task of sowing the seeds of democracy in
the Australian colonies. It mattered not to him that the
one great jurist and statesman whom the colonies possessed
had raised a warning voice at the general election in Sydney
in 1848, and declared that with the ‘‘ changing migratory
population” a £20 household suffrage was low enough, and
that only the freehold suffrage should descend so low as £10.

Earl Grey jauntily cut down the general suffrage to £10..
Degradation of the suffrage to the uttermost was hastened
by his act. He either did not comprehend the blessings
which England had derived from encouraging worth by
hereditary honours, or he ignobly grudged to the colonies.
the grace and glory of an institution which, though it might
be stained by unworthy members, had ever maintained by
its general character the truth of the proverb that noble:
birth constrains to noble deeds.

The cant of that liberalism whose aim is to destroy the-
ancient institutions of England was in the heart as well as
on the lips of Earl Grey. He enlarged the basis of the future
folk-mote of Australia, but did nothing to ensure the exist-
ence of a Witenagemot.

It were a vain study now to search the records of the
time in order to ascertain who were his chief followers. It
is at least certain that Lord Stanley (who died as the Earl
of Derby in 1869) was not an accomplice. If there was any
feeling that a small copy of a House of Lords might bring
its prototype into contempt by serving as a caricature, it
was unwisdom to yield to it. Rather should the members.
have reflected that if the colonies should prosper under an
alien form of government the cry might be echoed back to
English shores, “ We have discarded hereditary rank and
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Council was to consist in that colony, and perform the
same task for Victoria. On the issue of the writs for the
first election there, separation was to be deemed complete.
One-third in each house was to be nominated by the Crown.
The existing Legislatures in Van Diemen’s Land and South
Australia were to decide as to the number of members in
the new House in each, but they were not to exceed
twenty-four. Western Australia was put off until it could
defray its own expenses.

The Act reserved a Civil List® providing for the Governor, *
the Judges, some Departments and Pensions, and for
Public Worship, in New South Wales, Victoria, and Van
Diemen’s Land. With regard to South Australia the Act
omitted the items of Pensions and Public Worship. Any
bill altering the Civil List was to be reserved for significa-
tion of Her Majesty’s pleasure. All the colonies were
expressly disabled from interfering with the Crown lands
or the revenues derived therefrom. In each colony bills
might be passed constituting separate legislative Houses,
but all such bills were to be reserved for Her Majesty’s
pleasure.

Besides separating Port Phillip and adopting the boun-
dary recommended by Gipps in 1840, the Act removed the
existing restriction (5 and 6 Vict., cap. 76, sec. 51) which
prevented the detachment from New South Wales of any
territory southward of the 26th degree of south latitude.
It brought the possible boundary-line of a northern colony
four degrees nearer to Sydney. The 26th degree enabled
New South Wales to retain Moreton Bay and Darling
Downs, with millions of acres in the interior. The 30th
degree would detach the Clarence and Richmond Rivers
and a large space of the watershed to the Darling from the
parent colony, which had spent time and labour in occupy-
ing them. Men wondered where the process of dlsmem-
berment would be stayed.

Some balm was supposed to be poured into the wounds
of the mother colony by the appointment of her Governor

3 For New South Wales the total was ... £73,500
For Van Diemen’s Land . ... 41,900
For Victoria ... . ... 14,600
For South Australia ... . 13,000
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historian declared that  the decorations in the windows
expressed the triumph which had been gained over Sydney,
and the gratitude that the colonists felt to the Queen and
the Home government for affording them even a tardy
release from political oppression.” It was proposed to raise
a lasting memorial of the event, but the exuberance of the
people prevented any agreement as to the form of the
memorial. When separation was consummated on the 1st
July 1851, that day was made a holiday, and was observed
with diminishing pleasure until it seemed after a quarter
of a century to be lightly esteemed. It was remarked as
significant, in 1851, that Edward Curr, styled the  father
of separation,” died on the day after Melbourne learned
that his object was accomplished.

Earl Grey with a light heart despatched the New Con-
stitution Act to Sir C. Fitz Roy and other Governors.
Premising that ‘‘changes in an existing colonial Constitu-
tion ought not to be made without very strong reason by
the Legislature of the mother country,” and that ¢ there
was no reason whatever to believe that the community (in
New South Wales) were dissatisfied”’ with their existing
Constitution, or that the Legislature had *failed in its
duty to its constituents,” he announced that the Imperial
Parliament had lowered the elective franchise. His
assigned reason was that ‘if the same franchise was to
be fixed for the several colonies at the outset (and any
other course would have been manifestly inconvenient) it
was thought objectionable to establish one recognized as
too high.” It required some effrontery to write thus when
the last returns sent to him from Van Diemen’s Land
showed a large proportion of conviet population, and he
was earnestly plotting the increase of transportation of
criminals thither. He endeavoured to lighten the blow of
dismemberment of the northern portion of New South
Wales by explaining that the government had ‘‘ no interest
in promoting the formation of any such new colony;” that
it was requisite to have the power, but it would only be
“‘exercised on petition from the householders of the terri-
tory affected.” As to the Civil List, he pointed out that
only the salaries of the Governor and judges were deter-
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the Ministers of the Crown ; that, whilst in defiance of the Declaratory
Act (18 Geo. III. cap. 12, sec. 1), which has hitherto been considered the
Magna Charta of the representative rights of all the British plantations, a
]&r%f amount of our public revenue is thus levied and appropriated by the
authority of Parliament, we have not even the consolation of seeing that
portion of it, which is applied to the payment of the salaries of our public
officers, distributed as it ought to be among the settled inhabitants; and
that as a fit climax to this system of misrule we are not allowed to exercise
the most ordinary legislation which is not subject to the veto of the
Colonial Minister.”

Thus circumstanced, on the eve of their dissolution they
declared and remonstrated against their grievances, be-
queathed their redress to their successors, and solemnly
protested :

¢¢ 1st. That the Imperial Parliament has not, nor of right ought to have,
any power to tax the people of this colony, or to appropriate any of the
monies levied by authority of the Colonial Legislature ; that this power
can only be la.wgully exercised by the Colonial Legislature, and that the
Imperial Parliament has solemnly disclaimed this power by the Ac¢t 18
Geo. III., cap. 12, sec. 1, which remains unrepealed.

*“2nd. That the revenue arising from the public lands, derived as it is
mainly from the value imparted to them by the labour and capital of the
pe:)iple of this colony, is as much their property as the ordinary revenue,
an ou(fht therefore to be subject to the like control and appropriation.
¢ 3rd. That the Customs and all other departments should be subject
to the direct supervision and control of the Colonial Legislature, which
should have the appropriation of the gross revenues of the colony from
whatever source arising ; and as a necessary incident to this authority, the
regulation of the salaries of all colonial officers.

““4th. That offices of trust and emolument should be conferred only on the
settled inhabitants, the office of Governor alone excepted ; that this officer
should be appointed and paid by the Crown ; and that the whole patronage
of the colony should be vested in him and the Executive Council, unfettered
by instructions from the Minister for the Colonies.

¢ 5th. That plenary powers of legislation should be conferred upon and
exercised by the Colonial Legislature for the time being; and that no Bills
should be reserved for the signification of Her Majesty’s pleasure unless
%wy affect the prerogatives of the Crown or the general interests of the

mpire.

“pSolemnly protesting against these wrongs, and declaring and insisting
on these our undoubted rights, we leave the redress of the one and the
assertion of the other to the people whom we represent and the Legislature
which shall follow us.”

 With a contempt for the letter and a large comprehension of the spirit
of the law of 1778, Wentworth scorned to notice that it referred in terms to
America and the West Indies. ‘‘From and after the passing of this Act
the King and Parliament of Great Britain will not impose any duty, tax,
or assessment whatever, payable in any of His Majesty’s colonies, pro-
vinces, and plantations in North America or the West Indies, except only
such duties as it may be necessary to impose for the regulation of com-
merce. .
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and not to give one a preponderance prejudicial to any
other. My own opinion is that all these interests are
mutually dependent on and beneficial to each other, and
that to give to each its fair share of representation must
be to advantage all.” To Westgarth he retorted: ¢ Let
those who refuse to be governed by the constitutional
principles of England go away from this colony which Eng-
land has founded and peopled.” To Langhe said :

¢ If that immortality (which Lang had said Thomson had missed) is only
to be achieved by pandering to t%ose democratic principles which the
honourable and reverend member professes—if it is to be gained only by
the surrender of those constitutional principles which it has always
my pride to uphold, I regret not the loss of such an immortality. I could
only have obtained it by a gross dereliction of my duty to my Queen, to
the government I serve, and to the public at large. Throughout the long
career I have pursued in the public service of this colony it has ever been
my study to promote the public welfare; to deal with every public
measure without favour or affection to any man ; to conduct myself alike
to all of whatever party, creed, or denomination; to do justice to the
poor man as well as to the rich. And while I believe that none will deny,
and many will attest, that these have been the princiiles of my &at
official life, I boldly assert that these principles, and these only, have
actuated me in the preparation of this measure.”

With the elaborate calculations by which Deas Thomson
convinced the House that what he had done was good for
the country these pages need not deal. The Governor for-
warded to England his minister’s speeches as published by
request of the Governor and of
‘‘respectable and influential persons. The only merit I can claim is the
having assisted in determining and concurred in the principle that property
and population combined, and not population alone, was the basis of
representation best adapted to the social state of this community; and
that the representation of the rural districts should be kept as separate
as practicable from that of the towns. To Mr. Thomson belongs the .
entire credit of having framed the bill and worked out its details, as well
as having so ably advocated them when before the Council.”

In proportion as Sir C. Fitz Roy’s words declared the
truth that in Deas Thomson the colony had possessed un-
consciously a wise and honourable statesman ; in the same
proportion did the self-seeking and envious fume against
that statesman’s apparently successful policy. Earl Grey’s
bill had, by reducing the franchise to £10, inspired Dr.
Lang and his followers with high hopes. The adjustment
of the representation on principles which forbade the pillage
of the industrious by the misguided votes of the idle, stirred
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the proposal did ‘‘not fall directly within the objects for
which means of sending out emigrants” to New South
Wales had lately been raised, yet Earl Grey, sensible of the
importance of the project, would endeavour to aid it *“if an
association should be actually formed for trying the cultiva-
tion of cotton, and should agree to purchase lands belong-
ing to the Crown on such terms as would be compatible
. with the existing law.”” But he could not ¢ begin by pro-
mising to send out the people, leaving it to be afterwards
settled whether the body upon whom they were to be
dependent would be organized, and would require the land
upon which they were to be employed.” In a subsequent
despatch (Dec. 1847), Lang was informed that the ar-
rangements he proposed were ‘‘altogether inadmissible.”
On further application he was told (April 1848) that Lord
Grey could ‘“not depart from the decision intimated in
December.” If, however, enterprising persons should
desire to proceed to Moreton Bay to acquire land they
could by depositing money with the Emigration Commis-
sioners ensure the transit of an equivalent number of suit-
able labourers. These facilities did not suit Dr. Lang. It
‘had ever been his habit, whether as trustee for church
or school, to handle other men’s money, not for the purpose
of hoarding it, but as accessory to the maintenance of his
position. He took money in defiance of Earl Grey’s refusal
to accept his proposals, and (Sept. 1848) wrote that he
had sent out emigrants. He asked the Earl to recom-
mend the government in Sydney ‘‘to allow bounty” on
them. Mr. Hawes (Oct. 1848) replied®—

¢ You have already been acquainted with the general rules which have
been laid down as to the conditions on which alone any aid from public
funds can be granted towards the conveyance of emigrants to Australia,
and of the reasons upon which those rules have been adopted. You have
not, however, thought fit to conform to them, and therefore Lord Grey
considers it necessary, for the protection of the public interest, to decline
to order payment for any persons who have been sent out, not only with-
out the previous sanction of the government, but in disregard to those con-
ditions to which I must again refer you.”

Lang nursed his wrath for a time. An open quarrel
with the Colonial Office might have marred arrangements

y 8;0 New South Wales Legislative Council Proceedings, vol. i., p. 454.
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The Manchester Chamber of Commerce lost no time in
telling Earl Grey that they had utterly condemned the
#tone and sentiments” of Lang’s ‘‘intemperate letter.”
Lang meanwhile having returned to Sydney, and been
elected member for Sydney in 1850, asked the Legislative
Council to appoint a select committee to investigate Earl
Grey’s charges against him. An amendment to appoint
such a committee before which Lang himself might appear
‘“ personally or by counsel” was debated and withdrawn,
and Lang’s motion was rejected. But though unwilling to
make Lang a juror on his own delinquencies, the Council
thought it becoming to do something. Mr. T. A. Murray
moved that the House having heard Lang’s explanation
was of opinion that he had failed to exculpate himself.
Wentworth obtained an adjournment of the debate in order
that ‘“all official documents connected with a land order
for £850” might be put before the Council. On their
production Lang was heard,* and a resolution was passed
to enable him to remain in his place during the debate
(on the 20th Aug. 1850). On the following day he was
heard again. The final resolutions (on the motion of
Wentworth) condemned Lang’s conduct as fraudulent and
discreditable.®* Lang had few supporters in the House,

s There was a difficulty about his proper qualification. Part of it was
based on the Australian College Building, with regard to which his con-
duct has been told. He attempted to escape the difficulty by appendin
a note to the effect that two of the four College Buildings were recogni:
as ‘“in equity ” his personal property, but that he hoped ‘ eventually
through the revival of the College to reconvey the same to the Institution
for the purposes for which they were originally intended” (Legislative
Council Proceedings, New South Wales). 1850.

4 He spoke for two hours and a-half.

* The resolutions were—* That this House having been invited by the
Rev. Dr. Lang to ascertain whether there are any, and if any, what
foundations there are, for the charges recently preferred against him by the
Right Honourable the Secretary of State for the Colonies in his despatches
. .. and having considered these despatches and the circumstances
generally connected with them, and having heard the Rev. Dr. Lang in
explanation, is of opinion that there are foundations for such charges, and
particularly—1. That the Rev. Dr. Lang having been warned by com-
petent authority that any immigrants sent out by him contrary to the
regulations in force for the conduct of emigration to these colonies,
would not be entitled to any remissions in the purchase of land—induced
many persons, nevertheless, to pay him for their passages at rates above the

current price, and to emigrate under the impression that they would be
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1851 in Sydney, Dr. Lang vented his spleen upon Deas
Thomson and Wentworth, who had sanctioned the resolu-
tion condemning his proceedings with regard to land orders
in 1849. His arguments may be illustrated by one of
them. In 1870, he published* a ‘‘brief sketch” of his
parliamentary life and times. He then stated that Went-
worth had only ‘‘assumed the character of a patriot to
gratify his own personal pique” against Governor Gipps,
who in 1840 had denounced Wentworth’s New Zealand land
claims ‘““as utterly unparalleled in the annals of jobbery.”
Yet Wentworth’s speech on behalf of his claims was as
public as that of Gipps in reply, and long afterwards Lang
had been Wentworth’s obsequious parasite.

At the elections held in New South Wales in 1851 the
reduction of the franchise by Earl Grey produced fruit.
In 1848 not all the labours of those who were aggrieved
against Wentworth on the subject of transportation, not
all the mercantile influence of Mr. Lamb, not the eloquence
of Lowe, the efforts of Parkes, nor the intrigues of the
hangers-on of Lang (who was absent), could keep Went-
worth from the head of the poll in Sydney. In 1851 three
members were to be elected. Lang*® was at the head
of the poll, Lamb second, Wentworth third. The former
idol of the people had been dethroned. They were not the
same people in one sense, for the suffrage had been degraded
by Earl Grey. But Wentworth had polled fewer votes in
1851 than had been recorded for him in 1848. Lang
revelled in his pride of place, but, aping humility, attributed
his success partly to the triumph of those liberal principles
which were ‘‘the hope of long-oppressed and suffering
humanity.” But he declared from the hustings that if more
thana thousand Scotchmen had not migrated to the recently-
fonnd goldfields at Bathurst, Wentworth would have been
rejected altogether. Even as it was the ¢ towering talent”
and ‘“distinguished intellectual qualities” of Wentworth
made the ‘“spectacle of coming in third best’” melancholy.

7 J. L. Sheriff. Sydney. 1870.

‘¢ The numbers were: —Lang, 1191 ; Lamb, 1015; Wentworth, 991 ; A.
Longmore, 900; Charles Cowper, 870. In 1848 they had been 1168 for
Wentworth; 1012 for Lowe; 950 for Lamb; and 874 for Bland. Earl

Grey’s reduction of the franchise had done much. After 1851 the influx
of gold-seekers was to do more.
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the close, the speaker touched upon his increasing years,
and the improbability of his again seeking their suffrages,
the workman who had implored for a hearing for his
countryman, with many others, was in tears.

Thus were electoral wars waged in New South Wales
under Earl Grey’s imposed suffrage. There was still a
property qualification required for a member, and Lang—
advised that if he should declare himself the owner of the
buildings of which he had so strangely possessed himself,
they might be seized by creditors—feared to take his seat.
To the leisure afforded by his imprisonment for libel in
1850 he added that of a voyage to England, and in a third
edition of his ‘‘History’ declared that though constituents
offered to relieve him from liability, and enable him to take
his seat, he ‘‘respectfully declined the assistance thus
offered,” because it did not become ‘‘an advocate for
popular freedom and the rights of man to be under
pecuniary obligations to his constituents.” It will be
understood that in that ¢ History’ there is no mention of
the pecuniary assistance he received from Wentwerth,
Bland, and others to enable him to retain his seat in
18438.4

At the remaining elections in 1851 many former mem-
bers were again returned. The familiar name of Macarthur
reappeared with Macleay, Martin, Cowper, Murray, Nichols,
and others. Sir C. Fitz Roy added to the official nine—
which included Deas Thomson, Plunkett, W. M. Manning

.4 A specimen of Dr. Lang’s style may be given. Writing to the Empire
newspaper before going to England, he expected some Parliamentary
action in England, “‘in consequence of discovery of gold in this territory,”

. and ‘“we have nothing to expect from an.}'thing of this kind
but the grossest injustice, usurpation, and oppression.” .. “cifitis.
attempted to continue to perﬁvetr&te the present Constitution . . . it
will be got rid of, and in all likelihood with violence, within five years
from the present time, and a system of government in which Great Britain
will have nothing to say, be established in its stead.” Being a man of
peace he deprecated ‘‘ the necessity of such a catastrophe” . . . but
he would not tolerate) the existing Constitution. ‘I think it is both the
interest and the duty of the inhabitants of this colony to ignore the present
Council in any agitation for Constitutional reform. In the Electoral Act
under which the present Council has been constituted the people of the:
colony have been regularly swindled by the ¢ Artful Dodger,” the Colonial
Secretary and his honourable and learned pal who has so long misrepre-
sented the metropolis.” The letter was reprinted in the Argus (18t January
1852) in Melbourne. .
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That Her Majesty’s advisers might ‘ have no excuse for
the continuance of these abuses” . . . we unhesi-
tatingly declare that we are prepared,

‘“ upon the surrender to the Colonial Legislature of the entire manage-
ment of all our revenues, territorial as well as general, in which we include
mines of every description, and upon the establishment of a Constitution
similar in its outline to that of Canada, to assume and provide for the
whole cost of our internal government, whether civil or military, the
salary of the Governor-General alone excepted, and to grant to your
Majesty an adequate Civil List. . . .”

Deas Thomson called for a division, but twenty-one
votes carried the proposed petition to the Queen. Seven
officials found one non-official nominee voting with them.
Sir C. Fitz Roy told Earl Grey that the petition was
supported by the ‘‘ general and deliberate opinion of the
most loyal, respectable, and influential members of the
community,” and suggested the desirability of acceding
to it.

The Earl (Jan. 1852) replied at great length to the
Remonstrance of May 1851. He impeached the claim of
the colonists to control the waste lands of the Crown.
““The 4000 inhabitants of Western Australia’ might with
equal justice put it forward. After arguing courteously
against other claims of the Council, he trusted ‘ that,
however this explanation may be received by those who as
members of that body adopted the declaration, their
constituents will be more disposed to weigh the considera-
tions here advanced " Under what theory of
government the remote minister could thus affect to look
beyond the local Parliament for public opinion in the
colony the Earl did not deign to explain.’® Fortunately,
he soon disappeared from the scene.

By retributive justice a militia question became the
weapon which drove Lord J. Russell from power, as he had
by trickery driven Sir Robert Peel, in 1846, on a Protection
of Life Bill. But the great Commoner was gone. He had
died in 1850, having proved by patriotic conduct in the
House how far he was above all selfish aims. Lord J.

3 In his work on the *“ Colonial Policy of Lord J. Russell’s Administra-
tion” (1853), Earl Grey averred that the Council in its Remonstrance had
¢¢ fallen into errors, both of reasoning and of fact, so obvious” that it must
have been ‘‘ drawn up under the influence of excited feelings.”
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for weal or woe, they were empowered to mould their
destinies. Copies were sent to Victoria, and to South
Australia, in order that there as well as in New South
Wales the inhabitants might avail themselves of Went-
worth’s labours. The gravity of the question was admitted.
The unparalleled condition of affairs arising from the dis-
covery of gold, the ¢ signal evidence of the fitness of the
New South Wales people to regulate their own affairs,”
called for serious attention to the Remonstrance. The con-
trol of the Customs, and the distinction between local and
Imperial subjects of legislation, were touched upon as
matters to be fairly considered when represented specifi-
cally. On appropriation of moneys levied by authority of
the Colonial Legislature, and administration of waste lands,
the Government were ‘ready to accede to the wishes of
the Council and of the colony, in a spirit of entire confi-
dence.” The gold revenue had, by his despatch of June
1852, been placed at the disposal of the Legislatures in New
South Wales, and in Victoria. The whole of the Crown
lands’ revenues would be surrendered by the Crown, *‘after
those changes have been effected in the Constitution which
are adverted to in the petition.” . . . -

“On the receipt of Her Majesty’s advisers of such a constitutional
enactment . . . with a Civil List annexed to it in accordance with
what I understand to be the intention of the Legislative Council, they
undertake forthwith to propose to Parliament such measures as will be
necessary to carry into effect the entire arrangement, namely, the repeal
of the Land Sales Acts, and the requisite alterations in the Constitutional
Acts, and the schedules annexed to them. In order to avoid misunder-
standing, I wish to state that such a Civil List should provide for the
maintenance of the salaries of the principal officers of the government at
their present rate until altered by Act. The Governor, Judges . . .
are clearly within this description, but I must leave it to yourself and the
Legislature to decide what other functionaries have claims to a similar
position. The sums appropriated to pensions and to public worship should
also be maintained.”

The despatch conveyed other gratifying assurances.
New South Wales and Victoria, protesting against trans-
portation, had declared ‘““no doubt with truth that, with
the temptation of goldfields within their limits,” it would
be impossible to preserve themselves from contamination.
Van Diemen’s Land entreated that she might ‘ no longer
be made the receptacle of the criminal population of the
mother country.” . . .
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and his sagacity was to a great extent lost at a critical
period. The Secretary was upright and amiable, and had
a sense of duty which would, when aroused, prompt him to
make any sacrifice. The Attorney was able, energetic, and
both in mind and body strong for work. He wished well
to the country, and devoted to it unsurpassed energy. The
Treasurer was honest. The capacity of the Collector of
Customs was limited to the department in which he had
risen by plodding. Events imposed a difficult task on the
newly-created Government. The discovery of gold and
proof of the Californian methods of obtaining it had been
made in New South Wales in May 1851. The same methods
were successfully applied in Victoria ; and before the Legis-
lative Council was summoned for the despatch of business
(11th Nov. 1851) confusion in all ordinary industries was
dreaded. Farm, shop, and street, poured adventurers
to the goldfields. The convulsion existing, and the pros-
‘tration apprehended, would tax the powers of a competent
Administration inured to its task. It remained to be seen
whethet it was competent, and it was without experience.
Among the elected members there was believed to be much
ability. Mr. John O’Shanassy had been prominent as a
member of the Melbourne Corporation, and was a diligent
student of public affairs. Mr. Fawkner had also been busy
in the City Council. Eager in the exposure of abuses, he
was looked upon as likely to use his position with effect.
He affected the rough simplicity of William Cobbett, but,
having no constructive power or breadth of view, his career
became chiefly that of a carper at abuses. Yet he was in
some degree a terror to evildoers, and was sober and just in
his personal dealings.

The effect of the discovery of gold, which communicated
a shock to the system of each neighbouring colony, deserves
special treatment; and as the administration of Crown
lands in New South Wales and Victoria was intimately
bound up with the consequences of the irruption of hun-
dreds of thousands of gold-seekers, it is convenient to post-
pone that subject also. Matters affecting the Australian
colonies at large must be dealt with in relation to their
general effects rather than in separate notices of each
colony.
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The early craving for representative institutions in Van
Diemen’s Land has been recorded. In March 1848, Earl
Grey told Sir W. Denison that he hoped at once to submit
a bill which would provide for a Representative Assembly
for the island. The startled Governor promptly reported
that an “essentially democratic spirit actuated the mass of
the community,” and that there must be an Upper Chamber
to protect the colony. Its members, in order to. ensure
their independence, ought to be * appointed or elected for
life.” When resistance in Sydney crushed Earl Grey’s first
scheme, he sent the report of the Privy Council on the
subject to Sir W. Denison, and told him that Van Diemen’s
Land would receive a Constitution similar to that existing
in Sydney. The Governor argued stronglyagainst a single
chamber, prone by nature to grasp at executive power.
He reiterated his advice that if a change were deemed
needful for Van Diemen’s Land ‘““a second chamber should
be constituted at once by authority of Parliament.”
Although Sir W. Denison, with regard to transportation,
found favour in Earl Grey’s eyes, the latter would not be
guided by him in framing a Constitution, and answered his
arguments in a voluminous despateh (11th April 1850).

The result was that, in order to create ‘‘a form of
government suited to the circumstances and state of
society” in the colony, the Earl determined to force upon
it the form existing in Sydney, with a degradation of the
suffrage from £20 to £10 which, in spite of its condemna-
tion by Wentworth, Earl Grey grafted on his bill in the
House of Lords in 1850. Lest there should be any doubt
about Earl Grey’s proclivities or his willingness to
jeopardize life and property in the colony by entrusting
their control to a class containing a large number of
emancipated convicts, Earl Grey took measures to make
his intentions clear.

Lord Stanley’s Act, 1842, conferring the franchise (£20)
in New South Wales, provided that no man should be
entitled to vote who had been ‘‘ attainted or convicted of
any treason, felony, or infamous offence,’”’ unless he shall
have received a free pardon or one conditional on not
leaving the colony, or shall have undergone the sentence
or punishment adjudged, &c.” The provision was retained
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1851 in such quantity as, by social convulsion on the spot,
and rapid rush of immigration from abroad, to shake
society to its foundations. The good sense of her leading
men averted the mischief which would have been entailed
by adoption of Farl Grey's original Land Regulations (1847)
in South Australia. If gold had been discovered in that
colony there would have been nothing in the Land Regula-
tions to incommode the community. As Earl Grey
gravely asserted that ‘‘regulations different in form but
the same in principle were established’” under the Waste
Lands Act in ‘“New South Wales, South, and Western
Australia,” it is open to his friends to defend his veracity
at the expense of his understanding, by alleging that he
never comprehended the principle (advocated by Gibbon
Wakefield, and insisted on in South Australia) that while
the natural pasturage should be freely and cheaply avail-
able, the license to use it should confer no right to
bar a public sale of the freehold when required by the
State.

That Earl Grey’s Orders-in-Council (9th March 1847)
would be a stumbling-block was singularly proved by an
incident in the life of the despised aborigines. Though
their tribal right was collective and common over their
domains, there were instances in which, from repeated
residence at or near the same spot, a man or a family was
recognized as having acquired special adscription to one
place, and cursory observers mistook it for separate owner-
ship. Tribes sometimes resorted so regularly to the same
spot for fishing or hunting purposes, that if ownership
could anywhere be recognized by man, the Australian title
was indefeasible. In the mountains amongst the sources
of the Murray and Tumut Rivers, periodical visits were
made to feast upon the larve of a large moth found in
myriads. In Queensland, where the Bunya Bunya® {ree
abounded in a special district, different tribes assembled to
eat the large beans found in the cone of the tree. To each
tribe common consent assigned a certain tract. On the
Barwon River, a Commissioner of Crown Lands, Mr.
Mayne, discovered a place where, by skilful disposition of
large stones in the rocky river-bed, the natives had con-

8 Araucaria Bidwillii,
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secure access of the natives ‘‘to lands remaining in an
unimproved state.” Her Majesty by a new Order might
meet the case. It was not congenial to Earl Grey (who
had in 1846 striven to abrogate all hunting and fishing
rights of the Maori race) to adopt words which would
directly preserve rights of the weak Australians.

* A new Order-in-Council 5 enabled the Governor to insert
in a pastoral lease conditions, &c., such as might seem to
him requisite ‘ for securing the peaceful and effectual
occupation of lands comprised in such leases, and for pre-
venting the abuses and inconveniences incident thereto.”
It might safely be predicted that as the Earl refused to
declare that the native rights deserved respect, they would
not be respected. He coolly told the Governor that the
provision would enable him “ to prevent the injury to the
public which would result from the absolute exclusion of
natives or other persons travelling or searching for minerals,
and so forth.”” It was known that on the skirts of settle-
ment many persons were taking their own method of
excluding natives, by shooting them. Earl Grey was not
altogether ignorant of the fact, for in commending to the
Governor % the protection of the natives, he added, ¢ The
evil of occasional depredations and acts of violence between
settlers and natives in these outlying districts is one which
it is vain to expect can be wholly prevented.” His new
Order-in-Council (18th July 1849) contained a provision
which made pastoral leases transferable, and rendered it
more difficult than before to withstand the efforts made in
the colony and in England to convert the temporary
pastoral license into the equivalent of an assignable
freehold.

There was a general provision in the first Orders-in-
Council made under the Waste Lands Act (1846), which
was mainly a repetition of former regulations, and which
wl;;s relied upon to preserve the Crown rights. Nothing in
the

¢ Regulations or in any lease to be granted under the powers hereby
vested in the Governor shall prevent the said Governor . . . from
making grants or sales of any lands within the limits of the run or lands

8 By the Queen. 18th July 1849.
& Despatch, 11th February 1843. Parl. Pap., vol. xxxvii. p. 76. 1850.
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South Wales and in Victoria. Mr. Latrobe, who shrank
from no labour, and in numerous journeys on horseback
had become thoroughly acquainted with the territory, saw
at once how dangerous it would be to deprive the Crown of
power to sell land, except in satisfaction of the pre-emptive
claim of-the pastoral lessee in Port Phillip. In New South
Wales the squatting districts were far removed from the
metropolis. The barrier of the Blue Mountains had to be
passed before such districts could be seen. The unseen
interior excited no cupidity. In Victoria, where the land
was richer and less broken by sterile tracts than any
within 150 miles of Sydney, a man might ride from
Melbourne or Geelong and find himself ere sunset among
homes of the squatters. Mr. Latrobe, while Superin-
tendent, B?rotested against the evils he was not powerful to
prevent.

The division of the colony into settled, intermediate,
and unsettled districts did not meet the case. In Sydney
the settled districts comprised the nineteen contiguous
counties then existing, and two reputed counties (one
including Port Macquarie, and another the town of Bris-
bane at Moreton Bay); embracing also lands within 10
miles of Bathurst, Ipswich, and a few other places at the
Clarence and Richmond rivers, &c. The intermediate
districts contained other counties about to be formed
before 81st December 1848. The unsettled districts con-
tained all other lands in the Sydney or Middle district.
In the Port Phillip district, the settled district contained
lands within 25 miles of Melbourne, within 15 of Geelong,
and within 10 of Portland and Alberton. Belfast and
Warrnambool were subsequently added on the recom-

mendation of Sir C. Fitz Roy (by an Order-in-Couneil, 11th

% Mr. Latrobe struggled in vain to prevent a large *‘special survey”
from being taken up near Melbourne. The acuteness of the buyer

revailed with the Sydney government, and 28,000 acres passed from the
grown, at the price of £1 an acre, within a day’s ride of Melbourne.
It is not worth while to dwell on the particulars, though they engrossed
attention at the time, and led to a discontinuance of the system of selling
such special blocks. The buyer applied again for a similar block, but
Mr. Latrobe told Earl Grey that as the district was ‘‘ on the point of
separation” from New South Wales he ¢‘ assumed authority” and refused
to allow the purchase. Parliamentary Papers, vol. Ixiii., p. 89. 18583.
Sir J. Pakington approved.
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districts were petty in Port Phillip, and the bulk of the
territory was to be subject to the fourteen years’ leases,
and the pre-emptive claim of the lessee was a bar against
sale to other persons. No one at that date weighed the
probable consequences in the event of a large immigration,
and a craving to acquire land.

In 1848 the discovery of gold in California drew away
some colonists to America. In that year Mr. Lowe was
enabled, by Parkes and others, to oust Dr. Bland from the
representation of Sydney. Under these circumstances, Mr.
Lowe, not having then a prospect of a career in England,
affected deep interest in the colony, and stepped forward as
a leader. In moving for a Committee on the management
of Crown lands in 1849, he omitted Wentworth’s name. A
ballot was demanded by a Port Phillip member. Went-
worth’s name was chosen, and that of Lamb (Lowe’s other
colleague) was rejected. The report was a laboured con-
demnation of the upset price of £1 an acre, fixed by Lord
Stanley’s Act of 1842. Its language was far more measured
than it would have been if the Speaker (Sir C. Nicholson),
Mr. James Macarthur, Deas Thomson, Charles Cowper, and
Edward Hamilton had been voiceless. Wentworth, in-
dolently or contemptuously, hardly attended at the inquiry.

There was a prevalent misunderstanding and distrust of
Gibbon Wakefield’s theories. The report declared, and no
doubt the committee believed, that the high price had
destroyed the land fund, and that a low price (5s.) would
restore it. Experience has shown that the committee was
wrong, and that where the highest price was fixed, in order
to attain Wakefield’s ‘‘ sufficient price,” there (Canterbury,
New Zealand) the most ample fund was obtained, and there
also unexcelled prosperity was seen. The error of the
committee was a warning to theorists, who dogmatize
about practical affairs.

¢ Instead of these expensive and burdensome leases, the price of land
should be reduced to 5s. an acre; the squatter should be permitted to
remain in occupation of his run on the present terms till required for

sale ; instead of his present worthless right of pre-emption he should be
allowed a pre-emptive right at a rate of not less than 5s. an acre* over

% Had this jejune proposal been adopted, hundreds of thousands of
acres which were afterwards sold at from £2 to £11 an acre would have
been bought at 5s.
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(that a squatter had no right of pre-emption, but only an
option) ; the Attorney-General in Sydney, on other grounds
(public utility or convenience), held that the government
could sell the land. The latter (Plunkett) hinted at future
complications, when he recommended that ¢ care should be
taken when the lease to Messrs. Moore and Griffiths is pre-
pared that those sections be specially excluded.” He
seemed to imply that the Crown would be powerless for any
purpose of public utility, to sell any land after its inclusion
in a pastoral lease.

The Sydney government resolved that the sale should be
held, the title be guaranteed, and the objectors warned
that they would be prosecuted for damages for any pre-
judicial action. But on further inquiry it was found that
the government could not so summarily determine the rights,
or inchoate rights, of applicants for leases of land legally
held under pastoral license, and in December Plunkett and
Foster (Solicitor-Geeneral) gave a joint opinion that, prior
to issue of a lease of the land in question (under Earl
Grey’s land orders), and its expiry or determination, by
notice in the manner provided—*no portion of it could be
legally put up in the way suggested.”

At Colac, in 1848, Mr. J. P. Robinson objected to sale of
land. Mr. Latrobe urged that the district ‘‘ ought certainly
to be included in the intermediate lands,’”” and ¢ never to be
included in any lease granted to Mr. Boyd (Robinson’s
senior partner);” but in 1849 Mr. Latrobe’s hands were
weakened by a decision in Sydney, that the land in ques-
tion could not be sold.

The unhappily-placed Latrobe strove in 1849 to induce
his superior officer in Sydney to cause the ¢ settled districts
in Port Phillip” to be extended. In 1850 he pleaded that
the decisions already announced were ‘unfavourable to
the public.” Individual enterprise was checked, and the
gradual development of the country had been ¢ seriously
retarded, the public interests and requirements being tem-
porarily set aside, and made subservient to what must
in truth be considered the private interests of individuals.”
Thus wrote the man who was afterwards pertinaciously
assailed as the contriver of wiles to deprive the public of
access to the lands of the Crown. Intelligent he was, and

.
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be, not the minimum of £1 per acre, but what Mr. Latrobe
might reasonably have expected from public competition.

If ever there was a case in which the government was
justified in adhering strictly to its power, the Kyneton case
was one. Deas Thomson could not have forgotten the
promptitude of Governor Gipps, who in 1841 was appealed
to by Governor Hobson about a contemplated allotment of
lands at Wanganui by the New Zealand Company. ‘You
will without loss of time (wrote Gipps) direct the police
magistrate at Port Nicholson to notify in the most public
manner possible that no such selections will be acknowledged
by Her Majesty’s government.” He sent a copy of his
letter to the magistrate to preclude delay, with an order
““to act upon it as soon as it shall reach him.” Such a
spirit was required in Australia in 1850. But it was
not there.

Mr. Latrobe was roused to more than usual resistance.

¢“ I have been totally unprepared for such a decision, and entertaining
as I do so different an imgression of the spirit and intention of the
Orders-in-Council,* and of the consequences of any such construction as
that given to them in this instance by the law officers of the Crown, to
the welfare of the district, I am justified in hesitating to carry this
decision into effect, and urging upon his Excellency the propriety of a -
reconsideration of the question.”

He urged that the only advantages which pastoral
licensees could fairly claim was ‘‘assured occupation for
depasturing purposes solely for a certain term,’ proper
encouragement to become purchasers, and compensation
for improvements which might fall into other hands. The
government was bound to exercise freely the power to make
reserves by means of which public land sales might be
provided for. )

The law officers in Sydney said that Mr. Latrobe’s letter
“gdded to their doubts,” but that they were struck with
his assertion, resulting from local knowledge, that the
claims of the Kyneton squatters were overruled by a strong
public necessity. They unhandsomely suggested that as
Port Phillip was about to be separated, Sir C. Fitz Roy
might evade a decision and leave the difficulty for the future
government in Victoria.

§! Vide p. 440, infra.
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stayed altogether the scattered seekers must have room for
their feet, and the camp-followers needed to supply their
wants must be near them. The law officers announced that
the first half of the words quoted were to be construed by
the ejusdem generis rule.

They could not be strained beyond the purposes
enumerated previously in the Order. Roads, railways,
recreation-grounds, quay sites, landing-places, sites for
mineral shafts, church and school sites could give little help
to a Governor who had to provide for immigrating thou-
sands. But the law officers, aware of his difficulties,
thought to cut the knot by dividing the sentence. ‘ Other-
wise facilitating the improvement and settlement of the
colony,” though conjoined in the Order-of-Council, might
be disjoined and made totally distinct, so as to allow ¢ the
progressive expansion of the colony.” They might ‘‘ reason-
-ably suppose that the framers of the Orders’ had such an
object in view. The creation of inland towns being
demanded, ‘“‘the Governor, when satisfied of an absolute
necessity, would be justified in selling or reserving for
immediate sale such portions of the lands in the interme-
diate and settled districts as may be required for the forma-
tion and support of those towns or villages.” But
““ without reference to the sites of towns or villages, or
present and pressing public requirements,” they were of
opinion that it would not be in accordance with correct
interpretation of the section,

“nor within the spirit of the Orders-in-Council,” “‘to reserve for sale por-
tions of land in these districts, with the view of meeting the prospective
wants of the community. Power to make such reserves would in effect
place merely at discretion the right of the occupant to a lease for a certain
aumber of years so clearly recognized by the Orders-in-Council, and
thereby frustrate the principal object for which those Orders were
framed.” ¢‘The lands to which we have alluded are not subject to the ]i::
emptive right of the occupant, nor should they be included in a lease, but
until an actual sale the possession of such occupant should not, as we con-

ceive, be disturbed.”

The deliverance of such an oracle was cold comfort for
the Governor. It denied to him the exercise for the public
weal of powers which he was ambiguously told he pos-
sessed. Towns or villages would no doubt spring up, but
he was not to reserve lands to meet their prospective wants.
It was only by wide and sweeping reservations that * the
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persons prayed that the leases might be withheld until
proper representation might be made to the Queen, and
the Orders-in-Council might be altered and adapted to the
circumstances of the colony. It is unsatisfactory to notice
that neither in Victoria nor in England was there any
authoritative statement that all which was required was to
adopt the system sanctioned in South Australia—not
coupled with the wild disorder of free selection before
survey which was at a later date resorted to in New South
‘Wales and Victoria, but with a sober administration of the
Crown Lands Department by a government judiciously
meeting the wants of purchasers in appropriate distriets.
On 28th July 1852, Mr. J. P. Fawkner moved an address
requesting that the boundaries of the settled distriets
might be enlarged so as to include the whole of the inter-
mediate districts together with all country in which gold
could be profitably worked.®® Mr. W. Rutledge, an elected
member, moved as an amendment that ‘‘leases be immes
diately issued to the occupants of Crown lands, to bear
date on the 7th April 1848, in order that the lands may be
opened for sale under the Orders-in-Council of 9th March
1847, in quantities to meet the demand of the increasing
population of the colony.” The amendment was carried
by eighteen votes against nine. The minority included
Mr. O’Shanassy. The whole number of the House was
thirty. The Attorney-General and all the nominee phalanx
voted in the majority. It is difficult to discover in what

% Mr. Fawkner was once a squatter. On 20th November 1847 he
applied for a run of 12,800 acres at Moonejettee, which he described as
capable ¢ of grazing 400 to 500 cattle, or from 3500 or 4000 sheep at the
utmost.” It was near ‘‘ the Monument” (as Dryden’s Rock near Mount
Macedon was then called), and bounded by land occupied by a Mr. Dryden.
Fawkner pathetically described it as ‘‘ thickly wooded and nearly all
mountain ranges, and Poor and very scrubby.” (He dealt largely in
capital letters and italics.) In May 1849 he notified that he had sold his
‘“gtock and interest therein.” Five days afterwards he withdrew his
letter to his Honour (Latrobe), ‘‘asking permission to transfer his run.”
The agreement about the sale had ‘“ disappeared,” and the buyer ‘ then
refused to complete the contract.” The law officer of the day thought
Latrobe would not be justified in acceding to Fawkner’s request.  Before
he was apprised of this decision Fawkner had sold the station (Moonejettee)
to another person, and asked that the lease he had applied for might be
issued to one Sutcliffe, the new purchaser. Again it was found that the
request could not be complied with. Fawkner, through asolicitor, averred
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his the energy which circulated from Melbourne to the
excited crowds on the goldfields, rabid- censure and slander
upon the honest Latrobe. He was abetted at the time by
others ; and when he had become wiser, another newspaper
succeeded to the post abandoned by the Argus. Edward
Wilson was enthusiastic enough to believe what he wrote.
With those who supplanted him mendacity was a studied
art.

Unfortunately the virulence of the strife provoked more
determined efforts of the squatters and their frinds. The
gelfish needed no incentive to demand the uttermost
farthing in their bond. The proud would not yield to
clamour what, in their opinion, the law entitled them to
hold. The Speaker of the Legislative Council, Dr. Palmer,
drew up a statement of arguments addressed to Mr. Latrobe
at an audience (8rd Aug. 1852). Leases ought to date
from the time of their issue (a large postponement of their
effluxion), and agricultural reserves could not be made
without infraction of the Orders-in-Council. Dr. Palmer
demolished (without direct mention of them) the opinions
of Messrs. Stawell and Barry, but he could not remove the
former from the vantage-ground of place in which his high
energy secured esteem even among opponents. The Speaker
urged that the settler had no desire to impede the progress
of the colony, and ought not to be accused of doing so in
pursuing his ‘“just claims. The inviolability of public
faith is peculiarly a British sentiment, and constitutes the
broadest and safest basis of national prosperity.’

Dr. Murphy (at a later date Speaker of the Legislative
Assembly) also drew up a paper on ‘‘ the right of the
government and the rights of the squatters as affected
thereby.” He cited Earl Grey’s despatches, which laid down
in express terms that ‘“ lands in the unsettled districts would
(under the Orders) be put absolutely out of the power of the
Crown, and be rendered unavailable for settlement for the
long period of fourteen years.” Dr. Murphy said that after
such an instruction the proclamation of the districts was
an assurance from which the government could not honour-
ably retreat, and a departure from it would constitute an
act of confiscation. But while the claims of the pastoral
tenants were pressed upon Mr. Latrobe, he was warned by
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would retain exclusive occupation until lands required on
broad public grounds might be withdrawn formally, and
land * clearly required for the public and general advantage
of the colony” would be * brought into the market without
being held subject to pre-emptive right.”

Mr. Latrobe had, in 1850, shown that he conceived that
the Orders-in-Council® were framed so as to leave the
Governor free to consider the public good, and that the
squatters’ just claim was confined to assured pastoral
occupation for a limited term. He was, therefore, con-
sistent, and could honourably demand, as he did in
1852, that so far as it might be legally practicable, the
Orders-in-Council might be revised with a view to make
clear the terms in which the domain of the Queen was pro-
tected for the public behoof. But his law officers were
in a more difficult position. Mr. Stawell had (Jan. 1852)
declared that reserves could not be made by the Governor
to meet ¢‘ prospective wants of the community.”

In 1852 there seemed to be a consensus among lawyers
that the Orders conferred a right of pre-emption over the
whole area under lease. In concurring with the Governor’s
answer to the address of the Legislative Council,®” the
Attorney-General must have known that a dangerous
question was only shelved. It was derogatory to confess
that the Orders-in-Council had not been comprehended,
difficult to argue with a united Bar, and impossible to main-
tain the government of the colony if the extreme rights con-
tended for under the Orders should be recognized. There was
a practical method by which, without admitting of former
mistake or present wrong-doing, the Orders-in-Council
might be virtually set aside. The Surveyor-General,
Hoddle, was old, but vigorous. It was resolved to pension
him, and to procure a younger man, who would carry out
with rapidity such extensive interference with the rights
conferred by the Orders-in-Council as would make it im-
possible to recede from the course taken, whatever might
be thought of its legality. The Surveyor-General retired,
and Lt. Clarke, R.E. (then private secretary to the

_ ® Vide p. 432, supra.
" % Mr. Latrobe’s despatch, 3rd September 1852. Parliamentary Papers,
vol. xiii., p. 108. 1853.
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The ‘“ extension of the pre-emptive right over the whole of
the land covered by the lease was neither asked for nor
dreamed of in this colony either by the settler or the execu-
tive government. I speak for myself.” A homestead or &
limited area for improvements he thought it just to subject
to pre-emption. He urged that in view of the population
pouring into the colony the Orders should be revised.
The power ‘“to sell land when required”” must be available.
If, when properly interpreted, the Orders should be found
to have conferred ¢ rights which cannot now be justly taken
away—I believe I speak the sentiments of the colonists as
a body—Ilet compensation be made at any sacrifice; but
at every risk let these exclusive rights, where they are seen
to operate to the public disadvantage, in appearance if not
in reality, be done away with.” He might be asked why
he found greater difficulty than was reported from Sydney.
He anticipated the objection by pointing out that the bulk
of the good land within a reasonable distance from the
coast in the parent colony was already disposed of. His
law officers also “ professed to be quite at a loss to apprehend
the manner in which” the Sydney government had formed
extensive reserves in the unsettled districts, and Mr.
Latrobe, instead of commanding that the thing which the
Governor-General had done in New South Wales should be
done in Victoria, wrote: Of this I am certain, that pos-
sessing no assurance that I hold the legal power to pursue &
similar course, it could not be carried out in this colony.”
Mr. Latrobe sent to Sir C. Fitz Roy a copy of his
despatch. Sir C. Fitz Roy consulted his advisers, who,
in an elaborate paper, condemned Mr. Latrobe’s views.
Erroneously assuming that a sufficiently large extent of
territory had been included in the intermediate class of
lands in Victoria, and could therefore be offered for sale on
three months’ notice at the expiration of each successive
year of the term of a lease, they somewhat callously said
they were ““scarcely prepared to hear that the inconvenience
to the public from the existence of the pre-emptive right as
it now stands is so great as it is depicted to be in Governor
Latrobe’s despatch.” Extinction of the pre-emptive right,
or even its qualification, they regarded as ‘‘incompatible
with the preservation of the faith of the Crown, pledged
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Derby Ministry fell in December 1852. The Duke of
Newecastle took the seals of the Colonial Office, and allowed
many months to elapse before he replied (29th Nov. 1853)
to Mr. Latrobe. His despatch was one long shuffle; but
he allowed it to be inferred that he would be willing to
lend his authority to an act of injustice, if without that
authority Mr. Latrobe could not, justly or unjustly, put an
end to difficulties. He concurred with Mr. Latrobe as io
the intention of Earl Grey’s Orders. If the language used
in them went beyond the intention, and vested rights had
arisen, there was a serious question—*‘ between private
claims and the general interest. I will not say that in an
extreme case the latter must not prevail, and that vested
rights must not give way, subject to such compensation as it
may be practicable to give.”” But by insisting on rigorous
interpretation of the Orders such a measure might be
avoided. The leases were promised for terms not exceeding
eight and fourteen years in the intermediate and unsettled
districts, and, in the Duke's opinion, the term might be
shortened at the discretion of the Governor. It was
“much to be regretted” if the local government had
acquiesced in the full term. As to a lease, ‘““the ante-
dating will be strictly equitable, inasmuch as (the occu-
pants) have hitherto had the same equitable advantage as
if it had so been issued.” The Duke saw no objection to
dating the leases, 7th April 1848. Although the lessee in
an unsettled district had exclusive right of purchase, the
Duke found no provision ‘“‘compelling the Governor to
gell” on demand. It was ‘ obviously unreasonable to
suppose that the Governor was compellable to exercise
these powers of sale.”” As to the construction of the
much-discussed section 9 with regard to ¢ facilitating the
government and settlement of the colony . . . without
entering at length into the controversy, it is enough for
me to say that the very differences of opinion which have
existed among lawyers entitle you, in my opinion, to put on
them the more liberal one as regards the requirements of
the public. If the construction be legal, and I have no
reason to doubt it, it ought to be adopted.” The Governor
would therefore, to meet *‘the progress of population and
settlement . . . sell land . . . under the general sale
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private persons. I am clearly of opinion that neither of
the sections referred to gives the Governor power to with-
draw any part of the runs in question (assuming as I do
that no forfeiture has taken place) for the purposes of sale
to private persons.” On the right of pre-emption he was
equally clear, but thought there was no course open to an
invaded occupant ‘ except to appeal to the Courts of Justice
in case of any illegal disturbance of his possessions.” This
opinion was not kept under a bushel, and the Duke of
Newcastle would not risk the receipt of a similar one from
Sir A. Cockburn. He preferred to adopt a course demoral-
izing to the colony, by setting an example of bad faith, and
suggesting underhand negotiations to put aside the law.
Mr. Latrobe received the Duke of Newcastle’s tardy despatch
in March 1854, having waited more than eighteen months
for a reply to his exhaustive statement. He was then about
to leave the colony, and it devolved upon - others to
administer the waste lands on behalf of the Crown during
the short interval which elapsed between March 1854 and
the changes which Sir J. Pakington’s answer to Went-
worth’s Remonstrance heralded in Australia.

It may be mentioned, as a connecting link between New
South Wales and Victoria, that the prospect of mineral
discoveries led Sir C. Fitz Roy in 1849, and Mr. Latrobe
in 1851, to ask that a competent geologist might be
despatched from England. Copper, lead, iron, and gold
had been found in New South Wales, and Fitz Roy wrote
(1st March 1849): ‘“An extensive goldfield is said to
have been recently discovered at the Pyrenees in the
Port Phillip district.”” The services of the officer asked
for ‘““could not fail to add greatly to the resources of
the colony, extensively to benefit the land fund, and
thus to open out a new field for British emigration.”
Mr. S. Stutchbury accepted the appointment in April
1850, and reached Australia in time to be consulted on the
practical discovery by unscientific persons of the Bathurst
goldfields early in 1851. Mr. Latrobe was only Superin-
tendent of Port Phillip when, in 1849, the mysterious
production of a lump of gold embedded in quartz excited
the expectations alluded to by Sir C. Fitz Roy. Before
Mr. Latrobe became Governor, the Bathurst goldfields had
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tion lands on the great lines of thoroughfare should
consist of not less than nine, nor more than twenty-
five square miles.” In October they interpreted ‘‘ great
lines of thoroughfare” as all places where situation,
soil, ‘“‘building materials, water, and other elements of
prosperity of inland settlements” were afforded, and
‘“‘improvements of neighbouring occupations” were least
injured. In May 1852, it was formally determined that
““the whole of the land included in any approved reserve
should be at once excluded from the description’ inserted
in the lease. Thus, while the natural distinction between the
territory of the Sydney district and that of Port Phillip
made Earl Grey’s Orders less hurtful in the former, Sir C.
Fitz Roy and his Council increased the public security by
extensive reserves to meet ‘‘ the prospective wants of the
community,” which Mr. Latrobe's law officers had told
him he was forbidden to do, both by the letter and the
spirit of the Orders-in-Council.

Pastoral tenants remonstrated against proclaimed
boundaries, but Sir C. Fitz Roy dissuaded the Secretary
of State from any other relief than such a modification of
the original Order as would allow the tenant compensation
for improvements. The duties of the government were
brought down to practical details. The Orders-in-Council
had enacted that the rent for a run should be proportioned
to ‘“the number of sheep or equivalent number of cattle
which the run shall be estimated as capable of carrying.”
Sir C. Fitz Roy declared that 640 cattle (including horses
as such) should “be considered equal to 4000 sheep”
(Jan. 1848). There was also at the time an Assessment
on Stock Act (of Sept. 1847), to provide for ¢ the protec-
tion and good government of all persons residing beyond
the settled districts.”

To relieve other offices a special department was created
in 1848. Colonel Barney, C.E., was in 1848 appointed
Chief Commissioner of Crown Lands, an office of which Sir
G. Gipps had foretold the need. Under him there were in
the Sydney or Middle district sixteen Commissioners of
Crown Lands scattered throughout the land. Mr. J. C.
Bidwill was the first Commissioner in Wide Bay, whither
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-which, sitting in' the metropolis, numerous witnesses from
the far interior were summoned at great expense. - EKarl
Grey did not press his propositions. He interfered less
‘and less with the tact of the Governor and the sagacity of
Deas Thomson, who, whatever their misconception of the
position in Victoria, understood that of New South Wales.
He remitted to them the question of quit-rents, bitterly
argued in the time of Governor Gipps. The result: was
that for a long period copious reserves mitigated the-evils
of Earl Grey’s Qrders-in-Council. Jealousy of the pastorsl
tenant existed»nevettheless, and contributed to the enact-
ment m 1861 of a law in which ‘“free selection before
survey’’ subjected the public esta,te to pillage, and engen-
dered wide corruption.

The most successful application of Orders-in-Council
was in South Australia, where the colonists moulded them
as already explained. Year by year as difficulties arose
amongst their neighbours they had reason to congratulate
themselves on the absence of heart-burnings and illwill
between the pastoral tenant and the would-be agriculturist.
The pastoral lease opposed no obstacle to resumption of
the land when required -for sale, and the squatter- was
recognized as a friendly helper in subduing the earth.
No great difficulty was encountered, when simplicity and
justice regulated the principle on which the lands were
occupied. The minimum price of £1 an acre was rigidly
adhered to, and if Mr. Robert Lowe had been in Adelaide
‘he would have found few supporters of his theory that five
shillings was a sufficient price, and £1 was ruinous as well
as impossible. The Order-in-Council of 1850, framed in
compliance with the recommendations sent from South
Australia, divided the Crown lands into two classes, one
composed of lands within the hundreds, the other of lands
without the hundreds. Leases might be given for fourteen
years in the latter, but the land might at any time be
reclaimed for sale. Eventually two classes of land weré
fixed outside of the hundreds. In the original order the
rent was made £1 per square mile for land of first quality,
fifteen shillings for second quality, and ten shillings
for third quality. Subsequently a system of valuation
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The occupants did not bid against one another, and the
receipts fell to £60 in 1888. In 1835 the gradual increase
of stock raised the receipts to £928. After some fluctua-
tions, the leasing by tender was reverted to in 1848, and the
rents, which had been £1083 in 1842, rose to £8267
in 1848. In 1846 they amounted to £5584. There was
still a quantity of land on which animals strayed at large,
and for which no rent was paid. In June 1847, Bir W.
Denison deprived unauthorized occupation of its. fancied
security by increasing the advantages accruing to lawful
occupation. He allowed licensees (paying £1 for 100 acres)
the privilege of renewing their licenses annually, for ten
years, paying only 10 per cent. in addition during the
latter moiety of the period. The rents rose immediately to
more than £10,000 in 1847.

The English Government were not ignorant of a radical
difference between the circumstances of the conviet-
burdened island and the mainland. They thought of
employing conviet labour in preparing waste lands for
sale. Sir Eardley Wilmot suggested in 1844 that ticket-
of-leave holders might become Crown tenants on small
agricultural allotments. The Lands Sale Act (Lord
Stanley’s) of 1842 forbade such remedies. In 1845 an
Imperial Act was passed (8 and 9 Vict. c. 95), exempting
Van Diemen’s Land from the operation of the Act of 1842,
during the continuance of transportation thither. 'The
<Crown became again paramount as in 1808, when Governor
King occupied the island. Mr. Gladstone, in 1846, promised
instructions to the Governor, and Earl Grey sent them in
July 1847. He transmitted his ‘Orders-in-Council” of
March 1847, and authorized Sir W. Denison to adopt
them if he should think fit to do so. Sir W. Denison did
something quite different. He virtually re-enacted his
former regulations for leasing lands, and maintained the
upset price of £1 an acre for all country lands alienated
in fee. Earl Grey accepted the Governor's proposal,
and in October 1849 a Royal Order sanctioned 1t. Like
the Orders made for South Australia and Western
Australia, they differed toto cwlo from those forced upon
New South Wales and Victoria by the noble Earl. They
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of lakes which had been salt, sand, and thickets were
seldom exchanged for patches of pasture. The Fitzgerald
Peaks and the Russell Range, attained with difficulty,
rewarded the gallant Roe with water and grass. He re-
ported that the failure to find ““tracts of good land can be
regretted only,” but could not be charged against the ex-
plorers. He had found coal in two places. One was near
Middle Mount Barren, and he named the tortuous course of
that which might be a river in winter, but was a dry gorge
in summer—the Fitzgerald. Even in those days'a hospi-
table settler at Cape Riche refreshed the wanderers: Un-
daunted, the government sent A. C. Gregory to the north
with six men, twelve horses, and three months’ provisions.
At Champion Bay he found pasture land. Want of water
prevented him from going as far as the Gascoigne river,
but (5th Oct. 1848) one of his companions found lead ore
on the Murchison river. : o
"~ On the Bowes river a patch of pasture was discovered,
and Governor Fitzgerald accompanied a supplementary ex-
pedition to examine the place of good omen, where about
180,000 "5 acres of good pasture were thought to be blessed
with a proximity of water even in summer. He sailed to
Champion Bay with his private secretary, Mr. R. H. Bland,
Mr. A. C. Gregory, three soldiers and a servant, who formed
the land-service party. He visited the site where lead ore
abounded at the Murchison. When leaving the pasture land
at the Bowes on his return journey, he found the natives
apparently resolved to guard their heritage, whose pastures
furnished food for game. More than fifty crowded round
the invaders, and the Governor cautiously put bullets into
his fowling-piece. His companions awaited his orders to
the last, when a native seized Mr. Bland, and seemed about
to strike with a club. Then the Governor shot one of the
largest natives he had ever seen. A soldier shot another.
The travellers availed themselves of the confusion among

" ¢« We estimated (Gregory wrote) the valley of the Buller to contain
about 10,000 acres of good grassy land, and 30,000 acres of inferior feedin%
country. The good land is much broken into patches by that which is of
indifferent quality.”

*® Afterwards a respected colonist in Victoria, where he managed a
prosperous mining company at Clunes which produced millions of sterling
value in gold. :
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be paid for out of colonial funds; which he must have
known was impossible. He sanctioned the sale of mineral
land by auction without reservation of any royalty, but he
disapproved of the despatch of a military guard to Champion
Bay. The Governor answered (Oct. 1850) =

““So great was the prevalent despondency and depression that the flocks
were to a great extent thrown out of increase, and prepared for the
cauldron; all classes of colonists were daily leaving as opportunities
occurred ; and were it not for the hope which the discovery of this new
land diffused, my conviction is that every flock-owner in the colony who
had it at all in his power would have boiled down his sheep and abandoned
the colony for South Australia. I pray your Lordship, therefore, to con-
sider my situation at this trying moment, and the consequences of refusing,
in violation of Colonel Irwin’s promise, to send a military detachment to
protect those enterprising men who, having already purchased the land
from the Crown, intended working the mine, as well as at great hazard to
move their flocks and herds to the new pastures in this land of promise.’”

The Earl relented. Lead had done for Western Australia
what copper had done for her neighbour on the east. The
Crown lands yielded another store. The guano found on an
island in Shark Bay, attracted speculators. The sea yielded
tribute. Pearl-fishing wasfound to beremunerativein Shark
Bay. There were many despatches about the rate at which
guano hunters should be allowed to remove it, and Eark
Grey decided that they should pay £1 a ton. Earl Grey
called it ‘‘a duty on exportation.” The colonists called it
a charge for the appropriation of public property ; in fact, a
mode of selling it.

In May 1851 the Earl expressed his ¢ sanguine hopes’” of
advantage accruing to the colony from guano, and in the
same month (without consulting the Governor), to en-
courage pearl-fishing, gave permission to a London firm to
dredge for pearl-shells at Shark Bay, without paying duty
before July 1852, when the subject would be reconsidered.
The Inquirer newspaper at Perth denounced the downright
impudence of the Secretary of State. The Governor who
had, in July 1851, leased the exclusive right of pearl-
fishing to another firm, stipulating for a royalty of one-
eighth of the yield, was aghast; but it was discovered that
his Advocate-General, who doubted the power of the go-
vernment to grant the exclusive right of pearl-fishing, had
been right, and it was deemed necessary that a local law
should beenacted toimpose a license duty. Earl Grey wrote
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But there were occasional periods of depression, when im-
migrants found the labour-market glutted at the port of
arrival. The far interior was a blank to the new-comers,
and though sorely in need of labourers the squatters (dis-
persed throughout an enormous space) were unable to make
their wants known. There was, moreover, a gregarious
instinet which induced immigrants to eling to the towns.
€ountry residents who had active friends in the metropolis
were enabled to obtain small bands of hired servants on the
occasion of the return homewards of the waggons (or drays
as they were called) which had taken the wool to the town
and went back loaded with supplies of clothing, flour, sugar,
ea, tobacco, and such scanty condiments as were used in
femote districts. But there wasa want of machinery to do
for the immigrants and for the publie what the few wealthier
or more businesslike persons did for themselves.
Emigration to Australia sustained a check after- 1841.
In that year more than 82,000 souls arrived, of whom more
than 17,000 went to Sydnev and nearly 10,000 to Port
Phillip. In 1845 the total immigration from the United
Kingdom to Australia,” including New Zealand, was 830, of
whom 423 went to Port Phillip and 300 to South Australia.
But in 1845 the last-named colony (reviving from -causes
already shown) absorbed more than 2000 immigrants from
other colonies. So great was her reputation that in 1846
she received from the United Kingdom 2224 out of the
2847 souls who emigrated in that-year to the Pacific. Re-
turning prosperity in the Australian group raised the immi-
gration to 7622 and 7899 at Sydney and Melbourne respec-
tively in 1848; but South Australia received more than
either of them, with intercolonial additions. - The total im-
migration to Australia in 1849 rose to upwards of 82,000, as
in 1841. Then succeeded a depression caused by the dis-
covery of gold in California. The immigration from the
United Kingdom sank to 16,000 in 1850, and still South
Australia was the largest recipient. -
A worse fortune than this inferiority befel New South
Wales. The immigrants she had paid for had cost her more

»The totals are to be found in Martin’s ¢ Statesman’s Year-Book, 1875.”
The Land Sales Act of 1842 defined New Zealand as one of the “Austulun
Colonjes.”
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from her self-imposed task. She won respect, and Sir
G. Gipps, who had at first doubted whether her efforts
would be successful, was amongst those who praised her.
For several years she worked, and when she went to
England in 1846 colonists of various degrees presented her
with a subscription and a testimonial. In England she
founded a Family Colonization Society, and lectured on
behalf of emigration with success, producing grateful letters
from prosperous persons whom she had escorted in their
poverty to the bush of Australia. The benevolent Earl of
Shaftesbury presided over the society which she created.
Despondent persons predicted speedy decay in Australia
when goldfields in California attracted labourers from
Australia. Abandoned flocks and herds would be left to
roam at large. There would be no labour for hire, and
capital (they said) would quit the land, which would be
tenanted only by a miserable race of creatures who had not
energy to seek their fortunes elsewhere. But the mass of
mankind are not prophetic. They take their daily bread,
and have their eyes open only to that which is immediately
about them. Affection, family ties, carelessness or indo-
lence, kept the bulk of the people at home, and in 1851 &
counter-attraction in Australia brought back many of her
own refugees amongst the rushing tide of immigration. It
is worthy of notice that however eager crowds appear, their
movements, when passages have to be paid for and impedi-
menta provided, seldom reflect their intended haste. Gold
was found early in 1851 in New South Wales, and later in
the year in Victoria. Yet the immigration from the United
Kingdom to Australia®® in that year followed, as regarded

2 IMMIGRATION.
South il South VDL L ROt ~ Total
- o 0! o
VV‘:llet. l::i Aus. Tmot nia. Victol:-in. Aust.
1845 .. 73 14 300 20 423 — 830
1846 .. 36 6 2,224 - 81 — 2T
1847_ .e 726 316 3,512 8 387 — 4,949

1848 .. 7,622 751 7,852 218 7,399 62 23,904
1849 .. 8,403 1,825 10,855 535 10,562 11 32,191
1850 .. 3,661 2,005 5,013 270 4,682 316 15,947
1851 .. 4,508 2,677 7,048 800 6,212 287 21,532
1852 .. 12,736 1,718 7,552 1,417 63,719 739 87,881
1853 .. 10,673 1,420 6,883 991 40,469 965 61,581
1854 .. 14,647 1,060 11457 432 S\ 430 88.9%7
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presentative institutions were introduced in Van Diemen’s
Land, was a relief and a blessing there, while their presence
was a burden in Victoria. The great law, that in the long
run punishment will follow crime and folly, stepped in to
‘redeem in some degrée the afflicted Victoria. The lives of
the coarse unthrifty sensualists were not often of long dura-
tion, and the great majority of the unreformed convicts
passed away in the whirlwind of their own excesses, or in
the prostration and disease which their vices induced.
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leges of a freeman on the convict remaining in the colony.
It was hoped that the risk of withdrawal of any probation-
ary advantage would induce the convicts to pass from stage
to stage. Major Childs, who superseded the mismanaging
Maconochie at Norfolk Island, was unable to maintain
discipline, and the worst class of convicts cared not for
any temptation to reform. A Commissioner, Mr. Stewart,
was sent by Sir Eardley Wilmot to theisland. He reported
that there was danger of outbreak. Before he returned to
Hobart Town he impressed upon the Commandant the
necessity for vigilance. Before the government could act
upon Mr. Stewart’s report an outbreak took place. The
ringleaders®! had been bushrangers (i.e., conviets who
absconded and became robbers). Several constables were
murdered before the military drove the mutineers into
submission. Twelve convicts suffered death (Oct. 1846)
at the island. Mxr. John Price, selected by the government
‘at Hobart Town for the critical post of Commandant, was
then on the spot. Capable, determined, fearless and strong
in mind and body, he entered upon his duties with a
-vigour which cowed the majority of even the desperate
crew on the island. His acts were denounced as cruel,
and he dismissed the chaplains who denounced him. B

the vessel which conveyed the intelligence of the hanging
-of the mutineers, he sent back to Hobart Town a Superin-
tendent, an Assistant-Superintendent and three overseers
-whom he had suspended from office. The strong man
.quelled disorder. Meanwhile, Earl Grey, shocked at the
horrors reported, determined to break up the establish-
ment and remove the convicts to Tasman’s Peninsula;
but intervening delays postponed the abandonment.2 The
.dwellers in Van Diemen’s Land shrank from receiving the
hardened criminals of Norfolk Island. A glance at the
total transportation will justify their feeling.

' One of them, W. Westwood, whose soubriquet was Jacky Jacky, had
been an assigned servant in New South Wales. The master was a kind
but methodical man, who cared for his servant’s moral welfare. Another
was Kavanagh, who had been a bushranger in Van Diemen's Land.

* About ten years afterwards the convicts were withdrawn, and Nor-
ﬁlk Island became the home of descendants of the mutineers of the
Bounty. ,
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-obtaining free immigration, and to check the introduction
.of expiree convicts from Van Diemen’s Land, it will be
beneficial to the provinee of Port Phillip to receive exiles.”
In May 1845, an attempt was made to procure passholders
from Van Diemen’s Land, but Sir G. Gipps deemed their
introduction illegal. Subsequently, under Earl Grey's aus-
pices, exiles—who had undergone wmore or less probation in
Pentonville and elsewhere—were received both in Sydney
and at Port Phillip, where they were permitted to live in
rural districts for terms of not less than one year. In 1847,

_.a petition from Port Phillip to the Legislative Council
prayed that, on certain conditions, two thousand exiles
might be imported in each of three successive years. Ship
after ship arrived with from two to three hundred exiles,
.and no opposition was made to their introduction.

Earl Grey misunderstood, perhaps, the signs of the time;
and by a proposed breach of faith converted passive ac-
-quiescence into vehement resistance. He had (Feb. 1847)
formally intimated to Sir W. Denison that it was not the
intention of Her Majesty to permit the resumption of trans-
portation ““at the expiration of the two years for which it
has already been decided that it should be discontinued.”
But the expansion of his penal system seemed to require
more pronounced complicity of the colonies. The selected
-exiles had been sent out with conditional pardons. When
hired they were under no direct control as convicts.

The noble Earl or his prompters sought to modify the
system by granting tickets-of-leave, conditional on residence
in certain districts. In order to do this it would be needful
to send exiles to such places as were, under an Order-in-
Council, open for the reception of transported offenders.
He therefore, in 1848, revoked the Order-in-Council of 1840,
which had terminated transportation to New South Wales.
Distrust was at once aroused throughout Australia. In
February 1848 two hundred exiles had been landed in Mel-
bourne.? In March, while Sir C. Fitz Roy was on a visit
" % The exiles received from 1844 to 1849 had been more than 1700, and a
similar number of freed convicts had arrived from Van Diemen’s Land
between 1846 and 1849. Earl Grey professed surprise at the reception of
his pr?]posals in the colonies, and *‘ surprise and a,Ea.rm ‘when his eollesﬂd
Lord J. Russell assisted in demolishing the plans which Earl Grey

-concocted with ministerial sanction.
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and the moral shrank from the taint of imported crime.
They were to be found amongst high and low; for it is
alike a libel on Christianity and on mankind to affirm that
its blessings are not shed upon and received by the poor in
as large a measure as by the rich. The best elements of
society, from foundation to summit, were hostile to Earl
Grey’s plans. '

There was a new cause of opposition. Large numbers
of free labourers were scattered throughout the colonies.
They were, independently of higher considerations, arrayed
against the importation of labour which tended to lower
the market for their own. There were politicians who, like
Dr. Lang, Mr. Lowe and Mr. Cowper, could trim their
sails to any breeze. The event could not be doubtful.
Earl Grey, moreover, wrote (1848) that the condition of
sending out emigrants as numerous as the convicts could
not be borne by the Exchequer. He was bold enough to
affirm afterwards that ‘“ the omission to send out the free
immigrants stipulated for had not really much to do with
the storm of popular indignation which was raised against
the renewal of transportation.” ® But his assertion showed
how little he knew of human nature, or how much he
undervalued the meaning of the word ‘ stipulation.”

When he explained (Sept. 1847) that the Government
could not accede to the wide propositions of the Committee
of the Legislative Council in Sydney, mainly because they
would not consent to revive assignment of convicts or to
burden the Imperial exchequer with two-thirds of the cost
of police, gaols, and administration of criminal justice in
the colony, he suggested that convicts having undergone
probation in the United Kingdom might be transported
and receive tickets-of-leave in the colonies. He would in
such case endeavour to obtain a Parliamentary grant to
defray the cost of free emigration equal in quantity to that
of the convicts. With this proposition a select com-
mittee (1848) was willing to concur.® Earl Grey at once
sent the convicts, without asking Parliament for a vote in
aid of the free emigration. He made a windy defence of
his conduct. Being unable to send out convicts and free

S Earl Grey’s ¢ Colonial Policy,” &c., vol. ii., p. 47. ¢ Supra pp. 358-60.
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further commands from England. He did not conceal his
sympathy with the colonists. But they were not appeased.
They banded themselves together. They resolved to have
no ‘intercourse with the government, and to deal with no
one who would furnish it with supplies of any kind. Not
even to the Admiralty would they afford the most petty
assistance until the foul conviet ship should have departed
with her Irish load. They sent an urgent petition to the
Queen. They resolved at a public meeting ‘that the
British Government has no right to degrade into a penal
settlement the Cape of Good Hope, which became a portion
of the British Empire by capitulation and cession from a
friendly power, and that all attempts so to injure and
degrade it are unjust and tyrannical, and may be constltu-
tionally resisted by the inhabitants as British subjects.”
They were so terribly in earnest that with almost a solitary
exception the government could procure nothing for its
commissariat. Their cause was taken up in Parliament by
Lord Stanley, and by Mr. (afterwards Sir C.) Adderley:
On. the 18th March 1849, Mr. Hawes told the latter that
he had no official knowledge of the dissatisfaction said to
exist at the Cape. Afterwards, in reply to Lord Stanley,
Earl Grey admitted (19th Ma,lch) that he had received a
memorial.

On the 27th Mr. Adderley presented a petition from New
Zealand, and called attention to the whole subject. He
denounced the shabby manner in which Earl Grey, while
resolving to send convicts to New South Wales, had eluded
the stipulation for an equal number of free immigrants.
He moved an address to the Queen, praying that the Cape
might be left unpolluted by transportation of conviets,
‘“ whether as prisoners, free exiles, or holders of tickets-of-
leave.” Sir G. Grey, the Home Secretary, pleaded for his
colleague that he did ‘“not persevere in sending the con-
victs out after remonstranceshad been received,””—as though
it were a merit to desist from trespass after detection. Mr.
Francis Scott and Lord J. Russell joined in the discussion.
The latter agreed that it would * not be advisable or right”
to persist against the adverse feelings of the Cape colonists.
Mr. Disraeli, after such an admission from the Prime Minis-
ter, counselled the withdrawal of the motion. Mr.Adderley
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in Van Diemen’s Land, and held high festival to comme-
morate their African triumph.

Meanwhile the sending of convicts without the stipulated
eonsignments of free persons had roused the people in
Sydney. The adoption (1847) of Cowper’s motion rejecting
any renewal of transportation deprived Earl Grey of any
feeble support he could have hoped for if the Transportation
Report of 1846 (never adopted) had been uncondemned.
That the report should be condemned on the spot as vicious
in principle, and that Barl Grey should pick from its pro-
positions such as he might approve, was felt to be intoler-
able. The Order-in-Council (Sept. 1848) extending the area
of transportation evoked opposition. Earl Grey’s reasons
for sending the convicts, without any assurance that a Par-
liamentary grant would enable him to send the free immi-
grants stipulated for, satisfied nobody.

A public meeting was held (Feb. 1849), and Cowper, Lowe,
and others were the genii of the storm. * Transportation
in any shape” was condemned in Sydney and at country
meetings, as well as in the Legislative Council (where Mr.
Cowper, in June 1849, carried an address praying for the
revocation of the Order-in-Council). Melbourne as usual
was demonstrative.”

While these events were occurring the Hashemy arrived
in Port Jackson with conviets on board. On the 11th
June a public meeting was held near the Circular Quay to
protest against transportation. Mr. Lowe triumphantly

7 This brief sentence elicited the following criticism from Mr. Martin,
the biographer of Mr. Robert Lowe (vol. i., p. 381):—‘‘Mr. Rusden’s
comment on this is simply that ¢ Melbourne, as usual, was demonstrative.’
To my mind, considering that Mr. Rusden for so many years filled the
responsible post of Clerk of the Parliaments in Victoria, and that he was
one of the most prominent and most favoured residents of Melbourne, this
bald comment in a voluminous history is unworthy of himself as well as of
the occasion. . . . Mr. Rusden, who requires three bulky volumes to
record the more or less parochial affairs of Australia, dismisses the
historic action of the residents of Melbourne by a short, contemptuous
phrase. This seems to me a strange way of writing history.” Mr.
Martin, who required two ‘‘bulky volumes’ for the life of Lowe, can
hardly complain if a writer finds three volumes required for a history of
six colonies from 1788 to 1883. It would seem that the critic must have
referred to an incomplete copy of the first edition of this history; forin
the twenty pages which followed the sentence upon which he animadverts

there were many allusions to the ‘‘historic action of residents in Mel-
bourne” on the subject of transportation.
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Melbourne that no conviets should be landed there without
further instructions. Cowper strove to carry an address
requesting the Governor not to permit convicts shipped for
Port Phillip to be forwarded to Sydney ; but on a division
Cowper was defeated (May 1849). The majority were
unwilling to leave the Governor no course which he could
loyally adopt. .

In August 1849, the ship Randolph arrived at the
entrance to Port Phillip Bay, and the master was met
by instructions to proceed to Sydney. He declared that
his ship was insured to Melbourne, and thither he would
go. He anchored her in Hobson’s Bay; there was intense
excitement at Melbourne. The promise of Sir C. Fitz Roy,
that no convicts should be landed there without further
orders, was appealed to. Physical force was. threatened;
but it was probably the kind heart rather than the fears of
Mr. Latrobe which induced him to insist that the Randolph
should proceed to Sydney. The Town Council of Mel-
bourne thanked him for sending away the convict-ship.
There was afterwards a great meeting in Melbourne. Earl
Grey’s Order-in-Council, of 1848, was denounced; Port
Phillip was declared to have been never really a portion of
a penal colony (although it had been a known portion of
New South Wales from the time when Robbins took formal
possession of it, and trod the site of Melbourne, in 1808);
and it was resolved to band with the Cape of Good Hope,
or any other colony, in resisting the tyranny which would
thrust convicts upon them in defiance of good faith.
Throughout 1849 and 1850, the inhabitants of Port Phillip
maintained the same attitude. Coinciding in point of time
with the prayer of the Legislative Council, that the Order-
in-Couneil might be revoked, the public demonstrations of
New South Wales may be termed unanimous against any
resumption of transportation of felons to her shores.!®

' There were many persons who objected to the language with which
Sir C. Fitz Roy was assailed, and some thousands signed addresses testify-
in% confidence in him. His equanimity galled his assailants. He had
told Earl Grey that uatil the Order-in-Council might be revoked the
colony was liable to be disturbed by designing and disaffected persons
whose object, under the ¢ pretext of agitating the qestion of transporta-
tion, is to instil sentiments of disloyalty in the minds of the lower orders
of the community, and to render them discontented with the government
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that of 1848 would be revoked. The significance of Earl
Grey’s insinuations was speedily annihilated. He lost
office in February 1852, and Sir John Pakington became
Colonial Secretary under Lord Derby. The views of the
new Ministry have been seen already in the despatch
in which Sir J. Pakington dealt with the subjects of
constitutional changes, and of the droits of the Crown.
The impress of the same mind may be seen in the treat-
ment of transportation, and the novel questions arising
from the discovery of gold. That discovery had been made
in 1851, before Earl Grey’s dark insinuations about conviets
to be sent to the North were made known in New South
Wales. There was then no risk of renewal of transporta-
tion. If a few persons looked wistfully for it they were
silenced by the growl of Wentworth, who declared that the
subject of transportation was settled for ever by the dis-
covery which had precipitated the colony into a nation.
Nevertheless Earl Grey had roused suspicion, and there
was a fixed determination to put it out of the power of any
Secretary of State to do what he had hinted at. In Western
Australia he at once availed himself of the pliability of the
needy settlers, and prisoners were received there in 1850.
In Van Diemen’s Land the inhabitants could not hope for
immediate cessation of the evils entailed by convicts. They
had, however, that promise of Earl Grey, which he endea-
voured to explain away, and it afforded foothold on which
to wrestle for the total abolition of transportation. What
would have been the result if Earl Grey had remained in
office, and could have influenced his colleagues, must be
matter of conjecture. In his book on Lord J. Russell’s
Administration, he asserted, in 1852, that “Van Diemen’s
Land was founded for the express purpose of receiving
convicts,’”’ and that for the free inhabitants to ‘‘ prefer a
claim to have the sending of convicts to the island discon-
tinued just when it has been brought into the condition in
which 1t is best suited for receiving them seems to me to
be a pretension which is altogether unreasonable.” The
demand of the other colonies for its discontinuance was
equally untenable, and he maintained that England was
‘“ perfectly justified in continuing the practice of trans-
portation to Australia.”” Every lover of the cqlonies owed
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must have been almost as complete as O'Brien’s when the
latter was pardoned.

Sir W. Denison confidentially comforted Earl Grey when
an Australian league was formed to war against transpor-
tation. I can testify (June 1851) to the fact that in Van
Diemen’s Land not only has no opposition been made to the
landing of the convicts, but a most marked anxiety has
been shown to benefit by their services.”® The reports
which ‘“created alarm lest the result of the movement
should show itself in some decided step such as was allowed
at the Cape’”” were exaggerations. *‘The convict system is
working well at present in every way, and I hope will be
allowed a fair trial.” He was sure that the gold discovery,
the dearth of agricultural labour, and concomitant circum-
stances would make it necessary to maintain transpertation.
New South Wales was deeply interested in its maintenance,
for without supplies of food from Van Diemen’s Land
her “ population must be reduced to great distress from
actual want of food.” The Governor undervalued the
importance of the anti-transportation league, which bound
together the Australian group. Earl Grey’s crudescence
furnished them with motives for union. In 1850, when
taunted with breach of promise, he declared in Parliament
that Van Diemen’s Land had been originally formed as a
penal settlement, and had no right to refuse to receive any
number of convicts the government might choose to send
thither.

The arrival of the Neptune had elicited a solemn protest
‘“‘against the cruelty and falsehood of the government,
against the wrongs which threaten and oppress ourselves
and our children.” This was signed by many leading
colonists. The shafts aimed at transportation galled some
of its former victims, and a number of the emancipists, as
if imbued with Governor Macquarie’s spirit, sought to form
an Association to protect themselves. They would put

¢ Varieties of Vice-regal Life.” Sir W. Denison. Vol. i., p. 160.
London: 1870. Sir William was too willing a witness. In a d
(Aug. 1851) he said, ‘‘The more I see of these (Van Diemen’s )
inhabitants, and the more accurate knowledge 1 obtain of the character of
those who occupy the continent of Australia, the more convinced I am

that we occupﬂ‘ elatively to them a very high station.” (Parliamentary
Papers, vol. xli. 1852.)
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1851, under sentence; to use all their powers to abolish
transportation, and to support with money and countenance
all who might ‘“suffer in the lawful promotion” of the
cause. Subscriptions were poured in. Nicholson, the
Mayor; Westgarth, W. M. Bell, Heape and Grice, D. 8.
Campbell and Co., J. Graham, Dalgety, Gore and Co., and
many other merchants subscribed a hundred guineas each.
Henry Moore, a solicitor, W. F. Stawell, the barrister, did
the same. Cattle salesmen, brewers, grocers, editors of
newspapers were equally eager. Smaller sums were given
by men of smaller means. J. P. Fawkner gave £25, and
Edward Dryden (Fawkner’s neighbour during his brief
career as a squatter) gave the same amount. Men of all
classes were enthusiastic.

A Council of nine was elected to manage affairs. William
Nicholson, the Mayor, was president, and W. Westgarth,
W. Kerr, Dalmahoy Campbell, W. F. Stawell, G. Annand,
W. M. Bell, J. 8. Johnston, and J. Hood were his coadju-
tors. A banner procured by general subscription was pre-
sented to Van Diemen’s Land, and the delegates returning
thither delivered it at a public meeting to the popular
Richard Dry. The Town Clerk of Melbourne, Mr. J. C.
King, was sent to England to labour in the cause. H.
Moor and W. Westgarth, members of the Legislature, were
entrusted with a mission in its favour to Sydney. Dr.
Thomson, of Geelong, was their associate. In March 1851
the delegates from Van Diemen’s Land, being sent to
Sydney, were welcomed by Mr. C. Cowper and hosts of
friends. Nature and time warred with them. Gold had
been discovered at Bathurst, and no friend of transporta-
tion was left in the land. The delegates were entertained
at a banquet held in a spacious wool-store, the property of
Mr. Mort. It was resolved on his motion, at a public
meeting in the Barrack Square,’* to break up the Associa-
tion formed in 1850 in New South Wales, and to join the
general league.

Dr. Lang thought he saw an opportunity to embitter
strife, and proposed to add that if it should be necessary
“‘to have recourse to the last remedy of the oppressed” . . .

" The Old Barrack Square comprised the present Wynyard Square and
much more adjacent land.
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pronounced in favour of physical force. He professed
loyalty to the Queen, but added that if the League had
-called upon him to fight instead of to speak he would as
freely have consented.

Mr. Cowper was deputed to comfort the dlstressed
islanders at a conference in Hobart Town. The Rev. Mr.
West harangued a meeting in South Australia, where a
branch was added to the League—Mr. John Morphett being
its President. Another meeting was held in Sydney in
June 1852, at which the fall of Earl Grey was hailed as a
matter of congratulation. Mr. Parkes, lamenting that the
-drain of population from Van Diemen’s Land to the gold-
fields had deprived her of the means of fighting, denounced
transportation as ‘‘incompatible with the permanence of
British rule in Australasia,” and averred that if the alterna-
tive should be forced upon the colonists of ‘choosing
between British connection in name and an unsullied
British character in fact,” the latter would, before long, be
preferred ‘‘at any sacrifice.”” Neither such a resolution,
however, nor the address embodying it signed by Charles
Cowper, as President of the Australasian League, swept
.away a system which was loathsome to many and grievous
toall. Common sense revolted from pouring ecriminals upon
.a soil teeming with gold. Humanity recoiled from flooding
the homes of the honest with the offscourings of English
gaols. When Earl Grey fell, the question was decided.
English fair play guided Lord Derby to its solution.

The speech from the throne (11th Nov. 1852)
declared that Her Majesty would rejoice if Parliament
should find it “possible to devise means by which, without
giving encouragement to crime, transportation to Van
Diemen’s Land may at no distant period be altogether
discontinued.” Both Houses affirmed their desire for
such a consummation, and when Lord Derby fell in
December 1852, Sir J. Pakington had redeemed his pro-
mises. In June 1852, he transferred the gold revenues to
the Colonial Legislatures, in order to enable them to cope
with the unexampled difficulties arising from the gold dis-
coveries. He received the address of the Sydney Couneil,
embodying Wentworth's Constitutional Remonstrance, on
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Mr. J. S. Hampton, of unsavoury memory with regard to
Sir Eardley Wilmot’sill-treatment, was Comptroller-General,
enjoying the favour of the Governor and of Earl Grey.
There was a clerk in the Convict Department in Sydney,
who supported transportation in letters which were sent to
the Earl. The grateful nobleman urged upon public men in
another colony the propriety of finding lucrative employ-
ment for his clerical patron, and a pliant Colonial Minister
complied. There was some fitness in the promotion and
career of Hampton. As convicts decreased in number in
Van Diemen’s Land, and the odour of his occupation
became fainter in the island, Mr. Hampton found a con-
genial post as Governor of Western Australia in 1862. There
he remained until transportation to that colony was discon-
tinued in 1868. The cessation of transportation to Van
Diemen’s Land was formally announced to Sir W. Denison
in 1853%, and the inhabitants held high festival on the
10th August. The popular Speaker, Mr. Richard Dry,
requested the Governor to proclaim a public holiday on the
occasion. Sir W. Denison declined to do so, on the ground
that it was unadvisable to enhance the antagonism of class
against class. But the holiday was voluntary and general.
A formal Order-in-Council (29th Dec. 1853) repealed
all Orders constituting Van Diemen’s Land and Norfolk
Island penal settlements, and on the 6th April 1854, the
Australasian Anti-Transportation League was dissolved.

On the 28rd October 1854, the Legislative Council in
Hobart Town prayed that the island might be called
Tasmania. Her Majesty had issued Letters Patent creating
an Episcopal See of Tasmania, and the name was preferred
by the colonists. The prayer was supported by Sir W.
Denison,'” and (21st July 1855) by Order-in-Council at
Osborne House, the Queen commanded that “on and after

'¢ Sir W. Denison told the Duke (July 1853) that ‘‘for some years to
come a military force of some strength will be required to support the
civil authorities in maintaining order among the very bad class of offenders
who will be left on the hands of the government.”

" He said: ‘“There is a feeling here that to the name of Van Diemen’s
Land a certain stigma is attached, and that the name is somehow con-
nected with the former condition of this colony as a penal settlement.”
The term ‘“ Vandemonian” as a bye-word for the dwellers in the island had
become offensive to them. :
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pardon might, in spite of it, be treated as a felon, kept to
labour in irons for three years, and know that his property
had been pillaged, one-half for the benefit of an informer,
the other half for the use of the colony of Victoria. Even
those who could return to England might be dealt with
as offenders illegally at large in Victoria. The crudeness
of the measure was shown by the assumption in the pre-
amble, that a conditional pardon was similar to a ticket-of-
leave. Public meetings in Van Diemen’s Land and a
petition to the Queen denounced the Act as disgraceful and
vindictive, and prayed that it might be disallowed. Sir
W. Denison heartily supported the prayer. He had no
sympathy with the pliancy of Mr. Latrobe. The strong
man in the Victorian Executive Council was the Attorney-
General. He, an ardent supporter of the Anti-Transporta-
tion League, could have made his own terms on acceptance
of office, if any difficulty had been anticipated with regard
to convicts, just as a law officer, Mr. Francis (afterwards
Chief Justice) Smith stipulated for full freedom to oppose
transportation when he accepted office at Sir W. Denison'’s
hands. Him the latter respected. But it was otherwise
with his Colonial Secretary, H. S. Chapman, and another
official. Mr. Chapman had been a subordinate agent for
the Papineau party in England: and his first employment
under the Crown was received from the Whigs in connec-
tion with an inquiry about hand-loom weavers in England.
He went to New Zealand as a judge in 1848. In 1852, he
was appointed Colonial Secretary in Van Diemen’s Land.
A proposition for an address praying the Queen to abolish
transportation being mooted, the Governor conferred with
Mr. Chapman as to the best mode of meeting the difficulty.
But the latter had already conferred with the proposers,
and told the astonished Sir William that he was unable to
vote against the motion. The Governor ‘‘ pointed out how
improperly he had acted in accepting office in a convict
colony while he held such opinions, and how unfairly he
had dealt with me in keeping these opinions secret from
me, and from all the members of the government.”

Sir W. Denison thought it would have been right to
suspend him at once, but his ‘‘compassion was excited by
his statement, that in such o case he would be left
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Port Phillip. The man was erroneously assumed to be not
free. Captain Gilmore’s character was irreproachable, and
no man believed him guilty of knowingly infringing the
law. He was as well known and respected in Melbourne
as in the other colonies. But the community was excited.
The evil dreaded was great, and the resolution to stifle it
was feverish. The man Barry, for whose presence in the
Yarra Yarra Captain Gilmore was fined, had previously
been arrested and sent back to Launceston under the
provisions of the Convicts Prevention Act. Proved to be
free, he had returned in the Yarra Yarra. On recapture,
he was sentenced to work for twelve months on the roads,
and Captain Gilmore was warned from the Bench that for
a ‘“ next offence” the ‘‘ highest penalty—imprisonment’’—
would be awarded to him. The law officers in Van Diemen’s
Land recommended that a writ of habeas corpus should be
sued out for Barry in the Supreme Court of Victoria, and
that he be provided with the proofs of his freedom, vouched
by Sir W. Denison’s signature.

Sir W. Denison sent extracts from official records to Mr.
Latrobe. They proved Barry’s freedom; that conse-
quently he had been unjustly treated; and that Captain
Gilmore had been unjustly fined. To Mr. Latrobe and his
advisers they proved these facts in vain. Sir W. Denison
was told that although Barry was really free, yet as he
had not produced the document necessary to prove the
fact, he must, like others, ‘‘take the consequences, and
whatever these may be they have nobody to blame but
themselves.” ‘‘If a man who never had been a prisoner
should be imprisoned, the principle of compensation would
be most readily entertained; but it can scarcely be looked
for in the case of an individual who is found to have been
within any reasonable period a prisoner of the Crown.”
With those who could write thus it was vain to reason.
Sir W. Denison sent a reply, logically effective,’® and
transmitted the papers to England (Sept. 1858). The
Duke of Newcastle informed him (Dec. 1858) that he had
already forwarded to Mr. Latrobe an Order disallowing the
Act, but knowledge of the disallowance did not induce the

' Parliamentary Papers, vol. liv. 1854
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of Sir G. Grey and the conduct of Sir W. Denison.?
A committee was appointed at a great meeting in Mel-
bourne to watch the progress of events. The Mayor (John
Hodgson) presided, and was appointed chairman of the
committee.”? On the committee were many colonists who
had assisted in founding the Anti-Transportation League
in 1851.

Sir C. Hotham’s Passport Bill was discarded by the
Legislative Council. Mr. William Nicholson introduced an
Influx of Criminals Prevention Bill, which was more
stringent than its disallowed predecessors. It enacted that
no freed man should go to Victoria until three years had
elapsed after the expiry of his sentence. It was limited to
one year. 'T'he law officers considered that the Governor
might assent to it, and (16th Nov.) after riots at Ballarat
had indicated that danger was in the air, and that no
loyally-disposed person could be spared from the ranks of
the Governor’s supporters, he swept the obnoxious subject
from his path within three weeks of the occurrence of an
attempt to strike down law and authority, and ereet that
revolutionary substitute for government which Dr. Lang
and his supporters extolled under the name of Freedom.

When the discovery of gold is treated of, it will be seen
that it was well that Sir C. Hotham swept from his path
an obstacle which would have left him absolutely without
a supporter in a population exceeding 800,000 persons.
Sir W. Denison remonstrated with Sir C. Hotham against
the Act, but the latter declined to discuss the subject with
him. Their difference of opinion did not restrain Sir C.
Hotham from requesting, nor Sir W. Denison from afford-
ing, military assistance (within three weeks of their differ-

* The irritation against Sir W. Denison was made fiercer by the fact
that it was known that he had been appointed Governor of New South
Wales, and Governor-General, and thus had a quasi, though not practical,
connection with Victoria.

% Walking from the meeting with the author, the American Consul
remarked: ‘I don’t know what you think, but in our country we should
think that a very great meeting.” He was curious to see how Sir C.
Hotham could surmount his di!l';liculties. The Governor’s bold act in
giving the Royal Assent was not expected by the Consul. It was final;
although Lord J. Russell wrote (4th June 1855) that it was impossible for
Her Majesty’s advisers to ‘‘ recommend her to allow such a law to remain
in operation in one of her colonies.”
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convicts. She dreaded their arrival, and hazarded her
loyalty to exclude them. But to the 20,000 who had
arrived before special legislation was resorted to she gave
votes, which made them a power in the land. South
Australia was unalarmed by any influx of conviets. She
guarded her soil from their feet; but it was to join in the
scramble for gold, and not to till the land, that emanci-
pated scoundrels migrated to Australia, and the agri-
cultural colony was comparatively free from them. New
South Wales had so long ceased to receive British convicts
that Sir C. Fitz Roy (Dec. 1851) wrote that only 1640 were
in the territory, and that it was computed that by annual
diminutions, by reason of death or emancipation, there
would be none remaining in the land in December 1858.

When some persons sought for the introduction of
convict servants in the northern districts of the colony, Sir
J. Pakington (Dec. 1852) told Fitz Roy that it had been
resolved to discontinue transportation ‘to any of the
colonies on the southern or eastern sides of Australia.”
At a later date the Duke of Newcastle wrote that he would
adhere to the views of his predecessor.

Few more words are necessary with regard to transporta-
tion to the mother colony of the Australian group. To
wipe out all remembrance of the fact as speedily as pos-
sible, the Legislative Council, in October 1854, urged—and
Sir C. Fitz Roy supported their request—that absolute
pardons should be granted to all holders of conditional
pardons, so that ‘‘every vestige of the former penal
system of New South Wales should be effaced at the
earliest possible moment.” In Lord J. Russell’s mind so
sweeping a proposal aroused feelings which ought to have
made him sympathetic with free colonists of Victoria,
whither thousands of such freedmen had migrated. It
would be inconsistent with ‘“the caution which should
characterize the administration of criminal justice,” and
““would give rise to much alarm and anxiety” in England.
He would carefully consider ‘‘individual cases.” When
the proportion which the pardoned men would have borne
to the population of the United Kingdom is considered, it
must be admitted that if the idea of their infusion justified
alarm in England, the inhabitants of South Australia and
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labour of prisoners by receiving articles made at the
factories; and on general grounds inquiry was demanded.
The local Executive had already censured the ineriminated
persons mildly, and had reported the fact to the Secretary
of State. The Governor, Sir Henry Fox Young, on the
plea that the penal establishments” were under Imperial
control, and that the matters alluded to had already been
disposed of, subject to approval or disapproval in England,
declined to direct the attendance of officers and the pro-
duction of papers before the committee. He, like Sir W.
Denison, had conceived a high idea of Hampton.

The indignant committee resolved to summon Hampton
and Colonel Champ, the Colonial Secretary. Mr. T. D.
Chapman, on the part of the majority in the Counecil,
carried a resolution affirming that neither Secretary of
State nor Queen could grant such exclusive privileges as
were claimed by Hampton’s friends. The Attorney-
General, Mr. F. Smith, who had refused to accept office
from Sir W. Denison except with full freedom to oppose
transportation, formed the main strength of the government
in opposing doubtful action on the part of his former fellow-
labourers. His character was so high that none imputed
servility to him. His arguments irritated his opponents
because they were unable to contend with them otherwise
than by declamation. Nevertheless there were amongst
them sincere believers in what they asserted. Mr. T. G.
Gregson (an early advocate for representative institutions,
and an opponent of transportation) violently assailed the
government. In the coarsest language, but with undeni-
able vigour, he railed not only at Dr. Hampton and his
subordinates, but at the Attorney-General. One officer in
the Convict Department, J. D. Balfe, had an Irish reputa-
tion before he appeared as Assistant-Comptroller under
Hampton. He had been a coadjutor of Smith O’Brien and
of Charles G. Duffy, and his contributions to the Nation
newspaper (under the style of Peter Carroll, Stonemason)
made a name for him. After the failure of the revolution
into which Duffy and others precipitated Smith O’Brien in
1848, the remnants of the Repeal Association confided to
the public their opinions of one another. John Mitchell
complained that though Duffy was the ‘ very man who
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Hampton declined to attend the select committee. On
the 11th, the Council, by 20 votes against 7, declared him
‘““in contempt.” The Serjeant-at-Arms went to arrest him,
and received his written statement that the Speaker’s
warrant was illegal, and that Hampton would forcibly
resist any trespasser who might strive to execute it. Mr.
T. D. Chapman, by 18 votes against 7, induced the Council
to authorize the Speaker (Michael Fenton) to issue his
warrant requiring all persons to assist in apprehending
Hampton. There were secret and serious discussions.
Hampton wrote to the Speaker (14th Sept.) that he was
willing to test the question at law by allowing the Serjeant-
at-Arms to arrest him until his legal advisers could sue out
a writ of Habeas Corpus, and the return thereto might be
duly tried. The Council, by a division of 15 to 9, refused
to entertain such overtures. The Governor was apprehen-
sive. It is the vice of assemblies, where the sense of
responsibility is spread among a number, to hurry into
action of which perhaps no one would have accepted the
risk.. The chorus of a pack drowns the individual
notes of the leading hounds. Hampton, under advice,
allowed (15th Sept.) the warrant to be executed. The
Serjeant retained custody of him, but a writ of Habeas
Corpus was served on the Serjeant on the 17th.
Hampton, on the plea of ill-health, supported by a medi-
cal certificate, applied for leave of absence. On the
17th September the Governor granted it. On the 18th the
Serjeant-at-Arms told Hampton to go with him to the bar
of the House, and Hampton refused. The Council resolved
that their Speaker and Serjeant should be permitted to
comply with the summons of the Supreme Court, and also
(by fifteen votes against thirteen) that an address should be
sent to the Governor urging him to order that as many
police as might be required should assist in enforcing com-
pliance with the Speaker’s warrant for Hampton’s arrest.
The government had vainly contended in debate and in
private. There was excitement in the Council. The
Governor walked into it, and used his last weapon in
defence of Hampton. With great reluctance he inter-
fered ‘‘between the assertion and the practical
enforcement of powers and privileges which you have
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Civil Commandant at Port Arthur, appeared before a new
select committee, and gave information. He produced an
accurate account, by which it appeared that Hampton had
profited to the extent of about ten guineas by the labour of
the convicts. Hampton meanwhile had placed the sea
between himself and his tormentors, and went to England,
to re-appear in 1862 in Western Australia, where it was
thought that his administrative skill in managing convicts
might be found useful. The Legislative Council, baffled by
his escape from Tasmania, though it renewed its inquiries,
received a report from a select committee that, owing to
his absence, it wasuseless to domore than report the evidence
taken.

In spite of Hampton’s skill, so highly lauded by Sir W.
Denison, there remained difficulties in controlling the
«convicts left in Tasmania when transportation thither was
-discontinued. The capable John Price, who after acting as
Police Magistrate at Hobart Town, had by his stern vigour
restored Norfolk Island to a state of discipline, was lost
from the service of Van Diemen’s Land in 1858. The
reckless convict class which had migrated to Victoria would
not abandon their evil ways although living in a land of
gold. Their hardihood and cunning seemed to require
special supervision when they were re-convicted in Victoria.
Mr. Price was invited thither, and many an expert scoundrel
recognised him as a former controller. For several years
he maintained order in the penitentiaries at Melbourne,
and then fell a victim to the ferocity of his subjects. Visit-
ing a gang of them who were working on the tongue of
land afterwards formed into a jetty at William’s Town, he
introduction of English common law, and that no distinction exists in this
respect between Colonial Legislative Councils and Assemblies whose power
is derived by grant from the Crown, or created under an authority of an
Act of the Imperial Parliament. (Moore’s Privy Council Reports, vol. xi.)
There was an old appeal from Jamaica (Beaumont v. Barrett) in which the
Privy Council sanctioned a different doctrine, but a subsequent appeal
from Newfoundland (Keily ». Carson) reversed the decision in Beaumont
v. Barrett, and Fenton v. Hampton confirmed the decision in Keily ».
Carson. Both the previous cases were largely referred to in the arguments
in Fenton v. Hampton. The Tasmanian case was heard by Lord Justice
Knight Bruce, Right Honourable T. Pemberton, Sir Frederick Pollock
(Lord Chief Baron), and Lord Chief Justice Turner. Judgment was pro-

nounced (17th Feb. 1858), by the Lord Chief Baron, and the judgment of
the Tasmanian Court was affirmed with costs.
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their shores, and the temper of those who deemed them-
selves sufferers from the process. The technical troubles
incurred in removing the last traces of the system are
hardly worth narration, though they occupied men’s minds
seriously at the time. ~With their changed name for their
island and for themselves, the Tasmanians may be allowed
to shake off the later reminiscences of the system against
which they struggled so gallantly. There were matters of
accounts connected with the control of convicts, but there
was no serious dispute about them,and the Imperial Govern-
ment undertook to paya fairly rated proportion of the expense
caused by theresidue of Imperial prisoners. The Executive
Council in Sydney had advised upon the terms there. The
same principle was adopted in Hobart Town. The transfer of
responsibilityand control to thelocalauthorities necessitated
several enactments in 1855, under the government of Sir
Henry Fox Young. The loss of forced labour was followed
in Tasmania by distress. Wages were high, as might be
expected, when all able-bodied freemen could in a few days
transport themselves to the goldfields or labour markets of
Victoria. Sir W. Denison wrote regretfully from Sydney:
¢ My poor old colony, Van Diemen’s Land, is in a miserable
condition. I kept warning the people of what would be the
result of the cessation of transportation, and the blow has
now come upon them.” The objects of his solicitude,
however, would not repent. When there were rumours
that the projected separation of Moreton Bay from the
colony of New South Wales was to be accompanied by the
formation of a new penal establishment in the northern
territory, the Legislative Councils in Victoria and Tasmania
vehemently deprecated the proposal. The petition from
Victoria to the Queen was the work of the President of the
Council, Dr. Palmer, who predicted from such a project
the perishing of order and the paramount supremacy of
frightful crimes? in Victoria, from which it would be
impossible to exclude convicts landed in Australia or in

2 < Being of opinion that the foundations of a vast empire are already
laid in this hemisphere, which should bring glory to the British Crown,
we are solicitous that no unhappy bias may be given to its nascent
energies, and that nothing may be done to weaken the loyalty which we
bear towards your Majesty’s person.”
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gent the Perth police magistrate to inquire, and the latter
taught ‘“a lesson” by 1emand1ng ““gix ringleaders to the
principal depot at Fremantle.” The Governor asked for
more soldiers from England. S8ir J. Pakington approved of
the firmness displayed in depriving the ringleaders of
their tickets-of-leave, and warned the Governor that ¢ in-
subordination among convicts will never be successfully
met by timidity or weak indulgence;”’ but he could not
send soldiers. Captain Fitzgerald found, as early as in
1852, that the halt and infirm amongst his prison subjects
would require his care. To enable the infirm to weed and
perform light tasks, he sought for a government farm.
The wild squandering of Crown lands by grants had so filed
down the public estate that he was compelled to ask for
leave to exchange 1280 acres of Crown land at Champion
Bay for 640 acres twelve miles from Perth. Of the desired
land, twenty acres were cleared and forty were fenced in.
The seller would also engage to open a store on his land at
Champion Bay, which would be a boon to the settlers
there. Sir J. Pakington pointed out that the Land Sales .
Act required that ready money should be paid for all land.
sold by the Crown, and the Governor’s project was abortive.

It is worth mentioning as a sign of the vice in colonization
which Western Australia exhibited, and to which Gibbon
Wakefield by his “Letter from Sydney” administered a
deathblow. Had the government, in managing the public
estate, parted with it wisely, and for a sufficient price, they
could not have been driven to seek for a few acres-at the
hands of a settler in 1852.

The consternation of the Governor, when in 1852 fourteen
free persons departed to the Melbourne goldfields, and he
thought a thousand might follow if they could find means:
to pay for their passages, made him cry to Earl Grey that
his scheme of neutralizing the evil effects of transportation,
by sending equal numbers of bond and free to the colony,
would be neutralized by re-emigration of the free. The
dread of the colonists when they learned that Lord J.
Russell had stated in Parliament (Feb. 1858) that trans-
portation was to cease caused them to petition for its
continuance. The welfare, the existence of the colony,
were affirmed by public meetings to depend upon it. The
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Western Australia provided that the cost of transportation
should be exacted from each conviet’s earnings in order to
recoup the government. Seven thousand pounds were due
from ticket-of-leave men on this account in 1857. There
was a singular regulation in force by which ticket-of-leave
men were invited to buy their freedom and replenish the
public coffers. They could obtain their ultimate conditional
pardons by paying thus—
A couvict for 7 years,—for :lf.‘g 10s. payable in 14 years.

2 10 2 ” ”»

”» 15 ,, 15 ) 3
”» 20 2 20 ” 4
I llfe » 25 » 5 ”»

It was under Earl Grey that these prices were put upon
terms of years, and on lives.

Lectures by prisoners were encouraged. The Governor
attended one of them. In an exordium the lecturer hailed
the ““rare opportunity’ afforded for lauding the Governor,
and saying on behalf of his *fellow-captives”” that they
laid at his Excellency’s feet their ‘‘heartfelt sentiments.”
¢ Be assured that these are no mere expressions of fictitious
feelings, or of vapid compliments to obtain an adventitious
approbation, but the genuine impulses of our souls.” The
Governor addressed the conviet auditory (500 in number) at
the close of the lecture, and sent a copy of it to the Duke of
Newcastle.®

The subject of transportation, interesting as its victims
were to Western Australia, must be dismissed as briefly as
possible. To the present generation it is a stumbling-
block. To the past it was a horror. To the future anti-
quarian it will be a study into which men will enter with
the curiosity which now attends the disquisitions of Niebuhr
on primitive Romans. In 1854 the Governor congratulated
the Secretary of State upon the improving revenue, but
admitted that ‘“had it not been for the introduction of
convicts, the fascinations of the goldfields would have
literally so depopulated the colony as ere this to have
reduced its inhabitants to such officials as it might have
suited to remain in the service of the government.” The
transportation of women to the colony had first -been

# Parliamentary Papers, vol, liv. 1854.
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CHAPTER XIV.
DISCOVERY OF GOLD.

Tre discovery of gold in Australia, though destined to
effect great changes, social and political, was made many
years before those changes were produced by abrupt dis-
closure that it existed in enormous quantities, and could be
obtained by simple methods at what were called ‘alluvial
diggings ;" i.e., those, where by digging pits, extracting the
gold-sprinkled earth, and washing it at the water-side in a
wooden cradle (with a series of checks to arrest the gold as
the mud and water escaped) large quantities of granular
or laminated fragments of gold were collected without
scientific knowledge or appliances, and by unskilled labour.

Edward Hammond Hargraves was the unscientific pérson
who disclosed the fact. He had migrated from New South
Wales to California. When seeking for gold there, and
observing the facility with which it was washed from the
detritus or alluvium in which it was embedded, it occurred
to him that he had seen in New South Wales places in
which the soil and conformation were like those which
yielded gold in America. Possessed of the knowledge
needful to test the matter practically, he returned to
Sydney. But long before that time gold had been picked
up in Australia, and had excited eager but evanescent
curiosity. Count Strzelecki, in 1839, reported to Sir G.
Gipps that he had found in the Vale of Clwydd, ‘an
auriferous sulphuret of iron yielding a very small quantity
of gold, although not enough to repay extraction.” As
gold was said in text-books of the day to be more widely






508 SIR RODERICK MURCHISON. REV. W, B. CLARKE.

- Sir Roderick Murchison was president of the Geographical

Society when Strzelecki returned from Australia to Europe.
Struck by the specimens he saw, Sir Roderick lost no time
in pointing out that the nature of the rocks in the Aus-
tralian Eastern Cordillera, and its meridian direction
analogous to the Ural chain, implied that it would be
found auriferous. In 1846 he suggested to Sir Charles
Lemon that Cornish miners ought to be invited to test
this prophecy. In 1848 he acquainted Earl Grey officially
with the fact,®? that one W. T. Smith, prompted by
Murchison’s surmises, had found and sent to England a
gold specimen procured ‘‘in a matrix of quartz rock™ on
the western slopes of the Blue Mountains. Sir Roderick
suggested that the government might cause a mineral
survey to be made. Earl Grey thanked him, but nothing
was done. Mr. Smith, who had sent the specimen, had
probably found it as McGregor the shepherd had found
many ; if indeed it was not one obtained from McGregor
himself.

In 1858 Sir Roderick Murchison, in order to justify his
claim to share the credit of the Australian gold discoveries,
marshalled his predictions of 1844 and his advice of 1846
and 1848 in a letter to the Duke of Newcastle.? He was
able to show that there had been no publication of other
predictions than his own when he promulgated them, and,
““in the honour of the science’ he cultivated, he requested
that his letter might be included amongst the Parliamentary

apers.
P The Rev. Mr. Clarke was able to show that he had in
1841 and in 1844 revealed his anticipations. In the
former year he had “detected” gold at the ‘“head of the
Winburndale rivulet, and in the granite westward of the
Vale of Clwydd.” In 1848 he had freely mentioned the
fact. He had then found a specimen weighing one penny-
weight. In 1844 he had shown a specimen to Governor
Gipps. No one appeared to regard the matter as important.
Rather inconsistently with this admission Mr. Clarke re-
marked that—¢‘ Consideration of the penal condition of the

* Parliamentary Papers, vol. lxiv., p. 43. 1853. Presented 16th
August.
3 Ib,
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never prosecuted their researches, although the distraction
of colonists and labourers to California, in 1849 and 1850,
caused dismay in Australia.

In March 1850 Mr. William Campbell, of Strathloddon,
while visiting the station of a friend (Mr. Cameron) at
Clunes, persuaded others to join him in searching for gold.
The mass taken to Brentani's shop in 1849, and the
accounts arriving from California as to gold-bearing rocks,
concurred in making Mr. Campbell believe that gold would
be found at Clunes. Accordingly the searchers found it at
Cameron’s, but did not divulge the fact, ‘“as Mr. Cameron’s
interests were likely (Mr. Campbell said) to have been
injured by the discovery being then made known to the
public.”’® :

Hargraves had, like other persons, heard the rumours
about gold in former years, but nevertheless migrated to
California in 1849. In the following year he returned
to prove whether with the spade, the pick-axe, and the
wooden cradle, he could eliminate gold from alluvium in
Australia, as he saw it procured in America.

On the 12th February 1851, he succeeded in a private
experiment. In April he applied to Deas Thomson for
a reward, asking (8rd April) for £500 as compensation for
the ‘‘great hardships, expenses, and exercise of skill”
during the past. He would then show the site of his dis-
covery, and ‘““would leave it to the generosity of the
government’’ to make an additional reward commensurate
“with the benefit likely to accrue to the government and
the country.” The offer made to Smith in 1849 was
repeated to Hargraves,® who, after three weeks’ delibera-

8 Vide infra, p. 512 and note.

¢ Persons named Tom and Lister put forward quasi-claims as discoverers.
Hargraves had received assistance from them in conducting his firat experi-
ments with a cradle at Lewis Ponds and Summer Hill in February 1851.
A Select Committee (New South Wales) recommended (1853) that they
should receive £1000 for their labours, but reported that Hargraves was
entitled to be regarded as ‘‘the first discoverer of the auriferous wealth of
the colony,” to which he had returned ¢ for the express purpose of search-
ing for gold.” Wentworth was chairman of the committee. ~Hargraves
stated in his evidence that during his first interview with Deas Thomson
the latter said, *‘ If what you say is correct, Mr. Hargraves, we have got a
goldfield. It will stop the emigration to California, and settle the convict
question.” New South Wales Legislative Council Papers. 1853.
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the Turon river and other tributaries of the Macquarie
river. Mr. W. Essington King, a grandson of Governor
King, was one of them.

At Ophir on the Summer Hill Creek, and at Sofala on
the Turon, hundreds rushed to dig with or without licenses.
The road over the Blue Mountains, diseovered with so much
toil in 1813, was lined with a motley crowd of men, women,
and children, trooping laboriously to the goldfields. The
excitement spread to Victoria, and there were fears that all
ordinary labour would be abandoned. To arrest the exodus
from Melbourne, it was resolved at a public meeting (in
June) to offer a reward of £200 for the discovery of a gold
mine within 200 miles of Melbourne. William Nicholson
(the mayor), Messrs. Westgarth, O’Shanassy, Fawkner,
Grice, Dr. Greeves, McCombie, and others were appointed
as a committee of superintendence.

Stimulated thus, search parties went out in many direc-
tions. The discovery made by Mr. Campbell at Clunes in
1850 was mentioned by Mr. Cameron to others, and further
search confirmed the genuineness of the discovery of 1850.7
Gold was also found at the Plenty river, and at Anderson’s
Creek, tributaries of the Yarra river. Other discoveries
were made at the Pyrenees and elsewhere, but all were
overshadowed by the finding of gold at Buninyong in quan-
tities which attracted diggers, who (8th Sept. 1851) encoun-
tered the mineral treasures of Ballarat, and put an end to
apprehension lest goldfields in New South Wales should
draw away the thews and sinews of Victoria,

Mr, Latrobe, in August, imitated the proclamation issued
in Sydney in May, to protect the rights of the Crown, and
copied also the regulations with regard to licenses. In

7 A Select Committee of the Legislative Council of Victoria reported in
1854 on the claims for rewards, and recommended that:—Mr. ves
should receive £5000, Rev. \V. B. Clarke £1000, Mr. Michel and others
(for Ballarat fields) £1000, Mr. Hiscock (for Ballarat fields) £1000, Mr. W.
Campbell (‘“as without doubt the original discoverer of the Clunes”)
£1000, Mr. Esmonds £1000, Dr. Bruhn £1000. Mr. Campbell (who was
for many years a member of the Legislative Council of Victoria) received
only a portion of the amount recommended (£476 4s.), and gave half of the
sum to two persons who accompanied him in his search at Clunes in 1850,
and half to various hospitals and the Benevolent Asylum. New South
Wales afterwards awarded £10,000 to Hargreaves for his discovery of
1851, and gave him a pension.
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weighed 102 lbs. 9 ozs. The local newspaper (16th July)
declared :

< Bathurst is mad again. The delirium of golden fever has returned with
increased intensity. Men meet together, stare stupidly at each other,
talk incoherent nonsense, and wonder what will happen next. . . . Since
the affair was blazoned to the world several gentlemen of our acquaintance
have shown undoubted symptoms of temporary insanity . . . should the
effect be at all proportionate in Sydney to its population, the inmates of
Bedlam Point may be fairly reckoned an integral portion of the com-
munity.’ .

Mr. Hardy, the Gold Commissioner, seized the gold as
Crown property; it had been taken by an unlicensed person.
The holders entered into a bond to pay (not more than) 10
per cent. as a royalty if demanded, and Sir C. Fitz Roy
asked Earl Grey (and Earl Grey consented) to remit the
bond as the rights of the Crown had been protected. He
wrote (17th July): ¢ What effect this fresh cause of excite-
ment may have upon the public mind it is impossible at
this moment to foresee, but the excitement is now very great
in Sydney.” Three schoolteachers, at Bathurst and the
contiguous Kelso, fled from their task to the goldfields. As
the schoolmaster’s office was ill-paid, it was filled by inferior
persons in some cases, and their defection could not be
wondered at. But not only ill-paid functionaries were
drawn into the vortex. Barristers, attorneys, medical men,
merchants, shopkeepers, artisans, brickmakers, labourers,
sailors, mingled in the throng.

The proximity of Ballarat and Forest Creek to Melbourne,
as compared with the remoteness of Ophir or the Meroo
from Sydney, rendered it easy to reach the Victorian gold-
fields, and they yielded greater profits to the collected
crowds. 'What would have been the fate of Victoria if the
discovery in New South Wales had not preceded that in
the new colony it is hard to tell. For a time each step of
her neighbour was followed by Victoria, and it was not
until he was persuaded to try an experiment, that Mr.
Latrobe fell into a blunder of which he never shook off
the evil consequences. But it was easier to allot the gold
districts of New South Wales to Commissioners than to allo
those of Vietoria. Extensive tracts of widely-separated
goldfields in the older colony did not contain so many
thousand miners as were scrambling at one time amongst
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was not to assemble until October, and the task of enfore-
ing regulations under the existing law fell upon the Execu-.
tive. A rough method of apportioning duties was adopted
by assuming that, in addition to the general oversight of
the Chief Commissioner, there should be at each goldfield
an Assistant Commissioner, a clerk, and ten mounted
policemen for ¢ every thousand diggers.” Gold-seekers
were at work in 1851 at the Abercromby Ranges, between
Goulburn and Bathurst, as well as at Araluen, near Braid-
wood. The Rev. W. B. Clarke was employed in indepen-
dent search for remunerative goldfields, while Mr. Stuteh-
bury furnished periodic reports on the same subject, and
the Surveyor-General was consulted. It was soon found
that for all scientific purposes the services of Hargraves
were worthless, and they were dispensed with.

On the Tth October the area of claims for licensees to dig
for alluvial gold—the voiding of such claims by non-usage
—the limitation of amount of license-fee for working on
private lands to half the amount of that upon Crown lands
—the area of claim (half a mile of, and in the course of &
vein) allowed for mining on quartz veins, 10 per cent.
being payable as royalty to the Crown—the mode of
forfeiture of such claims—the. fixing of the royaliy for
quartz-vein mining on private lands at 5 per cent.—were
dealt with in one notification.” The price of gold was dealt
with. There was doubt as to the value of the crude gold.
Buyers mysteriously averred that until the value should be
tested at the Bank of England it was dangerous to assume
a value approximating to the standard accepted there. A
new kind of commercial traveller sprang into existence.
Speculators employed active buyers, who roamed over the
goldfields, giving as little more than £2 an ounce as
possible.

An official notice? (21st Oct.) announced that the gold
received by the government in payment for license fees
would be valued at £8 per ounce for ‘“ alluvial gold, or gold
obtained by separation only,” and £2 8s. per ounce. for
“ gold obtained by amalgamation.” The bolder speculators,

"' On 17th October 1851, a board appointed to open the tenders for gold

in the hands of the government reported that the highest price tendered
was £3 4s. 3d. an ounce. : S
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of which Mr. Cowper was chairman. Mr. Cowper proposed
to reduce the number of mounted men and increase the
number of dismounted men in the force which had long
been the terror of evil-doers and the welcome guests of
honest men.

Regretting that the corps could not be altogether dispensed
with, Mr. Cowper advocated its reduction. It was seriously
weakened when the discovery of the goldfields made the
loss of its services a public calamity, and about ten years
afterwards the revival of bushranging in the settled districts
of the colony made men remorseful when they remembered
that tle Legislature had destroyed the organization which
had so long preserved order. Mr. Cowper carried a resolu-
tion requesting the Governor to take the report into favour-
able consideration. The request was complied with. The
disbanded men pursued private occupations—the routine
of regimental duty being distasteful to most of them after
their roaming life in the bush—and only a few of them
were available when the goldfields created a new demand
for their services.

The management of the New South Wales goldfields had
been prosperous when the Legislative Council met (Oct.
1851), and the measures hastily adopted by the Executive
Government were virtually ratified by the Legislature.
Even Dr. Lang was impotent to disturb the existing order;
although, according to his custom, he availed himself of a
visit to the Turon, to stir up ill-feeling. He had been re-
turned as member for Sydney, and the turbulent at Sofala on
the Turon welcomed him as their chief. Preaching to them
he denounced the Electoral Bill (of 1851) as an act of the
grossest injustice perpetrated by unprincipled men (Deas
Thomson, Wentworth, Latrobe, &c.). But “the star of
freedom” had arisen. On the 6th October some miners
presented an address urging him to battle with ‘‘hypo-
critical leaders of a base and grovelling faction of obstrue-
tionists,” and promising him ‘“a distinguished place in
history.” He declared that the discovery of gold could not
fail to hasten ““our entire political freedom and national
independence.” Prudential considerations restrained him
from declaring that he was possessed of the property quali-
fication required by law, and he did not take his seat.
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the mineral produce of the colony either by export duty
on gold, or by royalty, or in any other manner which
local experience may suggest.” If the Colonial Legislatures
had mutually agreed to levy the royalty on gold in. the
shape of an export duty, there might have been no riots on
the goldfields in either colony. Sir J. Pakington's de-
spatch was considered by a Select Committee. Mr. James
Macarthur was chairman. Three reports were made, and
the result was a determination to adhere to the licensing
gystem. A lurking sense of danger, likely to accrue from
an influx of foreigners unimbued with respect for English
law, was shown in a clause which exacted from aliens a
double amount of roya.ltv or fee.’? Regulations defined the
manner in which, in pursuing their avocations, licensees
were to act. A roya,lty of 5 per cent. was imposed on-gold
taken from private lands. It was 10 per cent. on Crown
lands in cases where the royalty was substituted for the
monthly license on ‘‘auriferous tracts.” The position of
the pastoral tenant was to be molested so far only as might
be reported by the Commissioner “to be desirable for
securing to the licensed miners the undisturbed prosecution
of their employment.” The Act gave power to the Governor
to suspend any lease or license for pastoral purposes, and
secured compensation by arbitration under Earl Grey’s
land orders of 1847. Sir C. Fitz Roy and his advisers had
been accused of unduly favouring the squatters in their
avocations. They now took ample power to promote the
avocation of the gold-digger. The efficiency of Governor
Fitz Roy’s advisers, his sufficient firmness, and the com-
paratively small population congregated at any one gold-
field in New South Wales, enabled him to cope successfully
with his difficulties. But it is improbable that under the
license system he could have maintained permanent order
' Letters of denization were easily obtainable under a local law, and
denizens were ‘‘ t6 be considered British subjects within the meaning of
the Gold Regulations.” The Goldfields’ Management Act was
28tlr December 1852. Its preamble was:—‘‘ Whereas Her Ma.Jest ueen
Victoria has been graciously pleased to place at the disposal of the vernor
and Legislative Council of {Iew South EVales, for the public service of the
colony, the revenues to be derived from the gold mines and gold-fields
thereof, and to authorize the said . . . to determine with Her Majeaty’ 5

agsent the mode of raising a revenue from the said gold mines .’ .
the amount of fees and royalties to be paid upon the working theroof » &e.
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‘It was my obvious duty in the first instance to vindicate the law, but

that having vasen done, it was impossible to deny that some of the clauses
in the Act, in accordance with wﬂich the Regulations had been framed,
were of a more stringent character than the original regulations of the
Executive Government, and that they might not unjustly be considered
harsh, if not oppressive.”
He submitted an amending bill to the Council in May
1858. The number of licenses to dig for gold was less than
12,000 at that date, but 800 licenses to traders at the gold-
fields (at 80s. a month) raised the total to 12,865. The
gold known to have been exported on the 81st March 1858
was 1,176,370 ozs. If a royalty equal to 2s. 6d. an ounce
had been levied on exportation at the Custom House, the
gold revenue would have been £147,000. The amount
obtained was much less, and the expensive and irritating
method of collection more than destroyed its value. If no
official staff except that required to administer justice
between Her Majesty’s subjects had been maintained at the
goldfields, the resident officers might have been respected.
Looked upon as tax-gatherers, they shared the proverbial
fate of the class.

The Sydney Legislature promptly asked for a Mint, of
which, if it could be procured without delay, one of the
first effects would be to create a sufficient currency without
the cost or delay of importing it, and to abrogate the high
rate of exchange which in every branch of commerce
militated against producers.* In December 1851, an
address to the Queen was adopted. Sir C. Fitz Roy
thought the boon so entirely without precedent in colonial
‘ history”’ that he made no comment on the Address. Sir
J. F. W. Herschel, Master of the Mint, furnished a report.
Earl Grey, apparently unconscious of the immediate
advantages which would accrue to the colony, was ‘ upon
the whole inclined to believe that the advantage would be

recommendation of the Select Committee on the management of the gold-
fields in 1852, declined to vote a salary for the office, and it expired 31st
December 1852. The Committee veported that Mr. Hardy’s views as to
the *“ right of the colony to the goldfields” rendered his retention in office
improper, whatever might have ‘‘ been the zeal and attention displayed by
him at the first discovery of the goldfields.”’

' Against shipments of ordinary produce the rate upon drafts was 8 per
cent.; against consignments of uncoined gold 12 per cent. discount.—
{‘Ixecutisvﬁes Council Minute. Sydney. (Vide Parliamentary Papers, vol.

xiv., 1853.) .
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"Although the emergencies of Victoria mainly drew forth
the despatch by which the gold revenues were placed at
the disposal of the Colonial Legislatures, the Legislative
Council in Sydney had in 1851 taken a step which would
eventually have made a decision necessary upon the point.
‘The Committee of Supply was instructed not to vote from
the general revenue any expenditure originating in or
connected with the discovery of gold, on the ground that
such’ expenditure ‘‘ ought, in justice, to be borne on the
territorial revenue.”” The government obtained eleven
votes against twenty-five in resisting the Instruction. ~ Sir
C. Fitz Roy withdrew the charges objected to; paid them
out of the territorial revenue; informed the Legislative
Council that he had assumed the responsibility; and
received the approval of Sir J. Pakington. After the
prorogation, Sir C. Fitz Roy journeyed to the goldfields,
and received loyal addresses from residents, who thanked
him for the measures by which good order had been main-
tained under ‘‘ unexampled circumstances.” He affably
replied that ‘‘ the peaceable and orderly conduct of the
miners themselves” had conduced to the happy result.

It was convenient to allude to the first discovery of gold
in Victoria in connection with the discoveries in New South
Wales. But the consequences were more momentous in
the former. A richer and compacter territory—larger
treasuries of gold stored nearer to the seaboard—a smaller
population with less power to absorb the crowding im-
migrants—the occupation under pastoral license or lease,
of millions of acres which those immigrants saw and lusted
for—were elements with which the wisest might have
shrunk from dealing. The community of Port Phillip
was overwhelmed by a new population, greedy, adven-
turous, and, in some cases, prone to disorder. Dangerous
ingredients were poured across Bass’s Straits from Tas-
mania.’®* That colony, saturated as it was with convicts
and freed men, discharged in three years a horde -of. men

'* In ¢ Experience of Forty Years in Tasmania” (London : 1855), Mr.
Hugh M. Hull, Clerk Assistant of the House of Assembly, Tasmanisa,
wrote: ‘‘In the three years succeeding the gold discovery in Victoria in
1851 no less than 45,884 persons, printipally men, left Tasmania for the

uncertain employment of gold-digging.” It is probable that some of them
must (after a return to the island) have been reckoned more than once.
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from a river, because neither for that nor for other house-
hold needs could servants be hired, and the previous supply
by water-carts had ceased. Farmers, artisans, and all day-
labourers had fled to the goldfields,!® *‘ in most cases leaving
their employers, and their wives and families to take care of
themselves.” The ships in the harbour were in a great
measure deserted. All contracts for works were arrested.
No workmen were to be found. No contract could be
insisted on. Harvest was approaching; the shearing season
was at hand. Embarrassment prevailed in all men’s minds.
¢ Some would wish to see government decline to sanction
the issue of gold licenses, and to forbid® the working at this
season of the year till the shearing and harvest are over.”
Earl Grey would see that such a course was impracticable.
In order to retain officers in the public service, a tem-
porary increase of pay (about 50 per cent.) was sanctioned,
in anticipation of the consent of the Legislative Couneil
then about to meet. There was little prospect that vessels
would find crews for an outward voyage, and Mr. Latrobe
added : ‘I write this despatch without any certain expec-
tation of the time or manner in which it may reach your
lordship, as there appears no direct mode of communica-
tion with England either from this port or New South
Wales at the present juncture.”?! In another despatch a
geological surveyor was urgently asked for. The discovery
of the Mount Alexander goldfields was depicted. The
Governor rode to the spot, and saw several pounds’ weight
of gold quickly scraped together by two or three persons.
On his return to Melbourne he found renewed excitement.
Then flowed back to Victoria the stream of population
which had previously run to New South Wales, and it was
swollen by adventurers from that colony. Then poured in
the foul draught from Tasmania. And then Mr. Latrobe

¥ One man who had saved £100 more than sufficed to equip him for the
goldfields went to a pawnbroker whom he knew, in order to pledge his
money. The pawnbroker pointed out that he might obtain interest for it
instead of paying for its custody. But the man was resolute, and pawned
his cash, which he returned to redeem, and insisted on paying for its
custody as though he had received an advance upon it.
L: Lil)ore than one elaborate recommendation of this kind reached Mr.

trobe.

* Written 11th October 1851, the despatch reached the Colonial Office
on the 5th April 1852,
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tion, wrote that whether it would throw impediments in the
way of the gold-seekers . . :
¢‘ remains to be seen, but I earnestly look forward to the introduction of
some better system, for, do what you will, the present cannot be held to
be any other than a scramble, ‘a.ng a scramble in which nothing but the
most unremitting and breathless exertion enables government, under every
circumstance of disadvantage, to keep pace with the popular movement,
and maintain in appearance at least some degree of public order and
respect to the laws and regulations.”

He looked forward to the next three months with appre-
hension. His advisers could hardly be ignorant that a
fickle or arbitrary policy could only be maintained by force;
and, both as regarded ‘“‘intestine disturbance or attack
from without,” Mr. Latrobe prayed for ‘“‘one regiment at
least”” in Melbourne. Neither Mr. Latrobe nor his advisers
used any argument to show that a regiment in Melbourne
could be serviceable in collecting the new license fee so
rashly imposed. That it could be collected at all from the
multitudes assembling might be doubted, even if the
majority should be willing to pay it. That they would be
willing could not be expected. That any man er men, by
arbitrary notice, should have power to double or otherwise
increase the charge was repulsive. On constitutional
grounds it might be denounced by those who had no
pecuniary interest in the matter.

Sir G. Gipps having only a few hundred pastoral tenants
to deal with, had by assumption of arbitrary authority,
roused even the town population to band with the squatters
against him, and in those days the colonists had been
settled on the soil for years. Mr. Latrobe, when he
adopted the advice tendered to him, was surrounded by
shoals of greedy gold-seekers bound by no ties to the solil,
but ready to rip it open and abscond with the rifled con-
tents. They protested against the increased charge, and
resolved to resist it. There were preliminary meetings at
Forest Creek as early as the 8th December. Men of no
good reputation were accepted as leaders. They denounced
.the new impost as tyranny to be resisted; declaring the
existing license unjust, and only to be tolerated at their
pleasure. Larger meetings were to follow.

There was a shaking in men’s minds. Had the dis-
respect for authority evinced so often by Di. Lang and his
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At Geelong the Mayor was asked te call a meeting to
consider the situation. He consented, but, learning that
the promoters were hostile to good government, revoked
his consent. A crowd met in the market-place (16th
Dec.), and resolved that the imposition of any royalty
upon the Crown minerals was ““a capitation tax on labour,”
and unjust. One man descanted upon Wat Tyler, Charles
I., and the American Revolution. Some of the denizens
left in the towns seemed as disorderly as the gold-seekers
who had deserted them. Mr. Latrobe published a formal
withdrawal of the rash notice of the doubling of the license
fee. The Argus had, on the 15th, intimated that it would
not be enforced. The withdrawal, which was dated
on the 18th, appeared in the Government Gazette of the
24th.

Though he had consented to the experiment with mis-
giving, the Governor felt the shame of the surrender which
the abortive attempt entailed, and (19th Dec.) in words
suggestive of the pain of the writer, he informed the
Secretary of State that having ascertained ‘beyond all
question that the proposed increase in the fee . . .
would, under existing circumstances, inevitably fail in
securing the objects aimed at,” it had been rescinded
with the advice of his Executive Council.® But no
veil of words could conceal the truth from Mr. Latrobe,
nor would he have lent himself to conceal it from others if
he could.*

* The Gazette notice may be recorded. ‘¢ Measures being now under
the consideration of the government which have for their object the
substitution as soon as circumstances permit, of other Regulations
in lieu of those now in force, based upon the principle of a royalty
leviable upon the amount actually raised, under which gold may be
lawfully removed from its natural place of deposit, His Excellency the
Lt.-Governor, with the advice of the Executive Council, hereby causes
it to be notified that no alteration will at present be made in the amount
of the license fee as levied under the government notice of the 18th
August 1851, and that the government notice of the 1st instant is hereby
rescinded.”

* The story of California in 1849-50 furnishes proof that disorders at

ldfields were not confined to Australia. In the ‘‘History of the United

tates,” by Mr. Rhodes (M‘Millan. London. 1893), we read :—*¢ On the
whole, the territory (California) was bordering on a state of anarchy.
There were no land laws; mining titles were disputed and sometimes
fought over. . . . The habit of carrying weapons was universal;
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to deal with the situation. If the Victorian Legislature
had, by bold adoption of a plan by which a royalty on gold
would be raised at the Custom House (as soon as Sir J.
Pakington’s despatch of 2nd June 1852 enabled them to
do so) swept away reminiscences of the blunder of the
Executive government, they would have achieved reputa-
tion for themselves and would have removed a rankling
cause of offence.

But those who implored Mr. Latrobe to substitute an
export duty for a fee collected like a poll-tax, were dis-
regarded. A paper put into Mr. Latrobe’s hand, showing
from official reports that the license fee was collected at a
loss, and that a small export duty would yield profit, was
scouted. The strong will of the Attorney-General overbore
the official, and to some extent the unofficial, nominees in
the Legislative Council. All men admired his great power
of work, physical and mental, and his devotion to his
duties. Moreover, until instructions could be received from
England, the question was complicated with doubts.

While yet men’s minds were disturbed by the reflection
that government was abased in the colony, an elected
member, Dr. Murphy, moved that the gold mines ought
“to yield a revenue commensurate with the profits derived
from them”—that the monthly licensing system was
‘“ unproductive as a source of revenue,” ¢ unequal, vexa-
tious, and obscure in its details:” *‘that a percentage on
the produce of the mines,” in the form of a duty to be
levied under the authority of the Legislative Counecil,
‘“would be more satisfactory and beneficial, the rights of
the Crown and of the mining population in the works
being recognized and secured by a stated fee sufficient for
these purposes.” Mr. Stawell said, that if the resolutions
only went the length of affirming that, ‘‘ after the Crown
had imposed a royalty it was still competent to the Council
to impose an additional tax in the shape of an export
duty,” he would *‘ support them, but if they went further,
he could not.” He opposed the export duty, because the
value of gold being fixed by Act of Parliament, the duty
would be a tax on the labour of acquiring it, and it
““would not be wise to impose such a tax till the license
system was thoroughly established, and our goldfields
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duty was a tax on labour. The resolutions as amended
were carried by 18 votes against 11; there were no
absentees. The official phalanx and the unofficial nominees
found little or no support amongst the elected members,
but Mr. Latrobe’s advisers induced him to represent to
the Secretary of State that the resolution in favour of an
export duty, while it ‘“seemingly admitted the abstract
right of the Crown to the gold, pointed to the adoption of
measures which would have the effect of leaving the ordinary
revenue to reap the main advantage to be derived from the
discovery, in addition to indirect prospective advantages,
&e.”

Nothing resulted from the debate. So far as ignorance
of the intentions of the Home Government might have tied
their hands, the members were to be pitied rather than
condemned; but, as they were equally untoward in the
following year when Sir J. Pakington had given them blank
charter in dealing with the gold, they cannot escape censure.
To Mr. Latrobe it is due to state that he more clearly than
others saw that the monthly collection of license fees under
Royal prerogative amidst the multitudes prowling over the
Crown lands was impracticable at any cost within his
control. Admitting that there were constitutional impedi-
ments to the substitution of legislative enactment for an
executive ordinance or proclamation in the name of the
Queen, it is a proof of the barrenness of the House, that
under the unexampled circumstances in which it was
placed, it made no attempt to carry into effect, subject to
the Queen’s approval, its recorded opinion that a duty,
easy of collection, was the proper remedy for the confusions
and dangers of the time.

A clause might have been inserted in the Act to guard
the Royal prerogative. It would have been for the Crown:
to consider whether its rights were duly preserved. And
as the Crown when appealed to, conscious of the exigencies
of the colony, promptly empowered the Colonial Legislature
to deal with the whole subject, it was possible that a
method might have been devised by which a reserved bill
would have embodied the opinion of the House, and might
have received the Royal assent, or have been sanctioned by
an Imperial Act. But the Council was barren. The
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‘““the means of meeting the exigency have completely
failed.”

On the 1st January only two out of forty constables were
on duty in Melbourne. In town and country the police had
“ almost entirely abandoned duty.”” About the time when
recalcitrant miners declared that they would resist the law,
the Mayor of Melbourne ascertained the feeling of the
wards of the city. There had been about 100 special con-
stables, but most of them had gone ‘‘ to the diggings.”
In one ward (Fitzroy) Mr. Tripp and Mr. Robert Willan,
both solicitors, carried a resolution pledging a meeting to
assist at any hour ““in quelling any disturbance of the
public peace, and, if required, to act as special constables
or night patrol.” But in Lonsdale Ward only six persons
attended, and nothing was done. In Gipps Ward a
meeting declared that it was not the duty of the citizens,
but of the government, to provide protection. Latrobe
Ward was unanimous in similar repulsion of duty. Bourke
Ward resolved (28rd Dec.) that the government ought to
raise the salaries of the city police, 80 as to ‘ secure their
services during the approaching Christmas holidays.”

Mr. Latrobe said that whether soldiers were to be
procured from Australasia or not, some there must be,
if only to guard the institutions of the towns, and
the gold awaiting shipment. At that date ‘‘two tons™
of gold were ‘‘probably” procured weekly at Mount
Alexander. He sent circulars to the heads of every
department of the colony, and summarized the results
of their replies. Several thought confusion inevitable.
Some thought that unless salaries could be augmented
it would be impossible for subordinate officers to ad-
here to the service even if desirous to do so. All
agreed that without such augmentation serious obstruction
would be felt, and none thought that an increase of less
than fifty per cent. upon the amount voted by the Legis-
lative Council would be sufficient. .

The Superintendent of Police reported that when in
obedience to instructions he offered higher rates of pay to
his force in Melbourne, fifty out of fifty-five determined to
go to the goldfields. His clerk and chief constablées would
remain. The voted pay for 1852 was four shillings a-day:-
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moment satisfied. But the authority of the government isgone . . and
it henceforth only exists by the sufference of a lawless and heterogeneous
multitude . . the same will which repealed with a breath the reason-
able and moderate demand of a government for the price at which it was
willing to part with the property held b{ it in trust for the community,
can in,npose any other conditions, and break through any other restric-
tions.” ’

A saufficient armed force ought to be sent to assert the
law. ‘Whatever be the terms on which it is thought
expedient to permit the digging for gold on the lands of
the Crown, those terms ought to be the result of free and
calm deliberation, uninfluenced by fear or menace. Where
this is not the case, the public resources are surrendered to
pillage.” When these words were read in Australia, all
men felt that no minister would offer another appointment
to Mr. Latrobe. But few knew that he suffered for the
propositions of others, which his general amiability de-
prived him of power to resist. If all had known it, they
would probably have argued that a Governor who yields
against his own judgment reaps the harvest he deserves.
The duty of the historian is to tell the facts. They are
altogether consistent with the character already ascribed
to Mr. Latrobe. But he never sought to cast blame upon
others. The general disorganization of government, of
society, of employment, and of prices, he had a right to
plead, and the Secretary of State was bound to consider.
Unfortunately they demonstrated the folly of the notifica-
tion that £8 would be demanded for a license in January
1852. It was not long before the modest Governor sought
permission to retire.

The community was not unreminded in 1852 of the
calamities in store for it. But the reminder was like
the unheeded voice of conscience. Under the style of
“ Colonus” the Chief Justice, Sir W. a’Beckett, published
an eloquent appeal entitled, ¢ Does the Discovery of Gold in
Victoria, viewed in its relation to its moral and social
effects as hitherto developed, deserve to be considered a
national blessing or a national curse?”” The motto was,
‘ Am I therefore your enemy because I speak to you the
truth 2’ He wrote ¢ at the risk of denunciation from &
press which echoes the wishes of the multitude because it
profits by their gold.” ' s
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answer to Wentworth’s ¢ Remonstrance” allayed constitu-
tional agitation. The response to the cry of the oppressed
Latrobe preceded the reply to the Remonstrance of Went-
worth by a few months. It was comprehensive. Sir J.
Pakington (2nd June 1852) conveyed the Queen’s command
that the Royal prerogative as to the gold in Australia
should be waived in favour of the Colonial Legislatures.

‘“ I have, therefore, to instruct you to place this fund (after securing
whatever permanent charges you may have already placed on it) at the
disposal of the Legislature, for their assistance in providing for the service
of the colony ; relying fully on that body for its application in such
manner as best to assist the local government in conducting the affairs of
the colony through the difficulties of the present crisis. It will, therefore,
be for the Legislative Council to fix the amount of fee at which licenses
should from time to time be granted. It will be for them, in addition, to
take into consideration the propriety of raising a revenue from the mineral
produce of the colony either b¥ export duty on gold, or by royalty, or in
any other manner which their local experience may suggest.”

He had not deemed it necessary to incur the delay which
the preparation of a formal Royal instruction would have
involved. It could be transmitted thereafter if necessary.
Further, the Governor was authorized to apply the un-
appropriated moiety of the land fund ‘‘ to the purposes ren-
dered urgent by the present crisis.” The resolution of the
Legislative Council, not to suffer the application of general
revenue to them, Sir J. Pakington regretted, but he ¢ was-
especially anxious to avoid all controverted topics at a period
so critical,”—it being fully understood ¢ that in no event
would Parliament be asked to assist if the land fund should
prove insufficient.”

There were other details in the despatch. A body of con-
stabulary would be enrolled and sent out, in the expectation
that the Legislative Council would willingly meet the ex-
penditure required.”® As far as it might be in the power
of the Secretary of State, the experiment would be ex-
tended on application from the colony. Emigration would
be sedulously promoted to relieve the reputed wants of the
disturbed community, and Sir J. Pakington concluded his
notable despatch with words of comfort. On the 14th May,

#On the 14th May Sir J. Pakington had announced that a regiment had
been ordered from Hongkong to Australia. Four companies were to be im
Victoria and two in New South Wales.—Parliamentary Papers, vol.
xxxiv. 1852, .
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“ to induce political excitement,” did harm; but those who
knew the ‘“ real state of the case” were surprised at the
good conduct of the bulk of the people. Yet he reported
an ominous fact. In January 1852, the small body of
police at the Mount Alexander goldfields ‘“ made between
fifty and sixty seizures’” of spirits, and illicit sale was
growing ‘‘with the increase of the population.” Odious
as tax-collectors, the police force could gain no popularity
by raids upon those who provided means for dissipation.
As the police had an interest in the fines inflicted upon
illicit traffickers, it was of necessity charged against them
that they sought gain rather than the good of the com-
munity. They ran great risks in capturing offenders.
One officer at the goldfields, of an ancient Border name,
was notorious for deeds of strength and daring, and few
persons thought that even his powers would extricate him
alive from his dangerous career.

Some persons around Mr. Latrobe seemed not to see
that the expenditure entailed by such a system would
absorb more money than the gold licenses would yield. If
every digger had been willing to pay, there would have
been some justification for the mistake. But many were
unwilling.  On the Mount Alexander goldfield (Jan. 1852)
an official staff of more than 172 persons was maintained,
and more than 100 of them were allowed forage. The cost
of transporting forage, great at first by reason of high
prices of labour and material, was swollen enormously as
the roads were damaged by traffic. The roads themselves
had been tracks used by the settlers, and when the surface
was deeply ploughed by continuous wear and tear, they
became almost impassable. The price paid for hay in
country districts was calculated so as to enable the seller
to obtain as much as the buyer would have to pay to a

hold opinions inconsistent with them. The crowd whom he caressed in
1852 threatened to attack the Argus office in 1854. In a pamphlet pub-
lished in 1857 he affirmed that with ‘¢ the utmost expansion alone’ (of the
suffrage) true liberty is incompatible. If we count only numbers we hand
our predominant power to an accidental numerical majority—and this to
my mind is tyranny.”  Mr. Wilson retired in affluence, occupied himself
with works of utility and benevolence, until his death in 1878. He left
his fortune in great measure to institutions for the relief of his fellow-
creatures.
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required for the day ; that when the driver replied that the
man could not have it unless for more than he would like
to pay—seven pounds—the novus homo threw him ten
pounds, and told him to light his pipe with the difference ;
and that in the very drunkenness of enjoyment of their
wealth many ‘‘diggers” lit their pipes with bank notes.
Like him who in spurning a rich carpet proved that his own
pride was greater than that of his luxurious host, the digger
in affected contempt for wealth boastfully exhibited his own.
His example spread. The ‘ wealthy lower orders” who
flung away their money promiscuously seemed to be the
only employers worthy of respect. Mr. Ebden, the Auditor-
General, asked a cabman (whom he had known of old) how
much was required for a carriage for the day. ¢ Ah, sir!”
the man answered, respectfully, ‘‘ we don’t drive gentlemen
like you now-a-days.”” ‘“ Why not?” ‘“Oh! you would
not pay what we can get from the diggers.” The man was
right as regarded the inadequacy of an official salary to
defray his demand—seven pounds—but Mr. Ebden, being a
man of private wealth, employed him.%®

The riot of riches was shown at what were called diggers’
weddings. The injunction to shopkeepers was that the
dresses should be as dear as possible. Flaunting their
gorgeous satins, the friends rolled in carriages to the
ceremony, and afterwards kept up their excitement on the
road or in hotels. Such persons scorned the dull citizen
who merely paid his debts like an honest man, and their
scorn, backed by the purse-pride of others, became con-
tagious. The loose language of the press fomented the
evil. The appeal of “ Colonus” fell dead upon the general

* Rough crowds thronged the street corners ; and the movements of the

lice were almost on sufferance for a time when the force, dismantled by
ggsertions, was in process of slow reconstruction. Such a crowd on one
occasion extended far across a street, and Mr. Ebden (whose manner was

mpous) driving by in a curricle, disturbed the noisy mob, who shouted
oud curses after him. Alighting and addressing them with suavity, he
said ‘“ Did you speak ? Do you want to buy? You are the gentlemen who
should possess these equipages now. I will sell.” After good-humoured
explanation on both sides he drove off, and some of the crowd who had
cursed him previously cheered him with mixed astonishment and
applause. Mr. Ebden’s precise politeness obtained for him the soubriquet
o? u Brummell from those who disliked him.






SIR J. PAKINGTON’S DESPATCH THANKFULLY WELCOMED.

The swelling notes with which Mr. Westgarth and others
had innocently imitated the utterances of Dr. Lang, with
whose ulterior objects they did not sympathize, were
hushed.? The House unanimously resolved, on the motion
of Mr. J. S. Johnston, . . . that the kind and ‘‘con-
ciliatory tone (of Sir J. Pakington) is greatly calculated to
foster and encourage those feelings of loyalty and attach-
ment to the Crown and institutions of the mother country
with which it is so desirable that the minds of Her
Majesty’s distant subjects should be imbued . . .”

A spirit of co-operation was shown. The representative
members had been startled at the demonstration against
law in December 1851; and the readiness with which the
relics of the Geelong population had echoed the threats of
the crowd at Forest Creek created an uneasy feeling that
perhaps some speakers in the House, as well as the Argus
newspaper outside of it, had fanned the flames of sedition
abroad.

Before the spring had tempered the chilliness of
winter the hardships to which the dwellers in Canvas
Town were exposed, united officials, opposition members,
and citizens in an effort to place decent shelter within the
reach of those who needed it. The Wesleyans in Mel-
bourne had set the example by forming at a cost of £2000
a ‘“refuge for the houseless,” primarily for their own
people, but open to others. As far as possible it was to be
self-supporting. A public meeting was held to apply the
same principle on a more comprehensive scale. A pre-
liminary committee had prepared plans which were
approved by the meeting, of which Mr. Westgarth was
chairman. He stated that there were ‘hundreds and
thousands unprovided for.” The Attorney-General moved
the first resolution. ‘‘As a token of cordial feeling” as
well as ‘““a sanitary measure for the city,” ‘‘convenient
though temporary shelter for two thousand persons’” ought

# Mr. Westgarth attributed *certain divisive and forbidding features”
of democracy to those who thwarted ‘the unavoidable tendencies of
society,” and opposed ‘‘a democratic dust which themselves have been the
means of stirring up.” He was not *“ desirous of ramifying the argument,”
but would be satisfied ‘‘to risk, one with another, the gopular rather than
the Imperial results.” Westgarth’s ¢ Victoria,” pp. 336, 338. 1853. .
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matters the government was unsupported. The incon-
siderate railed at it because roads were bad, and carriage
was exorbitant. Robberies became frequent. Drunken
gold miners, who lit their pipes with bank notes, were an
easy prey to the sharpers abounding among their associates.
The gaols were full, but unchecked crime was common.
Mr. Latrobe, wishing to build police barracks, was told by his
colonial architect that workmen demanded (Oct. 1852) from
twenty to twenty-five shillings a day. In November 1852,
he regretted that robberies ‘‘by armed parties on the
outskirts of the goldfields and on the main lines of road
have been very frequent for some time past.’’®

The discovery of a goldfield on a tributary to the Ovens
river, more than two degrees of longitude eastward from
Forest Creek, added to the troubles of the Governor, and
gave facilities to robbers. The despatch of a body of fifty
men from England, under an Inspector of Police and three
sergeants, was announced in November 1852, and a vessel
of war was ordered to Melbourne; but the Secretary of
State, who had so heartily co-operated in relieving the
necessities of the colony, gave place (Dec.1852) to the Duke
of Newcastle, who pleaded that he passed sleepless nights
in thinking what he ought to do, but often did wrong.

It is disheartening to observe the jejune manner in which
the local legislature addressed itself to its duties when Sir
J. Pakington entrusted it with power over the gold revenue.
Mr. Latrobe’s message—communicating the despatch, and
bringing the expediency of ‘‘ an export duty upon gold at
once before” the Council—was dated 7th September 1852.
On the 17th unanimous thanks were voted to Sir J.
Pakington. A bill to impose a duty was set down for a
second reading on the 17th September. But on that day
other business took precedence. Mr. J. S. Johnston
brought up a draft address extolling the colony as *the
chief pivot of postal and steam communication”—¢ the
most eligible centre”’—* the headquarters of naval and
military forces”—salubrious, prolific—likely to exceed New
South Wales in population in December 1858—with ‘ an
indicated destiny’’ vindicating ‘ its pretensions to be the

* Quotations from Mr. Latrobe’s despatches are made from the English
Blue Books.
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license fee remained at £1 10s. per month the government
was bound in honour not to impose a duty. Mr. Michie,
a barrister and also a nominee, sympathized with Mr.
A’Beckett. :

Mr. Stawell, with unhappy ingenuity, offered to try the:

legal question, whether the section quoted took from the
" government ¢ the power to lay on another duty.” Mr. J.
S. Johnston declared that pledges must be respected.
What would the government do about the license fee?
The Attorney-General’s answer, that the amount would not
be changed, sealed the fate of the bill, and with it all hope
that order and peace would be maintained at the goldfields.
O’Shanassy retorted that the government by such a course
might extort an equivalent to a £8 monthly license:
Fawkner denounced taxation of gold-diggers, and the bill
was lost. %8

With this rejection of a scheme for raising a royalty on
gold as it passed through the Custom House, vanished all
‘hope that the proffers of Sir J. Pakington would be oppor-
tunely availed of by Mr. Latrobe and his advisers, or by
the Legislature.

The prompt measures of the South Australian govern-
ment, which effectively averted the depopulation of that
eolony, attracted attention in Vietoria. Mr. Splatt moved
a resolution that the South Australian escort should be
stopped, and that the gold should be carried free of cost to
Melbourne and Geelong. On a division he was supported
by Mr. Stawell only. Ebden, Captain Lonsdale, and
sixteen others rejected the motion.

# The division list was as follows (it was taken in committee) :—

For Shelving the Bill, 12. Against S8helving it, 11.
H. Miller. The Attorney-General (Stawell). | 2
J. F. Strachan. The Auditor-General (Ebden). 4
T. T. A’Beckett. Chairman of General Sessions. £
A. Michie. Solicitor-General. §
J. P. Fawkner. Colonel Anderson. 4
W. Westgarth. J. T. Smith.
WF Cﬂ.Pm}) u'(th Speaker) gridThomson. )
J. F. Palmer (the Speaker). xoldsmith. ‘
J. S. Johnston. Wilkinson. -All elected members.
W. Nicholson. W. Rutledge. J
J. O’Shanassy. : P. Snodgrass.

W. F. Splatt.
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Immigration Agent. The Attorney-General saw in him a
pliant supporter. He saw in the Attorney-General a
desirable patron. Plausible, industrious, and always
acquisitive, he was useful in inquiries. He had neither
said nor done anything betokening ability, but the rapidity’
of his rise created a belief that he was able. Capable of
ordinary things, he was harassed by a desire to distinguish
himself, and in every department over which he presided
he set on foot schemes of re-organization which ended in
disaster. His translation from one office to another left
a successor to deal with the chaos engendered by his
experiments. In one sense he lacked the complement of
barrenness of principle. Ready to evade difficulties by
equivocation, when face to face confronted with proof
which could not be put aside, he shrank back. Lack of
self-respect breeds a want of respect from others. On more
than one occasion he encountered in the colony the rebuff
which met him when Sir Spencer Robinson, whose word
no man could doubt, foiled his statements at the
Admiralty.*

Mr. Latrobe was never without apprehension of riot and
bloodshed at the goldfields. At the Ovens river, early in
1858, there was (he wrote) a disposition *from the first to
evade if not openly resist the regulations,” and he admitted
that ¢ the ill-judged if not improper conduct of the
authorities on the ground in more than one instance
favoured if it did not provoke this spirit.”” The death of a
miner from the *“accidental discharge of the firelock of a
policeman . . . gave occasion toa temporary outbreak
in that quarter, which at one time threatened to entail grave
consequences.”” An Act to regulate the police force had been
passed (Jan. 1858), and under a Commissioner, whose duties
ranged over the whole colony, the constabulary on the ground
were increased. Mr. Latrobe, had deprecated in a despatch
(8rd May 1858) the ¢ misrepresentations and false state-
ments” which represented Victoria as ‘‘a scene of lawless

“ It is & matter of English history that Mr. Childers, unable to meet the
shock of Sir S. Robinson’s lance, induced Mr. Gladstone to enter the lists,
and that to assist in maintaining Mr. Childers’ credit Mr. Gladstone was
reduced to ask Sir S. Robinson to alter the date of his reply to a Minute
by Mr. Childers. SirS. Robinson declined to garble his extant reply.
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the camp. Up w1th Christian. Cry ‘no quarter,” and
show no mercey.’

. Wright ha,stened from Melbourne to Castlemaine.
The ma,gistra.t-es had dismissed the charge of illicit selling
of spirits brought against the tent-owners. The informer
was committed for trial for perjury. (He was convicted in
June, and sentenced to five years’ hard labour.) The
excited meeting had appointed certain persons to demand
justice for McMahon and his friends. The delegates desired
to see Mr. Wright, who declined to receive them as
representatives of the meeting, though he would confer
with them as agents for the sufferers. They demanded, in
that capacity, £1900—partly for ¢ outrage to feelings, false
imprisonment, bail refused,” &c. Mr. Wright thought
direct dealing with McMahon advisable, and said at an
interview with McMahon and two other sufferers, that
Mr. Latrobe had empowered him to satisfy all reasonable
demands. With £230 given to McMahon, and £120 to two
others, he sent them away satisfied. But the men who had
gathered at the meeting thought themselves defrauded of
a case with which they could have moved the country to
anger, and they forgave neither McMahon nor the
government. Innocent of the intent, Mr. Latrobe and
Mr. Wright bore the imputation of having bribed the
sufferers to silence. Not comprehending the situation, Mr.
Latrobe took credit in his despatch for having made
liberal compensation to sufferers who had no legal claim,
and for having set aside the pretensions of ‘‘the self-
constituted protectors” appointed by the public meeting as
‘‘ commissioners of the people.”

A new Colonial Secretary arrived from England in July
1858. Captain Lonsdale gave place to Mr. John Foster,
who having been a Victorian settler, was appointed by the.
Duke of Newcastle to the office which Lonsdale was ready
to vacate. Mr. Foster was not popular, but was thought
capable. He was a relative of Mr. Stawell, and no man
doubted that the superior vigour of the latter would easily
overbear any opposition from Mr. Foster. Captain Lonsdale
became Treasurer, retaining a place in the Executive
Council. In those days the Governor could only call to
his Council the holders of certain offices designated in
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learning ‘‘ the process of gold-mining;”’ the ill feeling
engendered by collection of license fees by ‘‘armed men,
many of whom were of notorious bad character ;”” the
chaining of non-possessors of licenses to trees and logs;
and the sentencing of such non-possessors to hard labour
on the roads. They would reduce the license to ten
shillings (an abolition of two-thirds); give an option of a-
monthly or quarterly license to the applicant; give
intending miners half-a-month in which to look about
them ; afford facilities for land purchases; reduce the
penalty for non-possession of a license; and abolish
the armed force for collecting licenses. Mr. Latrobe told
them he would consider their petition, but that it was
not in his power to alter the law, which was the province of
the Legislature.

The Legislative Council was about to meet on the 30th
August. The deputation, bent upon mischief, com-
municated an unfair account of their interview to a public
meeting in Melbourne (4th August), which was convened
by the Mayor. Some sober citizens went curiously thither,
and went away sad. There they learned the lesson which
the events of two years had failed to teach them. The
wild and ineffectual ¢ seramble’ (as Mr. Latrobe called it)
by which the government had vainly striven to collect the
gold revenue—irritation at the goldfields, where the
rashness or incompetency of one officer could neutralize
the wise conduct of others—the unnatural manner in
which that irritation had been goaded for their own
purposes by designing demagogues, the reviling of the
Governor and the vilipending of the Legislature by the
Argus, bore fruit which no man at that meeting could
misunderstand. The language of some of the delegates
brought back the echoes of the rant of Paris clubs. What
they wanted they would have. If peacefully, well. If
not, a hundred thousand diggers would march like a ring
of fire upon Melbourne and take and do as they listed. The
wildest words were unreported. The bulk of the meeting
did not disapprove. Resolutions were passed affirming that
disaffection was * fast spreading at the goldfields,”” and
that it was due to the denial of ¢ political and social rights:”
also that the Melbourne meeting pledged itself to assist the
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fields,” and looked “ to their principles and good sense to
yield that obedience to the laws of the country, and support
to the authorities charged with administering them, which
both may claim from all professing themselves loyal
subjects.” For his misunderstanding of the signs of the
time Mr. Latrobe was partly indebted to his temperament.
But he was also misled by the Chief Gold Commissioner,
who (8th Aug.) furnished an account of a recent tour to
Castlemaine, Sandhurst, and McIvor. He did not believe
that ¢ the majority of the residents coincided with the
views of the agitators.”” The custom of searching by armed
men for unlicensed diggers, he quaintly remarked, ‘‘ arose
from the prevalence of firearms being carried by the miners
themselves.”” Altogether the report left Mr. Latrobe in the
fool’s paradise which it had been found impossible to prevent
the new Colonial Secretary from entering on his assumption
of office. Mr. Latrobe thought himself

¢fully justified in concluding from the official reports, that from a sense
of obedience to the existing law, until changed or modified by qroper au-
thority, the loyalty and good sense of the great majority would lead them
when the time came . . and that the licenses for September, notwith-
standing all the parade of resistance, would be taken out without any
extraordinarily compulsory measure being had recourse to.”

Nevertheless he sent more soldiers and police to Sand-
hurst, where at the end of August there were 129 of the
former and 171 of the latter, 66 of whom were mounted.
The Argus at this time showed the first symptoms of
reflection. Outspoken defiance of law (at the goldfields
and in Melbourne) alarmed the editor, who had so vehe-
mently laboured to discredit the government. On the 22nd,
24th, and 25th August, he urged the miners to obey the
law and work constitutionally. Such was the state of
affairs when a vice-regal speech was required for the open-
ing of the Legislative Council on the 80th August. That
body had recently been enlarged, and Mr. Latrobe had
offered a non-official seat to a Sandhurst resident, who
accepted it, but (being repudiated by the miners) did not
sit. There were thirty-six elected and eighteen nominated
members. Twenty-four had been added to the original
body. TUnable to devise a satisfactory scheme, the govern-
ment, though conseious that the license fee was unproductive
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capitation tax as would be sufficient for purposes of registra-
tion.” Confusion was in their minds and words. But Mr.
Latrobe was too humane to injure others by complaining
that he had been deceived. The shock of surprise was
succeeded by fear lest violence should endanger life. Mi.
Latrobe shrank with sensitiveness amounting to horror
from any act by which the life even of a rioter might be
taken. Among hisadvisers Captain Lonsdale, the Treasurer,
notably preserved his fagulties. He was taunted by the
Argus as having mean abilities. Such as they were they
were undisturbed by danger. He bluntly said, ‘“‘It’s a
little rebellion and must be treated as such.” But he was
not sustained by others. It was resolved to send hasty
orders to the Gold Commissioner. No compulsory measures
were to be resorted to in enforcing the law, though the
Governor “‘ could not release the miners” from their obliga-
tions. He was about to propose to raise revenue by
increased Customs’ duties, an export duty on gold, and a
small registration fee. Appropriately enough this change
of plan was promulgated forthwith (by placards fixed upon
trees) in the district, where a ragged crew had dictated it
two days before when they refused allegiance to law. ¢ No
compulsory means shall be adopted for the enforcement of
the license for the month of September.” Another
humiliation remained. The speech to the Legislative
Council required adaptation. They were told that ‘‘objec-
tions to the present license fee, and the practical difficulties
in the way of enforcing it, have forced themselves latterly
go strongly upon me that I am disposed to propose to you
its total abolition. . . . T shall be happy to afford the
Council every facility and information which may assist its
deliberations on the subject.”” The speech was long, and
amongst other things invited the Counecil to amend the
‘Constitution Act under the sanction of the Crown as promised
in the reply to Wentworth’s Remonstrance.

Mr. Foster communicated to the representative members
secret information which it was deemed unwise to publish.
They, in a common apprehension and anxiety, were willing
to co-operate in redeeming the shattered reputation of the
government. Emboldened by absence of explosion, Mr.
Latrobe was then persuaded to promulgate a notice (18t
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sudden change in the demeanour of the mass of the orderly
population has been effected by . . . organized system
of intimidation and terrorism.”#

To General Sir Robert Nickle, Mr. Latrobe appealed (3rd
Sept.) for ‘‘a prompt reinforcement of the military.”” The
military head-quarters were at the time in Sydney. They
were soon removed to Melbourne. To Sir C. Fitz Roy he
had the humbling task of explaining (6th Sept.) the posi-
tion in which he was placed. On the 1st August he had
complained to the Governor-General that mere ramours of
a reduction of the license fee in New South Wales were
damaging in Victoria. ‘“When that letter was written I
had no sufficient cause to suspect the real character of the
agitation then set on foot.”” Events had shown him that
the license system could not be maintained, that it was
better to recognize the difficulty, ‘‘and seek to meet it as
best wemay. . . . I am free to admit that I and my
advisers have had little or no choice.” “I can only
express my regret if (the course pursued) may involve any
results which might be productive of embarrassment or
disarrangement in your Excellency’s views or measures.”
Mr. Latrobe did not send to England the answer of
the Governor-General, and it was known that Sir C.
Fitz Roy reprobated in despatches to England the con-
duct of the Vietorian government with regard to the
license fee.

In Tasmania Sir W. Denison was prompt and outspoken.
“ Within twenty-four hours after the arrival of the
chartered steamer’”” he hoped that *‘ Colonel Despard, with
the headquarters of the 99th Regiment and two hundred
bayonets” would have embarked. From 200 to 800
pensioners would follow if they could be enrolled. I trust
that this reinforcement will enable your Excellency to
put down at once an agitation most mischievous in its
character, and most detrimental to the interests of the
colony.” It was known that Mr. Latrobe was anxious to

# Mr. Latrobe was no doubt conscientious in all that he said. But he
was alarmed, and had been deceived. The cancelled notice of 1851 per-
<ceptibly led to the disorders of 1853 ; and Mr. Foster had not been a week
in office when he was earnestly warned that there was imminent danger.
See Victorian Parliamentary Papers, 1867. Case of Mr. Fitzgerald.
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. The Duke of Newcastle (Jan. 1854) acknowledged Mr.
Latrobe’s despatches briefly ; and soon afterwards appointed
Sir Charles Hotham to the post which had been made 'so
difficult to fill with peace and honour.  Sir C. Hotham’s
career in the navy had been brilliant. At the Parana
River, he had in 1845 earned admiration on water and on
land. After destroying batteries by cannonade, he had
with a few hundred sailors and marines defeated on land
a force of nearly ten times their number. Subsequently
knighted, he was employed in a diplomatic mission to
Paraguay, and in 1852 Lord Derby’s Government sent him
on a joint mission with a French officer to Brazil and the
Republics of the river La Plata. Acquitting himself with
distinction he was selected as Governor of Victoria.*

. The sudden change in the law in Victoria could not but
affect New South Wales. To collect £18 a year from each’
miner in one colony and only £8 in the other was not to be
contemplated. A Select Committee, of which Wentworth
was chairman, had been appointed (8th June) by ballot, to
deal with a bill for management of the goldfields. Various
petitions on the subject (some of them from the Turon
River) were referred to the Committee. Sir C. Fitz Roy
(9th Aug.) laid before the Council Mr. Latrobe’s letter of
the 1st, reprobating a reduction of the license fee. On the
20th September Wentworth brought up a report. “A
majority, in consequence of the vacillating policy pursued
in the colony of Victoria, and from no other cause, are in
favour of reducing the license fee to ten shillings a month.

. Had it not been for the course recently pursued by
the government of the sister colony, your Committee would
not have suggested that the license fee should be reduced
below £1 per month.” The royalty on matrix gold was to
sustain an equivalent reduction.

* He was allowed by the Duke of Newcastle to stipulate confidentially
that if war should break out with Russia he might give ug) the civil
appointment. When war became inevitable he reminded the Duke, who
temporized until he could consult his colleagues. After consulting them
he not only refused to adhere to the original proposition, but added that
if Sir C. Hotham should refuse to go to Victoria he would not be allowed
to serve in the war. He admitted his original promise, but said he was
only one of the Ministry, and he could not keep it. Thus while sailing
to Australia the new Governor’s heart was with his comrades in the war.
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(which failed) “ to organize what is termed a ¢ Diggers’
Congress.”” He reported the ominous fact that the sup-
plementary estimates for 1853 exceeded one million sterling.
It may be well to follow the consequences of the gold
discovery, and of Mr. Latrobe’s difficulties, to their full
development in an outburst at Ballarat in 1854, which was
the result of the events in 1858, and of the audacity they
engendered in the disaffected.

Sir Charles Hotham, Mr. Latrobe’s successor, was firm,
able, an excellent linguist, who had been employed in
foreign lands, and knew much of the ways of the world;
but his manner was sometimes abrupt, and his enemies
complained that it was imperious. He was ready in the
field or in the cabinet to wear out his life in the service
of the Queen. That his constitution, somewhat shattered
by the African Coast climate, finally gave way when
weakened by assiduous devotion to the desk, may be men-
tioned, together with the fact that the intrigues of some of
those around him increased his difficulties when they found
him determined to scrutinize the manner in which appoint-
ments had been lavished, and funds had been squandered.
Long after he had pressed his resignation upon the Secret-
ary of State, he toiled unflinchingly through departmental
papers which required his sanction, and which, in some
cases, were framed so as to cast upon the Governor as much
trouble as possible.

He was received with exuberance of welcome in Mel-
bourne. He made a tour of the gold-fields; and at
Ballarat, Avoca, Maryborough, Castlemaine, and Sandhurst,
his reception was enthusiastic. At the latter place his
horses were taken from the carriage ; and amidst a crowd
estimated at 25,000, men dragged it to the town. He said
at a banquet at Geelong that, by the principle of the
Constitution already chosen in the colony, all power pro-
ceeded from the people, and that it was on that principle he
intended to act. He did not explain the term—people. It
might mean the dregs of transportation in some localities.
Men looked gravely at one another, and wondered whither
the Governor's principle would lead him ;—into what chaos
it might plunge the colony where, already, a rabid orator
from the goldfields had been applauded in Melbourne when
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existed in the collection of the license fee.” On the 18th
September it was ordered by a circular that the Assistant
Commissioners should go out twice a week ‘‘to search for
unlicensed miners.” The order was deemed unwise; and
knowing the disloyalty rendered to the Governor by some
about him, subordinate officials were not always hearty in
their allegiance.® Moreover, the task was odious, and the
Governor was ill-advised in doing anything which might
provoke discontent. But he had (according to a statement
of Captain Kay, his private secretary) been told at Downing
Street®® that Mr. Latrobe had yielded to intimidation, and
that probably the question would néver be settled without
violence ; and although, according to Captain Kay’s
evidence, he disapproved of the license fee on principle, he
determined to carry out the law until he could cause it to
be altered. '
. Sir C. Hotham’s narrative of his tour to the goldfields
was dated 17th September 1854. On the 6th October a
miner named James Scobie was killed in a scuffle at
Ballarat, and suspicion was-attached to one Bentley, as one
of his murderers. Bentley, an ex-convict from Tasmania,
kept a disreputable public-house called the Eureka Hotel.
He, with his wife and a man named Farrell (both ex-con-
viets), were brought before the magistrates. One J. Dewes
was the presiding (police) magistrate. He had been
appointed in November 1858. He was a corrupt creature
whom, if his character had been known, Mr. Latrobe would
not have appointed. A man who was examined before a
Commission (Dec. 1854) deposed that he himself, being an
applicant for two licenses (an auctioneer’s and a wholesale
spirit license, costing together £180), bribed Dewes with
£200 in order to procure them. Through Dewes’ agency
the charge against Bentley was dismissed. The dismissal
was a spark thrown upon materials ready to burst into
flame. The withdrawal of the increased license fee in
1851, the abnegation of the functions of government in

* Mr. Foster (Colonial Secretary) stated in evidence (1867) that he dis-
approved of the circular, but could not say whether he ‘‘absolutely”
remonstrated against it to the Governor. (Report of Committee. Case
of Mr. Fitzgerald. Parl. Pap. Legislative Assembly. 1867. Victoria.)

¢ Parliamentary Papers. Legislative Assembly. 1867, Victoria.
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accompanied their verdict with an opinion that they would
have been spared their painful duty ‘“if those entrusted
with the government of Ballarat had done their duty.”

Confident of support in the metropolis, agitators at
Ballarat prosecuted their designs. A Ballarat Reform
League was appointed. Mr. J. B. Humffray was its secre-
tary. It adopted a code. Being unrepresented the people
had been “tyrannized over;”’ and it was their duty to resist
and, if necessary, to remove the irresponsible power which
so ‘“‘tyrannized over them.” The League did not wish to
effect an immediate ‘‘separation from the parent country,
. but if Queen Victoria continues to act upon the
ill-advice of dishonest Ministers . . . the Reform
League will endeavour to supersede such Royal Prerogative
by asserting that of the people, which is the most royal of
all prerogatives.”” Total abolition of Gold Commissioners
and of license fees was essential. Ballarat was to be
divided into districts; cards of membership were to be
issued; and the business of the League was to be
conducted in a tent.

Meanwhile Sir C. Hotham matured his plans. He
appointed a Commission, of which Mr. W. C. Haines was
to be chairman, and Messrs W. Westgarth, J. P. Fawkner,
J. McCulloch, J. F. Strachan, W. H. Wright (Chief Gold
Commissioner), and the Auditor-General (E. Grimes), were
to be members. They were to report on the administration
at the goldfields, and the raising of revenue therefrom, for
the protection of the miners and other purposes. They
had blank charter as to their labours and recommenda-
tions, but the Governor thought that though an export
duty of one shilling an ounce upon gold might not lead
to smuggling, or to the dangerous practice of carrying
gold, and thus tempting bushrangers and murderers—a
higher rate might be fraught with grave objections. He
wrote a letter (16th Nov.) on the subject to the chairman.
On the 28rd in a financial message to the Legislative
Council, he showed that the estimated deficiency was, in
the general revenue £354,000,%% in the territorial revenue

* Fractions of thousands are omitted here. The figures do not imply
that the territorial revenue was itself overdrawn; but that beyond the
portion of it which was available for internal uses Mr. Foster and his
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the Governor would inflict a blow upon the welfa.re of the
colony.

Humffray suggested that the men might be pardoned by
“an act of grace.” The Governor (who had previously
ordered the release of an American citizen, Carey, whose
countrymen had petitioned for it through their consul)
reminded the delegates of that fact. ‘‘Have the Ballarat
diggers taken the same course? No; and I must take my
stand on the word ‘ demand.” I am sorry for it, but that
is the position you place me in.”” Kennedy admitted that
the Governor had a right to object to the word ‘‘demand”;
but could not hope that the ‘“‘infuriated men’’ at Ballarat
would avoid bloodshedding unless the delegates could return
with the prisoners, even though such a course might be
“thought inconsistent with the dignity of the British
Crown.” The Governor reminded the delegates that he
had appointed a Commission to inquire into all grievances-at
the goldfields,and Black admitted that Mr. Fawkner’s name
in it gave satisfaction, but the diggers thought they ought
to be consulted as to the constitution of hoards. He
admitted also that the dismissal of Dewes proved the good
intentions of the government.

The Governor said all were accountable to those above
them, and he regretted that the delegates had made known
their wishes as demands. ¢ You have placed me in a posi-
tion which renders the release of these men. impossible.
. . Tell the diggers from me, and tell them carefully,
that this Commission will inquire into everything and
everybody, high and low, rich and poor; and you hayve
only to come forward and state your grievances, and in
what relates to me they shall be redressed.” Black sup-
ported Humﬁmy 8 suggestlon—a,n act of grace. It would
take away ¢ excuse for a riot.” The Governor had too
good an opinion of the diggers at Ballarat to believe that
they would set themselves against the law. He reminded
the delegates, and Black admitted, that the sentences of
the prisoners were mild.

Then the subject of representation of the miners was
discussed. A bill had been pa.ssed in 1853 to confer the
suffrage upon holders of miners’ rights, and had been sent
to Engla,nd for the Royal Assent, as by the Constitution
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mon cause with lawless ex-convicts, and political agitators)
might band together in numbers which would, even if con-
trolled in the last resort, cause serious bloodshed. Sir C.
Hotham sought the co-operation of foreign consuls and of
the Roman Catholic Bishop in averting such a catastrophe.
But many at Ballarat laboured to produce it. The mass of
the diggers was not disloyal. But the seditious dreaded
nothing more than wholesome reforms. The Commission
of Inquiry might lead to peace. They strove to inflame the
public mind lest peace should thwart their machinations.
On the 28th November a detachment of the 12th Regt. was
hooted on arriving at Ballarat, a waggon was overturned,
and a drummer was wounded by the resolute crowd who
were maltreating some of the soldiers, when mounted
troopers rushed to the rescue.

On the 29th a mass meeting (stated at 12,000) was held
at Bakery Hill, Ballarat. A magistrate, with two witnesses,
attended in compliance with the Governor’s commands.
Black, Kennedy, and Humffray reported their interview
with the Governor. A flag of insurrection was hoisted.
Humffray, counselling moral force, was jeered at. Deter-
mined conspirators assumed control of the movement.
Their active agents were chiefly foreigners and Irishmen;
but they led a silly flock, some of whom had no disloyalty
to the Queen in their minds. The Irish were looked upon
as ready to rise against authority, and the first resolution
denounced the calumnies of those who called them dis-
turbers of the peace in Ireland. The second was moved
by Mr. P. Lalor, and seconded by his countryman, Mr.
Brady. It decided that on Sunday (8rd Dec.), a meeting of
the Reform League should, at two o’clock, in the Adelphi
Theatre, elected a Central Committee.

Vern, a Hanoverian, moved that licenses should be
burned, and that the united people should defend unlicensed
persons. A holocaust of licenses was made in response to
his speech. Mr. Black then moved that as there were to be
no more licenses there was no use in resorting to Commis-
sioners to settle disputes, and arbitration should be the
rule. It was determined that after the 15th December no
man should be ‘protected” unless he had joined the
“‘league.” Humffray moved and Kennedy seconded a rego-
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or private,” ought to be put down. Captain Pasley, R.E.,
wrote on the same day. He, though holding a civil ap-
pointment as Colonial Engineer, was an acting aide-de-camp
to Captain Thomas. Very strong measures were necessary,
and “ sedition must be put down by force.”” More soldiers
were needed to enable the military to act on the offensive.
Martial law should be available. An armed meeting was
being held on Bakery Hill, and it was too late in the day
to disperse it, as the troops could not regain the camp in
daylight. . The Governor might feel assured that Pasley
did not recommend ‘‘ strong measures without good grounds
and due consideration.”

Meantime ‘‘ the Commander-in-Chief’’ of the ¢‘ diggers
under arms’’ pressed horses and other requisites into his
service.” His foragers gave receipts for what they seized.™
When the prisoners were arrested by the police on the 80th,
the crowd collected again at Bakery Hill, and a change was
made in the arrangements of the insurgents. Many of
them at the Eureka were Irish, and their countryman,
Peter Lalor, in the enthusiasm of courage or other stimu-
lant, volunteered, and was accepted, as Commander-in-
Chief (30th Nov.). Hundreds swore to follow him. Drilling
was immediately commenced. Lalor was said to have
recommended pikes to those who could not procure firearms.
The pikes would “pierce the tyrants’ hearts.”® That
night Black the delegate and an Italian named Raffaello
were sent to the camp to demand the release of the prisoners.
With them went a Roman Catholic priest named Smith.
Mr. Rede declined to release the prisoners captured for
assaulting the police. At midnight the priest returned to
repeat the request, with the same result. The camp was
under arms all night. Captain Thomas, walking in a
crowd, felt a slip of paper thrust into his hand. On entering
his quarters he found written in pencil, ¢ Trust no one
about you.” No warning was needed to make him wary:

8 One of them was—*‘ Received from the Ballarat Store, one pistol for
the Comtee. X. Hugh McCarty. Hurra for the people.” Another—
““ The Reform Lege Comete, 4 drinks, fouer shillings; 4 Pies for fower of
the neight watch patriots.” X.P. s

» Raffaello imputed these words to Lalor. A witness swore (at the tria}
of Joseph in Feb. 1835) that they were used by Raffacllo himself.
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There was another contributor, trained under the eye
of the arch-disturber, Dr. Lang. Dr. Lang’s son had
been manager of a branch bank at Ballarat. The
accounts were in disorder. Young Lang and a fellow-
officer, Drake, were not at first suspected of wrong-doing,
but an officer was sent to take charge of the cash in
October 1854. Investigation brought defalcations to light.
Lang and Drake set up a gold-broking establishment.
When called upon to assist in clearing up the accounts
they were unable to doso. A gold-broker named Burtchell,
whom they accused of abusing his confidential access to the
bank (the premises of which were ill-adapted for the work),
was arrested, but released when no evidence could be
produced against him. He sailed to England. The
principal inspector of the bank visited Ballarat, and
(after inquiry) publicly notified (20th Oct.), that Lang and
Drake were dismissed *‘ in consequence of defalcations in
the accounts and cash.” Further examination led to the
arrest of Lang and Drake for embezzlement. While
under committal Lang wrote a leading article for the
Ballarat Times, which appeared (2nd Dec. 1854) while
elements of disorder were fermenting at Ballarat. ¢ If the
demands of the diggers are not satisfied (he wrote) the
gathering clouds of popular indignation will burst like a
whirlwind over guilty and unsuspecting heads, and sweep
the length and breadth of the land.”®® While all industry
was arrested, the crowd fastened their attention upon the
provocations in the newspapers, and the harangues of the
conspirators.

At four o’clock in the morning of the 2nd a body of men
was seen at Bakery Hill, and Captain Thomas sent troops
thither. The armed mob melted away. At eleven o’clock
crowds collected near the camp, having revolvers concealed
on their persons. Told to go away they said they were in

compositor made a mistake. (Argus, 27th Jan. 1855.) Such were the
men who thought themselves worthy to change a dynasty. Two persons
on the staff of the Argus (Semple, and Ebenezer Syme) gave bail for
Seekamp, until he was called up for judgment, 26th March 1855.

* To mitigate his own sentence Seekamp obtained affidavits from
Manning and Lang as to their authorship of the seditious articles. Lang
was in gaol when he furnished this information.
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on Sunday morning 100 mounted men and 176 foot-soldiers
and police were assembled.* :

Captain Thomas, whom the Governor had chosen for the
sad duty of making the necessary example (before the less
active General could reach the scene), briefly signified to the
men that. they might have to use their weapons, and at 8
a.m. led them away, leaving the camp in charge of Captain
‘Atkinson, 12th Regt. Mr. Rede, the Gold Commissioner,
remained in principal civil charge. Mr. Amos accompanied
the troops as guide of the cavalry to the stockade. Captain
Pasley, R.E., was a volunteer, and Messrs. Hackeit (Police
Magistrate), and Webster, Civil Commissary, joined the
small band of 276 men, who went forth against overwhelm-
ing numbers. Straggling shots in the distance indicated
that some of the rioters were giving signals. Silently the
little band moved on, and in about half-an-hour reached the
stockade. The left flank and rear of the place were
threatened by part of the mounted force thrown forward
for the purpose. The remainder, with the foot police, were
kept in reserve, while the 12th and 40th detachments were
extended in skirmishing order with supports, in front of the
entrenchment, and of a barrier of ropes, slabs, stakes, and
overturned carts. The signal shots had not been in vain.
At 150 yards’ distance a sharp fire, without previous
challenge, rattled among the soldiers. The bugle to com-
mence firing was sounded by order of Thomas ; the troops
advanced, giving and receiving a brisk fire; Thomas brought
up the supports with the words ‘“Come on 40th;” the en-
trenchment was carried with wild hurrahs,and a body of men
with pikes was immolated under the eye of the commander
before the bugle to cease firing recalled the soldiers from
the work to which they had been provoked. The rebel flag
was pulled down with wild shouts. All persons found
within the entrenchments were captured, and some of the
many fugitives were intercepted by the cavalry. Captain
Thomas having sent a mounted detachment to resume the

® Mounted Military Force 30 ! Foot: 12th Reg_iment ... 65
Mounted Police ry .. 70 Foot: 40th Regiment ... 87
‘ _ Foot Police ... .. 24

P

100 . 178

I
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which was less fortified, though full of holes sunk by
miners. Unpractised men usually fire over the heads of
troops advancing up an acclivity, and Thomas saved many
lives by knowledge of the fact.

The discomfited rioters subsequently averred that there
were not 800 men in the stockade when it was attacked ;
but many hundreds escaped by flight. Black and Kennedy
were not seen. Vern fled. Lalor, wounded, was carried
away and was concealed. Ross, a Canadian, died of his
wounds. Many of the slain were Irish. Prussia and
Wurtemburg furnished victims. One of them, a lemonade
hawker, was a rebel captain. MecGill, a young American,
fled, and earnest entreaties on his behalf were made by his
countrymen. (Sir C. Hotham consented not to institute a
prosecution if MeGill would forthwith leave the colony, an
alternative which his friends accepted.)

‘T have reason to believe (Captain Thomas wrote, 3rd Dec.) that there
were not less than thirty killed on the spot, and I know that many have
since died of their wounds. Amongst these and the persons in custody
several leaders of the insurrection appear, two of whom lie dangerously,
if not mortally, wounded in hotels near the spot. The effect of this blow
has been that the police now patrol in small bodies the length and breadth of
the Ballarat goldfields without threats or insult. To such of the wounded
a8 have not been removed I have sent medical assistance, and have caused
the unclaimed dead to be taken away and buried in the cemetery.”®

There was afterwards much dispute whether the numbers
in the stockade exceeded the attacking force so largely as
every one believed to be the case at the time. To account
for so withering a defeat it seemed good to the disorderly
to assert that the military outnumbered the rioters. But
there was ample proof to the contrary, and as part of it
was supplied by the commander-in-chief of the rioters, it
may be well to record it. After the trial for high treason,
and acquittal of some of the prisoners, Lalor (still in hiding)
compiled a defence of himself, with an attempted confuta-

* To prevent provocation Captain Thomas ordered that none of the
soldiers should go abroad. One of his men earnestly requested permission
to leave the camp for a few hours. I wish to avoid risk of your being
attacked by irritated numbers. What do you want to go for »’ *¢Sir,
my brother was amongst the rioters. He was killed, and I wish to attend
the funeral.” ¢“Of course, my poor fellow, you may go. But go in plain
clothes, and come back as soon as you can.” Such was the material of
which the force was composed which Seekamp reviled as unmanly. The
man returned duly.
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irritated and misled subjects of the Queen. When they
rose on Sunday rebellion’s head.lay low, and the soldier
who smote it down was coolly giving his orders for the
peace of the district pending the arrival of his superior
officer from Melbourne. A notice signed by Mr. Rede, the
Resident Commissioner, notified to the inhabitants that “a
large body of evil-disposed persons of various nations’ had
fired upon Her Majesty’s forces, that several rioters had
‘“ paid the penalty of their crime, and a large number were
in custody.” All well-disposed persons were ‘ earnestly
requested to return to their ordinary occupations, and ab-
stain from assembling in large groups.” Protection would
be ““afforded to them by the authorities.” Seekamp, the
editor of the T'imes, was apprehended (4th Dec.) as he was
about to flee. On the night of the 4th some random shots
were fired into the camp and promptly replied to, but there
was no overt resistance after the capture of the stockade.

On the 5th December Sir Robert Nickle marched into
Ballarat with soldiery and a band of sailors. Captain
Thomas’s emissaries, no longer liable to interruption- by
brigands, had borne his despatches safely, and Sir C.
Hotham had transmitted two proclamations, dated 4th
December, to Sir R. Nickle. One proclaimed martial law
in a distriet containing Ballarat, from noon on the 6th
December, and prohibited the importation of arms or food
thereto without the Governor’s consent; the other in his
name authorized all officers to employ Her Majesty’s forces
to use martial law in vigorously suppressing rebellion and
punishing rebels; but no sentence of death was to be en-
forced without the Governor’s consent.

The General was urbane to all. In obedience to a
general order firearms were surrendered when martial law
was proclaimed. It was thought fit to offer a reward of
£500 for Vern, who was the reputed leader. Colonel
Edward Macarthur (Dep. Adjt.-Genl., and eldest son of old
John Macarthur, of Camden) supported .the General® by

% Sir Robert Nickle wrote that he ventured to offer the reward because
‘g gentleman in the camp” (whom he did not name) guaranteed it. Sir
Charles Hotham adopted the amount which the General had sanctioned
with regard to the ‘“ man known by the name of Vern,” but for Black and
Lalor he offered £200 only in each case.
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tion (6th Dec.),% fixed noon on the 9th December as the
period at which martial law should close. As the General
arrived at Ballarat late on the 5th December, martial law
was nominally in operation only about three days; and no
act was done under it. He ineffectually invited persons
(9th Dec.) to be sworn in as special constables. He could
enforce submission but could not procure co-operation.
On the 10th December he prohibited ¢‘ any public meeting
for the present.” Captain Pasley wrote (4th Dec.) that a
“feeling of relief appeared to pervade the whole population
at finding themselves suddenly released from the reign of
terror which had been established by the insurgents.”” The
miners had ‘‘mostly resumed work, and many licenses have
been issued to-day.” Mr. Rede, the Commissioner, stated
(in evidence 10th Jan.), that while martial law was in force
““the licenses were taken out in far larger numbers than I
had ever known before.”*%

The raising of a rebel standard at Ballarat aroused the
hopes of the seditious in Melbourne. The vicious system
of searching for licenses had created enemies of order and
of law even among those who had not suffered indignities.
The Mayor, Mr. J. T. Smith, had elicited loyal cheers in
1853 when, at the meeting which commended Mr. Latrobe’s
surrender of the license fee, he asserted that it was not so
much the law which was to be deprecated as the occasional
insolence of young men entrusted with, but unfit for, its
administration. But it was rather his personal popularity
than his appeal in favour of law which was applauded.
The community, ever eager, had suffered unwholesome
change by the infusion of reckless elements. The govern-
ment in 1851 and 1853 had pampered the appetite for dis-
order. The Argus had until 1853 assisted to destroy respect
for law. Those who knew him personally acquitted Edward
Wilson of evil intent. Those who knew him not were
justified in imputing to him much responsibility for the

© McCombie, in his ‘‘History of Victoria,” and Mr. Blair (who copies
McCombie in his ¢ Cyclopzdia of Australasia”) state that the withdrawal
of martial law was owing to a public meeting in Melbourne on the 6th.
'I‘Pis is an error. The proclamation was ordered before the meeting took
ace.
P Victoria, Legislative Council Papers. 1854-5. Goldfields’ Commission
of Inquiry, p. 312.
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hearted support which he was about to receive in Decembér
in the metropolis.

Before tidings of the affray at Ballarat reached Melbourne,
he had (2nd Dec.) issued a notice calling upon ‘all British
subjects not only to abstain from identifying themselves”
with evil-minded persons, but to assist in maintaining order.
He did not mention foreigners, but he urged foreign Consuls
to aid him. The French Consul, Comte de Chabrillon,
promulgated a notice (8rd Dec.) warning his countrymen,
“de 8’abstenir de toute manifestation qui aurait pour but de
meconnaitre Uautorité des representants de la Reine dans la
Colonie de Victoria.” The first duty of a stranger was to
respect the authority of the country in which he was a
guest. The Consul of France would know how to do
Justice to all who had complaints to make. The American
Consul, appealed to in October, assured the Governor that
his countrymen had not participated in the riot when the
Eureka hotel was burnt, and that he had confidence in their
“law-loving and law-abiding” character. Sir C. Hotham
received his assurance cordially, and was satisfied that no
effort on the Consul’s part would be wanting to retain a
“high and distinguished character for’’ his countrymen.
On the 4th December, the Consul wrote that he had not
issued a proclamation (like that of the French Consul.) He
had ‘‘no hesitation in saying that there are not any Ameri-
cans engaged in this affair.”” If the Governor should wish
it he would issue a proclamation, but he had full confidence
in his countrymen. Sir Charles regretted (4th Dec.) to be
compelled to inform the Consul that a most active leader in
the insurgents’ camp was a young American. He had con-
versed with a person who saw the young man in the camp.®
He did not press the Consul to issue a proclamation. He
had already crushed the insurgents.

On Monday the population of Melbourne was electrified
by a brief narrative in the .4rgus of the capture of the
stockade. Having calculated upon the result, Sir C.
Hotham issued a notice (4th Dec.), calling upon all the
Queen’s subjects, and all strangers receiving hospitality
under her flag, to assist in preserving order and maintain-
ing the law. ‘The question now agitated . . . isnot

® Legislative Council Papers, vol. ii. No. 67. 1854 5.






588 " SIR C."HOTHAM AND FOREIGN CONSULS,

hearted support which he was about to receive in December
in the metropolis.

Before tidings of the affray at Ballarat reached Melbourne,
he had (2nd Dec.) issued a notice calling upon ‘“all British
subjects not only to abstain from identifying themselves”
with evil-minded persons, but to assist in maintaining order.
He did not mention foreigners, but he urged foreign Consuls
to aid him. The French Consul, Comte de Chabrillon,
promulgated a notice (8rd Dec.) warning his countrymen,
“de 8’abstenir de toute manifestation qui aurait pour but de
meconnaitre Uautorité des representants de la Reine dans la
Colonie de Victoria.” The first duty of a stranger was to
respect the authority of the country in which he was a
guest. The Consul of France would know how to do
Justice to all who had complaints to make. The American
Consul, appealed to in October, assured the Governor that
his countrymen had not participated in the riot when the
Eureka hotel was burnt, and that he had confidence in their
“law-loving and law-abiding” character. Sir C. Hotham
received his assurance cordially, and was satisfied that no
effort on the Consul’s part would be wanting to retain a
‘“high and distinguished character for’ his countrymen.
On the 4th December, the Consul wrote that he had not
issued a proclamation (like that of the French Consul.) He
had ‘““no hesitation in saying that there are not any Ameri-
cans engaged in this affair.”” If the Governor should wish
it he would issue a proclamation, but he had full confidence
in his countrymen. Sir Charles regretted (4th Dec.) to be
compelled to inform the Consul that a most active leader in
the insurgents’ camp was a young American. He had con-
versed with a person who saw the young man in the camp.®
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® Legislative Council Papers, vol. M. No. §1. 1854 5.
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whether an enactment can be amended or ought to be
repealed, but whether the law is or is not to be administered
in the name of Her Majesty. Anarchy and confusion must
ensue unless those who cling to the institutions and the
soil of their adopted country step prominently forward.’
He relied upon the loyalty and sound feeling of the
colonists, and called upon “all faithful subjects, and all
strangers who have had equal rights extended to them,”
to enrol themselves and be prepared to assemble at places
appointed by civic authorities in Melbourne and Geelong,
and by magistrates elsewhere. Such a notice would per-
haps have elicited little response under Mr. Latrobe; but
the spectacle of a firm man, in whose demeanour the shock
of the Ballarat catastrophe made no change, commanded
respect and extorted sympathy. Fifteen hundred special
constables were sworn in on the first day in Melbourne.®
The Governor did not rely entirely on their services.
Before receiving official accounts of the capture of the
Eureka stockade, he applied to Sir W. Denison for troops
to enable him to preserve order in Melbourne. On the 4th
December the Mayor (Mr. J. T. Smith), in compliance with
a requisition signed by Mr. H. Miller, Mr. W. Nicholson,
Mr. J. P. Fawkner, and other members of the Legislative
Council, called a meeting to take ‘‘measures for the
better protection of the city and upholding the cause of law
and order.”

Mr. Foster knew himself to be the object of suspicion.
He was not chargeable with all the misgovernment and
vacillation of the past, but for a time he had been the chief
Executive officer under Mr. Latrobe, and was identified
with the government. He was its nominal leader in the
legislative body. He was believed to be an accomplice in a
waste of public money, and a reckless, though not corrupt,
profusion of appointments to public office. On the 4th
December he tendered to Sir Charles Hotham his
resignation. The allegations against him were untrue, but
they militated against his public efficiency. If HisExcellency
should think Foster’s retention of office an impediment to
the government, Foster would resign, from ‘“a sense of
duty that urges me to sacrifice my own interest in order to

** Despatch. Sir C. Hotham. Parliamentary Paperé, vol. xxxviii. 185K,
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opponents not organized, it was carried. Resolutions that
there could be no security without maintenance of law, and
that it was the duty of all to aid in maintaining order, were
moved and supported by Messrs. W. Hull, Captain G. W.
Cole, Mr. J. A. Marsden, and Mr. Henry Miller.

The Mayor, amidst much confusion, declared them
severally carried. Then a man almost unknown to the
citizens strove to move the adoption of a petition, declaring
that the men of Ballarat had been goaded by ¢ long mis-
rule and odious administration,” and that a Commission,
of which the diggers should nominate a part, ought to
inquire into their grievances. Another man shouted that
Foster must be got rid of, and the applause was loud, The
Mayor kept to the announced business of the day. Mr.
0’Shanassy moved a resolution imploring all classes to use
their influence to repress disorder, and promote peace by
‘“appealing to reason, the noblest characteristic of a
civilized people.” He was heard and applauded, but the
hearts of many were far from being touched by an appeal
to reason. Mr. Hodgson, an old colonist, supported him,
and the Mayor, amidst much turmoil, declared the
resolution carried.

The disorderly then crowded about the platform,
apparently intent on mischief. The Mayor declared the
meeting at an end, and vacated the chair. The mob
surged hoarsely round, and put a loquacious doctor in the
chair. The man whom the Mayor had controlled during
the earlier part of the meeting reiterated his demand for
the dismissal of Mr. Foster. Others, including an effective
speaker from Ballarat (John Cathie), stirred the 9xcited
crowd to fury. In uproar of applause the resolution for
“ immediate dismissal” of Foster was carried. With groans
for him, three cheers for their chairman, and continuous
cheers  for the diggers,” the crowd at length dispersed;
leaving the industrious burgesses to wonder whether it was
indeed true that the miners could overwhelm the expression
of opinion by sober citizens. It was manifest that among
the citizens themselves there was sympathy with the
wrongs, real and alleged, of the miners. T

On the following day the demonstration against military
force was to be held under the auspices of Messrs, Grans
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that the men of Ballarat had been goaded by ‘‘long mis-
rule and odious administration,” and that a Commission,
of which the diggers should nominate a part, ought to
inquire into their grievances. Another man shouted that
Foster must be got rid of, and the applause was loud. The
Mayor kept to the announced business of the day. Mr.
O’Shanassy moved a resolution imploring all classes to use
their influence to repress disorder, and promote peace by
‘““ appealing to reason, the noblest characteristic of a
civilized people.” He was heard and applauded, but the
hearts of many were far from being touched by an appeal
to reason. Mr. Hodgson, an old colonist, supported him,
and the Mayor, amidst much turmoil, declared the
resolution carried.

The disorderly then crowded about the platform,
apparently intent on mischief. The Mayor declared the
meeting at an end, and vacated the chair. The mob
surged hoarsely round, and put a loquacious doctor in the
chair. The man whom the Mayor had controlled during
the earlier part of the meeting reiterated his demand for
the dismissal of Mr. Foster. Others, including an effective
speaker from Ballarat (John Cathie), stirred the excited
crowd to fury. In uproar of applause the resolution for
¢ immediate dismissal” of Foster was carried. With groans
for him, three cheers for their chairman, and continuous
cheers ‘“ for the diggers,” the crowd at length dispersed ;
leaving the industrious burgesses to wonder whether it was
indeed true that the miners could overwhelm the expression
of opinion by sober citizens. It was manifest that among
the citizens themselves there was sympathy with the
wrongs, real and alleged, of the miners.

On the following day the demonstration a.gamst military
force was to be held under the auspices of Messrs. Grant
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The obstacle to the proclamation was the character of
the Governor. To come into conflict with his determination
might bode ill for a few of the conspirators, who were men
of the pen, while he was evidently a man of war. The
Argus was quivering and dumb. Men connected with the
Age newspaper had assisted to frame the new Constitution.

The opinions of ordinary citizens had been tumultuously
overborne by turbulent men of the new order, whom gold
had attracted to the colony. But, doubtful whether the
strong man at the head of affairs would submit, the con-
spirators shrank from thrusting their scheme forward on
the 6th December. They would content themselves with
letting popular indignation find vent. Afterwards their
time might come. The military were absent at Ballarat.
Mischief, once afoot, might take its own course. The
plotters could avail themselves of any direction it might
take. Sir C.Hotham, aware of the intrigues of some of those
around him, consulted his Council with courtesy, but did
not always take their advice.

He had prepared to visit Ballarat as soon as the affray
there was known, but in deference to them and to repre-
sentations that the safety of Melbourne would be
endangered by his absence, he remained. His undisturbed
bearing gave assurance to others.” He made the necessary
preparation to protect the city in case the disorderly should,
at the meeting on the 6th, become predominant. It was
arranged that if possible some respectable citizen should be
put in the chalr. Mr. Fawkner went to speak. Mr.
Langlands and Mr. Fulton, well-known as popular employers
of labour, attended, and Dr. Embling moved that Mr.
Langlands should take the chair.

Guardians of order were within call. Sailors and marines
from H.M. S8. Electra and Fantome protected the powder
magazine and the Treasury. Three hundred policemen
and a hundred gaol-warders were out of view, but near the

7 Holyoake's visit to Sandhurst excited apprehension. Sir C. Hotham
made arrangements for Captain Thomas to appear there when needed.
One of Sir g Hotham’s colloquists said : *But ﬁ:lllamt, will be in danger
if Captain Thomas takes troops away from it.” ‘‘You need apprehend
no danger there,” he replied, ‘‘for some time. I know the effect of a

collision between disciplined troops and a mob. Ballarat will be quiet
€enough.”
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did the Age think it prudent to dwell upon those
preparations which had quenched the ardour of its
revolutionary accomplices. A few sentences culled from
its columns at this period will show in what way it courted
the breeze which the Argus had begun to fear.

" When first established (17th Oct. 1854), it had professed
moderation. It had ‘never learned that the service of the
people requires us to abandon fair and temperate arguments
for the coarser weapons of personal invective.”” On the
21st November it wrote, with reference to the burning of

entley’s premises, and his escape from the mob: ‘“Lynch
law, however objectionable in form, is generally unexcep-
tionable in principle. It is prompted by the primal
instinets of humanity, and they are never wholly wrong.”
After the assault on the troops as they marched to Ballarat,
when the drummer-boy was wounded in the dark, a leading
article (1st Dec.) declared : *“’Tis done! the exasperated
people have at last broken through the restraint of
judgment. . . . Rest and repose will be no more
amongst us until the last vestige of the old and worn-out
despotism has been swept away. . . . Our sympathies
are with the people, but we would deplore and mourn the
spilling of one drop of blood.” '

On the 5th December, startled by the capture of the
Eureka stockade, it wrote: ‘The reign of Queen Victoria
has been superseded by a reign of terror.” It counselled
the diggers ‘“ to stop in their career of revolt,” not as foiled
but as brave men who had  discovered their error.” It
demanded from the government that brute force should
cease. It called on the colonists not to support the
government at the meeting called for the 5th, on behalf
of law and order in Melbourne. On the 6th it boasted that.
the meeting ‘ was a failure.” It required (as Mr. Grant
required) that to the Commission of Inquiry at the gold-
fields four members should be added by popular election
to Messrs. O'Shanassy, Fawkner, and Westgarth. It is

followed into a lane with yells. The Argus (8th Dec.), having somewhat
recovered its self-possession, said, ‘ We have no hesitation in predicting
that if these troopers had actually been attacked, a scene might have
heen witnessed in the metropolis before which even the terrible carnage
at Ballarat would have been cast into the shade.”
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sympathy with a father placed in Lang’s position.” More-
over, there was at that time, seething in the minds of
jurymen, an antipathy to restraint, and a contempt for
such authority as the Argus previously, and the Age in
1855, was wont to encourage.

On 6th December, Mr. Foster announced to the House his
resignation (tendered on the 4th), and Mr. Childers assured
the Council that the resignation arose from the personal
feeling of Mr. Foster, and not in any way from His
Excellency.” On the same day, Mr. Henry Miller moved a
resolution expressing sympathy with the Governor, and
pledging the House *“ by every means in its power to aid
him in restoring and maintaining law and order.” Mr.
Foster seconded him, and threw upon foreigners the blame
of stirring rebellion at Ballarat. Mr. Wright, the Gold
Commissioner, though he had consented to the abandon-
ment of law in 1858, thought ‘‘the great majority of the
diggers were well-disposed and delighted at the prospect of
the restoration of order.” Mr. Haines considered there
was ‘‘ ample proof that the diggers were not at the bottom
of the movement,” and that the time selected for the out-
break (when the government had appointed a commission
of inquiry) was ‘ exceedingly bad.” The Speaker with
many members presented the Address (7th Dec.), and the
Governor, supported by numerous functionaries, expressed
his satisfaction ‘‘ that at a moment of unusual difficulty
the Legislative Council of Victoria have assembled them-

" In June 1855 Dr. Lang was convicted in Sydney for criminally
libelling a functionary of the bank which Lang’s son and Drake had
served. The bank had establishments in both colonies.

% On the 20th February 1855, Sir C. Hotham, in accordance with his
promise, ‘‘having consulted the Executive Council as to the amount,
recommended a sum equivalent to two years’ salary as compensation.”
There was demur in the Legislative Council. Foster asked the Governor
to allow the letter of the latter to be produced in aid of his claims. Sir
Charles declined to permit the production of any portion of a letter which
was declared (when written) to be ‘‘ confidential, and not for the public
eye.” After considerable debate, Foster’s claim was shelved in the House
in the end of March 1855. He revived it on more than one occasion in
later years, but without success. In its prosecution, several advocates
aspersed Sir C. Hotham as having broken faith with Mr. Foster. On the
last inquiry tardy justice was done to the Governor’s memory by the
production of evidence amply confuting many injurious imputations.
(Vide Victoria Legislative Assembly Papers. 1867.)
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But the plotters of disorder were ill-pleased. The meet-
ing at which they had hoped to carry with the breath of
thousands their new Constitution, had dictated the names
of Commissioners for Inquiry at the goldfields. The
Governor did not obey. On the 7th December he re-
modelled the Commission he had appointed in November,
of which Mr. Haines was to have been chairman. Change
was required because Haines became Colonial Secretary in
room of Foster. But Westgarth (chairman); Fawkner;
Wright (Chief Commissioner of Goldfields); appeared in
the new Commission as in the old. To them were added
O’Shanassy and Hodgson, both members for the city of
Melbourne, and both prominent at the public meeting on the
5th in support of law and order. Dr. Owens, Mr. Fulton,
and Cooke (the Age proprietor), whom the meeting hostile
to order had selected, did not appear in the new Commission.

When the resolutions of the dictatorial meeting were
communicated to the Governor, he answered that a Com-
mission had already been appointed, and he trusted that
the miners would ‘‘avail themselves of the opportunity to
bring forward their wishes and views before the gentlemen
who compose it.”” The discontented Grant and Owens
jointly published their regret that the Governor had ¢ failed
to recognize the legitimate views of the citizens.” The
Commission as constituted was of ‘“ doubtful impartiality,”
and was justly to be ‘“regarded with suspicion.” To a
petition signed by sympathizers with Grant and Owens the
Governor replied as he had replied to their principals.
But neither the Californian experience of Grant, nor the
admiration of the Age for lynch law, induced the con-
spirators of the 6th December to prosecute their plans in
face of the man who had shown that he would do his duty
at whatever risk, and knew how to do it. He had also
procured reinforcements from Tasmania.

Alluding (4th Dec.) to the Ballarat outbrealk as more
than ““an ordinary riot,” he wrote to Sir W. Denison :

¢ The insurgents are principally foreigners, well drilled, and said to be
well commanded ; they have been, as you will see, completely routed, and
may, I hope, now be discouraged from assembling again in force ; but,
with the numerous goldfields, and the uncertain population which inhabits

them, it is img;ossible to say from hour to hour whether disaffection may
not show itself in some other quarter.”
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Inquiry would report ere long. He hoped to abide by
its recommendations :

““but so long as a law, however obnoxious and unpopular it may be,
remains in force, obedience must be rendered, or government must be at an
end. Concessions made to demonstrations of physical force bring their
speedy retribution ; the laws which regulate the goldfields are the same as
I found them, and until they are legitimately repealed or modified, it is my
duty to maintain them.” *®

On the 19th December Sir C. Hotham assented to a
Martial Law Indemnity Act, “in order to conform with the
practice observed in similar cases” . . . ‘althoughno
act had been performed under the authority of the pro-
clamation.” The Act was approved in England.

Sir G. Grey (then Secretary of State) sent (April, 1855)
prompt recognition of the services rendered by the Governor
and the forces under his command. Lord J. Russell,
his successor, conveyed in June by “ Her Majesty’s com-
mands” . . . her high sense of the  prompt and
energetic and at the same time prudent manner in which
you acted under very trying circumstances and in which
you so speedily quelled this alarming outbreak.” Sir
Robert Nickle was to receive honorary distinction; and
Lord John added : “Ihave also in deference to the express
commands of Her Majesty brought the gallant services
of Major Thomas ™ on this occasion under the notice of the
Commander-in Chief.”

** The difficulties of the Governor’s position were not confined to the
goldfields. The Criminals Influx Prevention Act had been disallowed again
in England. A new bill was passed (Nov. 1854). In this matter the
colonists and their representatives were of one mind, and it required
delicate handling to avoid conflict with them or with Downing-street.
Like Mr. Latrobe, Sir C. Hotham urged that the Act should be allowed,
and his views prevailed. The finances were in disorder. Not receiving
loyal assistance from some counsellors, Sir C. Hotham, wisely or unwisely,
conferred with representative members. Assured by him that any re-
trenchment agreed to in the House would as far as possible be enforced,
Mr. O’Shanassy at this time (14th Dec. 1854), carried, by 21 votes against
14, a proposition to reduce the expenditure (proposed by Mr. Foster and
his friens:) by more than a million sterling, and condemned the misappro-
priation by them of £869,000 of theland fund. Sir C. Hotham at an early
date desired to have another Executive Councillor in room of the Collector
of Customs, Mr. Childers. The latter (in resisting) animadverted on the
Governor for allowing the representatives to dictate the principal points
of the estimates.

™ Captain Thomas had obtained his majority in ordinary course. He was
afterwards Colonel of the 67th, and rose from a sick bed to accompany his
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legal matters the advice of the Crown lawyers.® It fell to
the Attorney-General to elect in what manner the indiet-
ments should be framed, and it is hardly fair to pronounce
after the event that he was unwise in electing to try for
high treason men of whom some were ostensibly guilty.
Nevertheless, the meetings on the 5th and 6th December,
in Melbourne, indicated that amongst those from whom a
common jury might be drawn, there was undissembled
sympathy with rioters, and hostility to the government.

At this hour of trial the absence of a grand jury was a
fatal flaw in the administration of the law. The executive
officer, mainly identified with the policy of the government
under Mr. Latrobe, performed the duties of a grand jury,
and was prosecutor of offenders who pleaded that mis-
government caused them to offend. Failure in the prose-
cutions would imply censure of the government. Some of
the most glorious pages in English history are those in
which a grand jury has stood between tyranny and its prey,
and vindicated the wisdom of the inquisition by which twelve
good and loyal men must find a true bill before any
Englishman can be presented for trial as a criminal. If,
said the great English commentator, trial by jury has so
great an advantage over others in regulating property, how
much must that advantage be heightened  when if is
applied to criminal cases!”

But this * glory of English law” was absent from Victoria.
Had a grand jury rejected a bill of indictment for high
treason it would have been competent for the Attorney-
General to frame a charge for a minor offence, and perhaps
even a common jury would have shrunk from justifying the
criminals when presented before them. Had a grand jury
found a true bill in the first instance, and had a common
jury acquitted, the disgrace would have been less than that
which occurred. The grand jury do not pronounce a man
guilty. Their rejection of a bill implies only that it does

#® In evidence, in 1867, Mr. Foster said: ‘I do not consider that he
intended any personal slight to myself by not consulting me ; he seldom
consulted any of his officers at all.  (Question put—* In matters of Execu-
tive?’) Yes: in fact, except asking the Attorney-General upon law-points,
he seldom or never asked advice—he always did that.” (Victoris,
Parliamentary Papers, 1867. Mr. Fitzgerald’s case.)
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In Melbourne there was a change of opinion as to levying
a royalty on the gold by means of an export duty. The
President of the Chamber of Commerce (A. R. Cruikshank)
declared (10th January) that that body had decided by a
majority in its favour. On the same day bank managers
advocated it, and Mr. Henry Miller, who had contributed
to defeat the proposal in the Legislative Counecil, told the
Commission, “I am now in favour of an export duty on

old.”
g The Commission recommended “‘a moderate export duty”
of 2s. 6d. an ounce, or, ‘“‘to use a more suitable name, an
assessment upon the gold produce;”-a fee of £1 a year for
a miner’s right, ‘“mainly for recognizing the public right
with regard to the gold of the soil;” and that the miner’s
right should qualify for the franchise.®® They gave more
wholesome advice when they urged that land should be sold
largely near the goldfields in order to settle the people on
the soil. They were shocked to find that only 44,000 acres
had been sold in the vicinity of goldfields; more so because
Captain Clarke, the Surveyor-General, had assured them
““that in surveying and bringing forward for sale the colonial
lands he had not found any practical difficulties arising
out of the squatting question.”®® With strange ineptitude

2 The vicious nature of this proposal will be seen by comparing it with
the general franchise at the time. Freeholders, of at least six months’
standing, of a clear unencumbered value of £100; householders occupyirg
dwellings of the clear annual value of £10, and having resided therein for
six months; pastoral licensees or lessees of the value of £10 per annum
(the lease having not less than three years to run), were entitled to be put
.on the electoral roll. Instead of seeking by all means to attach population
to the soil, and thus widening the electoral basis in a homogeneous manner,
the Commission proffered (for the insignificant sum of £1, which enabled
the miner to remove unlimited quantities of gold) to every straggling
digger a vote which gave him equal voice with the most industrious
settﬁers in the disposition of affairs.

% The Governor called upon Captain Clarke for a report on the subject.
He reiterated his statement. He complained that the Commission had
not noticed the fact that half a million of acres had been sold in 1854,
“‘large proportions of which were little removed if not contiguous to the

oldfields.” He was in such haste to justify himself that he wrote his own
efence without calling in the aid of a friendly adviser. A few sentences
will show his style :—*‘ Thus far, then, I think, I have shown that in the
immediate vicinity of the goldfields the charge of inefficiency of establish-
ments on the statu quo of the Crown lands has proved no obstacle under
the existing Imperial laws for the sale of land to its acquirement by the
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was the plain duty of a statesman. The Commission
inverted their duty. They proposed to make no distinction
in favour of the industrious citizen, the settled head of a
family, and the loose hordes at the goldfields containing
convict waifs from Tasmania.® They trod timidly over the
ashes of conflagration and strife at Ballarat. The ¢ whole
case of the Eureka riot”” was of ‘‘ a most untoward char-
acter.”” They agreed ‘generally that since the popular
excitement had culminated in that absurd and eriminal
procedure (the erection of the stockade) the prompt attack
on the morning of the 8rd was a movement alike well-timed
and executed ” . . . although they were ° not entirely
unanimous that even at this stage there should have been
on the part of the authorities a deliberate shedding of human
blood.” They thought the crisis ‘‘ would have been differ-
ently or more opportunely met had there been no military
arm to relyon” . . . the arm of the government ‘‘may
not fail them it is true; but it may occasion the evil as well
as effect the cure.” They regretted that the government
had not acceded to their request (10th Jan.) for a general
amnesty, and thus ¢ closed a dark and reproachful incident
with the causes of which the government themselves were
not entirely unconcerned, and which there is perhaps a good
ground of hope may never occur again.”” Their suggestions
on departmental and financial changes, individual mining,
puddling machines, quartz crushing, and mining partner-
ships, it is needless to dwell on. With regard to the
Chinese, whose expulsion from Sandhurst in June 1854
had been contemplated by agitators, they recommended that
a fine of not less than £10 a head should be imposed

% It is notable that the Chairman of the Commission was one of the
most,vpertinncious of the opponents of transportation, and supporters of
the Victoria law to prevent the influx of criminals from Van Diemen’s
Land. Yet, he was equally eager to confer the franchise on those
criminals when they became possessed of a miner’s right, which it was
well known that thousands of them possessed in 1854. The strange con-
tradictions of mankind are to be observed in the fact that, smarting under
the very name associated with transportation, the Legislative Council in
Van Diemen’s Land (Oct. 1854) petitioned the Queen to change the name
of the island to Tasmania. Thus while Tasmania enfranchised herself
from the name, the Goldfields’ Commission strove to enfranchise the tking
amongst themselves. ’
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judicate upon disputes about mining claims. Wholesome
occupation was thus put within reach of the residents of the
goldfields. Another Act, not recommended by the Com-
mission, was to prevent disturbances of the public peace,
such as the burning of the Eureka hotel. Juries were to find
whether a district was in a disturbed state. The Governor
could proclaim a district pronounced to be in such con-
dition ; and machinery was provided by which property
destroyed in the district was to be paid for by the inhabi-
tants. The passage of this bill was denounced in
unmeasured terms by the Age newspaper; but though
there was some opposition, representative members were
not deterred from assisting the government.

It was on the amnesty question that the Governor found
his Commissioners, the press, and popular petitions most
urgent. The Age was frantic in its terms. At the close of
the year it was embarrassed, and announced in sorrow that
its publication would immediately cease. The original pro-
prietors were supposed to be law-abiding. They could
hardly look hopefully on the articles with which their
literary servants filled their pages. Pecuniary profit from
such a source would have been a doubtful advantage. But
there was no profit. The plant and copyright fell into
the hands of the persons employed, and they attempted
to carry on the undertaking by association amongst them-
selves.®® Their literary staff remained. They demanded
the recall of the Governor (2nd Jan. 1855): ‘ Never
once, even by accident, has he been right.” On the 6th
(respecting the Ballarat outbreak): ¢ Of the newspaper
press the Age alone was not panic-stricken.”® It fol-
lowed with flattery every symptom of reviving disaffec-
tion. Mr. C. F. Nicholls proposed a petition for a general
amnesty. Holyoake, though he seconded it (vide Age)
said he was sick of the word ‘‘ constitutional ;’’ but a new
Victorian Reform League was formed ¢ for the carrying
out of an organized and purely constitutional agitation.”

® They carried it on, but not profitably, until two brothers named Syme
purchased the paper. One of them had been a violent writer in it, simul-
taneously with contributing articles to the Argus, of which he was the
stipendiary.

8 Writers in the Age were active disturbers out of doors.
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combined with the accomplices of the prisoners to overbear
juries when .they found the Governor unshakeable. The
Age grumbled at the postponement of the trials {ill
February. Mr. Akehurst was acquitted and Seekamp was
convicted (18th and 28rd Jan.). There was one crumb
of comfort. Dr. Lang, prosecuted for malicious libel on the
Chief Justice, was acquitted on the 20th. The Age ex-
pressed its satisfaction.

In February the Eureka prisoners were brought to the
bar. After the usual forensic fencing, in the course of
which the cases of Raffaello, Hayes, and Manning were
postponed, the negro Joseph was placed at the bar. There
were numerous challenges before a jury could be sworn.
Joseph’s identity and his complicity in the stockade (3rd
Dec.) were established. It was shown that the insurgents
fired a heavy volley without challenge or parley. No
evidence was called for the defence. A foregone con-
clusion was in men's minds. The turbulent element
which made demonstrations against law and order, in
Melbourne and on the goldfields, was in the ascendant.
The amnesty petitions, and the recommendation of the
Gold Inquiry Commission ; the ferocity with which the Age
predoomed to execration any juryman who would convict
any of the prisoners ; the evil reputation of the government,
so vacillating in 1851, so feeble in 1853; an unsettled
temper in the public mind of a people which numbered, in
1855, five times as many as were in Victoria in 1850, and
included, amongst the new men, ex-convicts who had
smarted under law ; foreigners who had fled in fear of law;
socialists who theoretically defied it ; Americans who pre-
ferred to it that lynch law which the Age had formally
pronounced ‘‘generally unexceptionable in principle;”
finally, an insatiable greed to follow unchecked by any
authority the absorbing pursuit which had attracted to the
colony the great majority of the mnovi homines;—these,
and kindred impulses which deserve not the name of con-
siderations, warped many minds in one direction.

The counsel for the poor negro (H.S. Chapman and B. C.
Aspinall) ridiculed the idea that he could have harboured
treasonous designs to depose the Queen ; riotous perhaps he
might have been, but high treason was beyond his ken;
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defended on special grounds. It was averred that he was
not in the stockade, and that he had risked his own life in
dissuading the violent from a resort to arms. He had been
arrésted about 200 yards from the stockade after the other
prisoners had been collected. His counsel said, ‘‘ Admitting
him to be there, for the sake of argument, I say it is not
high treason. It was a riot or a misdemeanour if you
please, but it was not high treason.”

Amongst the witnesses was the Roman Catholic priest,
Rev. P. Smith, who had accompanied Raffaello and Black,
when they demanded the release of the prisoners captured
for resisting the police (80th Nov.) He swore that he was
twice with Hayes in the stockade on the 2nd, that Hayes
went with him as a protector, and that his own object was
to dissuade the rioters ‘‘from the movement they were on.”
Very early on the 3rd Hayes was at Mr. Smith's house,
and told him that some person wanted him at the
stockade. A messenger had been sent by Lalor. He went
thither and saw Hayes arrested. During the Judge's
charge Hayes interrupted the Judge, without rudeness, but
with much feeling, to declare, for the sake of his ¢ wife and
gix children,” that he almost risked his life ‘“to get the
people to go to their peaceful homes.”

After a retirement of half an hour the jury returned with
a verdict of not guilty. Hayes immediately addressed a
crowd outside the Court. They gave (the Age reported)
three cheers for Hayes, groans for the Governor, for the
Attorney-General, and for the Argus; ‘“and a scream of
uproarious cheering was raised for the 4ge.” ® Raffaello
was acquitted (218t March) and cheered by an outer crowd.
A Dutchman, Jan Vennick, was similarly dealt with on the
22nd, two others were tried on the 28rd, and the triumphant
Raffaello was in the Court smiling and nodding to them.
They were acquitted, and were cheered out of doors. On
the 26th one of the prisoners was discharged, the Attorney-
General having decided not to prosecute him. The remain-

Amongst the successful counsel for the prisoners was Mr. R. D. Ireland,
whose accession to the ranks of a seditious confederation in Ireland in
1848 is recorded by C. G. Duffy (of the Nation) in ** Four Years of Irish
History.” 1883.

9 Age, 21st March, 1855.
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columns of large type to an attack upon Edward Wilson,
of the Argus, for whom Blair had written violent articles
during an employment of {two years, but whom, as soon as
Blair went over to the Age, he accused of ‘‘repellent
insolence and brutal insult.”

The incensed penman did not see that by such wrangling
he was at last doing service to the State. Men began to
think it unseemly to submit to the guidance of such advisers.
The Age also exhibited one of its moving motives too
broadly to be mistaken. On the 18th April, one leading
article denounced the Governor, because (the vote being
already allocated) he declined to devote to the Age a
requested payment for government advertisements. On the
same day it condensed the wrongs of itself and of the people
by declaring that ‘‘the real remedy for grievances and
wrongs embraces both the dismissal of Sir C. Hotham, and
a revised new Constitution, and both these (the people) will
have—or else the alternative.”” Men who sympathized with
what they called liberal opinions were nevertheless disinclined
to struggle for advertisements for a newspaper. Any sacri-
fices they might be called upon to make required a worthier
altar. But the result of the trials aroused serious reflec-
tions amongst those who deigned to reflect. Trial by jury,
the glory of England, had not itself received a fair trial.
Open intimidation, in the press and in the crowd, had been
brought to bear. The doctrine had been openly broached
that the rioters were not only entitled to complain, but
right in the revenge which they plotted, and which Sir C.
Hotham and the capable Captain Thomas had frustrated.

The verdicts of the juries, albeit perhaps wrung from
them under coercion, seemed to imply that the government,
which the Argus had striven to bring into contempt, was
despised as well as hated.* The jurors were drawn from
the artisans and the dwellers in the suburbs. But for the
intimidation which had been practised, it might have been
thought that the general population had become maddened

* In three of the jury lists, carpenters, butchers, gardeners, and small
farmers preponderated. There was one baker, one saddler, one carter,
one painter. There were two storekeepers and two stonemasons, &ec.
These men were assuredly no participants in conspiracy. They wished
to condemn past misgovernment and a vicious system of collecting revenue.
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informed that the property found on him was ‘“‘a wide-
awake hat or cap, a red shirt, corduroy or moleskin trousers,
and a pair of boots.”” He retorted in a printed narrative
that he had been robbed by British troopers and traps.”
His election as a member of the Local Court effectually
extinguished his pretensions to save society. It was soon
seen that he was as useless as he was prone to disorder,
and he disappeared from public view. His career is worth
mentioning only to show how vile a thing had been made
to seem precious in the eyes of the exasperated miners, who
speedily remitted him to neglect as soon as a post of busi-
ness had proved his uselessness. But the old fervour had
left sparks which could be rekindled; and, under the new
Constitution, in 1856, Lalor was elected a Member of
Parliament for a district contiguous to Ballarat, Humffray
for Ballarat East, and Cathie (a speaker at Ballarat 5th
Dec. 1854), was elected for Ballarat East in 1859.
Black, the delegate, who demanded the release of prisoners,
was less fortunate. He received only twenty-four votes
when Humffray was preferred at Ballarat East in 1856 with
nearly 700 votes. 1t may be mentioned that after the
acquittals of the Ballarat rioters in 1855 no steps were
taken to apprehend their accomplices who were in hiding.
The amnesty was complete, though not formally proclaimed.

Vern, who had fled, returned to Ballarat, and was
sentenced to imprisonment there in 1856 for ‘rioting.”
His patriotism on that occasion had taken the form of
threatening anyone who would dare to prevent him from
filling up a hole sunk by another miner. Although Raffaello
pleaded that he had nothing to do with the defence of the
stockade, he railed at Vern for running away.

Some idea may be formed of the amount of business
transacted in the Local Courts at the goldfields, from the
fact that in little more than a year and a-half the Ballarat
Court adjudicated on about 1600 cases. After the creation
of two Houses, the legislation of 1855 was amended in

‘‘soothe that mental irritation consequent upon seclusion.” They were
then aware that out-of-doors they were looked upon.as popular heroes, and
that juries were threatened with pains and penalties if they should dare
to return a verdict of guilty whatever might be the evidence. Mr. Stawell
was burnt in efligy at Sandhurst about the same time.
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Court of Victoria,”” was to be appointed by the Governor-in-
Council. The Judge selected was Robert Molesworth. To
say that he was known to be incorruptible would be faint
praise. In the colony, as in England, incorruptibility had
long been deservedly associated with all Judges, chosen as
they have been from an array of distinguished members of
the Bar. But it may be said that the legal and equitable
acumen of Robert Molesworth, combined with his upright-
ness, gave assurance that no search abroad could have
obtained for mining litigants a worthier Judge than the one
who became Chief Judge in the difficult and peculiar cases
brought before him in Victoria.

It is needless to dwell at length on the 246 clauses in the
Act of 1865. It dealt with miners’ rights, with leases of
reservoirs, licenses to cut water-races, gold-mining leases,
mineral leases (for other metals than gold), and the eleec:
tion and functions of Mining Boards. Their power to make
bye-laws was extensive, but no bye-law was to be operative
unless certified by the law officers of the Crown as ‘‘not
contrary to law.” Courts of Mines were continued, and
they had power to call upon any warden, surveyor, or
registrar to perform his duty. Mining on private property
was long a bone of contention. Owners of auriferous lands
hoped to establish their title to gold found on their property.
After the substitution of a customs’ levy for a personal
payment by the miner, it was of little importance to the
government whether the freeholder or the miner’s right
holder extracted the gold. But *“prospectors,” as searchers
for gold deposits were called, averred that a freeholder
ought not to be able, like a dog in the manger, to exclude
miners from his freehold. On some occasions there were
attempts to invade freeholds. But it could scarcely be
maintained that to enter upon a freehold and undermine a
field, perhaps a house, was to be the right of any adven-
turer who might plead that he was searching for gold.

The Goldsfields’ Commission of 1854 recommended that
‘“ guriferous lands as such should not be alienated from the
Crown.”% . . “If lands by hundreds of thousands of
acres are insufficient for that purpose (breaking down a
land monopoly) they must be brought forward by millions.”®
' * Paragraph 137. " Paragraph 44,
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them were about 17,000 women and 18,000 children. The
number of ounces obtained in 1853 was never equalled
afterwards.® There was similar proof in New South Wales
of the lavish manner in which gold was scattered on the
surface of the earth. The yield of the New South Wales
goldfields in 1852 was larger than in any after year.

But though the appropriation of the gold passed from
the hands of individual miners to the coffers of associations,
the members of companies strove, and with some success,
to persuade dwellers on the goldfields that to guard from
abuse the privilege of entering on private lands to seek for
gold was an act of oppression. It was like the Deceased
Wife’s Sister Bill in the House of Commons. The majority
of Englishmen did not desire that it should be passed. The
majority of English women were against it; but a few
active expectants persuaded friends to support their views
as liberal. The cry stood for the fact. So in Victoria at
one time there seemed a prospect that a successful ecry
might be raised against the Legislative Council because
they refused to pass Bills for mining on private property
which certain intriguers steered through the Assembly with
professions of public liberality. But the stars fought
against them. The multiplication of freeholders augmented
the number of those who doubted whether it was right to
subject an honest neighbour to vague inroads upon his

*The following information is contained in the ¢ Victorian Year Book,”
1894, and the ‘‘ Australasian Statistics,” 1895 :—

1891—1895 1,174,446 8, 815 748 3,120,130 |, 188,605 639,398 a 244,182

. New South g South Western .
Period. Wales. Victoria. |Queensland Australia. ! Australia. Tasmania.
0Z8. 0Z8. 0zs. | 0Z8. 0z8. 0ozs.
1851—1856 | 1,920,200 | 11,218,772 — i - — —
1856—1860 1.860.763 12,712,846 4,127 | - - -
1861 —18656 2,233,001 8,341,464 52,680 | - | - -
1866—1870 | 1,309,911 | 7,105,820 512,808 — ! - 3,504
1871—1876 1,612,227 6.130,902 1,319,952 24,685 | - 25,206
1876—1880 639,435 4,136,753 1,868,819 59, 910 — 154,888
1881—18856 624,885 4,081,269 1,327,366 | 88,366 l - 235,973
1886—1890 546,726 8,111, 378 2,698,264 | 130,218 | 169,017
1
|

Grand total | 11,421,644 | 60,155,047 | 10,604,031 491,684 639,303 a 832,806
1891 153,336 576,400 576,439 | 35,633 80,811 a 48,760
1692 166,870 654,456 615,668 30,218 59,5648 a 45,110
1893 179,288 671.126 616,940 42,906 110,890 a 37,290
1894 324,787 673 680 679,511 42,795 207,181 a 58,050
1896 860,165 740,086 631,682 87,064 281,513 a 54,964

a Quantity declared for export only.
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some derived enormous gains which, like fortunate lottery-
tickets, drew others to the pursuit. Yet if a spirit hovering
over the earth had seen the scores of thousands, grimy
with clay, and eager, even when weary, to scrape together
a few more ounces of the coveted ore, and had been told
that their common object was to increase the export of gold
and diminish the cost of obtaining it; after a glance at the
scene, he would have been driven to exclaim with Puck,
“ Lord, what fools these mortals be.” Shaft upon shaft,
tunnel upon tunnel, some utterly useless, and always more
numerous than necessary, pierced the earth. Millions of
money were absolutely wasted because, though all had
agreed that to gather gold cheaply was the highest good
for man, their methods were such as to prevent it from
being so gathered.

South Australia displayed such sagacity and energy in
dealing with the forlorn condition with which she was
threatened, that although at first it seemed as if the migra-
tion to the Victorian goldfields would leave her without the
means of industry, she plucked from the nettle danger the
flower safety, and rose renewed in strength by attaching
her people to the soil.

Her first impulse was like that in Victoria when Har-
graves showed with his Californian cradle how gold could
be washed out of dirt in New South Wales. A reward of
£1000 for the first discovery of a profitable goldfield was
offered (17th Dec. 1851). The test was to be the raising of
gold of the value of £10,000 within two months of the issue
of licenses. The Legislative Council recommended the
reward (12th Dec.) The Executive Council (on the 16th)
passed resolutions to meet the ‘‘ crisis” impending over the
colony from the numerous ‘migrations in progress, unless
means of prevention be timelyadopted.” It was contemplated
to arrest the immigration from England conducted partly at
the cost of the land fund, but the Immigration Agent
doubted the wisdom of checking that source of supply, and
the Governor, his Council, and ‘‘ a large majority of the
community were’’ (he wrote 26th Dec. 1851) ¢‘ desirous that
it should be retained.” Stagnation and depression were in
Adelaide, but had not affected the rural districts. On the
30th December illusory hopes were created by reports that
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tended—pending the importation of coin of the realm—
“to uphold the solvency of the banks against the probable
results of a drain of their coined specie, to alleviate the
inconveniences of an alleged scarcity of the circulating
medium, and to encourage the return to the province of
those persons who may have procured gold in the adjacent
colonies, and who may desire to invest it in South Aus-
tralia.” The Governor thought it ‘“‘safe and innocuous.”
The bill was passed and became law on the day of meeting
(28th Jan.) It was to expire in a year. Its speedy
acceptance was ascribed to Mr. Tinline, the manager of the
Bank of South Australia. His admirers, when its benefits
had been universally recognized, presented him (April 1858)
with a purse of two thousand guineas and a silver salver with
a centre-shield of Victorian gold, to commemorate his
services, the whole testimonial being valued at £2710.
Mr. Herschell Babbage became Government Assayer. The
law officers reported that the Act would be legally
operative unless disallowed by the Crown. But a new
manager of the Bank of Australasia protested against it
(2nd March) as ‘ unsound in principle and impracticable in
operation.” He (Samuel Tomkinson) prayed that the
Legislature might be convened to repeal or amend it, and
thus avert evils which would ‘ cause greater injury,
confusion, and danger to the community ultimately than
would have occurred had the said Act not been passed.”
The Colonial Secretary (4th March) denied the alleged pre-
cipitancy of the measure, which, though rapidly passed,
had been maturely considered, and was approved by
Tomkinson’s predecessor, and by the local directors of his
Bank.

Sir J. Pakington (16th Oct. 1852) announced that he
did ‘“ not propose to interfere with the temporary measure,
which was adopted by the local legislature in order to meet
a crisis of peculiar urgency and danger; which has worked
hitherto in a satisfactory manner, and which appears to
have met with almost unanimous approval in the colony.”
He pointed out objections which it would be well to remedy
in case of a renewal of the measure, and hoped that the large
exportation of coin then in progress, and perhaps the
establishment of a Mint, might render arenewal unnecessary.
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had been sanctioned in England. By that time his previous
prophecy of evil to South Australia from the enhanced
price conferred upon her ingots had been falsified by events.
The price in Sydney and Melbourne had risen higher than
the standard in Adelaide, and the reaction he expected did
not appear. By that time also South Australia had com-
mitted another ¢ irregularity.”” She had coined her gold
tokens. Mr. Westgarth expected inconvenience (which
never arrived) from the fact that a British sovereign,
though intrinsically worth no more than a token, was by
reason of superior uses abroad worth one shilling more than
a token. He thought the English Government could
hardly have had the facts before them when they assented
to the Act ; if they had, they had displayed incompetence.

The vigour of South Australia attracted by the end of
18521% no less than 570,000 ounces of Victorian gold. If
any portion was due ““to the operation of the Gold Act we
have (Mr. Westgarth said) seen sufficient of that innovating
experiment, its deceptive operation . . . its direct variance
with all commercial principle—to enable us to pronounce
its condemnation.” The South Australians were content
to be condemned while contemplating their revived pros-
perity. They falsified evil prophecies by extending the
time during which liabilities might be paid in bullion,'®
and sat secure while their fall was predicted.

It was not only by means of their Gold Act that they
contended with the threatened desertion of their territory.
There only, on Australian soil, had the colonists retained a
tincture of Gibbon Wakefield’s principle of demanding &
price for land in order to ensure its application to healthy
uses. Though not a *“ sufficient price,” it had a wholesome
tendency. An agricultural class was in process of forma-
tion. The government could supply its needs without
restraint from the vicious Orders-in-Council which South

10 Westgarth's *“ Victoria,” p. 176. 1853.

" The Bank of Australasia laboured against the government. It refused
to grant its own notes in exchange for government bullion, but availed
itself of the privilege of paying its own liabilities in the bullion. On the
suggestion of Mr. Tinline (South Australian Bank) and Mr. James Black-
wood (Union Bank) the Act was widened, so that the patriotic institutions
might not be suddenly left with a plethora of unexchangeable ingots, and
compelled to pay all demands in coin. :






680 . SOUTH AUST. LAND SALES AND TRADE.

Young, but appointed by Mr. Latrobe, and was subordinate
to the latter, though South Australia was. to refund all
costs incurred. The temporary flight of her manhood
paralyzed but did not destroy the ordinary industry of
South Australia. Like their fellows in Victoria, squatters
lost their shepherds. Sir H. Young stated (June 1852) that
upwards of 200,000 sheep were ‘ in charge of shepherds.
who are aborigines.”  Still the migration to Victoria con-
tinued. Agriculture ceased. Exports of breadstuffs were
augmented, but they consisted of stock in hand attracted by
the exorbitant prices ruling in Victoria. The statistical
tables of 1851-2-8 are a blank as to agriculture.!®

But the resiliency of the occupation had been guaranteed
by the measures of the government. The decline in the
revenue in 1851 was corrected before the end of 1852. In
1858 it more than doubled the receipts of 1851. Fortunate
miners not only sent remittances to their families, but
invested in land in their old home. Eighty-two thousand
acres had been sold by the government for £88,740 in 1851.
In 1858 they sold 218,925 acres for £291,660. In 1854 a
similar quantity realized £888,470. Victorian gold pur-
chased South Australian land. For several subsequent
years a somewhat less area was disposed of, but in 1864 the
sales of 1854 were surpassed. In like manner the imports,
which had declined from £845,000 in 1850 to £690,000 in
1851, rose to £798,000 in 1852, and to £2,336,000 in 1858.
After a subsequent diminution they also increased, and
in 1868 exceeded £2,000,000, not again to fall below that
amount.

The export trade exhibited corresponding results. Under
the article of breadstuffs exported may be read the success
of the efforts of 1852 to retain an agricultural population.

The export began in 1850 with ... £38,000 '

In 1851 it was .. 73,000
1852 ,, . . . 212,000
1856 ,, .. ... 556,000
1860 ,, . ... 499,000
1864 ,, .. . ... 1,464,000

102 ¢South Australia.” W. Harcus. 1876. Published (in London) by
authority of the Government of South Australia.

4 Fractions of thousands are omitted. Bad seasons caused fluctuations
in the export. After 1864 there were variations, but in 1875 the value
was £1,680,996. : -
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The crisis caused by the exodus of labour and of capital
to Victoria was met and conquered by measures as sudden
and complete as the crisis itself.

On the 8rd February 1858, Governor Young closed the
Asgsay Office as no longer needed. Crude gold had risen in
the general market, and was worth more than the price fixed
bylaw as its exchangeable value in the shape of gold tokens.
The legal compulsion ceased simultaneously with the
mercantile fact. The temporary Gold Act expired (28th
Jan. 1858). The banks notified that they would receive
gold at £8 14s. per ounce. The Assay Office was closed just
after its receipts had fallen below the minimum prescribed.
It had in one year received raw gold valued (at £3 11s. per
ounce) at £1,462,836. Its revenue had been £18,846 ; its
expenditure, £8748. The discovery which threatened to
ruin the colony had been converted into more substantial
benefits than had been derived in the gold territory. Even
the Assay Department yielded a profit in Adelaide, while in
Victoria the general administration was embarrassed.

Worse than all financial difficulty in the latter colony was
the degradation of character in the population. The evil-
minded had laid claim to power by lawlessness; the
foolish, in the name of liberality, had consented. Weak
men had stood aside, yielding to that subtle tyranny of
opinion which so subjugates the mind that it dares not to
say what it believes to be right, and will for peace’ sake link
itself with wrong.

In Tasmania Sir W. Denison apprehended (Aug. 1851)
risk of famine prices for food if agricultural labourers
should, by flocking to the goldfields, diminish the
production of grain. Members of the Anti-Transportation
League feared that unless gold could be found in the
island the best labourers would desert it. Even if it
should be found, the Governor thought that convicts ought
still * to be sent to the colony.” Their labour would be the
only means of raising food, and he was prepared to control
them. The discovery of gold in Victoria impelled him to
urge that the whole sum “ voted by the House of Commons
for emigration to Australia’ should be spent on emigra-
tion to Tasmania. He rejoiced to say that no gold had
been found there. He did not seem to anticipate that
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One allegation in an address (17th March 1852) portrays
the state of the community. The census of March 1851
showed a population of 70,000, the males being 80,769.
Between the 1st January and the 80th June 1852 more than
10,000 rushed to Victoria. The Council averred that on
““81st December 1851 there were 20,069 convicts in the
colony, and that the number of policemen now employed is
446, of whom no less than 882 are themselves conviets.”
Even in diminutive Norfolk Island the goldfields caused
commotion. Mr. Price, Civil Commandant, reported (15th
March 1852)17 that the ‘ greater portion” of the
officers would quit ‘““on the first opportunity” -unless
their pay should be increased. Some left. A restless
spirit pervaded convicts and custodians. The determined
Price was compelled to resort to increased corporal punish-
ment. He had 950 conviets on the island, most of them:
the depraved scourings of the crime of dominions onm
which it had become the current phrase that the sun never
set. Like pitch, the miserable felons begrimed all with
whom they came in contact. Their island lair was awful
as one of Dante's circles,—an abyss of unutterable horror.

The Governor called on Mr. Price to explain, and was
satisfied with the explanation; but told Earl Grey that it
would be better to break up the establishment at the
island, and to form at Tasman’s Peninsula ‘ such an ultra-
penal system’ under the immediate eye of the government
as would dispense with the necessity of maintaining the
island prison. Sir J. Pakington approved. To lighten the
Governor's troubles, he authorized the Emigration Com-
missioners to despatch free emigrants to Tasmania on a
larger scale. Until moved by the Governor's prayers he
had sent no free labourers thither, ¢ because it was supposed
that they would immediately emigrate to the adjacent
colonies where wages were so much higher.” That result
was still probable; nevertheless, Sir J. Pakington felt
bound to keep faith with the colonists, and to apply on
their behalf a portion of Earl Grey’s ¢ free emigration”
vote, available for colonies which might accept conviets.

In August 1852 Sir W. Denison, while asking for free
emigrants, demanded convicts also. ‘‘ To whom’ but con-

1" Parliamentary Pape:s, vol. Ixxxii. 1853.
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The task was hard. There was neither sufficient money
nor labour. Public works were arrested. Household
expenses were reduced. Gardens were uncultivated. In a
private letter (May 1858) Sir W. Denison said: ‘“In faet
this discovery of gold has turned us topsy-turvy altogether;
that good will result from it in the long run I do not
doubt . . . but the present good is obscured and
hidden by so much that is evil as to make many question
its existence.”'® Such was the condition of the island
home of Britain’s criminals in 1853. Some colonists were
so grateful for the Governor’s exertions and practical
ability that they prayed for his retention in office
beyond the ordinary term. They provoked others to send
a contrary prayer, signed, like the first petition, by more
than 2000 persons. It cannot be said that either petition
prevailed, though the kindly one was graciously received.
The Governor remained in office about two  years longer
than the customary period, and then succeeded Sir C.
Fitz Roy, whose tenure in New South Wales had also been
prolonged.

Western Australia demands brief notice in connection
with the gold discoveries of 1851. Her population was
increased by the importation of convicts; for it was not
easy for the convicts to escape. Few ships called at her
ports, and the arid deserts which divided her from the
eastern colonies were a barrier which no convicts could
cross. Kven the sea-coast afforded no hope, for the perilous
journey of Eyre from Adelaide to King George’s Sound
was a household story in those days. Yet Perth was
moved. In March 1852 fourteen persons fled from it to
Melbourne, and Governor Fitzgerald deplored ¢ this mani-
festation of feeling at a moment” of progress and pros-
perity. He would rigidly prevent emigration, as far as he
could, by enforcing the provisions of the Passengers Act.
His efforts were vigorous but vain. He reported (11th
Sept. 1852) that 800 adults had run away, and that seventy
more were going in one vessel. I feel assured that one-
half of the free population would quit the colony had they
the means of paying their passage to Melbourne.” A small
vessel was sent to Adelaide, partly to restore Bishop Short

110 ¢ Varieties of Vice-Regal Life,” vol. i., p. 212,
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allow.” But the nature of the case was such that usually
the only witnesses of the crime were the criminals or their
victims.

Whatever the convicts were, it was felt that the eolony
could not live without them. No sooner was it reported in
Western Australia that it had been announced in Parlia-
ment that transportation to Australia would at once cease,
than the Governor represented (8th June 1858) that the
tidings had ¢‘ produced one universal feeling of alarm and
despair.” Meetings were held at Fremantle and Perth.
Memorials were signed by the free settlers. It was asserted
that transportation to their colony was less alloyed with
evil than elsewhere. Its cessation would rob offenders of a-
field for honest employment, and ‘“at this peculiar con-
juncture, with reference to the goldfields of Port Phillip,
prove absolutely ruinous to the inhabitants ” of Western
Australia. The Governor affirmed that 99 out of 100
inhabitants in the colony apprehended * ruinous results”
from the stoppage of transportation, and the Duke of New-
castle assuaged their grief by replying: *I can assure you
that no idea is entertained at the present time of ceasing to
send convicts to Western Australia.”

The convicts could not pierce the desert which was to
test the courage and resources of future expeditions. They
would have wandered from Western Australia if they could ;
but the land defied them, the ships which left Perth were
few, and it was difficult to escape the vigilance of officers
who searched for runaways secreted on board. Western
Australia derived none of the presumed advantages which
extended to the immediate neighbours of the gold-bearing
colonies. But, in compensation, she lost few of her people.
The bond were restrained by law ; the free by inability to
defray the cost of escape from their sandy prison. It was
not until 1892 that the discovery of gold in large quantities
at Coolgardie led to a repetition in Western Australia of
the hot haste with which seekers for gold rush to newly-
found goldfields.

Search was diligently made for years, and great hopes
were excited when the Kimberley goldfield (intersected by
the 18th degree S. lat.) was discovered. Subsequently (1887)
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as to cause the legislature to re-enact the follies which
squandered in the East the unbought treasure which, wisely
husbanded, might have provided railways and other public
works.

The effect of the gold discoveries upon prices in Vietoria
and in New South Wales was as marked as it was inevitable.
At the first rush to the goldfields it was feared that houses
in the metropolis would cease to be in demand; and that
suburban lands would cease to be cultivated. Men who had
burned kilns of bricks sold them for a few shillings to hesi-
tating speculators whose money furnished the sellers with a
scanty equipment for the goldfields. Ere long the specu-
lators reaped a golden harvest. Rents in Melbourne and in
Sydney rose eight or nine hundred per cent. The rates of
wages made it costly to build. Materials for building came
from far, and commanded enormous profits. House-owners
found a paltry income swollen to unhoped-for dimensions.!%®
Land shared the general enhancement. Men who had
bought at £5 an acre were able to sell at £500 in the
distant suburbs. In thoroughfares in town the value of
land sold by the foot exceeded many times its former value
by the half-acre. Nor was the change confined to realty.
Personal property endured a like conversion. Men who
picked up gold by uncounted ounces lived luxuriously. Meat
and vegetables transported to the goldfields enriched their
lucky owners. A market gardener in Victoria received £2000
for onions carted from Brighton to Sandhurst. Graziers
who drove stock to, or speculators who procured sheep or
cattle for, the markets at the goldfields wondered at their
own wealth. Other markets rose while pressure, as though
hydraulic, extended throughout the colony. Cunning
speculators succeeded. Active men without sagacity did
the same. One (a rather unsuccessful man before) of weak
mind, but energetic frame, found room for the idea that by
purchasing cattle for re-sale be could make money at the
goldfields. He did so, and repeated the experiment. Before
the value of stations rose he was enabled to buy more than

115 Robert Lowe was among the fortunate. In a time of depression he
had bought tenements in Sydney as a qualification for a seat in the Council.
After the discovery of gold their value increased prodigiously.






842 THE BETTER ELEMENTS OF SOCIETY.

Meanwhile, with the worst elements of her national life,
England sent the better. The energy and virtue of her
worthiest children, of all classes, was represented in Aus-
tralia. In the wearer of the mitre and the worker with the
spade might be found noble types of the highest forms of
English life. Every religious denomination has supplied
heroic champions to do battle with the spirit of evil ; and
though it be a duty to record the troubles of the past, it is
grateful to acknowledge the efforts made to remedy them,
and to wish God speed to those who have upheld, and still
uphold, the banner of righteousness in the land.
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sublime than the Greek sage’s theory of an energy working
ever towards a perfect virtue. It will be needful also to
show how each colony moulded its institutions after Lord
Derby’s Ministry in 1852 yielded to Wentworth’s Remon-
strance, and, viewing the condition of Victoria, declared
that it was just and necessary to give to each colony power
to (;leal with the difficulties caused by the discovery of
gold. .

In New South Wales the University of Sydney was
publicly opened by Sir C. Fitz Roy in October 1852.
Wentworth was present as one of the Fellows of the
institution which he had originated. Sir C. Nicholson
(the Speaker), as Vice-Provost, addressed the assemblage
of notables. Amongst the Fellows present were Deas
Thomson ; James Macarthur, of Camden; Plunkett, the
Attorney-General ; and others. Ministers of each religious
denomination were amongst the audience. The Speaker
recounted the passing (in 1850) of the Act of Incorporation,
the endowment provided, the sagacity with which, while
comprehensive secular instruction was made the duty of
the University, affiliated colleges were contemplated in
which Christian training would crown the work under the
guidance of religious teachers. The selection of Professors
had been entrusted to Sir John Herschell ; Professor Airey,
the Astronomer Royal ; Professor Malden ; and Mr. Henry
Denison, brother of Sir. W. Denison.

The Rev. John Woolley, D.C.L., was chosen Professor of
Classics; Messrs. Pell and Smith were severally Professors
of Mathematics, and of Chemistry and Physics. When
the opening address was concluded, the first Australian
students were presented for matriculation,and the principal,
Dr. Woolley, delivered one of the many orations whose
eloquence charmed the dwellers in the South. Himself
sprung from Oxford, founded (he said) by Alfred nearly
a thousand years ago, he invoked the spirit of that glorious
king as he contemplated the foundation of ‘the first
Colonial University in the British Empire.” In words
enshrined among the archives of the University, and fitted
to inspire high thoughts, he scanned the functions of the
new creation which the ‘““noble Wentworth’ had called into
life in the remotest corner of the earth, to unfold in the
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missionary labours on behalf of the despised Australian
blacks, concerning whom he left a valuable treatise.! The
vigorous Lang endeavoured to attract some public money
to his College during the passing of the University Bill.
He recommended * that a grant of £700 a year should be
guaranteed for three years certain to any College having
an establishment of four Professors of suitable qualifications,
and affording a certain fixed curriculum.””? The Legislature
did not fall in with his views, and he railed at the Univer-
sity as vicious, and to be remodelled when the Colonial

. Legislature could ““be relieved of some of its present useless
lumber.””

- Early in 1858 the Legislature passed an Act to incor-
porate a museum in Sydney. Opinion fluctuated with
regard to railways. A company had been formed for the
purpose of making a railway to Goulburn from Sydney. Pro-
jected in 1846, at a later date capital was subscribed, and in
1850 the first turf was turned. A company was formed in
18583 to make a railway from Newcastle to Maitland. The
private lines, to Goulburn and to Maitland, passed into the
hands of the Government in 1855. A line from Sydney to
Parramatta was opened in 1855.

In 1852 an Act to regulate the gauge of railways in the
colony fixed the width at 5 feet 8 inches. A year later
(Aug. 1858) the wavering Council fixed the gauge, by
another Act, at 4 feet 8} inches. It is to be regretted that,
although there was much correspondence with the Imperial
Government about the width of gauge, there was not suffi-
cient prescience in New South Wales and in Viectoria to
bring about a common agreement. After New South
Wales had formally fixed upon 5 feet 8 inches as the
proper gauge, works undertaken in Victoria were con-
structed with a gauge of 5 feet 8 inches as provided in the
83rd section of the Melbourne and Hobson’s Bay Act of

! ¢“Kamilaroi and other Australian Languages.” New South Wales:
1875. It was printed at the Government press. The amiable author died
in 1878. In 1877 he acquired a knowledge of the Chinese language at the
request of the Presbyterian Synod, in order that he might serve a Chinese
Mission in Sydney.

¢ Lang’s own words.—*¢ History of New South Wales,” vol. ii., p. 547.
1852.

s Ib.
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longer list of dutiable articles, but the rates, which varied
from 5 to 10 per cent., were imposed to increase revenue,
and not to diminish importations. Tasmania also had a
larger list in her tariff than remained in New South Wales
or in Victoria. Asregarded the two gold-producing colonies,
artificial restrictions could no longer arrest the natural
circulation. What the busy hive of men desired to do it
could do freely. It was not only in the direction of pastoral
enterprise that the colonists of New South Wales displayed
activity. John Macarthur had imported vine-cuttings, and
had, with his sons, James and William, studied the method
of making wine in the European continent during his
enforced absence from his home after the deposition of
Governor Bligh. One of those sons (afterwards Sir William)
wrote a valuable treatise in order to stimulate his fellow-
colonists to the manufacture of wine. The Camden vineyard
was formed in 1815. Mr. James King, of Irrawang, made
wine in the Hunter River district in 1836. Samples
of his wine, as well as of that made at Camden
and elsewhere, obtained honourable distinction at the
French International Exhibition of 1855, as they had
previously earned it in London in 1851. Mr. Busby,
early after his arrival, distributed vine-cuttings in
the colony, and published a treatise on wine-making.
Like many inventors, the pioneers of this industry paved
the way on which others might walk profitably, though
their own reward was the consciousness of striving to
do good.

Coal was abundant, and, as the population of the neigh-
bouring colonies increased, exportation from the rich coal
seam at the River Hunter yielded as much as was required.
Iron, though known to abound, had not (owing to the cost
of labour and other circumstances) been produced largely.
Private enterprise had done much. Mr. T. S. Mort had, in
1856, constructed a dry dock at Waterview Bay in Sydney.
A public dock at Cockatoo Island (or Biloela) was com-
pleted in the following year. With regard to municipal
institutions, the parent colony was not honourably dis-
tinguished. The opposition to district councils in the time
of Gipps seemed to have hardened into an unworthy
reluctance to undertake municipal duties.
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dissolve the Legislative Council so that the question might
be reopened in the colony (in the absence of Wentworth
and Deas Thomson). Dr. Lang was, on private and public
grounds, opposed to Wentworth's bill, which excluded
ministers of religion from the House. A public meeting
was called at a theatre. The scanty attendance showed
that many colonists were content to allow Wentworth’s
Constitution to receive a fair trial. Dr. Lang moved the
first resolution, condemning the Legislative Council. He
quoted Scripture for his purpose, and assailed the private
character of Sir Charles Fitz Roy. He daubed the new
Governor with praise, and was confident that he would
grant the request for the dissolution of the Council. Mr.
Darvall, who, like Gallio, cared not whether the imputa-
tions against Sir C. Fitz Roy were true or not, could
hardly echo Lang’s speech, and, as he had joined in a
complimentary address to Fitz Roy, had difficulty in
obtaining a hearing to explain his conduct. But he ranted
on the stage about Wentworth’s bill, regretting, like other
actors, “to see so few present.”” He also augured hopefully
of the new Governor’s career. The newspaper reporter
declared that the audience saw that Darvall’s was only a
simulated fervour. Mr. Parkes affirmed that Wentworth’s
bill would ‘“generate bad laws to all eternity, so to speak

. on the rejection of the bill depended the interests,
the hopes, and the aspirations of the colony.”

The Chairman, Darvall, and Parkes, were deputed to
present an address to Sir W. Denison. They procured
799 signatures,® and expected sympathy from one who had
advocated an Elective Council. They had deceived them-
selves. Sir W. Denison looked upon unwarrantable change
as an evil; and they had under-estimated his firmness.
He regretted that they had ‘ within so short a period of
his assumption of the government pressed upon him the
adoption of a measure of so extreme a character; a measure
not only uncalled for, but injurious, as tending to excite
unnecessarily the bitter feelings of political and party
strife.” The petitioners professed a desire to avoid con-

¢ Parliamentary Papers, vol. xliii. 1856. The promoters thought fit
to say that there were more than 1300 signatures. Vide newspapers of the
time.
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separation of all these colonies from the British Empire,”
inspired his highest hopes, though clouds and darkness
rested on it. Duffy’s ¢ warm and kindly feelings spon-
taneously manifested towards’ Lang personally, induced
the latter to address him so freely.” Popular as Lang was
in Sydney with some, he felt that amongst the intelligent
and industrious he was distrusted. He had seen enough of
Victoria to make him deem her people more unstable than
the men of New South Wales. With the spark of sedition
supplied by Duffy the explosion against English rule might
soon occur. He wrote (April 1856) in Melbourne,® that
though grieved because Duffy had not determined to reside
in Sydney, he rejoiced that he would be in Melbourne.

¢¢It is in this colony that the first step in the march of Australian freedom
and independence will assuredly be taken ; it is here that the battle will be
fought and the victory won. . . . Strike the keynote on the noble
vantage ground which you will shortly occupy, surrounded as you now are
with an intelligent and energetic population prepared beforehand to
approve and to second your efforts. .2

With conspirators like Duffy and Lang plotting her down-
fall, Victoria was in some danger. But the man who had
most power amongst Duffy’s countrymen in Victoria, John
O’Shanassy, was untainted with disloyalty to the Crown.
Duffy himself was as much a personal intriguer as a public
plotter, and the temptations of a pension and a title
whetted his vanity. Instead of dethroning a Saxon Queen
he battened on her bounty.

As the Imperial Land Act of 1842 applied a portion of all
Australian land funds to immigration, and as the voluntary
immigration of gold-seekers distracted ordinary industrial
pursuits, the colonies generally encouraged immigration of
families and of others likely to promote the settled interests
of the community. In Sydney, Wentworth and others

? The reader will note how strong must be the bond of common dis-
loyalty when he learns that Lang (who thus addressed Duffy in 1856,
knowing that Duffy was a Roman Catholic) had written thus in 1852 :—
¢¢ There is no security for civil liberty in any country in which Romanism

redominates.” ¢ Freedom and Independence, &c.,” Introduction, P 11

. D. Lang, 1852.) Lang had vehemently denounced the application of
})ublic funds in importing Roman Catholic immigrants. Duffy demanded
or Irishmen a share of public offices proportioned to their numbers,
irrespective of the fitness of candidates available on occurrence of
vacancies.

¢ He published his letter.

[ = P
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be beneficial to pay £141,926 for the importation of 6951 souls from
Ireland, two-thirds of whom have not the intelligence guaranteed by the
ability to read and write. . . . I by no means wish to assert that
Ireland cannot supply an immiﬁmtion as intelligent as that which comes
from England and Scotland. she can do so, the colony has reason to
complain that im?roper. selection has been made. If she cannot, there are
evident grounds for insisting that her due proportion on the whole be not
exceeded. Moreover, it is unfair to Ireland herself that she should be
judged by a class of immigrants unfairly derived from her.”®

The fact that within two years of the publication of this
report manhood suffrage was: conferred by the first Parlia-
ment convened under the new Constitution gives signifi-
cance to the danger foreshadowed in 1855. South
Australia persevered in devoting her funds to promote
immigration. Indeed, after Sir R. MacDonnell’s assump-
tion of office a temporary glut of labour in Adelaide com-
pelled the government to take measures for providing
food, shelter, and rural depots in order to assist the
community to absorb the new-comers. Tasmania did
what she could. Western Australia received such a dole
ag was accorded to her in compliance with Earl Grey’s
intimation that free immigrants should be sent at Imperial
cost to colonies which consented to receive convicts.

When the capable Ebden was driven from office in Vie-
toria, the evils which he had striven to resist reigned para-
mount. The disbursement of millions sterling by men who
had never dealt with thousands intoxicated them. Wild
schemes and profuse appointments were patronized. Cor-
ruption was not imputed even by their enemies to Mr.
Stawell and Mr. Foster, and by heroic toil Mr. Stawell was
believed to be sacrificing opportunities for ample enrich-
ment by practice at the bar. But the gigantic rise in prices
made all living dear. If men were to be employed at all
it was necessary to pay them highly. The wants of a
community tripling its numbers in short space of time,
and multiplying its needs in geometrical progression,
would have taxed the energies of sound financiers. After
Mr. Ebden’s retirement, Mr. Latrobe had none such to
confer with. With sagacious advisers it might have been

? Victoria, Legislative Council Papers, 1855. Sir Richard MacDonnell,
the Governor of South Australia, took occasion in one of his despatches to

concur as an Irishman with the reasoning of the Report, which was printed
in November 1855.

[ TR
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he was providing for the happiness of the posterity of those
who reviled him. His subordinate position under the
Governor of New South Wales qualified his powers, but he
encountered no serious opposition; and when he became
Governor in 1851 he revelled in what he described as the
“rare privilege of providing for the ease, comfort, and
pleasure of the community among which” he was thrown.®
Whether future generations will be wise enough to preserve
their heritage is to be seen. Already sacrilegious hands
have been laid by governments upon portions of the
metropolitan parks. Mr. Latrobe strove also to make the
grants of land for sites of churches, schools, and parsonages
conducive to the public health. Under the Land Act
(5 and 6 Viet. cap. 86) Governors had ample power to
grant sites for such purposes; and confident that they
would be sacredly retained for them in all time, and would,
with the planted spaces round them, improve the air of
towns, he advocated a lavish use of the power. Such
spaces he scattered broadcast throughout the land. Before
he left the colony in 1854 he was doomed to see a per-
version of his benevolence. Some occupiers seized the
occasion of converting into money the boon which was
granted for other purposes. Their trusts forbade sales,
but by long leases they could evade the spirit of their
trusts. Buildings alien to the intention of the grants
might stand by the side of the house of God, and
the clink of the rent paid would drive away reflection upon
dishonour. Mr. Latrobe instinctively shrank from the
wrong. He brought before his Executive Council the
‘““application notoriously made or contemplated of lands
granted for church purposes, in Melbourne, for other than
such purposes.” He directed that a Bill should be brought
in to prevent any such misapplication. Obedience was
promised, but there was no performance. Various excuses
were put forward from time to time, and Mr. Latrobe saw

'° In a letter (1st Dec. 1869) on an address delivered by the author in 1869
in Melbourne, recalling the fact that Mr. Latrobe designed the parks, he
wrote: ‘““I am not insensible to the compliment paid me, and the
recognition of one good service at least which I had it in my power to
r«fx,nderht.o t.l,le public inhabiting the city of Melbourne, and their children
after them.”
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It was under his care that a work was completed which
was at the time important. When ships were so thickly
anchored in the bay that their masts prevented a gazer
from Port Melbourne (then Sandridge) from seeing the
shore at Williams Town, the lighters which bore cargo to
the Yarra had to unload upon a quagmire on the river
bank at Melbourne. Two private wharves existed, but
they were inadequate to the traffic. The petty public
wharf was equally so. Large requirements had afforded
opportunities for large misdemeanours amongst officers
and contractors before Captain Pasley arrived ; and waste
had exhausted the general revenue, and improperly with-
drawn nearly a million sterling from the territorial revenue
before Sir C. Hotham appeared on the scene. Nevertheless,
while cutting down other expenditure, he strove to meet
the exigencies of the case, and the Australian wharf took
the place of the ¢ chaos” which he found on the banks of
the Yarra. The unostentatious Pasley executed the
approved work which enabled the inhabitants to land their
goods in comfort, and spared them incalculable expense.

Sir C. Hotham submitted to the Legislative Council a
scheme for the formation of public railways. By private
enterprise railways from Melbourne to Hobson’s Bay, and
from Geelong to Melbourne, had been commenced in 1858,
and a company had been authorized to construct a railway
from Melbourne to Mount Alexander and the Murray
River. The Melbourne and Hobson’s Bay railway was
opened in September 1854, and was so prosperous that the
government many years afterwards purchased it (1878) for
more than a million and a quarter sterling. The Geelong
line was unprosperous, and was taken over by the Govern-
ment in 1860. There were two methods by which railways
could be made in a country not abounding in capital, but
possessing the bulk of the land through which they were to
run. Capitalists and contractors could be invited from
Europe by offers of the use of lands contiguous to the lines
for long terms of years; or the State, by borrowing
European capital on the security of the land, might itself
construct the railways. The first mode found favour with
few persons.
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Clarke has received and deserves credit for introducing the
necessary measures, but the idea was that of his old
master. Not only did the Tasmanian Governor give
frequent advice. He revised the drafts of resolutions after
they were in type.

After months of labour the bill was produced. It was
found to be tainted with the vice which had caused distrust
in the time of Gipps. The government could step in and
assume control. Engineer officers appeared to bestow more
care on the completion and symmetry of public works than
on creating that spirit of self-reliance which fashions
greater things than walls of brick or stone. A clause in
the bill proposed that if any Municipal Council, having
obtained public funds by loan or otherwise, should fail to
complete the work projected, the Municipal Council should
be dissolved, ‘“‘and all its functions should vest in a Board
of Commissioners, who should exercise all the powers and
discharge all the functions of the said Council, mutatis
mutandis, as fully and effectually as if the said Board had
been specially named in the place of a Municipal Council
in the Act.”

A Committee in one of the suburbs of Melbourne was
appointed to watch the bill. A delegate was sent to
remonstrate against the clause, which Captain Clarke
warmly defended, but eventually allowed the delegate to
alter in a manner which the Legislature afterwards
approved. Commissioners were to supersede defaulting
Councils, but were to enter on no fresh undertaking, and
their powers were to ‘“‘cease and determine as soon as any
loan, and all interest thereon,” should be paid.™

The rock which had wrecked the District Councils was
avoided. The first establishment of a council was not
compulsory. Inhabitants were empowered to petition that
a locality might be declared a municipal district, and in
the absence of a contrary petition the Governor might
grant the petition; but the ‘“resident householders and
landowners” within the district had then to decide im-

" There was a municipal Conference in Melbourne in 1860, at which
these facts were made public by the then Chairman of the Municipal
Council of Brighton. The Report of the Conference of 1860 on necessary
amendments in the existing law was printed.
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check the extravagances and irregularities caused by the
impetuosity and financial ignorance of others. Mr.
Stawell’s energy and endurance, and the high respect
entertained for him, blinded others as well as Mr. Latrobe
to the evil consequences of yielding to misdirected vigour.
Mr. Childers succeeded Mr. Ebden as Auditor-General.
Mr. Latrobe had misgivings, but yielded. Childers had
attached himself as obsequiously at that time to Mr.:
Stawell as he afterwards attached himself to Mr. Gladstone
in England. He passed rapidly from the Inspectorship of
Denominational Schools to the Immigration Office, and
thence to the Audit Office. He had done something on a
small scale in wasting money at the Immigration Office.
His opportunities at the Audit Office were almost unlimited,
and fully used. :

Mr. Ebden’s firm hand in exacting accounts of expendi-
ture had galled some who had to render accounts. When
there was difficulty in complying with regulations, inexact
friends were accustomed to appeal to the Governor’s good
nature, and obtain his authority to sanction accounts.
No auditor could question the power of the Governor’s
approval with regard to the territorial revenue, or his
interim authority with regard to sums to be placed on a
Supplementary Estimate; but while Ebden was at his
post, Mr. Latrobe used his power with consideration.
The Supplementary Estimates became exorbitant when
Mr. Ebden retired. The Imprest system, confidently put
into operation by Mr. Childers, seemed for a few wonths
to give relief; but was in truth an abandonment of all
control, except in special cases chosen for exercise of
authority.

Exceptional circumstances had justified the use of an
Imprest system in minor cases of emergency. Heads of
departments received advances for unforeseen necessities,
and had to account exactly for the expenditure before
they could receive further advances of a like nature.
Ordinary expenditure was disbursed month by month from
the Treasury. Presuming on Mr. Latrobe’s kindness,
heads of departments who were in favour with his advisers
resorted to him to extricste them from embarrassment,

and by obtaining his approval ol payments, Teeewed o
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of Crown lands, and was disinclined to make pecuniary
profit out of the land while he remained in the colony. It
was not sold until he had bidden farewell to Australia.!®

It devolved upon Mr. Foster and his friends to provide a
residence for Sir C. Hotham. Before his arrival they pur-
chased a lease of a private house (Toorak) four miles from
Melbourne; they gave £10,000 as a bonus in order to enter
into possession; and between January 1854 and September
1855, they and Sir C. Hotham sanctioned payments of
£29,188 2. 8d. for additions and improvements, and £4550
8s. 4d. for furniture. Much of the expenditure was incurred
before his arrival in June 1854, but the dates of the pay-
ments and of the authorities for them were never com-
municated to the public. The expense was sarcastically
alluded to during his life. A return was moved for in 1855,
but was not produced until after his death. When it was
produced, the fact that the bonus of £10,000 (and a large
part of the £29,183) had been expended and contracted for
before his arrival was not allowed to mitigate his responsi-
bility. If he had erred he could not complain of being
impeached, but it was hard measure to be condemned for
acts done by others who had not the magnanimity after his
death to publish the truth.

In March 1856, Mr. J. M. Grant moved a resolution
condemning the expenditure and the complicity of members
of the Executive in such appropriations. A governmen$
supporter succeeded in striking out the allusion to the
Governor’s counsellors, and the condemnation of the
expenditure as profligate and illegal was affirmed.

Though the amount involved was relatively small in the
Victorian vortex of expenditure, Sir C. Hotham would have
consulted his own comfort if he had not connected himself
with it. He suffered speedily.’* No sooner did he appoint

' It was sold for much less than he could have obtained during his stay.
But he never regretted his sensitiveness in not trafficking with it while he
was Governor.

" Long after Sir C. Hotham’s death, his private secretary testified thus
before a Select Committee :—¢‘ There were no rooms for the servants to
slee! . I am not quite sure that the % overnment did not laugh
in their sleeves and think, ¢ Now, my boy, we will let you into a trap, and

{'ou will catch it. . . . Iremember being startled at the figures.

[y idea is that one-fourth of the mone; { charged as expended on Toorak
never was expended on the place at al . 1 2hould have recom-
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Hawilton Hart,’® a leading merchant, and Mr. D. C.
Macarthur, principal officer in the Bank of Australasia, to
join in a Committee of Finance presided over by the
Auditor-General. His aim was to ‘‘narrow the present
outgoing,” and devise measures for the future good. The
Imprest system he specially commended to their study.
The formation of a Pay Office, and the reformation of
the Civil Commissariat and other departments, required
investigation.

The appointment of the Finance Committee alarmed
Mr. Childers and others. They foresaw the doom of the
Imprest system. In September the Committee advised
that it should be abolished. The regulations for it had
been futile. Of the £1,682,328 unadjusted, no less than
£1,810,238 should have been completely adjusted, and
there was a sum of £288,745 ‘° wholly unaccounted for.”
The Committee made recommendations for future control
of the public accounts, and with regard to contraets for
supplies. While the Committee inquired, Mr. Foster and
his friends prepared their estimates for 1855, which con-
templated an expenditure of £4,887,866, while the probable
income was reckoned as £2,661,250, of which amount
£670,000 were anticipated from the available moiety of
the land fund. As presented for Sir C. Hotham’s approval,
the estimates exhibited a deficit (in the year) of £2,226,616;
which, if there were to be restitution of £865,829 abstracted
from the appropriated moiety of the land fund, would be
largely swollen. The Finance Committee recommended
(15th Nov. 1854) that the expenditure on public works in
excess of the funds available should be dependent on the
raising of money by debentures ; that the deficiency in the
ordinary revenue should be met by an increase of Customs
duties, and that debentures should be sold in Europe to
meet the debt to the Corporation and to the banks.

The Governor received their report at a time when his
hands were full of Ballarat business.”” He may have

¢ Mr. Hart had, besides gaining commercial experience in many lands,
been a principal officer in a bank. His high character and ability were
admitted by all. By his advice in 1854 he laid the colony under
obligations which have never been acknowledged.

17 See ante, pp. 568-584. Bentley’s house waa burnt in October. Bentley
was convicted, and Dewes was dismissed in Wovember. The Valarek
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strained within certain limits. Sir C. Hotham, when the
difficulty of carrying the resolution into effect was suggested,
answered: ‘I neither shrink from the work nor from its
unpopularity. I will accept them, but I cannot hope to
succeed in benefiting the community unless I have the
support of its representatives.”

Accordingly (18th Dec. 1854), a few days after the sup-
pression of the Ballarat insurrection and the resignation of
Mr. Foster, Mr. O’Shanassy moved resolutions affirming
that the ordinary expenditure ought not to exceed the
estimated revenue. That with increased Customs duties
yielding £3820,700, and £400,000 expected from the un-
appropriated moiety of the land fund, the estimated revenue
would be £2,400,000, and should be thus allotted :—

Education e . .. .. e £155,000
Statutor; £proprmtmns 132,000
Public 800,000

Salaries, esta.bhshments, sclentlﬁc and charitable
institutions, &c. . 1,313,000
£2,400,000

He also moved that the moiety of the land fund devoted
to immigration should be applied according to law, and that
the Council could not sanction, either as a loan or an
appropriation, the diversion (already made by Mr. Foster
and his friends) of £866,000, ‘‘solemnly guaranteed by Act
of Parliament for the purposes of emigration.” The
resolutions were carried.

The Governor, having at his side his new Colonial
Secretary Haines, Sladen as Acting-Treasurer, and Mr.
Hart of the Finance Committee, took back the estimates of
Mr. Foster. A Martial Law Indemnity Bill was passed in
one day (15th Dec.), and the Council adjourned until the
80th January. On the T7th February 1855 amended
estimates framed to meet the resolution of the House were
laid on the table. Amongst the items of receipt about
a quarter of a million sterling was set down under the head
of License Fees for digging gold. The Council refused to
sanction additional taxation. The labour of carrying out
the reform fell, not upon them, but on the Governor and

his immediate helpmates. Mr. Foster and his friends,
finding a reduction of more than two millions shering, wade
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and draft instructions for the guidance of the Auditor-
General and the Treasurer. On the 16th the industrious
Governor announced his approval of the scheme.? It was
promulgated on the 1st January 1856, on which day the
Gazette notified also the death of the Governor. It formed
the basis on which, at a subsequent date (when Mr. Ebden
was Treasurer under responsible government), an Act was
passed (2nd Oct. 1857) *“for the collection and payment of
the public monies, the audit of the public accounts, and the
protection and recovery of the public property.”?® Some
1dea may be formed of the magnitude of the savings effected
by the labours of Sir C. Hotham by observing that he
abolished the Civil Commissariat Department, which had
spent, or wasted, £628,038 in furnishing supplies to other
departments in 1854 ; and that by remitting the duty to the
Colonial Storekeeper (Mr. A. J. Agg, the Secretary of the
Finance Committee) he saved in one year, on that branch
of the service alone, no less than £404,880.2 It was not
only by his Imprest system that Mr. Childers distinguished
himself while in office in Victoria under Mr. Latrobe. His
versatility was shown on the subject of education. In 1851
he commenced his official career as an advocate of denomi-
national schools. In 1852 he secured a seat as a member
of the National Board.?

2 How unexpected was the manceuvre by which a new order of things
was soon afterwards demanded, may be inferred from the fact that Messrs.
Haines and Sladen joined in the statement (Finance Committee Report)
that some modifications in the regulations they recommended might be
required to adapt them to the changes which might take place under the
New Constitution. Those changes were then generally expected after the
election of the new Chambers.

2 The evanescence of impressions on the public mind makes it probable
that few men now remember the debt due to Sir C. Hotham, to Messrs.
Hart and Macarthur, to the efficient secretary of the Finance Committee
of 1854, or to the sagacity of Mr. Ebden in 1857. When the latter left
office in 1858 he said to a friend—in his customary precise manner—‘‘I
have at least done one thing. So long as the Audit Act may stand I have
rendered it impossible for any successor in my office to filch the public
monies from the Treasury.”

# Captain Kay, R.N., private secretary to Sir C. Hotham, told a select
committee (1867) that the Governor took ‘‘all the papers connected with
the government and read them for himself.” And did read them? a
member asked. ‘“And did read for himself, and killed himself.”

24 ¢“He contended against the ballot in Victoria in 1855. In England he

glorified the ballot as a ‘splendid achievement of the Liberal party.’”—
Z'émes, 30th March 1880.
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sixteen votes against fourteen, but among the majority
were seven official members besides unofficial nominees.
The minority was almost wholly representative. Mr.
Nicholson asked whether, in defiance of these facts, the
government would force such a bill upon the country.
The victors wavered. Further proceedings were postponed.

The conscientious Latrobe in the morning announced to
the Colonial Secretary that he would not allow the Bill to
become law, and in his prorogation speech explained his
reasons :—

¢ With regard to the General Education Bill, which has been for some
time under your consideration, I must briefly state that I have not felt
warranted in pressing a measure which I regret to learn, whatever may
be its merits, is evidently considered objectionable by so large a number of
the members. The subject is, however, of far too general and vital interest
to rest here.”’

The Governor was right. It could not and did not rest
there. The bulk of the parents were content with a system
which, like the national, secured to them good secular
education, for which they paid appropriate fees, and which
afforded ample facilities for religious instruction. It
remained for fervid denominationalists to obstruct that
system, and to intensify the popular demand until it grew
into a readiness to accept a harsh secular system rather than
submit to the imperious claims of the denominationalists.
Mr. O'Shanassy as leader of the Roman Catholics, and
political champions of other sects, unwittingly promoted
the repulsive secular system which was accepted by the
community in later days.

The representatives of Victoria were always liberal in
grants for education, and at the instigation of Mr. Latrobe,
they followed the example of New South Wales in establish-
ing a University. An Act was passed (Jan. 1858) to
incorporate and endow the University of Melbourne. Like
that in Sydney, it was to be open to all classes and
denominations of the Queen’s subjects. No religious tests
were to exist in it. But, as in Sydney, it was contemplated
that affiliated colleges would be called into existence, and
that the State, which devoted funds annually to each sect of
Christians, would afford grants separately for the colleges.

Each of these bodies was to hold about ten acres; and a

common recreation ground for the University snd the
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Among their early cares was the procurement of a site,
and Mr. Latrobe gratified them by sanctioning (Nov. 1858)
an immediate grant of 25 acres, and reserving 75 adjoining
acres for ultimate educational uses ‘“in subordination to the
University.” He afterwards enlarged the University site
to 40 acres. The Legislature had voted funds for buildings,
and the Council corresponded with a committee of five
persons as to the selection of professors. With the details
-of their labours these pages need not be concerned. The
gentlemen they selected were fitted to shine in any sphere.
For years William Parkinson Wilson, the Professor of
Mathematics, a Senior Wrangler from Cambridge, devoted
to his duties a zeal and ability beyond all praise; and all
who knew him lamented the loss sustained by the colony
when he died in 1874. Professors McCoy and Hearn, in
other chairs, were to win golden opinions and labour long
in cultivating the youthful talent of the colony. The first
Professor of Classics died soon after landing in Victoria,
and was succeeded by Professor Martin H. Irving, son of
the celebrated preacher, Edward Irving.

Mr. Latrobe did not witness the laying of the foundation-
stone of the University buildings. Sir C. Hotham laid it
in 1854 (3rd July). For some time the professors officiated
in inappropriate premises, but the nobility of their work
made amends for its poor surroundings. The Legislature
provided also, under Mr. Latrobe’s guidance, for the estab-
lishment of Grammar Schools to lead the way to the
University. Twenty thousand pounds were voted in 1853,
and were allocated to the four principal denominations of
Christians—the Church of England, the Presbyterian, the
Wesleyan, and the Roman Catholic—whose colleges it was
proposed to affiliate to the University.

In July 1856 the foundation-stone of the Church of
England Grammar School was laid near the road between
Melbourne and St. Kilda. The excellent Charles J.
Griffith, more than once mentioned in these pages, did
stalwart service in promoting the work. In 1858 the first
head-master arrived. The mode in which the Grammar
School was to be connected with the college to be affiliated
to the University was for some time discussed without

leading to a solution. In 1804 notning Nned hween dane.
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the prosperity of the community afforded, of the success of
the government. The members of the Executive Counecil
who submitted a draft address to a meeting of heads of
departments, condescended to ask them to state that his
Excellency’s difficult task had *‘ been considerably lightened
by the unlimited confidence which your Excellency has
invariably placed in those officers who have been selected
to fill appointments of high trust and confidence under
your government.”

After Mr. Latrobe’s departure a Commission upon the
goldfields, appointed by Sir C. Hotham, declared with
regard to administering the Crown lands that it ¢ would
not ignore the claims of any class;” but it suggested
no method of dealing with claims of pastoral occupants.
“ The piecemeal wrenching of the lands’ adopted by the
Government had ‘““only involved all parties in angry
contention.” Such was the verdict of Messrs. Westgarth,
Fawkner, Hodgson, O’Shanassy, Strachan, and Wright in
March 1855. Three of them, O’Shanassy, Fawkner, and
Strachan, were at the time members of a Commission
investigating the Crown Lands question. But it was well
known that the Duke of Newcastle’s advice to Mr. Latrobe,
viz., to make separate terms with occupiers, and to make
all reasonable concessions to those who would make such
terms, had borne no fruit. Had the Duke declared that
those who insisted on the letter of their bond should
receive its equitable benefits, but no more, there would
have been no need for individual negotiations. By law or
by Orders-in-Council® having the force of law, it might
have been enacted that for any disturbance a lessee should
receive compensation, based not upon the newly-added
money-value of the land, but (as Mr. Latrobe suggested)
upon the fair pastoral value of the lease at the date at
which it was guaranteed. That value was deducible from
the current price of pastoral holdings at that date. It
might be said that such enactments would have savoured of

#® An Order-in-Council was actually made 18th October 1834, at
Windsor, empowering the Governor to substitute an assessment of stock
for rent. Not having been duly laid before Parliament, it lapsed, but a

similar Order, made 28th February 1855, was duly made. It enabled the
Governor to determine the amount of the rent, and *“how such rent shall

be calculated or assessed.”
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demned Earl Grey’s division of the colony into unsettled,
intermediate, and settled districts. As to the right of pre-
emption, they put aside Roundell Palmer’s opinion in its
favour. Mur. Latrobe’s early efforts to avert the evils of
the Orders-in-Council had failed, and Captain Clarke had, in
the language of the Goldfields Commission, ¢ involved all
parties in angry contention” by ‘‘piecemeal wrenching of
the lands.” The foolish Order-in-Council was clear. Rights
to leases accrued on the performance by the occupants of
certain conditions. They had been in almost all cases duly
performed.

Section 6 of chapter 2 enacted—*‘ During the continuance
of any lease of lands occupied as a run, the same shall not
be open to purchase by any other person or persons except
the lessee thereof, but it shall be lawful for the Governor
to sell to such lessee any of the lands comprised in the
lease granted to such lessee.” Another section (11) de-
clared all occupants (for one year previous) ‘entitled to
demand leases of their respective runs under the present
regulations within six months from the date of the publica-
tion of this Order-in-Council.” A majority of the Com-
mission resolved that it was not imperative on the Governor
to comply with a demand lawfully made upon him. They
seemed ashamed to put forward their resolution in the
report, but Mr. Griffith in his protest exposed and con-
demned it.

Compensation for destruction of legal rights was not
alluded to. The recommendations of the report were
evasive. Lands ought to be sold continuously in such
quantities as would prevent the Treasury from receiving
much more than the upset price. (Thus land-speculators
would derive that which should have been enrichment of
the revenue.) Existing distinctions of districts ought to
be abolished. Yearly licenses should be issued for pastoral
occupation, and the rent should be calculated at the rate of
6d. for each sheep, 4s. a head for cattle, and 10s. a head for
horses. A legal tribunal should be constituted as a court
of appeal with regard to the grazing capability of a run.

The Speaker and Mr. Bradshaw signed a joint protest.
They agreed that the rights of lessees must yield to the

paramount claims of permanent seitiement; they Mhowvgat
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An Act was passed to arrest the Chinese immigration
(18 Viet. No. 89, 1855). The passengers to arrive were
limited to ‘‘one person for every ten tons of the tonnage”
of a ship. The penalty was a fine of £10 for each
passenger in excess. For each lawful passenger £10 were
to be paid on arrival. The master incurred a penalty of
£20 for each immigrant landed otherwise than in com-
pliance with the Act; and the penalty was additional to
the £10 required by the law. The Governor was authorized
to appoint officers to carry out the provisions of the Act,
and to levy a sum not exceeding £1 in each year from
.every Chinese person in order to enforce the Act, which
was not disallowed in England. Sympathy with the
peculiar position of the colony overwhelmed doubts about
propriety. The Secretary of State merely pointed out that
the Act was ‘“highly objectionable in principle.”

In 1864 a Consolidating Act re-enacted the leading pro-
visions, and added others; but in the following year an
Act (27 Viet. No. 279) repealed them, and substituted
clauses of which the object was rather kindly supervision
than punishment of the immigrants. More close attention
was paid to the subject in other countries at a later date.
In 1878, in British Columbia, an Act entitled ¢ to provide
for the better collection of provincial taxes from Chinese”
aimed at the exclusion of the race. ~Though the Governor
assented to it, the Supreme Court pronounced it ultra vires
and void.

In 1879 the President of the United States vetoed a bill
passed by Congress to limit to fifteen the number of Chinese
who might be passengers in one ship. It would virtually
annul portions of the treaty with China, which could only
be constitutionally modified by the executive government.
The provision in the Constitution that majorities of two-
thirds should be requisite to over-ride his veto, enabled
Mr. Hayes to maintain his position ; but the fears of the
conscientious, who yearn for the prevalence of Christianity
among their countrymen, and the jealousy of the labourers,
who shrink from competition with countless hosts of indus-
trious Chinese, could not fail to revive the question in many

lands. Accordingly, in 1881, the Australian colonies and
New Zealand revived prohibitory legislakion on the soyecs.
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might be struck to commemorate the event—one for the
Governor,® one for Francis Cadell, and a third to be
‘ deposited with the records of the Legislature of South
Australia.” A new ‘“ Hundred of the Murray” was created
under the South Australian Orders-in-Council. It may be
added that the Hundred was not occupied as the Governor
hoped, and that the enterprising Cadell was not enriched,
although he occupied himself for years upon the inland
waters. He was presented with a gold candelabrum, but,
like many inventors, he gained nothing by his labours, and
the Murray River Navigation Company was profitless.
Cadell himself, cruising a quarter of a century afterwards
in the Pacific, and pearl-fishing on the coasts of Australia,
was no richer than when he opened the traffic on the
Murray, and he came to an untimely end in a mutiny or
quarrel amongst his motley crew, in the islands.

Sir H. Young was transferred to Tasmania soon after he
had reported upon the navigation of the Murray. When he
arrived at his island home he saw the respect in which Sir
W. Denison was held in spite of the unpopularity of his
opinions with regard to transportation. A subscription of
£2000 for the purchase of a present of plate furnished
matter for long correspondence with the Colonial Office. It
is contrary to regulation for a Governor to receive a present,
but Secretaries of State occasionally sanctioned a breach of
the regulation, as in the case of Sir H. Young's medal
commemorating the voyage of the first steam vessel which
clove the waters of the Murray. When objection was
raised to the acceptance of a present by Sir W. Denison he
was able to cite precedents, and to urge that the objects of’
the regulation being to prevent official sycophancy, it could
not apply to himself, inasmuch as for eight years he had
steadily opposed the ‘“ particular hobby of the colonists.”
The Secretary of State unwisely permitted the creation of
another precedent which, harmless as between Sir W.
Denison and the Tasmanians, was to be fraught with

32 The Duke of Newcastle authorized him to accept it—*¢ regarding it
not in the light of a present to yourself, which you are aware that the
rules of the service would forbid, but as a public memorial of an event of
the highest importance to the colony, of which 1t will he Q.“Qerma.nent

satiefaction to yourself to have witneased Yhe acconplishment!
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South Wales. He suspected that local jealousies would dis-
incline the various colonies to federate themselves for general
purposes, and was himself careless, if not averse, because
(he wrote to the Secretary of State, (Nov. 1854) *“there is
little or nothing for a general assembly or congress to do.”

Sir Henry Young had not much to do as responsible
Governor, and the period of his government before the two
elected Houses met in November 1856 was, except as
regarded the episode of Dr. Hampton’s contumacy, unfruit-
ful of events deserving comment.

The unsavoury subject of transportation was repulsive,
even in its dregs, as it evaporated from the Tasmanian air,
and its miasma brooded over Western Australia. The
unclean spirits were removed in 1855 from Norfolk Island,
which was reported in June as ready for the reception of
the Pitcairn Islanders. The criminals whom the Imperial
Government had sent to the Southern hemisphere were
gathered at Western Australia (still a convict colony) and at
Tasmania, where there were only remnants of an abandoned
system. As those remnants were nevertheless human
creatures whose brethren could not destroy them before
the face of the world, it was necessary to provide sustenance
and control ; and, by joint contribution of the proportions
of expense which were deemed just, the Imperial and local
exchequers bore the charge. One pleasing trait deserves to
be recorded. The popular Richard Dry, the Speaker, was
compelled by ill-health to retire in 1855. There was no
class by which he was not esteemed and beloved. There
was no good work to which he had not lent a helping hand.
Though he was one of * the patriotic six ’who had opposed
Sir Eardley Wilmot in 1845, and placed his lance in rest
against Lord Stanley, such was the winning demeanour of
the man that he was without an enemy. Profuse in
liberality, he had endowed churches in his own district,
almost at his own expense. Genial in all his ways, he was
the idol of crowds who cared not for his labours to provide
religious and intellectual boons for them. The Legis-
lative Council asked for their retiring Speaker’s portrait.
In complying with their request he wrote :

That the representatives of the colony in which | was WZwrn, and of the
people amongst whom I have lived, should deem me worthy ot s unesimons
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APPENDIX.

COMPARATIVE STATISTICS.

P Opula.tlon. Acres of]
Land (Land in G

LT durin, v ports. Revenue.| “3:

Male. [Female. 'otal. Y g | vation. Expm

1850. £ £ £ £
N. S. Wales*| 154,575 | 110,928 | 265,603 | 52,483 | 198,056 | 2,078,338 | 2,399,580 | 575,794 | 567,185
V.D.Land..| 42,678 | 26,919 | 69,497 | 2,278 168,820 | @568,640| 613,850 135,429 | 139,414
8. Australia 5 27,787 | 63,700 | 64,949 | 64,728 | . 845,672 | 570,817 | 238,983 | 239,081
‘W. Australia| 38,576| 2,810 5,888 2,604 7,419 52,351 22,134 | 19,187 | + 87,358

1856.

N. 8. Wales | 164,882 | 121,991 | 286,673 | 167,758 | 186,083 | 5,460,071 | 8,430,880 (1,130,014 | 1,146,468
Victoria  ..| 255,827 | 141,733 | 897,660 | 487,562 | 179,983 |14,962,260 (15,489,760 2,972,496 | 2,668,834
8. Australia | 53,086 | 51,622 | 104,708 | 187,451 | 203,423 | 1,366,529 | 1,665,740 | 479,978 | 679,927
Tasmania ..| 45916| 84886 | 80,802 | 14,572| .. | 1,442,106 | 1,207,802 | 998,218 | 440,688
W. Australia| 8,946 | 4,445| 13,301 | 2,456 18,068 | 122,938 | ~ 48,907 | 51,170 | + 46,990

* In 1850 Victoria had not been created a separate colony, and the figures for the year
incl\i;le Port Phillip. The contents of the above table have been extracted from various
works.

+ There was also an Imperial expenditure of £22,158. In 1856 it was £93,477.

Horses, which had increased to an extent surpassing local requirements,
had found a market in India, where breeding studs could not produce
animals to vie with those of Australia and Arabia. At one time the
Indian Government employed their own officers to select horses in the
colonies, but in process of time there was spontaneous trade.

In the years 1850 and 1856, there were (according to published records),
in:—

Year. Horses. Cattle. Sheep. Pigs.
New South Wales... 18350 132,437 1,738,965 13,059,324 61,63
Van Diemen’s Land 1850 18,391 82,761 1,822,320
South Australia ... 1850 6,488 16,034 984,199
Western Australia... 1850 2,635 13,074 128,111

New South Wales... 1856 168,929 2,023,418 7,736,323 105,998

Victoria ... ... 1856 47,832 646,613 4,641,548 52,227
South Australia ... 1856 22,260 272,746 1,962,460
Tasmania ... ... 1856 18,019 W/ . 1.674,987 30,074

Western Australia... 1856 35,408 2201 2% N\D
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TASMANIA.
Horses. Cattle. Sheep. Pigs.
1873 ... 22,612 106,308 1,490,746 59,628
1877 22,195 126,882 1,818,125 55,652
1880 ... 25,267 127,187 1,783,611 48,029
1890 . 31,165 162,440 1,619,256 81,716

ll'.l‘he census of the population taken in 1881 showed that there were
then

Males. Females. Total.
In New South Wales ... 411,149 340,319 751,468
In Victoria 452,083 410,263 862,346
In Queensland ... 125,325 88,200 213,525
In South Australia ... 149,530 130,335 279,865
In Western Australia... 17,062 12,646 29,708

In Tasmania - 61,162 54,543 115,705

The ual recovery of the population lost by Tasmania in 1852 is
especially deserving of notice. In 1851 she had 42,578 males. In 1853
nearly half of them had found their way to the goldfields of Victoria.
When many had returned she had, in 1856, only 45,916, although her
female J)opula.tion had in five years risen from 26,919 to 34,886. 1881
she had resumed the normal relations of colonies, where differing from
long-settled communities, social needs attract a larger proportion of males
than of females.
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